THE ROLE OF GLIA IN PLASTICITY AND BEHAVIOR

B

EDITED BY: Vladimir Parpura and Tycho M. Hoogland PUBLISHED IN: Frontiers in Cellular Neuroscience



Frontiers Copyright Statement

© Copyright 2007-2015 Frontiers Media SA. All rights reserved.

All content included on this site, such as text, graphics, logos, button icons, images, video/audio clips, downloads, data compilations and software, is the property of or is licensed to Frontiers Media SA ("Frontiers") or its licensees and/or subcontractors. The copyright in the text of individual articles is the property of their respective authors, subject to a license granted to Frontiers.

The compilation of articles constituting this e-book, wherever published, as well as the compilation of all other content on this site, is the exclusive property of Frontiers. For the conditions for downloading and copying of e-books from Frontiers' website, please see the Terms for Website Use. If purchasing Frontiers e-books from other websites or sources, the conditions of the website concerned apply.

Images and graphics not forming part of user-contributed materials may not be downloaded or copied without permission.

Individual articles may be downloaded and reproduced in accordance with the principles of the CC-BY licence subject to any copyright or other notices. They may not be re-sold as an e-book.

As author or other contributor you grant a CC-BY licence to others to reproduce your articles, including any graphics and third-party materials supplied by you, in accordance with the Conditions for Website Use and subject to any copyright notices which you include in connection with your articles and materials.

> All copyright, and all rights therein, are protected by national and international copyright laws.

> The above represents a summary only. For the full conditions see the Conditions for Authors and the Conditions for Website Use.

> ISSN 1664-8714 ISBN 978-2-88919-690-6 DOI 10.3389/978-2-88919-690-6

About Frontiers

Frontiers is more than just an open-access publisher of scholarly articles: it is a pioneering approach to the world of academia, radically improving the way scholarly research is managed. The grand vision of Frontiers is a world where all people have an equal opportunity to seek, share and generate knowledge. Frontiers provides immediate and permanent online open access to all its publications, but this alone is not enough to realize our grand goals.

Frontiers Journal Series

The Frontiers Journal Series is a multi-tier and interdisciplinary set of open-access, online journals, promising a paradigm shift from the current review, selection and dissemination processes in academic publishing. All Frontiers journals are driven by researchers for researchers; therefore, they constitute a service to the scholarly community. At the same time, the Frontiers Journal Series operates on a revolutionary invention, the tiered publishing system, initially addressing specific communities of scholars, and gradually climbing up to broader public understanding, thus serving the interests of the lay society, too.

Dedication to Quality

Each Frontiers article is a landmark of the highest quality, thanks to genuinely collaborative interactions between authors and review editors, who include some of the world's best academicians. Research must be certified by peers before entering a stream of knowledge that may eventually reach the public - and shape society; therefore, Frontiers only applies the most rigorous and unbiased reviews.

Frontiers revolutionizes research publishing by freely delivering the most outstanding research, evaluated with no bias from both the academic and social point of view. By applying the most advanced information technologies, Frontiers is catapulting scholarly publishing into a new generation.

What are Frontiers Research Topics?

Frontiers Research Topics are very popular trademarks of the Frontiers Journals Series: they are collections of at least ten articles, all centered on a particular subject. With their unique mix of varied contributions from Original Research to Review Articles, Frontiers Research Topics unify the most influential researchers, the latest key findings and historical advances in a hot research area! Find out more on how to host your own Frontiers Research Topic or contribute to one as an author by contacting the Frontiers Editorial Office: **researchtopics@frontiersin.org**

THE ROLE OF GLIA IN PLASTICITY AND BEHAVIOR

Topic Editors:

Vladimir Parpura, University of Alabama at Birmingham, USA Tycho M. Hoogland, Erasmus MC, Netherlands

Glial cells are no longer considered passive bystanders in neuronal brain circuits. Not only are they required for housekeeping and brain metabolism, they are active participants in regulating the physiological function and plasticity of brain circuits and the online control of behavior both in invertebrate and vertebrate model systems. In invertebrates, glial cells are essential for normal function of sensory organs (C. elegans) and necessary for the circadian regulation of locomotor activity (D. melanogaster). In the mamallian brain, astrocytes are implicated in the regulation of cortical brain rhythms and sleep homeostasis. Disruption of AMPA receptor function in a subset of glial cell types in mice shows behavioral deficits. Furthermore, genetic disruption of glial cell function can directly control behavioral output. Regulation of ionic gradients by glia can underlie bistability of neurons and can modulate the fidelity of synaptic transmission. Grafting of human glial progenitor cells in mouse forebrain results in human glial chimeric mice with enhanced plasticity and improved behavioral performance, suggesting that astrocytes have evolved to cope with information processing in more complex brains. Taken together, current evidence is strongly suggestive that glial cells are essential contributors to information processing in the brain. This Research Topic compiles recent research that shows how the molecular mechanisms underlying glial cell function can be dissected, reviews their impact on plasticity and behavior across species and presents novel approaches to further probe their function.

Citation: Parpura, V., Hoogland, T. M., eds. (2015). The Role of Glia in Plasticity and Behavior. Lausanne: Frontiers Media. doi: 10.3389/978-2-88919-690-6

Table of Contents

<i>04</i>	Editorial: The role of glia in plasticity and behavior
	Tycho M. Hoogland and Vladimir Parpura
07	Genetic control of astrocyte function in neural circuits
	Hannah M. Jahn, Anja Scheller and Frank Kirchhoff
16	Reappraisal of Bergmann glial cells as modulators of cerebellar circuit function
	Chris I. De Zeeuw and Tycho M. Hoogland
24	Role for astroglial $lpha$ 1-adrenoreceptors in gliotransmission and control of
	synaptic plasticity in the neocortex
	Yuriy Pankratov and Ulyana Lalo
35	Astroglial calcium signaling displays short-term plasticity and adjusts synaptic
	efficacy
	Jérémie Sibille, Jonathan Zapata, Jérémie Teillon and Nathalie Rouach
45	Observation and manipulation of glial cell function by virtue of sufficient probe
	expression
	Akiyo Natsubori, Norio Takata and Kenji F. Tanaka
52	Molecular approaches for manipulating astrocytic signaling in vivo
	Alison X. Xie, Jeremy Petravicz and Ken D. McCarthy
72	Astrocytes increase the activity of synaptic GluN2B NMDA receptors
	Junghyun Hahn, Xianhong Wang and Marta Margeta
88	Neuron-glia networks: integral gear of brain function
	Gertrudis Perea, Mriganka Sur and Alfonso Araque
96	Caenorhabditis elegans glia modulate neuronal activity and behavior
	Randy F. Stout Jr., Alexei Verkhratsky and Vladimir Parpura





Editorial: The role of glia in plasticity and behavior

Tycho M. Hoogland ^{1, 2*} and Vladimir Parpura³

¹ Netherlands Institute for Neuroscience, Amsterdam, Netherlands, ² Department of Neuroscience, Erasmus MC, Rotterdam, Netherlands, ³ Atomic Force Microscopy and Nanotechnology Laboratories, Department of Neurobiology, Center for Glial Biology in Medicine, Civitan International Research Center, Evelyn F. McKnight Brain Institute, University of Alabama at Birmingham, Birmingham, AL, USA

Keywords: astrocytes, glia, behavior, plasticity, transgenic mouse models

New genetic tools have not only advanced our understanding of how neurons contribute to plasticity and behavior, but also unveiled glial cells as active participants in circuit function as highlighted in this Research Topic. Glia are found in the majority of animals with a nervous system and are essential for feeding and learning behavior in a "simple" organism such as *C. elegans* (Stout et al., 2014), which has a nervous system invariantly comprising 302 neurons. Glial cells signaling via gap junctions may even have evolved convergently during evolution suggesting that spreading activity via such cellular networks is a fundamental process (Stout et al., 2014).

In more complex mammalian brains, glia respond to a variety of neurotransmitters and could be instrumental for gauging metabolic demand in times of increased vigilance -a behavioral state mediated by adrenoreceptors (Ding et al., 2013)- across brain regions (Paukert et al., 2014; De Zeeuw and Hoogland, 2015). Pankratov and Lalo (2015) present data suggesting that the activation of astroglial α 1-adrenergic receptors and subsequent exocytotic release of ATP from these glial cells are important for the induction of long-term potentiation in neocortical neurons. Thus, the behavioral state of the animal, vigilance in the case of adrenergic modulation, has a big impact on the learning capacity of the brain and may rely on gliotransmission.

The role of gliotransmission is still contentious as a recent study has shown that a commonly used transgenic mouse (dnSNARE) which has been utilized to block exclusively gliotransmission (Pascual et al., 2005; Lalo et al., 2014), could lead to ectopic expression (Fujita et al., 2014); discussed in Xie et al. (2015). Bearing this in mind, Hahn et al. (2015) utilized co-cultures of neurons and astrocytes, an approach instrumental in studying astrocyte-to-neuron signaling (Parpura et al., 1994), to demonstrate that astrocytes can increase the activity of NMDA-receptor dependent synaptic transmission at the postsynaptic subunit (N2B)-specific level. Thus, astrocytes not only sense neuromodulatory state, or local circuit activity, but also influence the circuits in which they are embedded, as reviewed by Perea et al. (2014a).

Could astrocytes themselves undergo plasticity? Sibille et al. (2015) addressed this question with dual recordings of hippocampal astrocyte Ca^{2+} signaling and synaptic transmission at Schaffer collateral pathway (SC)-CA1 pyramidal neuron (excitatory) synapses. During repetitive or tetanic stimulation of SC, astrocytes showed short-term depression of cytosolic Ca^{2+} signals associated with a simultaneous short-term potentiation at SC-CA1 synapses. Moreover, chelation of Ca^{2+} in astrocytes resulted in enhanced synaptic transmission and short-term plasticity at SC-CA1 synapses. This finding adds to a growing body of evidence that astrocytes are critical for certain types of synaptic plasticity (Min and Nevian, 2012).

Although evidence is accumulating that glial cells regulate the excitability of neural circuits and could therefore contribute to behavior -at least in certain animals- there are also other controversies that need to be resolved. One of them is the role of Ca^{2+} signaling in astrocytes that has been

OPEN ACCESS

Edited and reviewed by: Egidio D'Angelo,

University of Pavia, Italy

*Correspondence:

Tycho M. Hoogland, hoogland@nin.knaw.nl; t.hoogland@erasmusmc.nl

Received: 06 August 2015 Accepted: 24 August 2015 Published: 09 September 2015

Citation:

Hoogland TM and Parpura V (2015) Editorial: The role of glia in plasticity and behavior. Front. Cell. Neurosci. 9:356. doi: 10.3389/fncel.2015.00356 considered an essential feature of astrocyte function and plasticity (Nimmerjahn et al., 2009; Sibille et al., 2015).

Following up on work that proposed that Gq proteincoupled receptor Ca^{2+} mobilization in astrocytes does not affect neuronal synaptic transmission (Agulhon et al., 2010) or synaptic plasticity in hippocampal astrocytes, Petravicz et al. (2014) recently demonstrated in an inositol 1,4,5, trisphosphate receptor type 2 (otherwise providing for Ca^{2+} dynamics in astrocytes) conditional knockout mouse line that a battery of behavioral assessments (Morris water maze, elevated plus-maze, rotarod, open field activity, and acoustic startle response tests) failed to reveal any behavioral deficits. The above studies are reviewed by Xie et al. (2015), who also summarize the toolbox of currently available genetic approaches that enable the study of astrocytes *in vivo*.

Although optogenetics has proven to be clearly advantageous for studying neuronal correlates of behavior and functional connectivity in the brain (Friedman et al., 2015; Pala and Petersen, 2015), and it has been applied to selectively stimulate astrocytes (Gourine et al., 2010; Sasaki et al., 2012; Perea et al., 2014b; Natsubori et al., 2015), there are some caveats to its use in general and astrocytes in particular. These include the non-selectivity of, e.g., channelrhodopsin (ChR2) channels for cations leading to intracellular acidification (Beppu et al., 2014; also see Natsubori et al., 2015), as well as large Ca^{2+} increases that could bypass downstream signaling cascades, and which result in non-specific modulation of astrocyte function (Wang et al., 2013). Xie et al. (2015) suggest that Designer Receptors Exclusively Activated by Designer Drugs (DREADD) provide

References

- Agulhon, C., Fiacco, T. A., and McCarthy, K. D. (2010). Hippocampal short- and long-term plasticity are not modulated by astrocyte Ca2+ signaling. *Science* 327, 1250–1254. doi: 10.1126/science.1184821
- Beppu, K., Sasaki, T., Tanaka, K. F., Yamanaka, A., Fukazawa, Y., Shigemoto, R., et al. (2014). Optogenetic countering of glial acidosis suppresses glial glutamate release and ischemic brain damage. *Neuron* 81, 314–320. doi: 10.1016/j.neuron.2013.11.011
- De Zeeuw, C. I., and Hoogland, T. M. (2015). Reappraisal of Bergmann glial cells as modulators of cerebellar circuit function. *Front. Cell. Neurosci.* 9:246. doi: 10.3389/fncel.2015.00246
- Ding, F., O'Donnell, J., Thrane, A. S., Zeppenfeld, D., Kang, H., Xie, L., et al. (2013). alpha1-Adrenergic receptors mediate coordinated Ca2+ signaling of cortical astrocytes in awake, behaving mice. *Cell Calcium* 54, 387–394. doi: 10.1016/j.ceca.2013.09.001
- Friedman, A., Homma, D., Gibb, L. G., Amemori, K., Rubin, S. J., Hood, A. S., et al. (2015). A corticostriatal path targeting striosomes controls decision-making under conflict. *Cell* 161, 1320–1333. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2015. 04.049
- Fujita, T., Chen, M. J., Li, B., Smith, N. A., Peng, W., Sun, W., et al. (2014). Neuronal transgene expression in dominant-negative SNARE mice. J. Neurosci. 34, 16594–16604. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.2585-14.2014
- Gourine, A. V., Kasymov, V., Marina, N., Tang, F., Figueiredo, M. F., Lane, S., et al. (2010). Astrocytes control breathing through pH-dependent release of ATP. *Science* 329, 571–575. doi: 10.1126/science.1190721
- Hahn, J., Wang, X., and Margeta, M. (2015). Astrocytes increase the activity of synaptic GluN2B NMDA receptors. *Front. Cell. Neurosci.* 9:117. doi: 10.3389/fncel.2015.00117

a more precise method to reversibly control astrocyte activity allowing the disentanglement of the signaling pathways that contribute to glial modulation of circuit activity.

What are the current obstacles that need to be overcome to advance the field? Jahn et al. (2015), Xie et al. (2015), and Natsubori et al. (2015) all note that there is a need for better genetic models to study astrocyte function. Such models would allow inducible knockout, expression of proteins involved in astrocyte signaling at appropriate levels, and would also make use of more specific promotors that could target various types of glial cells in different brain areas. Furthermore, Jahn et al. (2015) stress the importance of considering the lifetime of proteins. Namely, recent data obtained from Bergmann glia revealed that knockout of subtypes of AMPA receptors resulted in process retraction, which fully manifested itself only after several weeks, a time-frame matching protein degradation of these channels (Saab et al., 2012).

The goal of this Research Topic has been to summarize our most recent understanding of glial cells in the regulation of plasticity of neural circuits. It is abundantly clear that genetic approaches have been instrumental in elucidating the role of glia in plasticity and behavior and that outstanding issues are likely to be resolved in the near future with novel genetic tools. Thus, exciting times lie ahead for the study of astrocytes in the dish and the behaving brain.

Acknowledgments

VP is supported by the National Institutes of Health (HD078678).

- Jahn, H. M., Scheller, A., and Kirchhoff, F. (2015). Genetic control of astrocyte function in neural circuits. *Front. Cell. Neurosci.* 9:310. doi: 10.3389/fncel.2015.00310
- Lalo, U., Palygin, O., Rasooli-Nejad, S., Andrew, J., Haydon, P. G., and Pankratov, Y. (2014). Exocytosis of ATP from astrocytes modulates phasic and tonic inhibition in the neocortex. *PLoS Biol.* 12:e1001747. doi: 10.1371/journal.pbio.1001747
- Min, R., and Nevian, T. (2012). Astrocyte signaling controls spike timingdependent depression at neocortical synapses. *Nat. Neurosci.* 15, 746–753. doi: 10.1038/nn.3075
- Natsubori, A., Takata, N., and Tanaka, K. F. (2015). Observation and manipulation of glial cell function by virtue of sufficient probe expression. *Front. Cell. Neurosci.* 9:176. doi: 10.3389/fncel.2015.00176
- Nimmerjahn, A., Mukamel, E. A., and Schnitzer, M. J. (2009). Motor behavior activates Bergmann glial networks. *Neuron* 62, 400–412. doi: 10.1016/j.neuron.2009.03.019
- Pala, A., and Petersen, C. C. (2015). In vivo measurement of cell-typespecific synaptic connectivity and synaptic transmission in layer 2/3 mouse barrel cortex. Neuron 85, 68–75. doi: 10.1016/j.neuron.2014. 11.025
- Pankratov, Y., and Lalo, U. (2015). Role for astroglial alpha1-adrenoreceptors in gliotransmission and control of synaptic plasticity in the neocortex. *Front. Cell. Neurosci.* 9:230. doi: 10.3389/fncel.2015.00230
- Parpura, V., Basarsky, T. A., Liu, F., Jeftinija, K., Jeftinija, S., and Haydon, P. G. (1994). Glutamate-mediated astrocyte-neuron signalling. *Nature* 369, 744–747. doi: 10.1038/369744a0
- Pascual, O., Casper, K. B., Kubera, C., Zhang, J., Revilla-Sanchez, R., Sul, J. Y., et al. (2005). Astrocytic purinergic signaling coordinates synaptic networks. *Science* 310, 113–116. doi: 10.1126/science.1116916

- Paukert, M., Agarwal, A., Cha, J., Doze, V. A., Kang, J. U., and Bergles, D. E. (2014). Norepinephrine controls astroglial responsiveness to local circuit activity. *Neuron* 82, 1263–1270. doi: 10.1016/j.neuron.2014.04.038
- Perea, G., Sur, M., and Araque, A. (2014a). Neuron-glia networks: integral gear of brain function. *Front. Cell. Neurosci.* 8:378. doi: 10.3389/fncel.2014.00378
- Perea, G., Yang, A., Boyden, E. S., and Sur, M. (2014b). Optogenetic astrocyte activation modulates response selectivity of visual cortex neurons *in vivo*. *Nat. Commun.* 5, 3262. doi: 10.1038/ncomms4262
- Petravicz, J., Boyt, K. M., and McCarthy, K. D. (2014). Astrocyte IP3R2-dependent Ca(2+) signaling is not a major modulator of neuronal pathways governing behavior. *Front. Behav. Neurosci.* 8:384. doi: 10.3389/fnbeh.2014.00384
- Saab, A. S., Neumeyer, A., Jahn, H. M., Cupido, A., Šimek, A. A., Boele, H. J., et al. (2012). Bergmann glial AMPA receptors are required for fine motor coordination. *Science* 337, 749–753. doi: 10.1126/science.1221140
- Sasaki, T., Beppu, K., Tanaka, K. F., Fukazawa, Y., Shigemoto, R., and Matsui, K. (2012). Application of an optogenetic byway for perturbing neuronal activity via glial photostimulation. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 109, 20720–20725. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1213458109
- Sibille, J., Zapata, J., Teillon, J., and Rouach, N. (2015). Astroglial Ca²⁺ signaling displays short-term plasticity and adjusts synaptic efficacy. *Front. Cell. Neurosci.* 9:189. doi: 10.3389/fncel.2015.00189

- Stout, R. F. Jr., Verkhratsky, A., and Parpura, V. (2014). Caenorhabditis elegans glia modulate neuronal activity and behavior. Front. Cell. Neurosci. 8:67. doi: 10.3389/fncel.2014.00067
- Wang, F., Smith, N. A., Xu, Q., Goldman, S., Peng, W., Huang, J. H., et al. (2013). Photolysis of caged Ca2+ but not receptor-mediated Ca2+ signaling triggers astrocytic glutamate release. J. Neurosci. 33, 17404–17412. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.2178-13.2013
- Xie, A. X., Petravicz, J., and McCarthy, K. D. (2015). Molecular approaches for manipulating astrocytic signaling *in vivo*. *Front. Cell. Neurosci.* 9:144. doi: 10.3389/fncel.2015.00144

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2015 Hoogland and Parpura. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.



Genetic control of astrocyte function in neural circuits

Hannah M. Jahn[†], Anja Scheller[†] and Frank Kirchhoff*

Molecular Physiology, Center for Integrative Physiology and Molecular Medicine (CIPMM), University of Saarland, Homburg, Germany

During the last two decades numerous genetic approaches affecting cell function in vivo have been developed. Current state-of-the-art technology permits the selective switching of gene function in distinct cell populations within the complex organization of a given tissue parenchyma. The tamoxifen-inducible Cre/loxP gene recombination and the doxycycline-dependent modulation of gene expression are probably the most popular genetic paradigms. Here, we will review applications of these two strategies while focusing on the interactions of astrocytes and neurons in the central nervous system (CNS) and their impact for the whole organism. Abolishing glial sensing of neuronal activity by selective deletion of glial transmitter receptors demonstrated the impact of astrocytes for higher cognitive functions such as learning and memory, or the more basic body control of muscle coordination. Interestingly, also interfering with glial output, i.e., the release of gliotransmitters can drastically change animal's physiology like sleeping behavior. Furthermore, such genetic approaches have also been used to restore astrocyte function. In these studies two alternatives were employed to achieve proper genetic targeting of astrocytes: transgenes using the promoter of the human glial fibrillary acidic protein (GFAP) or homologous recombination into the glutamate-aspartate transporter (GLAST) locus. We will highlight their specific properties that could be relevant for their use.

Keywords: genetic targeting of astrocytes, tamoxifen, CreERT2/loxP, Bergmann glia, human GFAP promoter, GLAST glutamate aspartate transporter

Introduction

Astrocytes represent an abundant, but also heterogeneous group of glial cells in all regions of the brain (**Figures 1A–F**). Their numerous interactions with capillaries and neurons are important signaling pathways for physiological brain function. Astrocytes actively control signal processing and transmission at the tripartite synapse (Perea et al., 2009). Originally, astrocytes were regarded as silent non-excitable cells, since they do not communicate via electrical signals. But now, it has become very clear that astroglial signaling is encoded in complex spatial and temporal patterns of Ca²⁺ changes within subcellular compartments as well as throughout cellular networks coupled by gap junctions. Intracellular Ca²⁺ rises indicate how they sense activity of their surroundings (Zorec et al., 2012; Araque et al., 2014; Verkhratsky and Parpura, 2014). Intracellular changes of another cation, Na⁺, have been recognized as an additional or alternative indicator of astrocyte activation (Kirischuk et al., 2012; Verkhratsky et al., 2013; Rose and Chatton, 2015). Even over longer distances astrocytes can convey various signals, e.g., inositol-1,4,5-trisphosphate (IP3) or cyclic nucleotides that pass through gap junctions and functionally couple the astroglial syncytium (Giaume and Liu, 2012; Theis and Giaume, 2012). Within these networks information spreads with

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Vladimir Parpura, University of Alabama at Birmingham, USA

Reviewed by:

Rheinallt Parri, Aston University, UK Gertrudis Perea, Instituto Cajal, Spain Paola Bezzi, Université de Lausanne, Switzerland

*Correspondence:

Frank Kirchhoff, Molecular Physiology, Center for Integrative Physiology and Molecular Medicine (CIPMM), University of Saarland, CIPMM Building 48, 66421 Homburg, Germany frank.kirchhoff@uks.eu

[†]These authors have contributed equally to this work.

> Received: 02 June 2015 Accepted: 27 July 2015 Published: 17 August 2015

Citation:

Jahn HM, Scheller A and Kirchhoff F (2015) Genetic control of astrocyte function in neural circuits. Front. Cell. Neurosci. 9:310. doi: 10.3389/fncel.2015.00310



FIGURE 1 | Astrocyte heterogeneity and gene targeting strategies to influence astrocyte behavior. Throughout development and in different brain regions, the heterogeneity of astrocytes becomes rather obvious when looking at the different morphologies. It is more the cell volume with cytosol and cell membrane that helps to visualize astrocyte function rather than the

cytoskeletal structure (A-F). Only few genetic strategies have been used to modify astrocyte function *in vivo* (G-J). (A) glial fibrillary acidic protein (GFAP)-stained acutely isolated astrocyte. (B) Cortical astrocytes expressing tdTomato in close contact to a blood vessel with their end feet, (C) Hippocampal astrocytes (CA1) expressing (Continued)

FIGURE 1 | Continued

GFAP. (D) Single Bergmann glia (BG) cell with CreERT2/loxP controlled reporter expression (EGFP). (E) Cortical astrocyte expressing EGFP and surrounding a blood vessel. Scale bars: $A,D,E = 10 \ \mu m$, $B = 20 \ \mu m$, $C = 50 \ \mu m$. (F) Electron micrograph depicting the intimate envrapping of preand postsynaptic terminals by astroglial processes (BG: Bergmann glial processes, scale bar: 1 µm). (G) Knock-in of CreERT2 into the GLAST locus leads to tamoxifen-sensitive recombination in all astrocytes with endogenous GLAST promoter activity (Mori et al., 2006). The DNA recombinase variant CreERT2 is trapped in the cytosol by heat shock proteins (HSP), after tamoxifen application the protein is released and translocated into the nucleus. (H,I) Transgenic GFAP-CreERT2 mice generated by non-homologous recombination can also be used to target astrocytes (Hirrlinger et al., 2006). The Cre/loxP system can either be used to selective excise gene alleles of interest (G,H; knockout) or to express genes of interest (e.g., reporter proteins such as GFP or genetically encoded Ca2+ indicators), but also to restore gene function (I) (Lioy et al., 2011). (J) Alternatively, the binary tTA/tetO system composed of (1) promoter-controlled expression of a tetracyclin transactivator protein; and (2) tetracycline/doxycycline-responsive elements driving the expression of proteins-of-interest (Pascual et al., 2005). This system allows for a certain degree of reversible gene regulation.

tens of μ m/s speed, still several orders of magnitude slower than the propagation of neuronal action potentials (Haydon and Nedergaard, 2015). The interactions of astrocytes with neurons are largely based on astroglial receptors that sense neuronal communication or on the release of gliotransmitters acting back on synaptic transmission. The general importance of astrocytes for brain function is uncovered by the devastating point mutations in single genes encoding transcription factors since these factors can control extended sets of gene programs. Genetically modified mice addressing astrocyte function have been instrumental in uncovering their role in the living animal.

In general, transgenic mouse models that interfere with cell function can be categorized in three classes: (1) Modulation of information input by direct knockout of receptors or signaling molecules, thereby preventing the information to enter the cell; it becomes *insensitive*; (2) Cell *perturbation* of intracellular gene programs or metabolic pathways, e.g., by knockout of transcription factors or enzymes involved in signal processing and resulting changes of the cellular infrastructure; and (3) Inhibition of signal release to the adjacent cellular neighborhood; the astrocyte becomes *inactive* or *silent*.

Conditional gene deletions started with the use of cellspecific promoters driving the Cre DNA recombinase (Cre/loxP system) to abolish gene function in selected cell types. However, several of such regulatory elements were active in precursor cells during embryonic development, thereby affecting complete lineage trees. To achieve temporal control of cell-specific DNA recombination, tamoxifen-sensitive, i.e., inducible variants of the Cre DNA recombinase were developed (CreER, CreER^T, CreER^{T2}). Here, the DNA recombinase Cre is fused to a mutated ligand-binding domain of the human estrogen receptor (ER), which does not bind endogenous estradiol, but is highly sensitive to nanomolar concentrations of 4-hydroxytamoxifen, a metabolite of tamoxifen that can be applied intraperitoneally, but also by gavage (Feil et al., 1997; Metzger and Chambon, 2001; Weber et al., 2001; Hirrlinger et al., 2006; Mori and Zhang, 2006).

Here, we will review current genetic strategies to reveal the impact of astrocyte function in the brain by focusing on frequently used paradigmatic examples (**Figures 1G–J**): tamoxifen-sensitive cell-specific gene deletion and restoration as well as doxycycline-induced expression of functionally impaired, dominant-negative signaling molecules. The tamoxifen-sensitive CreERT2/loxP system provides temporal control of gene deletion (Hirrlinger et al., 2006; Mori et al., 2006), in contrast to conventional mouse models with Cre/loxP (Malatesta et al., 2003). The doxycycline/tTA model can be used for transient effector protein expression (Bujard, 1999; Mansuy and Bujard, 2000; Pascual et al., 2005).

In the first part we will shortly describe the mouse models and their associated astrocyte function. In the second part, we will compare the targeting of astrocytes using regulatory elements of the human glial fibrillary acidic protein (GFAP) promoter with expression from the GLAST gene locus directly, and deduce respective technical considerations and scientific limitations.

The Role of Astrocytes in Hippocampal Learning

The functional role in working memory and its molecular signaling of the hippocampal CA3-CA1 synapse have been well characterized (Neves et al., 2008; Bannerman et al., 2014). A diversity of endogenous compounds is capable of modulating its transmission and thereby affecting our memory. Interestingly, one of the most abundant G-protein coupled receptors of the brain, the cannabinoid type-1 receptor (CB₁R), has been detected on all hippocampal cell types (Marsicano and Lutz, 1999). Based on work performed on brain slices, endocannabinoids or the synthetic drug $\Delta 9$ tetrahydrocannabinol (THC), better known as marijuana, are thought to inhibit presynaptic transmitter release via CB1R activation, thereby depressing excitatory neurotransmission, and finally, impairing spatial working memory (Misner and Sullivan, 1999; Carlson et al., 2002; Takahashi and Castillo, 2006; Bajo et al., 2009; Schoeler and Bhattacharyya, 2013). Also in vivo THC was found to cause long-term depression (LTD; Hampson and Deadwyler, 2000; Mato et al., 2004; Madroñal et al., 2012). However, when the impact of CB₁R was tested more selectively using genetically modified mice with cell-specific receptor deficiency, unexpectedly, it was the ablation of the astroglial (Figure 1H; GFAP-CreERT2 \times floxed CB₁R), but not the neuronal CB₁R that completely abolished THC-dependent depression (Figure 2A; Han et al., 2012). For their analysis, the authors used mice with at least 4 weeks of time to allow efficient receptor protein degradation. Although 30% of CB₁R protein could still be detected using immune-EM, the receptor function in modulating synaptic efficacy, i.e., LTD, was completely gone. In parallel, the mutant mice remained unaffected after THC injection when behaviorally tested in a variant of the Morris water maze. Thereby, this study demonstrates the pivotal role of astrocytes in modulating synaptic transmission and respective circuit-associated learning behavior.



Cerebellar Bergmann Glia Fine Tune Neural Circuits of Motor Coordination

The neural circuits of the cerebellum control the timing of motor performance by integrating sensory and motor input of climbing and mossy fibers (De Zeeuw et al., 2011; Heck et al., 2013). While climbing fibers (CF) multiply innervate the principal neurons, i.e., the Purkinje cells (PC); the information from mossy fibers is relayed via granule cells and their parallel fibers (PF). Both synapses, CF-PC and PF-PC, are characterized by their almost complete coverage by membrane appendages emanating from the main radially oriented processes of the Bergmann glia (BG; Figures 1D,F; Grosche et al., 2002; Lippman et al., 2008; Lippman Bell et al., 2010). The perisynaptic glial membranes are equipped with a tremendously high density of glutamate transporter to strictly control the extracellular levels of the excitatory transmitter and preventing synaptic spillover (Tong and Jahr, 1994; Marcaggi et al., 2003; Takayasu et al., 2006, 2009). Surprisingly, BG processes were found to express another glutamate sensing mechanism, ionotropic glutamate receptors very similar to neurons (Müller et al., 1992). The heteromeric ion channel complexes are formed by an assembly of the AMPA-type receptor subunits GluA1 and GluA4 (Geiger et al., 1995). However, in contrast to several neuronal AMPA

receptors, the BG receptor channels are Ca²⁺ permeable since they lack expression of the GluA2 subunit. While the importance of efficient glutamate uptake at excitatory synapses appears quite obvious, the expression of fast desensitizing AMPA receptors on BG remained enigmatic till very recently. To completely abolish AMPA receptor function in BG, another astrocytespecific mouse, the GLAST-CreERT2 knockin (gene: slc1a3; Mori et al., 2006; Figures 1G, 2B) was used to delete GluA1 and GluA4 simultaneously (Saab et al., 2012). In young mice (2 to 4 weeks old) GluA1/4 deletion resulted in retraction of glial appendages from PC synapses, an increased amplitude and duration of evoked postsynaptic PC currents, and a delayed formation of glutamatergic synapses. In adult (older than 2 months) mice, GluA1/4 inactivation also caused retraction of glial processes. In addition, the study provided a detailed time course for tamoxifen-evoked gene excision as well as mRNA and protein degradation. While the recombination event was almost completed after 2 days, the mRNA persisted for a week and the protein for even 3 weeks. The mutant mice showed normal behavior when observed in their cages. However, when the mice were challenged by a complex motor task running along a horizontal ladder with suddenly appearing obstacles, their fine motor coordination was significantly impaired (Figure 2B). Thus, AMPA receptors of BG are essential to optimize synaptic integration and cerebellar output function throughout life. AMPA receptor signaling of BG contributes to the structural and functional integrity of the cerebellar network and plays an important role in the "fine-tuning" of neuronal processing, which is crucial for a fast and precise control of complex motor behaviors (Saab et al., 2012).

Astrocyte-Specific Intracellular Gene Regulation in Signal Conversion

The above examples demonstrate how important astrocytes are in extracellular sensing of neuronal activity. Important intracellular functions such as detoxification or gene regulation can already be significantly affected by single point mutations in genes encoding enzymes or transcription factors, as observed in a variety of neurological disorders. A particularly well studied example is the methyl-CpG binding protein 2 (MECP2) that acts as a transcriptional repressor and affects the activity of broad range of downstream genes (Chahrour and Zoghbi, 2007). Mutations of the X-linked MECP2 gene cause Rett syndrome, a neurodevelopmental disorder. At the end of infancy patients suffer from progressing synaptic malfunctions associated with severe mental retardation (Chahrour and Zoghbi, 2007). Since loss-of-function mutations in mice phenocopy the human disease, genetic rescue experiments were performed to reintroduce the fully functional wild type gene. And indeed, global gene rescue restored brain development and function (Guy et al., 2007). Interestingly, neuron-specific restoration prevented several, but not all Rett-associated symptoms (Alvarez-Saavedra et al., 2007). Since MECP2 can be detected in astrocytes as well, it was selectively re-introduced in astrocytes using GFAP-CreERT2 mice crossbred to genetically modified mice with the MECP2 open reading frame encoded by the endogenous

gene, but separated from the promoter region by a Creexcisable STOP fragment (Figures 1I, 2C; Lioy et al., 2011). Tamoxifen treatment of mutant mice prolonged the lifespan to 7.5 months when compared to oil-treated animals that already died at 3 months of age. Phenotype differences became evident 6 weeks after tamoxifen-induced MECP2 re-expression. Even highly symptomatic MeCP2^{stop/y} mice could be rescued. While MECP2-deficient mice were hyperactive and guite anxious, behavioral testing in the open field and water maze revealed an improvement to 50% of control levels (Figure 2C). Similar to Rett patients, 12-week-old MeCP2^{stop/y} mice displayed strong breathing problems, but 2 months after tamoxifen-induced rescue the respiration pattern recovered to a normal range. Interestingly, the astrocyte-specific deletion of MeCP2, induced at an age of 3 weeks, caused several pathological symptoms such as smaller body size, clasped hindlimb posture and irregular breathing 10 weeks later as observed in the global knockout mice (Han et al., 2012). Lifespan, locomotion and anxiety behavior, however, remained normal. Thereby, these data suggest distinct mechanisms of neuron-astrocyte interactions in different neural circuits of forebrain (anxiety, motor behavior) and hindbrain (control of respiration).

Astrocytes Modulate Synaptic Transmission

One genetic mouse model in glia research has received particular attention and is currently heavily debated, the doxycyclineswitchable dnSNARE mouse (Pascual et al., 2005; Sloan and Barres, 2014; Haydon and Nedergaard, 2015; **Figures 1J**, **2D**). In this paragraph we will provide only a description of the positive findings that have been made. In the last part of this section we will shortly address the current discussion.

A very clear and evident way how astrocytes affect neural circuits became obvious when the regulated secretion of gliotransmitters such as glutamate, ATP or D-serine was investigated (Pascual et al., 2005). For this purpose a different switchable genetic mouse model was developed: the tetracyclinedependent expression of dominant-negative (dn) soluble N-ethylmaleimide-sensitive factor attached receptor (SNARE)proteins that disrupt the vesicular release of gliotransmitters. Transgenic mice with human GFAP promoter-driven expression of the *tetoff* tetracycline transactivator (tTA; Mansuy and Bujard, 2000) were crossbred to mice with a tTA responsive element (tet operator, tetO) regulating expression of dnSNARE and reporter proteins (Figure 1J). In the presence of dietary doxycycline, a tetracycline derivative with improved permeability for the bloodbrain barrier, the expression of dnSNAREs and reporter proteins is suppressed. Two weeks after stopping doxycycline, astrocytes efficiently express dnSNAREs and block their vesicular release of gliotransmitters (Figure 2D), in particular of ATP that is further degraded to adenosine. And indeed, electrophysiological analysis of hippocampal slices reveal enhanced field potentials after Schaffer collateral stimulation in dnSNARE mice (Pascual et al., 2005). Extracellular adenosine, generated from released ATP, acts on presynaptic A1 receptors and suppresses excitatory synaptic transmission. Blocking the constitutive ATP/adenosine

release from astrocytes enhances the excitatory drive that can be blocked by exogenous application of ATP (Pascual et al., 2005). By releasing activity dependent neurotransmitters, astrocytes regulate the strength of basal synaptic transmission at the circuit level. At system and behavioral level, impaired astroglial ATP release reduces the slow wave activity in the electroencephalogram (EEG), perturbs sleep homeostasis and sleep loss-associated memory deficits (**Figure 2D**; Halassa et al., 2009).

In a recent study severe concerns about the use of the transgenic dnSNARE mice have been raised (Fujita et al., 2014). The authors criticize an insufficient early characterization of the mice and present own data that suggest a predominant neuron-mediated impairment of ATP signaling rather than an astroglial one. Without joining this discussion, it is evident

that far-reaching conclusions from genetically engineered animal models should be based on independent experimental systems. But this should be immanent to all types of science. Continuous generation of novel mouse models and their free sharing within the scientific community will warrant the progress in our understanding of brain function.

Technical Considerations When Using Genetically Modified Mice to Target Astrocyte Functions

Astrocytes are not only widely distributed throughout all regions of the brain, age and brain-region specific expression of genes and their distinct functions have been identified (Malatesta et al., 2003; Regan et al., 2007; Halassa et al., 2009; Robel et al.,



FIGURE 3 Comparison of tamoxifen-induced DNA recombination in GLAST-CreERT2 and GFAP-CreERT2 mice. Comparison of DNA recombination in transgenic GFAP-CreERT2 and GLAST-CreERT2 knockin mice. (A,B) Sagittal overview of tdTomato reporter expression (Madisen et al., 2010) in the brain of GLAST-CreERT2 and GFAP-CreERT2 mice. (C-H) Magnified views of selected brain regions (otx, cortex; hc, hippocampus; th, thalamus; hy, hypothalamus; col, superior colliculus; bs,

brainstem). The upper panel shows reporter activation in GFAP-CreERT2 mice, the lower panel in GLAST-CreERT2. (I-K) In the cerebellum, tdTomato reporter activation of BG and other astrocytes is comparable in GFAP-CreERT2 and GLAST-CreERT2 mice (I) however, gene deletion (here GluA1) is more efficient (K) in BG of GLAST-CreERT2 mice (lower panel) than in GFAP-CreERT2 mice (upper panel) when compared to control mice (J).

2009, 2011; Gourine et al., 2010; Lioy et al., 2011; Han et al., 2012; Saab et al., 2012). Therefore, the selection of regulatory elements of THE astrocyte-specific gene is almost impossible. Historically, the promoter of the human GFAP gene has become a widely distributed and valuable tool. Its small size of 2.2 kb offered excellent cloning properties and facilitated its use for transgenic expression of numerous proteins of current interest such as EGFP or CreERT2 (Nolte et al., 2001; Hirrlinger et al., 2006). In parallel, as an alternative genetic tool, GLAST-CreERT2 mice were generated by targeting the tamoxifen-sensitive Cre DNA recombinase CreERT2 to exon 2 of the GLAST locus using homologous recombination (Mori et al., 2006). Direct comparison of both mouse lines revealed variable differences in brain region-dependent recombination although they largely overlap (Figure 3). While recombination in GLAST-CreERT2 mice dominates forebrain regions, the GFAP-CreERT2 mouse displays higher recombination efficiencies in the hindbrain. Particular differences become evident when not only reporter proteins are activated, but when gene knockout experiments require the recombination of homozygous alleles as observed for the deletion of the ionotropic glutamate receptor subunit GluA1 in cerebellar BG (Figures 3J,K). In GLAST-CreERT2 mice the immunohistochemical signal indicating GluA1 was completely abolished to background levels 4 weeks after induction of recombination, while in GFAP-CreERT2 mice GluA1 expression still remained in numerous BG cells.

It is important to note that only heterozygous GLAST-CreERT2 mice can be used. Homozygous GLAST-CreERT2 mice will be knockouts of the GLAST-dependent glutamate uptake. Interestingly, we found that, although heterozygous mice express only 50% of GLAST mRNA and protein in comparison to wild type mice, the functional glutamate uptake current appears to be unaffected (Saab et al., 2012).

Although the GFAP-CreERT2 and GLAST-CreERT2 mice have been successfully used in a series of studies including behavioral experiments, both suffer from recombination in radial glia of the neurogenic niches (Hirrlinger et al., 2006; Mori et al., 2006; DeCarolis et al., 2013). The DNA recombination induced in the respective neuronal progeny might contribute to a phenotype in conditional knockout experiments and careful control experiments should be employed. Alternative lines such as Connexin43-CreERT mice (Eckardt et al., 2004) without neuronal recombination in stem cells have not yet been used for behavioral experiments. Similarly, behavioral experiments with astrocyte-specific

References

- Alvarez-Saavedra, M., Sáez, M. A., Kang, D., Zoghbi, H. Y., and Young, J. I. (2007). Cell-specific expression of wild-type MeCP2 in mouse models of rett syndrome yields insight about pathogenesis. *Hum. Mol. Genet.* 16, 2315–2325. doi: 10. 1093/hmg/ddm185
- Araque, A., Carmignoto, G., Haydon, P. G., Oliet, S. H., Robitaille, R., and Volterra, A. (2014). Gliotransmitters travel in time and space. *Neuron* 81, 728–739. doi: 10.1016/j.neuron.2014.02.007
- Bajo, M., Roberto, M., and Schweitzer, P. (2009). Differential alteration of hippocampal excitatory synaptic transmission by cannabinoid ligands. *J. Neurosci. Res.* 87, 766–775. doi: 10.1002/jnr.21889

AldhL1- or FGFR3-CreERT2 mice might also be difficult since recombination can also be induced in neural stem cells or interneurons (Young et al., 2010; Yang et al., 2011; Foo and Dougherty, 2013).

Tamoxifen-induced gene recombination is a very valuable tool to temporally control gene excision. But, one has to keep in mind that gene excision does not mean simultaneous disappearance of the respective protein. The half-lifes of mRNA and protein have to be considered. In case of the glutamate receptors GluA1 and GluA4, their efficient functional removal required about 2 weeks (Saab et al., 2012). In addition, the age of the mice (i.e., the level of gene activity) influenced the protein turnover as well.

In the future, genetic targeting of astrocytes has to become more sophisticated. It is now clear that astrocytes of different brain regions can fulfill different functions. Therefore, we have to identify novel regulatory elements that can be used to address the astroglial heterogeneity, either by targeting astrocytes of distinct brain regions locally or functionally, e.g., after injury or during a learning paradigm. The numerous transporter genes could be a rich source. The thyroid hormone transporter OATP1C1 is such an example. This transporter is expressed by cortical or hippocampal astrocytes, but not in the brainstem (Schnell et al., 2013). In addition, the coincident use of two different gene loci and employing the split-Cre system could provide another strategy to target subclasses of astrocytes (Hirrlinger et al., 2009a,b).

Current efforts in obtaining cell type, age and brain regiondependent gene expression profiles will facilitate the quest for suitable regulatory elements to target astrocytes. Future mouse models will then help to further highlight selective astrocyte function of distinct central nervous system (CNS) regions or learning paradigms.

Acknowledgments

The authors would like to thank Frank Rhode for excellent technical assistance, Tamara Vogelgesang and Daniel Rhode for animal husbandry. The authors are grateful to Xianshu Bai, Aiman S. Saab and Carmen V. Bohn for valuable contributions and Jens Grosche (Effigos AG) for help with **Figure 2**. Work of the authors was supported by grants from Deutsche Forschungsgemeinschaft DFG SPP 1172 and DFG SFB 894; European Commission FP7–202167 NeuroGLIA and FP7-People ITN-237956 EdU-Glia.

Bannerman, D. M., Sprengel, R., Sanderson, D. J., McHugh, S. B., Rawlins, J. N., Monyer, H., et al. (2014). Hippocampal synaptic plasticity, spatial memory and anxiety. *Nat. Rev. Neurosci.* 15, 181–192. doi: 10.1038/nrn3677

Bujard, H. (1999). Controlling genes with tetracyclines. J. Gene. Med. 1, 372–374. doi: 10.1002/(sici)1521-2254(199909/10)1:5<372::aid-jgm61>3.0.co;2-t

Carlson, G., Wang, Y., and Alger, B. E. (2002). Endocannabinoids facilitate the induction of LTP in the hippocampus. *Nat. Neurosci.* 5, 723–724. doi: 10. 1038/nn879

- Chahrour, M., and Zoghbi, H. Y. (2007). The story of rett syndrome: from clinic to neurobiology. *Neuron* 56, 422–437. doi: 10.1016/j.neuron.2007.10.001
- DeCarolis, N. A., Mechanic, M., Petrik, D., Carlton, A., Ables, J. L., Malhotra, S., et al. (2013). *In vivo* contribution of nestin- and GLAST-lineage cells to

adult hippocampal neurogenesis. *Hippocampus* 23, 708–719. doi: 10.1002/hipo. 22130

- De Zeeuw, C. I., Hoebeek, F. E., Bosman, L. W., Schonewille, M., Witter, L., and Koekkoek, S. K. (2011). Spatiotemporal firing patterns in the cerebellum. *Nat. Rev. Neurosci.* 12, 327–344. doi: 10.1038/nrn3011
- Eckardt, D., Theis, M., Degen, J., Ott, T., van Rijen, H. V., Kirchhoff, S., et al. (2004). Functional role of connexin43 gap junction channels in adult mouse heart assessed by inducible gene deletion. *J. Mol. Cell. Cardiol.* 36, 101–110. doi: 10.1016/j.yjmcc.2003.10.006
- Feil, R., Wagner, J., Metzger, D., and Chambon, P. (1997). Regulation of cre recombinase activity by mutated estrogen receptor ligand-binding domains. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.* 237, 752–757. doi: 10.1006/bbrc.1997.7124
- Foo, L. C., and Dougherty, J. D. (2013). Aldh1L1 is expressed by postnatal neural stem cells in vivo. Glia 61, 1533–1541. doi: 10.1002/glia.22539
- Fujita, T., Chen, M. J., Li, B., Smith, N. A., Peng, W., Sun, W., et al. (2014). Neuronal transgene expression in dominant-negative SNARE mice. J. Neurosci. 34, 16594–16604. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.2585-14.2014
- Geiger, J. R., Melcher, T., Koh, D. S., Sakmann, B., Seeburg, P. H., Jonas, P., et al. (1995). Relative abundance of subunit mRNAs determines gating and Ca²⁺ permeability of AMPA receptors in principal neurons and interneurons in rat CNS. *Neuron* 15, 193–204. doi: 10.1016/0896-6273(95)90076-4
- Giaume, C., and Liu, X. (2012). From a glial syncytium to a more restricted and specific glial networking. *J. Physiol. Paris* 106, 34–39. doi: 10.1016/j.jphysparis. 2011.09.001
- Gourine, A. V., Kasymov, V., Marina, N., Tang, F., Figueiredo, M. F., Lane, S., et al. (2010). Astrocytes control breathing through pH-dependent release of ATP. *Science* 329, 571–575. doi: 10.1126/science.1190721
- Grosche, J., Kettenmann, H., and Reichenbach, A. (2002). Bergmann glial cells form distinct morphological structures to interact with cerebellar neurons. *J. Neurosci. Res.* 68, 138–149. doi: 10.1002/jnr.10197
- Guy, J., Gan, J., Selfridge, J., Cobb, S., and Bird, A. (2007). Reversal of neurological defects in a mouse model of rett syndrome. *Science* 315, 1143–1147. doi: 10. 1126/science.1138389
- Halassa, M. M., Florian, C., Fellin, T., Munoz, J. R., Lee, S. Y., Abel, T., et al. (2009). Astrocytic modulation of sleep homeostasis and cognitive consequences of sleep loss. *Neuron* 61, 213–219. doi: 10.1016/j.neuron.2008.11.024
- Hampson, R. E., and Deadwyler, S. A. (2000). Cannabinoids reveal the necessity of hippocampal neural encoding for short-term memory in rats. J. Neurosci. 20, 8932–8942.
- Han, J., Kesner, P., Metna-Laurent, M., Duan, T., Xu, L., Georges, F., et al. (2012). Acute cannabinoids impair working memory through astroglial CB1 receptor modulation of hippocampal LTD. *Cell* 148, 1039–1050. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2012. 01.037
- Haydon, P. G., and Nedergaard, M. (2015). How do astrocytes participate in neural plasticity? *Cold Spring Harb. Perspect. Biol.* 7:a020438. doi: 10. 1101/cshperspect.a020438
- Heck, D. H., De Zeeuw, C. I., Jaeger, D., Khodakhah, K., and Person, A. L. (2013). The neuronal code(s) of the cerebellum. *J. Neurosci.* 33, 17603–17609. doi: 10. 1523/JNEUROSCI.2759-13.2013
- Hirrlinger, J., Requardt, R. P., Winkler, U., Wilhelm, F., Schulze, C., and Hirrlinger, P. G. (2009a). Split-CreERT2: temporal control of DNA recombination mediated by split-Cre protein fragment complementation. *PLoS One* 4:e8354. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0008354
- Hirrlinger, P. G., Scheller, A., Braun, C., Hirrlinger, J., and Kirchhoff, F. (2006). Temporal control of gene recombination in astrocytes by transgenic expression of the tamoxifen-inducible DNA recombinase variant CreERT2. *Glia* 54, 11–20. doi: 10.1002/glia.20342
- Hirrlinger, J., Scheller, A., Hirrlinger, P. G., Kellert, B., Tang, W., Wehr, M. C., et al. (2009b). Split-cre complementation indicates coincident activity of different genes *in vivo*. *PLoS One* 4:e4286. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0004286
- Kirischuk, S., Parpura, V., and Verkhratsky, A. (2012). Sodium dynamics: another key to astroglial excitability? *Trends Neurosci.* 35, 497–506. doi: 10.1016/j.tins. 2012.04.003
- Lioy, D. T., Garg, S. K., Monaghan, C. E., Raber, J., Foust, K. D., Kaspar, B. K., et al. (2011). A role for glia in the progression of Rett's syndrome. *Nature* 475, 497–500. doi: 10.1038/nature10214
- Lippman Bell, J. J., Lordkipanidze, T., Cobb, N., and Dunaevsky, A. (2010). Bergmann glial ensheathment of dendritic spines regulates synapse number

without affecting spine motility. Neuron Glia Biol. 6, 193-200. doi: 10. 1017/s1740925x10000165

- Lippman, J. J., Lordkipanidze, T., Buell, M. E., Yoon, S. O., and Dunaevsky, A. (2008). Morphogenesis and regulation of bergmann glial processes during purkinje cell dendritic spine ensheathment and synaptogenesis. *Glia* 56, 1463–1477. doi: 10.1002/glia.20712
- Madisen, L., Zwingman, T. A., Sunkin, S. M., Oh, S. W., Zariwala, H. A., Gu, H., et al. (2010). A robust and high-throughput Cre reporting and characterization system for the whole mouse brain. *Nat. Neurosci.* 13, 133–140. doi: 10.1038/nn. 2467
- Madroñal, N., Gruart, A., Valverde, O., Espadas, I., Moratalla, R., and Delgado-García, J. M. (2012). Involvement of cannabinoid CB1 receptor in associative learning and in hippocampal CA3-CA1 synaptic plasticity. *Cereb. Cortex* 22, 550–566. doi: 10.1093/cercor/bhr103
- Malatesta, P., Hack, M. A., Hartfuss, E., Kettenmann, H., Klinkert, W., Kirchhoff, F., et al. (2003). Neuronal or glial progeny: regional differences in radial glia fate. *Neuron* 37, 751–764. doi: 10.1016/S0896-6273(03)00116-8
- Mansuy, I. M., and Bujard, H. (2000). Tetracycline-regulated gene expression in the brain. *Curr. Opin. Neurobiol.* 10, 593–596. doi: 10.1016/s0959-4388(00)00127-6
- Marcaggi, P., Billups, D., and Attwell, D. (2003). The role of glial glutamate transporters in maintaining the independent operation of juvenile mouse cerebellar parallel fibre synapses. *J. Physiol.* 552, 89–107. doi: 10.1113/jphysiol. 2003.044263
- Marsicano, G., and Lutz, B. (1999). Expression of the cannabinoid receptor CB1 in distinct neuronal subpopulations in the adult mouse forebrain. *Eur. J. Neurosci.* 11, 4213–4225. doi: 10.1046/j.1460-9568.1999.00847.x
- Mato, S., Chevaleyre, V., Robbe, D., Pazos, A., Castillo, P. E., and Manzoni, O. J. (2004). A single *in vivo* exposure to delta 9THC blocks endocannabinoidmediated synaptic plasticity. *Nat. Neurosci.* 7, 585–586. doi: 10.1038/nn1251
- Metzger, D., and Chambon, P. (2001). Site- and time-specific gene targeting in the mouse. *Methods* 24, 71–80. doi: 10.1006/meth.2001.1159
- Misner, D. L., and Sullivan, J. M. (1999). Mechanism of cannabinoid effects on long-term potentiation and depression in hippocampal CA1 neurons. *J. Neurosci.* 19, 6795–6805.
- Mori, T., Tanaka, K., Buffo, A., Wurst, W., Kühn, R., and Götz, M. (2006). Inducible gene deletion in astroglia and radial glia – a valuable tool for functional and lineage analysis. *Glia* 54, 21–34. doi: 10.1002/glia. 20350
- Mori, S., and Zhang, J. (2006). Principles of diffusion tensor imaging and its applications to basic neuroscience research. *Neuron* 51, 527–539. doi: 10.1016/j. neuron.2006.08.012
- Müller, T., Möller, T., Berger, T., Schnitzer, J., and Kettenmann, H. (1992). Calcium entry through kainate receptors and resulting potassium-channel blockade in bergmann glial cells. *Science* 256, 1563–1566. doi: 10.1126/science. 1317969
- Neves, G., Cooke, S. F., and Bliss, T. V. (2008). Synaptic plasticity, memory and the hippocampus: a neural network approach to causality. *Nat. Rev. Neurosci.* 9, 65–75. doi: 10.1038/nrn2303
- Nolte, C., Matyash, M., Pivneva, T., Schipke, C. G., Ohlemeyer, C., Hanisch, U. K., et al. (2001). GFAP promoter-controlled EGFP-expressing transgenic mice: a tool to visualize astrocytes and astrogliosis in living brain tissue. *Glia* 33, 72–86. doi: 10.1002/1098-1136(20010101)33:1<72::aid-glia1007>3.0.co;2-a
- Pascual, O., Casper, K. B., Kubera, C., Zhang, J., Revilla-Sanchez, R., Sul, J. Y., et al. (2005). Astrocytic purinergic signaling coordinates synaptic networks. *Science* 310, 113–116. doi: 10.1126/science.1116916
- Perea, G., Navarrete, M., and Araque, A. (2009). Tripartite synapses: astrocytes process and control synaptic information. *Trends Neurosci.* 32, 421–431. doi: 10.1016/j.tins.2009.05.001
- Regan, M. R., Huang, Y. H., Kim, Y. S., Dykes-Hoberg, M. I., Jin, L., Watkins, A. M., et al. (2007). Variations in promoter activity reveal a differential expression and physiology of glutamate transporters by glia in the developing and mature CNS. J. Neurosci. 27, 6607–6619. doi: 10.1523/jneurosci.0790-07. 2007
- Robel, S., Bardehle, S., Lepier, A., Brakebusch, C., and Gotz, M. (2011). Genetic deletion of cdc42 reveals a crucial role for astrocyte recruitment to the injury site *in vitro* and *in vivo*. *J. Neurosci.* 31, 12471–12482. doi: 10.1523/jneurosci. 2696-11.2011

- Robel, S., Mori, T., Zoubaa, S., Schlegel, J., Sirko, S., Faissner, A., et al. (2009). Conditional deletion of beta1-integrin in astroglia causes partial reactive gliosis. *Glia* 57, 1630–1647. doi: 10.1002/glia.20876
- Rose, C. R., and Chatton, J. Y. (2015). Astrocyte sodium signaling and neurometabolic coupling in the brain. *Neuroscience* doi: 10.1016/j.neuroscience.2015. 03.002 [Epub ahead of print].
- Saab, A. S., Neumeyer, A., Jahn, H. M., Cupido, A., Šimek, A. A., Boele, H. J., et al. (2012). Bergmann glial AMPA receptors are required for fine motor coordination. *Science* 337, 749–753. doi: 10.1126/science.1221140
- Schnell, C., Shahmoradi, A., Wichert, S. P., Mayerl, S., Hagos, Y., Heuer, H., et al. (2013). The multispecific thyroid hormone transporter OATP1C1 mediates cell-specific sulforhodamine 101-labeling of hippocampal astrocytes. *Brain Struct. Funct.* 220, 193–203. doi: 10.1007/s00429-013-0645-0
- Schoeler, T., and Bhattacharyya, S. (2013). The effect of cannabis use on memory function: an update. Subst. Abuse Rehabil. 4, 11–27. doi: 10.2147/sar.s25869
- Sloan, S. A., and Barres, B. A. (2014). Looks can be deceiving: reconsidering the evidence for gliotransmission. *Neuron* 84, 1112–1115. doi: 10.1016/j.neuron. 2014.12.003
- Takahashi, K. A., and Castillo, P. E. (2006). The CB1 cannabinoid receptor mediates glutamatergic synaptic suppression in the hippocampus. *Neuroscience* 139, 795–802. doi: 10.1016/j.neuroscience.2006.01.024
- Takayasu, Y., Iino, M., Shimamoto, K., Tanaka, K., and Ozawa, S. (2006). Glial glutamate transporters maintain one-to-one relationship at the climbing fiber-purkinje cell synapse by preventing glutamate spillover. J. Neurosci. 26, 6563–6572. doi: 10.1523/jneurosci.5342-05.2006
- Takayasu, Y., Iino, M., Takatsuru, Y., Tanaka, K., and Ozawa, S. (2009). Functions of glutamate transporters in cerebellar purkinje cell synapses. Acta Physiol. (Oxf) 197, 1–12. doi: 10.1111/j.1748-1716.2009.02019.x
- Theis, M., and Giaume, C. (2012). Connexin-based intercellular communication and astrocyte heterogeneity. *Brain Res.* 1487, 88–98. doi: 10.1016/j.brainres. 2012.06.045

- Tong, G., and Jahr, C. E. (1994). Block of glutamate transporters potentiates postsynaptic excitation. *Neuron* 13, 1195–1203. doi: 10.1016/0896-6273(94)90057-4
- Verkhratsky, A., Noda, M., Parpura, V., and Kirischuk, S. (2013). Sodium fluxes and astroglial function. Adv. Exp. Med. Biol. 961, 295–305. doi: 10.1007/978-1-4614-4756-6_25
- Verkhratsky, A., and Parpura, V. (2014). Store-operated calcium entry in neuroglia. *Neurosci. Bull.* 30, 125–133. doi: 10.1007/s12264-013-1343-x
- Weber, P., Metzger, D., and Chambon, P. (2001). Temporally controlled targeted somatic mutagenesis in the mouse brain. *Eur. J. Neurosci.* 14, 1777–1783. doi: 10.1046/j.0953-816x.2001.01803.x
- Yang, Y., Vidensky, S., Jin, L., Jie, C., Lorenzini, I., Frankl, M., et al. (2011). Molecular comparison of GLT1+ and ALDH1L1+ astrocytes *in vivo* in astroglial reporter mice. *Glia* 59, 200–207. doi: 10.1002/glia.21089
- Young, K. M., Mitsumori, T., Pringle, N., Grist, M., Kessaris, N., and Richardson, W. D. (2010). An Fgfr3-iCreER(T2) transgenic mouse line for studies of neural stem cells and astrocytes. *Glia* 58, 943–953. doi: 10.1002/glia.20976
- Zorec, R., Araque, A., Carmignoto, G., Haydon, P. G., Verkhratsky, A., and Parpura, V. (2012). Astroglial excitability and gliotransmission: an appraisal of Ca2+ as a signaling route. *ASN Neuro* 4:e00080. doi: 10.1042/an20110061

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2015 Jahn, Scheller and Kirchhoff. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution and reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.



Reappraisal of Bergmann glial cells as modulators of cerebellar circuit function

Chris I. De Zeeuw^{1,2} and Tycho M. Hoogland^{1,2*}

¹ Cerebellar Coordination and Cognition, Netherlands Institute for Neuroscience, Amsterdam, Netherlands, ² Department of Neuroscience, Erasmus MC, Rotterdam, Netherlands

Just as there is a huge morphological and functional diversity of neuron types specialized for specific aspects of information processing in the brain, astrocytes have equally distinct morphologies and functions that aid optimal functioning of the circuits in which they are embedded. One type of astrocyte, the Bergmann glial cell (BG) of the cerebellum, is a prime example of a highly diversified astrocyte type, the architecture of which is adapted to the cerebellar circuit and facilitates an impressive range of functions that optimize information processing in the adult brain. In this review we expand on the function of the BG in the cerebellum to highlight the importance of astrocytes not only in housekeeping functions, but also in contributing to plasticity and information processing in the cerebellum.

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Thomas Knöpfel, Imperial College London, UK

Reviewed by:

Hajime Hirase, RIKEN - Brain Science Institute, Japan Claus Mathiesen, University of Copenhagen, Denmark Paikan Marcaggi, Centre National de la Recherche Scientifique, France

*Correspondence:

Tycho M. Hoogland, Cerebellar Coordination and Cognition, Netherlands Institute for Neuroscience, Meibergdreef 47, 1105 BA Amsterdam, Netherlands hoogland@nin.knaw.nl; t.hoogland@erasmusmc.nl

> **Received:** 27 May 2015 **Accepted:** 17 June 2015 **Published:** 02 July 2015

Citation:

De Zeeuw Cl and Hoogland TM (2015) Reappraisal of Bergmann glial cells as modulators of cerebellar circuit function. Front. Cell. Neurosci. 9:246. doi: 10.3389/fncel.2015.00246 Keywords: astrocytes, Bergmann glia, cerebellum, cerebellar zone, zebrin, neuron-glia interactions

Introduction

The versatile function of astrocytes is well highlighted by the Bergmann glial cell (BG) of the cerebellum, an astrocyte type that outnumbers the principle neuronal output cell of the cerebellar cortex, the Purkinje cell (PC), roughly eight-fold (Korbo et al., 1993; Reichenbach et al., 1995). BGs are essential for migration and correct layering of granule cells in early cerebellar development (Rakic, 1971), but they remain an integral part of the adult cerebellar circuit, where they subserve an important role in extracellular ion homeostasis (Wang et al., 2012), synapse stability (Iino et al., 2001; Saab et al., 2012), plasticity (Balakrishnan and Bellamy, 2009; Balakrishnan et al., 2014), metabolic function and neuroprotection (Poblete-Naredo et al., 2011; Jakoby et al., 2014). The functional relevance of BGs is also reflected by the expression of cyto-architectural markers that largely overlap with those of the cerebellar zones (Reeber et al., 2014), the canonical computational units of cerebellum (Chambers and Sprague, 1955; Groenewegen and Voogd, 1977; Groenewegen et al., 1979; Oscarsson, 1979; Zhou et al., 2014; De Zeeuw and Ten Brinke, 2015). In the intact brain, activity in BGs as measured via in vivo calcium imaging reveal a diverse repertoire of signals, including compartmented signaling in BG processes (Hoogland and Kuhn, 2010; Nimmerjahn et al., 2009), large scale elevations of calcium during behavior that are thought to correlate with changes in blood flow (Nimmerjahn et al., 2009), and more confined radially expanding waves that are increased in awake behaving vs. anesthetized animals (Nimmerjahn et al., 2009) and that increase in frequency with age (Mathiesen et al., 2013). In addition, homeostatic control of calcium by BGs may be important for neuroprotection and oxygen regulation (Mathiesen et al., 2013). Importantly, not only direct optogenetic manipulation of calcium levels in BGs (Sasaki et al., 2012), but also inducible genetic deletion of AMPA receptors in BGs can affect associative motor learning and/or motor performance (Saab et al., 2012). Thus BGs are not just involved in essential housekeeping functions, but may also contribute to information processing in the cerebellum. Here, we provide more details on these diverse functions and propose the hypothesis that BGs are involved in fine-tuning activity in cyto-architecturally distinct cerebellar zones.

Cerebellar Architecture

In order to understand how BGs are integrated in the cerebellum, a brief introduction to its architecture is required. The basic circuit of the cerebellum is evolutionary conserved across vertebrates-from lampreys (Larsell, 1947) to cetaceans (Hanson et al., 2013)-and confers unique computational properties to enable sensorimotor integration and motor coordination with high temporal precision (Llinás and Sasaki, 1989; Welsh et al., 1995; Kistler and De Zeeuw, 2002). There are two main distinguishing features. One includes a rostral-caudal organization of cyto-architectural and functionally distinct sagittally oriented PC zones with further subdivisions into microzones (Groenewegen and Voogd, 1977; Zhou et al., 2014; Tsutsumi et al., 2015). The PCs provide the output of the cerebellar cortex to the cerebellar nuclei (CN) and thereby exert parcellated control over downstream effectors, which are often recruited sequentially during movements (Welsh et al., 1995; Hoogland et al., 2015). The climbing fibers (CFs), which originate from the inferior olive in the ventral medulla oblongata, project to the rostro-caudal zones of PCs (Sugihara et al., 2007; Brown et al., 2012) where they can trigger complex spikes synchronously to adjust movements (Marshall and Lang, 2009; Ozden et al., 2012; De Gruijl et al., 2014). Another integral feature of cerebellar architecture is the transverse alignment of granule cell parallel fiber axons (PFs), which cross the entire width of a cerebellar folium at right angles to the PC dendrites. The intrinsically generated simple spike firing of PCs is tuned not only by PF input, but also by CF input that can trigger short pauses of simple spike firing and determine the phase of their modulation (Schmolesky et al., 2002). Cerebellar zones are demarcated by preferential expression of select proteins in alternating parasagittal bands. The best-known example is aldolase C, or Zebrin II (Leclerc et al., 1992). Zebrin-positive PCs fire intrinsically at lower frequencies (\sim 60 Hz) than PCs in zebrin-negative zones (\sim 100 Hz) (Zhou et al., 2014) and these zones also appear to respond differentially to sensory input (Tsutsumi et al., 2015; Witter and De Zeeuw, 2015), lending support to the idea that cerebellar zones are basic operational units of cerebellar motor control. Other proteins with expression patterns similar or complementary to Zebrin are e.g., the neuronal calcium sensor protein (NCS-1; Jinno et al., 2003), the excitatory amino acid transporter 4 (EAAT4; Dehnes et al., 1998), heat shock protein HSP25 (Armstrong et al., 2001) and others (Cerminara et al., 2015). CFs projecting to zebrin-positive zones release more glutamate and generate more CS spikelets (Paukert et al., 2010). Moreover, the susceptibility of their PC targets for plasticity may be different as well (Wadiche and Jahr, 2005; Wang et al., 2011), highlighting that zones are functionally demarcated. How BGs are embedded in these demarcated zones and contribute to their function is not yet fully understood.

BG Structure, Circuit Embedding and Structural Plasticity

Several studies have described the cellular and subcellular structure of BGs in detail (de Blas, 1984; Siegel et al., 1991; Reichenbach et al., 1995; Castejón et al., 2002). BGs are distinct in having up to five polarized main processes (radial fibers) that extend over the full depth of the molecular layer. The BG fibers branch in the parasagittal plane (Figure 1), but overlap with fibers of neighboring cells to form palisades. In rodents BG fibers are regularly spaced at intervals of a few µm oriented along the parallel fiber direction with a bit wider spacing along the rostro-caudal axis of the cerebellum (de Blas, 1984; Reichenbach et al., 1995; Hoogland and Kuhn, 2010). BG radial fibers give rise to small convoluted side branches that form sites of putative neural-glial interaction and account in rat for 90% of the BG membrane surface area (Grosche et al., 1999, 2002). Two classes of protrusions from the main BG fibers have been distinguished, short thorny processes and more elaborate processes with long thin stalks several µm long. The complex BG appendages form microdomains that have surface-to-volume ratios six-fold higher than the main radial fibers, show highly complex branching patterns, and by nature of their structure can act as electrotonically and biochemically compartmentalized microdomains subserving on average five synapses (Grosche et al., 1999). Estimates on the number of PC synapses that BG microdomains encompass ranges from ~2000-6000 (Reichenbach et al., 1995). The ensheathment of PC synapses commences near onset of synaptogenesis and could be important for regulation of synapse number, though it does not affect synapse stability in adulthood (Lippman Bell et al., 2010). What other functions do BG microdomains have? One possibility is that they restrict diffusion of neurotransmitter from the synaptic cleft (Grosche et al., 2002) and thus help to improve the fidelity of synaptic transmission. Due to the arrangement of BG palisades, side processes are ideally positioned to sample and interact with PFs (Herndon, 1964). High immuno-reactivity for glutamine synthetase was found in BG processes (Reichenbach et al., 1995) and BGs express high densities of glutamate transporters (Storck et al., 1992; Rothstein et al., 1994; Bergles et al., 1997). Together, this implicates that BGs may play a role in PFmediated synaptic transmission. Strikingly, the first postnatal weeks show an impressive elaboration of BG appendages that parallels the development of PFs (Shiga et al., 1983; Grosche et al., 2002). Electron microscopy data have demonstrated that BG processes not only enwrap PF-PC synapses, but also appose PFs, CF collaterals, and processes of molecular layer interneurons (MLIs; Castejón et al., 2002). BG processes also express GABA_A receptors in the vicinity of inhibitory synapses close to PC somata, but in a small fraction also at excitatory



plane, i.e., along the rostro-caudal axis of the cerebellum. BGs have up to 5 radial fibers that extend over the full depth of the molecular layer. In addition, BG radial fibers give off small side branches or BG microdomains (not shown) that predominantly wrap around parallel fiber- PC synapses (Grosche et al., 2002). Right: planes at different depths illustrating the PC-BG relationship. Inset 1: PC layer with arrangement of a monolayer of BG and PC somata at a density of 8 BGs (blue) to 1 PC. Inset 2: molecular layer BG processes arrange in palisades

to maximize interaction with parallel fibers. Inset 3: BG fibers terminate at the surface with bulbous end-feet, the function of which has not been studied. **(B)** Zonation in the cerebellum. Left: Zebrin II (zebrin) expression in the cerebellum follows a pattern consisting of rostro-caudal parasagittal stripes that constitute functional modules with distinct input-output relationships. Right: coronal section through a cerebellar folium showing clear delineation of zebrin-positive, or negative borders. Other proteins such as the HSP25 display staining complementary to Zebrin II. BGs display a similar zonal expression of HSP25 (Reeber et al., 2014), but with less distinct boundaries due to their morphology. R: rostral, C: caudal, M: medial, L: lateral.

synapses near PC dendritic spines (Riquelme et al., 2002). Thus, BGs are equipped to sense both inhibitory and excitatory neurotransmitters. Indeed, glutamate transporters are densely expressed on BG processes and can aid glutamate uptake into BGs (Bergles et al., 1997). It has been demonstrated that GLAST and GLT-1 also affect the time course of synaptically evoked currents during repeated PF activation of a few fibers, or during single stimuli when multiple nearby fibers are activated (Marcaggi et al., 2003). By shaping the time course of postsynaptic currents glutamate transporters in BGs could regulate mGluR-mediated plasticity (Marcaggi and Attwell, 2005). Both electrical stimulation of PFs and ATP release from MLIs can trigger calcium elevations in BG processes (Beierlein and Regehr, 2006). BGs normally express calciumpermeable α-amino-3-hydroxy-5-methyl-4-isoxazolepropionic acid (AMPA) receptors, as demonstrated by the presence of glutamate evoked AMPAR currents and immunocytochemistry (Burnashev et al., 1992; Sato et al., 1993; Bellamy and Ogden, 2006; Saab et al., 2012). They are required for maintenance of BG processes around PC dendritic spines (lino et al., 2001). Recent work in which (calcium-permeable) AMPA receptors (GluR1 and GluR4) were conditionally knocked-out in BGs has replicated this finding and demonstrated a co-occurrence of such BG process retraction with impairments in associative motor learning during both the ErasmusLadder task and eyeblink conditioning (Saab et al., 2012). Moreover, since these phenotypes occurred in adult but not young animals, the picture emerges that BGs also serve specific and active functions in adulthood. Interestingly, AMPA receptors probably also regulate electrical coupling between BGs, as their activation results in a strong reduction of BG-BG junctional conductance (Müller et al., 1996). Even though the BG palisades are oriented along the direction of the PFs, the electrical coupling between BGs appears to be limited along the parasagittal plane matching the orthogonal orientation of PC dendritic arbors (Figure 1A).

Types of Calcium Signaling in BGs

Calcium dynamics in BGs have been described in detail in vitro and in vivo. Burst stimulation of PFs is sufficient to trigger local calcium increases in BG processes (Grosche et al., 1999; Beierlein and Regehr, 2006; Piet and Jahr, 2007). Such calcium elevations are sensitive to block of group I metabotropic glutamate receptors, purinergic (P2Y) receptors or AMPAR currents (Beierlein and Regehr, 2006; Piet and Jahr, 2007). Putative AMPAR-mediated calcium increases show shorter duration and smaller amplitude calcium transients upon stimulation, while larger calcium increases are sensitive to cyclopiazonic acid (CPA), blocking release from calcium stores. The slow calcium transients seen during burst stimulation can be elicited by ATP released from MLIs upon PF stimulation (Piet and Jahr, 2007). Stimulation of CFs does not elicit calcium elevations in BGs, but does evoke currents in BGs. These currents are of much lower magnitude than during PF stimulation. PF stimulation results in BG AMPAR currents that display paired pulse facilitation (PPF) as seen with synaptic PPF, but such AMPAR-mediated BG currents are of short duration as BG AMPAR currents with high-frequency stimulation cannot be sustained (Bellamy and Ogden, 2005). Taken together, it appears that BGs are more responsive to PF than to CF activity. However, synchronous CF activity could in principle boost glutamate spillover. Spillover from CF terminals has been associated with larger CF mediated AMPAR currents and could act as a cue to guide BG processes to enwrap synapses for better isolation (Matsui and Jahr, 2004). Thus, functionally BG AMPAR currents appear to be important for stabilizing BG microdomains around synaptic elements to enable effective clearance through BG glutamate transporters (Rothstein et al., 1994; Bergles et al., 1997) and thereby increase the fidelity of synaptic transmission.

Electrical stimulation of PF axonal beams in recent experiments have demonstrated clustered activation of PFs in response to sensory stimulation (Wilms and Häusser, 2015). Such PF activation could result in calcium elevations in BG processes in vivo similar to those that have been reported in vitro. In vivo, several types of BG calcium responses have been observed. These include for example single process calcium elevations as revealed through sparse viral transduction of BGs with a genetically encoded calcium indicator (GECI; Hoogland et al., 2009) or synthetic calcium indicators in combination with the astrocyte marker SR101 (Nimmerjahn et al., 2004). In addition, elevations in large fields of BG processes can occur in vivo during locomotion (Nimmerjahn et al., 2009; Paukert et al., 2014) and/or transglial calcium waves (Hoogland et al., 2009; Nimmerjahn et al., 2009). The frequency of BG signals of mammals in the awake state is significantly higher than those in the anesthetized state (Nimmerjahn et al., 2009; Hoogland and Kuhn, 2010) and their rate is generally sensitive to block of neural activity and glutamatergic transmission with some remaining calcium responses that might be intrinsically generated (Nimmerjahn et al., 2009). The calcium elevations in BG processes during locomotion probably reflect the increased synaptic drive observed in the cerebellum during locomotion (Ozden et al., 2012). However, it should be noted that the correlations with the onset of locomotion are weak and that BGs do not always respond with calcium increases during bouts of locomotion (Paukert et al., 2014). Transglial calcium waves in the cerebellum are triggered by ATP and rely on release of calcium from internal stores (Hoogland and Kuhn, 2010). Their frequency also increases when the animal is transferred from an anesthetized to an awake state (Nimmerjahn et al., 2009) or when it is getting older (Mathiesen et al., 2013). Indeed, the role of these waves may be metabolic and neuroprotective in that their occurrence increases with low oxygen tension (Mathiesen et al., 2013). Future studies employing selective expression of GECIs should further elucidate how calcium microdomains in BGs respond to sensorimotor stimulation in detail (Kuhn et al., 2011; Paukert et al., 2014).

BG K⁺ Siphoning and Functional Implications

Astrocytes including BGs act as large sinks for redistribution of ionic gradients and could thereby have significant impact on neurotransmission and excitability of neurons (Newman et al., 1984; Reichenbach et al., 1995). This can have clear benefits for redistributing ions in regions where K⁺ accumulates rapidly during periods of strong activity, ensuring that increased neuronal activity can be sustained. In fact, large 1-3 mM accumulations of extracellular K⁺ have been measured in vitro around PCs in response to spiking activity (Hounsgaard and Nicholson, 1983). The presence of inward rectifying K^+ (KIR) channels can effectively shuttle K⁺ into BGs (Butt and Kalsi, 2006), which have strongly hyperpolarized resting membrane potentials. In situ hybridization studies have shown that KIR4.1 has highest expression levels in hippocampus and cerebellar cortex (Poopalasundaram et al., 2000). In the cerebellum KIR4.1 channels are expressed in BGs near the PC primary branches (Poopalasundaram et al., 2000). Recent work has revealed the importance of BGs in regulating K⁺ concentrations to influence PC membrane potential. Such modulation was shown to be Ca²⁺-dependent and could trigger bistability of PCs (Wang et al., 2012), a phenomenon in which PCs show periods of firing alternated by quiescence. In the intact animal PC bistability has been shown to be strongly influenced by anesthetics and mostly absent in healthy tissue of awake animals (Schonewille et al., 2006), but it could potentially be present in the cerebellum during sleep, which currently is an active area of investigation. The function of bistability is contentious, but modeling studies suggest that it can increase the capacity of PCs to learn input-output associations (Clopath et al., 2012). Thus, since artificial elevation of calcium in BGs in vitro transiently reduces extracellular K⁺ concentrations (Wang et al., 2012), the question emerges to what extent a particular type of calcium signal is preferably driving inward K⁺ currents in BGs *in vivo* or whether other observed types of calcium conductances also contribute to regulation of K⁺ in the intact cerebellum. While ATP-driven calcium elevations could trigger transient shifts of PCs to an upstate in vitro,

ATP-mediated transglial waves relying on calcium release from intracellular stores could in principle modulate excitability of nearby PCs in vivo (Hoogland et al., 2009). However, no direct role of transglial waves in physiological function has vet been demonstrated. As it stands now, these signals seem to be involved predominantly in metabolic control or are neuroprotective (Mathiesen et al., 2013). As mentioned above, the frequency of transglial waves is significantly decreased under anesthesia (~7-fold) when bistability manifests itself most prominently (Nimmerjahn et al., 2009). This could be reconciled by the fact that increased frequency of BG calcium signals in awake mice (Nimmerjahn et al., 2009; Hoogland and Kuhn, 2010) could cause a constitutive reduction of external K⁺ to drive PCs into prolonged (depolarized) upstates. It has been proposed that PCs remain in the upstate because calcium-dependent K⁺ channels gradually inactivate after hyperpolarization (Wang et al., 2012), but the exact mechanisms are still unclear. Both locally and globally BGs are able to alter excitability by regulating extracellular K⁺ but under which conditions this happens in the intact brain requires further investigation.

Activation of BGs during Vigilance

BGs like other astrocytes express receptors for the neurotransmitter noradrenaline and activation of such receptors can trigger calcium elevations (Salm and McCarthy, 1990; Kirischuk et al., 1996). Recent studies have revealed that noradrenaline-dependent calcium signaling in astrocytes can be triggered *in vivo* (Bekar et al., 2008; Ding et al., 2013), either after stimulating the source of noradrenergic afferents, the locus coeruleus, after strong peripheral stimulation, such as foot shocks, or even with whisker stimulation as revealed by pharmacological block with alpha-adrenergic receptor antagonists (Bekar et al., 2008; Ding et al., 2013). The release of noradrenaline is non-synaptic, diffuses throughout the neuropil volume and can thereby trigger calcium elevations and down-stream signaling in astrocytes.

Possibly, noradrenaline release also contributes to BG activation during sensorimotor stimulation. Indeed during headfixed treadmill locomotion (Nimmerjahn et al., 2009) weak responses can be seen in BGs of the cerebellum across the field of view. These signals can be extracted from ROIs defined by the co-loading of the astrocyte marker SR101 (Nimmerjahn et al., 2004)-now known to also affect neuronal excitability (Kang et al., 2010)-and OGB-1/AM, a synthetic calcium indicator dye. Calcium signals in (purported) BG processes occur during locomotion bouts and are attenuated with short inter-movement intervals, suggesting that calcium release from internal stores underlies the calcium increases. In a recent study in which the GECI GCaMP3 was expressed selectively in astrocytes, calcium elevations were also demonstrated to encompass large fields of BG processes during locomotion bouts, but they were of low amplitude and such events had a failed rate of about one in three (Paukert et al., 2014). Strikingly, when locomotion was enforced (and thus arousal

peaked) significantly larger whole field BG responses were evoked in a consistent manner. These also appeared refractory. Using pharmacological tools it was subsequently shown that such arousal-induced BG calcium elevations were dependent on noradrenaline release and activation of the α 1-adrenergic receptor similar to what has been observed for cortical astrocytes (Ding et al., 2013). Calcium elevations were not restricted to BGs, but also observed simultaneously in visual cortex astrocytes-albeit with a slightly longer delay-suggesting that release of noradrenaline during a state of arousal activates astrocytes across the entire brain. Thus, the noradrenergic system can act as a gain modulator not only for neurons (Johnson et al., 1968), but also astrocytes during active behavior. Which types of natural behaviors trigger the arousal system to elicit calcium elevations in BGs remains to be elucidated.

BGs and Cerebellar Zone Patterning

The modular organization of the cerebellum into parasagittal zones as defined e.g., by Zebrin, or other markers (Figure 1B) has been known for decades (Voogd, 1969; Groenewegen et al., 1979), and although hypotheses were formulated on their function (Oscarsson, 1979), it was not until much later that their functional organization was investigated in awake animals (Welsh et al., 1995; Lang et al., 1999; Ozden et al., 2012; De Gruijl et al., 2014). In vivo two-photon microscopy recently revealed that zebrin-positive zones not only define sharp anatomical borders, but also show a sharp delineation of functional responses to sensory stimuli (Tsutsumi et al., 2015). Although it is logical to assume that BGs embedded in cerebellar zones follow the same modular organization as the neurons they interact with, it was not until recently that evidence was presented that BGs indeed show overlap with cerebellar zones (Reeber et al., 2014), as defined by marker proteins also found in PCs. Specifically, it concerned the heat shock protein, HSP25, which was shown earlier to be confined to zebrin-like parasagittal bands of PCs in mice (Armstrong et al., 2000). The function of this protein in the cerebellum is still unknown. BG processes do not have the flat topography of PC dendritic arbors and the BG borders defined by HSP25 are not as tight as those seen for PCs (Figure 1B). Nevertheless, there is substantial overlap. It is likely that other zone-delimiting proteins will be found to co-localize not only with cerebellar neurons, but also BGs. Interesting as this may be, the most important question remains to be answered, namely do BGs that are integrated in cerebellar zones also contribute actively to the physiology of these zones? The recent establishment of differential firing behavior of PCs in zebrin-positive vs. zebrin-negative cerebellar zones—with the latter firing at higher frequencies-(Zhou et al., 2014) has made this question quite relevant. It was found that the higher frequency of PC firing in zebrin-negative zones could be attributed to the activation of the TRPC3 channel in PCs, a channel that is under control of proteins that have expression patterns overlapping with zebrin-negative zones. Although the firing rate differences were strongly attenuated when blocking TRPC3 channel function,

alternate pathways are feasible through which PCs activity levels could be set in cerebellar zones. BGs have been shown to tonically release GABA via bestrophin 1 (Best1) channels (Lee et al., 2010; Yoon et al., 2011). The close apposition of BG processes to PFs, PCs and MLIs suggest that through tonic release of neurotransmitters BGs are capable to set activity levels in the cerebellar circuit. In granule cells tonic GABA release from astrocytes through Best1 could evoke tonic currents of up to \sim 30 pA. In BGs the concentration of GABA has been estimated with the use of immunogold labeling to be between 5-10 mM and is synthesized by monoamine oxidase (Yoon et al., 2014). Thus a sufficient electrochemical gradient exists to drive currents through Best1 in BGs and sustain tonic GABA release. The GABAB receptor 2 (GABABr2) is found in PCs of zones that label positively for zebrin (Chung et al., 2008). Given the typical extrasynaptic localization of such receptors (Fritschy et al., 1999) and their known coupling to G protein-coupled inwardly-rectifying potassium (GIRK) channels that can drive membrane hyperpolarization (Lüscher and Slesinger, 2010), it is tempting to speculate that tonic GABA release in Zebrin/GABABr2-positive zones sets, or maintains lower activity levels. In addition, the exact distribution of Best1 in the cerebellum has not been reported in great detail as histology was performed on thin parasagittal sections, making it hard to assess whether perhaps Best1 itself is also expressed preferentially in a zebrin-like pattern (Lee et al., 2010; Yoon et al., 2011). Regardless, tonic GABA release from BGs (in combination with zone-delimited expression of GABA receptors) adds another layer of glial control over cerebellar circuit function over time courses that exceed the typical time scale of seconds, during which BGs modulate their activity.

References

- Armstrong, C. L., Krueger-Naug, A. M., Currie, R. W., and Hawkes, R. (2000). Constitutive expression of the 25-kDa heat shock protein Hsp25 reveals novel parasagittal bands of Purkinje cells in the adult mouse cerebellar cortex. *J. Comp. Neurol.* 416, 383–397. doi: 10.1002/(SICI)1096-9861(2000117)416:3%3C383::AID-CNE9%3E3.0.CO;2-M
- Armstrong, C. L., Krueger-Naug, A. M. R., Currie, R. W., and Hawkes, R. (2001). Expression of heat-shock protein Hsp25 in mouse Purkinje cells during development reveals novel features of cerebellar compartmentation. J. Comp. Neurol. 429, 7–21. doi: 10.1002/1096-9861(20000101)429:1%3C7::AID-CNE2%3E3.0.CO;2-Q
- Balakrishnan, S., and Bellamy, T. C. (2009). Depression of parallel and climbing fiber transmission to Bergmann glia is input specific and correlates with increased precision of synaptic transmission. *Glia* 57, 393–401. doi: 10. 1002/glia.20768
- Balakrishnan, S., Dobson, K. L., Jackson, C., and Bellamy, T. C. (2014). Ectopic release of glutamate contributes to spillover at parallel fibre synapses in the cerebellum. *J. Physiol.* 592, 1493–1503. doi: 10.1113/jphysiol.2013. 267039
- Beierlein, M., and Regehr, W. G. (2006). Brief bursts of parallel fiber activity trigger calcium signals in bergmann glia. J. Neurosci. 26, 6958–6967. doi: 10. 1523/jneurosci.0613-06.2006
- Bekar, L. K., He, W., and Nedergaard, M. (2008). Locus coeruleus alphaadrenergic-mediated activation of cortical astrocytes in vivo. *Cereb. Cortex* 18, 2789–2795. doi: 10.1093/cercor/bhn040

BGs and Information Processing in the Cerebellum: Future Challenges

BG are versatile in their function and highly integrated in the cerebellar circuit. However, many questions remain about their exact contribution to information processing in the cerebellum. High surface-to-volume ratios and thin stalks endow BG microdomains (Grosche et al., 1999) with the ability to act as independent compartmentalized units that aid in glutamate uptake (Bergles et al., 1997), shaping of fast and slow synaptic currents (Marcaggi et al., 2003; Marcaggi and Attwell, 2005), regulation of extracellular K⁺ (Wang et al., 2012) and tonic GABA release (Lee et al., 2010). Furthermore, their activity is co-modulated with neurons during increased states of vigilance (Paukert et al., 2014). Thus at a local scale BGs can modulate the efficacy of synaptic transmission of a cluster or even individual synapses, possibly facilitating memory formation associated with specific behaviorally relevant contexts. The co-expression with PCs of zone-delimiting proteins suggest that BGs in cerebellar zones could either sustain reported physiological differences in firing behavior of neurons in such zones, or set their activity levels. Concurrent electrophysiological targeting of BGs and nearby neurons and post hoc immunohistochemistry for zonedelimiting proteins, or transgenic mouse models that allow direct visual selection of BGs in cerebellar zones should advance our knowledge in this regard. A combination of targeted electrophysiology (Kitamura et al., 2008) and cell-selective expression of GECIs in BGs (Chen et al., 2013) should allow better assessment of the relation between calcium dynamics in BG fibers and microdomains and their temporal relation with sub- and supra-threshold activity in the neurons they interact with.

- Bellamy, T. C., and Ogden, D. (2005). Short-term plasticity of Bergmann glial cell extrasynaptic currents during parallel fiber stimulation in rat cerebellum. *Glia* 52, 325–335. doi: 10.1002/glia.20248
- Bellamy, T. C., and Ogden, D. (2006). Long-term depression of neuron to glial signalling in rat cerebellar cortex. *Eur. J. Neurosci.* 23, 581–586. doi: 10.1111/j. 1460-9568.2005.04588.x
- Bergles, D. E., Dzubay, J. A., and Jahr, C. E. (1997). Glutamate transporter currents in bergmann glial cells follow the time course of extrasynaptic glutamate. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U S A* 94, 14821–14825. doi: 10.1073/pnas.94.26. 14821
- Brown, K. M., Sugihara, I., Shinoda, Y., and Ascoli, G. A. (2012). Digital morphometry of rat cerebellar climbing fibers reveals distinct branch and bouton types. *J. Neurosci.* 32, 14670–14684. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.2018-12. 2012
- Burnashev, N., Khodorova, A., Jonas, P., Helm, P. J., Wisden, W., Monyer, H., et al. (1992). Calcium-permeable AMPA-kainate receptors in fusiform cerebellar glial cells. *Science* 256, 1566–1570. doi: 10.1126/science.1317970
- Butt, A. M., and Kalsi, A. (2006). Inwardly rectifying potassium channels (Kir) in central nervous system glia: a special role for Kir4.1 in glial functions. J. Cell. Mol. Med. 10, 33–44. doi: 10.1111/j.1582-4934.2006.tb00289.x
- Castejón, O. J., Dailey, M. E., Apkarian, R. P., and Castejón, H. V. (2002). Correlative microscopy of cerebellar Bergmann glial cells. J. Submicrosc. Cytol. Pathol. 34, 131–142.
- Cerminara, N. L., Lang, E. J., Sillitoe, R. V., and Apps, R. (2015). Redefining the cerebellar cortex as an assembly of non-uniform Purkinje cell microcircuits. *Nat. Rev. Neurosci.* 16, 79–93. doi: 10.1038/nrn3886

- Chambers, W. W., and Sprague, J. M. (1955). Functional localization in the cerebellum, I. Organisation in longitudinal corticonuclear zones and their contribution to the control of posture, both pyramidal and extrapyramidal. *J. Compart. Neurol.* 103, 105–130. doi: 10.1002/cne.901030107
- Chen, T.-W., Wardill, T. J., Sun, Y., Pulver, S. R., Renninger, S. L., Baohan, A., et al. (2013). Ultrasensitive fluorescent proteins for imaging neuronal activity. *Nature* 499, 295–300. doi: 10.1038/nature12354
- Chung, S.-H., Kim, C.-T., and Hawkes, R. (2008). Compartmentation of GABA B receptor2 expression in the mouse cerebellar cortex. *Cerebellum* 7, 295–303. doi: 10.1007/s12311-008-0030-3
- Clopath, C., Nadal, J.-P., and Brunel, N. (2012). Storage of correlated patterns in standard and bistable Purkinje cell models. *PLoS Comput. Biol.* 8:e1002448. doi: 10.1371/journal.pcbi.1002448
- de Blas, A. L. (1984). Monoclonal antibodies to specific antigens reveal the cytoarchitecture the bergmann fibers in the cerebellum. J. Neurosci. 4, 265–273. doi: 10.1016/0304-3940(84)90272-6
- De Gruijl, J. R., Hoogland, T. M., and De Zeeuw, C. I. (2014). Behavioral correlates of complex spike synchrony in cerebellar microzones. J. Neurosci. 34, 8937–8947. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.5064-13.2014
- Dehnes, Y., Chaudhry, F. A., Ullensvang, K., Lehre, K. P., Storm-Mathisen, J., and Danbolt, N. C. (1998). The glutamate transporter EAAT4 in rat cerebellar Purkinje cells: a glutamate-gated chloride channel concentrated near the synapse in parts of the dendritic membrane facing astroglia. J. Neurosci. 18, 3606–3619.
- De Zeeuw, C. I., and Ten Brinke, M. M. (2015). "Learning and memory: a cold spring harbor perspectives in biology collection," in *Motor Learning and the Cerebellum*, eds E. R. Kandel, Y. Dudai, and M. R. Mayford (New York: Cold Spring Harbor Laboratory Press), 300.
- Ding, F., O'Donnell, J., Thrane, A. S., Zeppenfeld, D., Kang, H., Xie, L., et al. (2013). α1-Adrenergic receptors mediate coordinated Ca2+ signaling of cortical astrocytes in awake, behaving mice. *Cell Calcium* 54, 387–394. doi: 10. 1016/j.ceca.2013.09.001
- Fritschy, J. M., Meskenaite, V., Weinmann, O., Honer, M., Benke, D., and Mohler, H. (1999). GABAB-receptor splice variants GB1a and GB1b in rat brain: developmental regulation, cellular distribution and extrasynaptic localization. *Eur. J. Neurosci.* 11, 761–768. doi: 10.1046/j.1460-9568.1999.00481.x
- Groenewegen, H. J., and Voogd, J. (1977). The parasagittal zonation within the olivocerebellar projection. I. Climbing fiber distribution in the vermis of cat cerebellum. J. Comp. Neurol. 174, 417–488. doi: 10.1002/cne.901740304
- Groenewegen, H. J., Voogd, J., and Freedman, S. L. (1979). The parasagittal zonation within the olivocerebellar projection. II. Climbing fiber distribution in the intermediate and hemispheric parts of cat cerebellum. *J. Comp. Neurol.* 183, 551–601. doi: 10.1002/cne.901830307
- Grosche, J., Kettenmann, H., and Reichenbach, A. (2002). Bergmann glial cells form distinct morphological structures to interact with cerebellar neurons. *J. Neurosci. Res.* 68, 138–149. doi: 10.1002/jnr.10197
- Grosche, J., Matyash, V., Möller, T., Verkhratsky, A., Reichenbach, A., and Kettenmann, H. (1999). Microdomains for neuron-glia interaction: parallel fiber signaling to Bergmann glial cells. *Nat. Neurosci.* 2, 139–143. doi: 10. 1038/5692
- Hanson, A., Grisham, W., Sheh, C., Annese, J., and Ridgway, S. (2013). Quantitative examination of the bottlenose dolphin cerebellum. *Anat. Rec.* (*Hoboken*) 296, 1215–1228. doi: 10.1002/ar.22726
- Herndon, R. (1964). The fine structure of the cerebellum. II. the stellate neurons, granule cells and glia. J. Cell Biol. 23, 277–293. doi: 10.1083/jcb.23.2.277
- Hoogland, T. M., De Gruijl, J. R., Witter, L., Canto, C. B., and De Zeeuw, C. I. (2015). Role of synchronous activation of cerebellar Purkinje cell ensembles in multi-joint movement control. *Curr. Biol.* 25, 1157–1165. doi: 10.1016/j.cub. 2015.03.009
- Hoogland, T. M., and Kuhn, B. (2010). Recent developments in the understanding of astrocyte function in the cerebellum in vivo. *Cerebellum* 3, 264–271. doi: 10. 1007/s12311-009-0139-z
- Hoogland, T. M., Kuhn, B., Göbel, W., Huang, W., Nakai, J., Helmchen, F., et al. (2009). Radially expanding transglial calcium waves in the intact cerebellum. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U S A* 106, 3496–3501. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0809269106
- Hounsgaard, J., and Nicholson, C. (1983). Potassium accumulation around individual Purkinje cells in cerebellar slices from the guinea-pig. J. Physiol. 340, 359–388. doi: 10.1113/jphysiol.1983.sp014767

- Iino, M., Goto, K., Kakegawa, W., Okado, H., Sudo, M., Ishiuchi, S., et al. (2001). Glia-synapse interaction through Ca2+-permeable AMPA receptors in Bergmann glia. *Science* 292, 926–929. doi: 10.1126/science.1058827
- Jakoby, P., Schmidt, E., Ruminot, I., Gutiérrez, R., Barros, L. F., and Deitmer, J. W. (2014). Higher transport and metabolism of glucose in astrocytes compared with neurons: a multiphoton study of hippocampal and cerebellar tissue slices. *Cereb. Cortex* 24, 222–231. doi: 10.1093/cercor/ bhs309
- Jinno, S., Jeromin, A., Roder, J., and Kosaka, T. (2003). Compartmentation of the mouse cerebellar cortex by neuronal calcium sensor-1. J. Comp. Neurol. 458, 412–424. doi: 10.1002/cne.10585
- Johnson, E. S., Roberts, M. H., Sobieszek, A., and Straughan, D. W. (1968). Excitation of cortical neurones by noradrenaline. *Br. J. Pharmacol.* 34, 221–222.
- Kang, J., Kang, N., Yu, Y., Zhang, J., Petersen, N., Tian, G. F., et al. (2010). Sulforhodamine 101 induces long-term potentiation of intrinsic excitability and synaptic efficacy in hippocampal CA1 pyramidal neurons. *Neuroscience* 169, 1601–1609. doi: 10.1016/j.neuroscience.2010.06.020
- Kirischuk, S., Tuschick, S., Verkhratsky, A., and Kettenmann, H. (1996). Calcium signalling in mouse Bergmann glial cells mediated by alpha1-adrenoreceptors and H1 histamine receptors. *Eur. J. Neurosci.* 8, 1198–1208.
- Kistler, W. M., and De Zeeuw, C. I. (2002). Dynamical working memory and timed responses: the role of reverberating loops in the olivo-cerebellar system. *Neural Comput.* 14, 2597–2626. doi: 10.1162/089976602760407991
- Kitamura, K., Judkewitz, B., Kano, M., Denk, W., and Häusser, M. (2008). Targeted patch-clamp recordings and single-cell electroporation of unlabeled neurons in vivo. *Nat. Methods* 5, 61–67. doi: 10.1038/nmeth1150
- Korbo, L., Andersen, B. B., Ladefoged, O., and Møller, A. (1993). Total numbers of various cell types in rat cerebellar cortex estimated using an unbiased stereological method. *Brain Res.* 609, 262–268. doi: 10.1016/0006-8993(93)90881-m
- Kuhn, B., Hoogland, T. M., and Wang, S. S.-H. (2011). Injection of recombinant adenovirus for delivery of genetically encoded calcium indicators into astrocytes of the cerebellar cortex. *Cold Spring Harb. Protoc.* 2011, 1217–1223. doi: 10.1101/pdb.prot065797
- Lang, E. J., Sugihara, I., Welsh, J. P., and Llinás, R. (1999). Patterns of spontaneous Purkinje cell complex spike activity in the awake rat. J. Neurosci. 19, 2728–2739.
- Larsell, O. (1947). The cerebellum of myxinoids and petromyzonts including developmental stages in the lampreys. J. Comp. Neurol. 86, 395–445. doi: 10. 1002/cne.900860303
- Leclerc, N., Schwarting, G. A., Herrup, K., Hawkes, R., and Yamamoto, M. (1992). Compartmentation in mammalian cerebellum: zebrin II and P-path antibodies define three classes of sagittally organized bands of Purkinje cells. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U S A* 89, 5006–5010. doi: 10.1073/pnas.89. 11.5006
- Lee, S., Yoon, B.-E., Berglund, K., Oh, S.-J., Park, H., Shin, H.-S., et al. (2010). Channel-mediated tonic GABA release from glia. *Science* 330, 790–796. doi: 10. 1126/science.1184334
- Lippman Bell, J. J., Lordkipanidze, T., Cobb, N., and Dunaevsky, A. (2010). Bergmann glial ensheathment of dendritic spines regulates synapse number without affecting spine motility. *Neuron Glia Biol.* 6, 193–200. doi: 10. 1017/s1740925x10000165
- Llinás, R., and Sasaki, K. (1989). The functional organization of the olivo-cerebellar system as examined by multiple Purkinje cell recordings. *Eur. J. Neurosci.* 1, 587–602. doi: 10.1111/j.1460-9568.1989.tb00365.x
- Lüscher, C., and Slesinger, P. A. (2010). Emerging roles for G protein-gated inwardly rectifying potassium (GIRK) channels in health and disease. *Nat. Rev. Neurosci.* 11, 301–315. doi: 10.1038/nrn2834
- Marcaggi, P., and Attwell, D. (2005). Endocannabinoid signaling depends on the spatial pattern of synapse activation. *Nat. Neurosci.* 8, 776–781. doi: 10. 1038/nn1458
- Marcaggi, P., Billups, D., and Attwell, D. (2003). The role of glial glutamate transporters in maintaining the independent operation of juvenile mouse cerebellar parallel fibre synapses. J. Physiol. 552, 89–107. doi: 10.1113/jphysiol. 2003.044263
- Marshall, S. P., and Lang, E. J. (2009). Local changes in the excitability of the cerebellar cortex produce spatially restricted changes in complex spike synchrony. J. Neurosci. 29, 14352–14362. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.3498-09. 2009

- Mathiesen, C., Brazhe, A., Thomsen, K., and Lauritzen, M. (2013). Spontaneous calcium waves in Bergman glia increase with age and hypoxia and may reduce tissue oxygen. J. Cereb. Blood Flow Metab. 33, 161–169. doi: 10.1038/jcbfm. 2012.175
- Matsui, K., and Jahr, C. E. (2004). Differential control of synaptic and ectopic vesicular release of glutamate. J. Neurosci. 24, 8932–8939. doi: 10. 1523/jneurosci.2650-04.2004
- Müller, T., Möller, T., Neuhaus, J., and Kettenmann, H. (1996). Electrical coupling among Bergmann glial cells and its modulation by glutamate receptor activation. *Glia* 17, 274–284. doi: 10.1002/(sici)1098-1136(199608)17:4<274::aid-glia2>3.0.co;2-#
- Newman, E. A., Frambach, D. A., and Odette, L. L. (1984). Control of extracellular potassium levels by retinal glial cell K+ siphoning. *Science* 225, 1174–1175. doi: 10.1126/science.6474173
- Nimmerjahn, A., Kirchhoff, F., Kerr, J. N. D., and Helmchen, F. (2004). Sulforhodamine 101 as a specific marker of astroglia in the neocortex in vivo. *Nat. Methods* 1, 31–37. doi: 10.1038/nmeth706
- Nimmerjahn, A., Mukamel, E. A., and Schnitzer, M. J. (2009). Motor behavior activates Bergmann glial networks. *Neuron* 62, 400–412. doi: 10.1016/j.neuron. 2009.03.019
- Oscarsson, O. (1979). Functional units of the cerebellum-sagittal zones and microzones. *Trends Neurosci.* 2, 143–145. doi: 10.1016/0166-2236(79)90057-2
- Ozden, I., Dombeck, D. A., Hoogland, T. M., Tank, D. W., and Wang, S. S.-H. (2012). Widespread state-dependent shifts in cerebellar activity in locomoting mice. *PLoS One* 7:e42650. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0042650
- Paukert, M., Agarwal, A., Cha, J., Doze, V. A., Kang, J. U., and Bergles, D. E. (2014). Norepinephrine controls astroglial responsiveness to local circuit activity. *Neuron* 82, 1263–1270. doi: 10.1016/j.neuron.2014.04.038
- Paukert, M., Huang, Y. H., Tanaka, K., Rothstein, J. D., and Bergles, D. E. (2010). Zones of enhanced glutamate release from climbing fibers in the mammalian cerebellum. *J. Neurosci.* 30, 7290–7299. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.5118-09. 2010
- Piet, R., and Jahr, C. E. (2007). Glutamatergic and purinergic receptor-mediated calcium transients in Bergmann glial cells. J. Neurosci. 27, 4027–4035. doi: 10. 1523/jneurosci.0462-07.2007
- Poblete-Naredo, I., Guillem, A. M., Juárez, C., Zepeda, R. C., Ramírez, L., Caba, M., et al. (2011). Brain-derived neurotrophic factor and its receptors in Bergmann glia cells. *Neurochem. Int.* 59, 1133–1144. doi: 10.1016/j.neuint.2011.10.002
- Poopalasundaram, S., Knott, C., Shamotienko, O. G., Foran, P. G., Dolly, J. O., Ghiani, C. A., et al. (2000). Glial heterogeneity in expression of the inwardly rectifying K+ channel, Kir4.1, in adult rat CNS. *Glia* 30, 362–372. doi: 10. 1002/(sici)1098-1136(200006)30:4<362::aid-glia50>3.0.co;2-4
- Rakic, P. (1971). Neuron-glia relationship during granule cell migration in developing cerebellar cortex. A Golgi and electronmicroscopic study in Macacus Rhesus. J. Comp. Neurol. 141, 283–312. doi: 10.1002/cne.901410303
- Reeber, S. L., Arancillo, M., and Sillitoe, R. V. (2014). Bergmann glia are patterned into topographic molecular zones in the developing and adult mouse cerebellum. *Cerebellum* doi: 10.1007/s12311-014-0571-6 [Epub ahead of print].
- Reichenbach, A., Siegel, A., Rickmann, M., Wolff, J. R., Noone, D., and Robinson, S. R. (1995). Distribution of Bergmann glial somata and processes: implications for function. *J. Hirnforsch.* 36, 509–517.
- Riquelme, R., Miralles, C. P., and De Blas, A. L. (2002). Bergmann glia GABA_A receptors concentrate on the glial processes that wrap inhibitory synapses. *J. Neurosci.* 22, 10720–10730.
- Rothstein, J. D., Martin, L., Levey, A. I., Dykes-Hoberg, M., Jin, L., Wu, D., et al. (1994). Localization of neuronal and glial glutamate transporters. *Neuron* 13, 713–725. doi: 10.1016/0896-6273(94)90038-8
- Saab, A., Neumeyer, A., Jahn, H., Cupido, A., Šimek, A., Boele, H.-J., et al. (2012). Bergmann glial AMPA receptors are required for fine motor coordination. *Science* 337, 749–753. doi: 10.1126/science.1221140
- Salm, A. K. and McCarthy, K. D. (1990). Norepinephrine-evoked calcium transients in cultured cerebral type 1 astroglia. *Glia* 3, 529–538. doi: 10. 1002/glia.440030612
- Sasaki, T., Beppu, K., Tanaka, K. F., Fukazawa, Y., and Shigemoto, R. (2012). Application of an optogenetic byway for perturbing neuronal activity via glial photostimulation. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U S A* 109, 20720–20725. doi: 10. 1073/pnas.1213458109
- Sato, K., Kiyama, H., and Tohyama, M. (1993). The differential expression patterns of messenger RNAs encoding non-N-methyl-D-aspartate glutamate

receptor subunits (gluR1-4) in the rat brain. *Neuroscience* 52, 515–539. doi: 10. 1016/0306-4522(93)90403-3

- Schmolesky, M., Weber, J., De Zeeuw, C., and Hansel, C. (2002). The making of a complex spike: ionic composition and plasticity. Ann. N Y Acad. Sci. 978, 359–390. doi: 10.1111/j.1749-6632.2002.tb07581.x
- Schonewille, M., Khosrovani, S., Winkelman, B., Hoebeek, F., De Jeu, M., Schmolesky, M., et al. (2006). Purkinje cells in awake behaving animals operate at the upstate membrane potential. *Nat. Neurosci.* 9, 459–461. doi: 10. 1038/nn0406-459
- Shiga, T., Ichikawa, M., and Hirata, Y. (1983). A Golgi study of Bergmann glial cells in developing rat cerebellum. *Anat. Embryol. (Berl)*. 167, 191–201. doi: 10. 1007/BF00298510
- Siegel, A., Reichenbach, A., Hanke, S., Senitz, D., Brauer, K., and Smith, T. G. (1991). Comparative morphometry of Bergmann glial (Golgi epithelial) cells. *Anat. Embryol. (Berl.)* 183, 605–612. doi: 10.1007/BF00187909
- Storck, T., Schulte, S., Hofmann, K., and Stoffel, W. (1992). Structure, expression and functional analysis of a Na(+)-dependent glutamate/aspartate transporter from rat brain. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U S A* 89, 10955–10959. doi: 10.1073/pnas. 89.22.10955
- Sugihara, I., Marshall, S. P., and Lang, E. J. (2007). Relationship of complex spike synchrony bands and climbing fiber projection determined by reference to aldolase c compartments in crus iia of the rat cerebellar cortex. *J. Comp. Neurol.* 501, 13–29. doi: 10.1002/cne.21223
- Tsutsumi, S., Yamazaki, M., Miyazaki, T., Watanabe, M., Sakimura, K., Kano, M., et al. (2015). Structure-function relationships between aldolase C/zebrin II expression and complex spike synchrony in the cerebellum. *J. Neurosci.* 35, 843–852. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.2170-14.2015
- Voogd, J. (1969). "The importance of fiber connections in the comparative anatomy of the mammalian cerebellum," in *Neurobiology of Cerebellar Evolution and Development*, ed. R. Llinas (Chicago: American Medical Association), 493–514.
- Wadiche, J. I., and Jahr, C. E. (2005). Patterned expression of Purkinje cell glutamate transporters controls synaptic plasticity. *Nat. Neurosci.* 8, 1329–1334. doi: 10.1038/nn1539
- Wang, X., Chen, G., Gao, W., and Ebner, T. J. (2011). Parasagittally aligned, mGluR1-dependent patches are evoked at long latencies by parallel fiber stimulation in the mouse cerebellar cortex in vivo. J. Neurophysiol. 105, 1732–1746. doi: 10.1152/jn.00717.2010
- Wang, F., Xu, Q., Wang, W., Takano, T., and Nedergaard, M. (2012). Bergmann glia modulate cerebellar Purkinje cell bistability via Ca 2 + -dependent K + uptake. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U S A* 109, 7911–7916. doi: 10.1073/pnas. 1120380109
- Welsh, J. P., Lang, E. J., Sugihara, I., and Llinás, R. (1995). Dynamic organization of motor control within the olivocerebellar system. *Nature* 374, 453–457. doi: 10. 1038/374453a0
- Wilms, C. D., and Häusser, M. (2015). Reading out a spatiotemporal population code by imaging neighbouring parallel fibre axons in vivo. *Nat. Commun.* 6:6464. doi: 10.1038/ncomms7464
- Witter, L., and De Zeeuw, C. I. (2015). Regional functionality of the cerebellum. *Curr. Opin. Neurobiol.* 33, 150–155. doi: 10.1016/j.conb.2015.03.017
- Yoon, B.-E., Jo, S., Woo, J., Lee, J.-H., Kim, T., Kim, D., et al. (2011). The amount of astrocytic GABA positively correlates with the degree of tonic inhibition in hippocampal CA1 and cerebellum. *Mol. Brain* 4:42. doi: 10.1186/1756-6606-4-42
- Yoon, B.-E., Woo, J., Chun, Y.-E., Chun, H., Jo, S., Bae, J. Y., et al. (2014). Glial GABA, synthesized by monoamine oxidase B, mediates tonic inhibition. *J. Physiol.* 592, 4951–4968. doi: 10.1113/jphysiol.2014.278754
- Zhou, H., Lin, Z., Voges, K., Ju, C., Gao, Z., Bosman, L. W., et al. (2014). Cerebellar modules operate at different frequencies. *Elife* 3:e02536. doi: 10.7554/elife. 02536

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2015 De Zeeuw and Hoogland. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution and reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.



Role for astroglial α1-adrenoreceptors in gliotransmission and control of synaptic plasticity in the neocortex

Yuriy Pankratov and Ulyana Lalo*

School of Life Sciences, Gibbet Hill Campus, University of Warwick, Coventry, UK

Communication between neuronal and glial cells is thought to be very important for many brain functions. Acting via release of gliotransmitters, astrocytes can modulate synaptic strength. The mechanisms underlying gliotransmission remain uncertain with exocytosis being the most intriguing and debated pathway. We demonstrate that astroglial a1-adrenoreceptors are very sensitive to noradrenaline (NA) and make a significant contribution to intracellular Ca²⁺-signaling in layer 2/3 neocortical astrocytes. We also show that astroglial a1-adrenoreceptors are prone to desensitization upon prolonged exposure to NA. We show that within neocortical slices, α-1adrenoreceptors can activate vesicular release of ATP and D-serine from cortical astrocytes which initiate a burst of ATP receptor-mediated currents in adjacent pyramidal neurons. These purinergic currents can be inhibited by intracellular perfusion of astrocytes with Tetanus Toxin light chain, verifying their origin via astroglial exocytosis. We show that $\alpha 1$ adrenoreceptoractivated release of gliotransmitters is important for the induction of synaptic plasticity in the neocortex:long-term potentiation (LTP) of neocortical excitatory synaptic potentials can be abolished by the selective α 1-adrenoreceptor antagonist terazosin. We show that weak sub-threshold theta-burst stimulation (TBS) can induce LTP when astrocytes are additionally activated by 1 μ M NA. This facilitation is dependent on the activation of neuronal ATP receptors and is abolished in neocortical slices from dn-SNARE mice which have impaired glial exocytosis. Importantly, facilitation of LTP by NA can be significantly reduced by perfusion of individual astrocytes with Tetanus Toxin. Our results strongly support the physiological importance of astroglial adrenergic signaling and exocytosis of gliotransmitters for modulation of synaptic transmission and plasticity.

Keywords: astrocyte-neuron interactions, exocytosis, norepinephrine, ATP release, P2X receptor, desensitization, metaplasticy, D-serine

Introduction

It is generally acknowledged that astrocytes are very important components of brain networks. The astroglial network receives and integrates signals from neurons and responds by increasing the metabolic support for neurons and by modulating neuronal activity via the release of gliotransmitters (Giaume et al., 2010; Halassa and Haydon, 2010). The variety of physiological functions of astroglia spans from "housekeeping", such as clearance and turnover of

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Vladimir Parpura, University of Alabama at Birmingham, USA

Reviewed by:

Nathalie Rouach, College de France, France Dmitri A. Rusakov, University College London, UK

*Correspondence:

Ulyana Lalo, School of Life Sciences, Gibbet Hill Campus, University of Warwick, Coventry CV4 7AL, UK U.Lalo@warwick.ac.uk

> Received: 16 March 2015 Accepted: 02 June 2015 Published: 16 June 2015

Citation:

Pankratov Y and Lalo U (2015) Role for astroglial α1-adrenoreceptors in gliotransmission and control of synaptic plasticity in the neocortex. Front. Cell. Neurosci. 9:230. doi: 10.3389/fncel.2015.00230 neurotransmittes and ionic homeostasis to the control of neurovascular coupling and modulation of synaptic transmission and plasticity (Gordon et al., 2009; Attwell et al., 2010; Giaume et al., 2010; Henneberger et al., 2010; Min and Nevian, 2012). It is commonly accepted that elevation of cytosolic calcium is the major mechanism of astrocyte activation and integration of information within the glial network and underpins many functions of astrocytes.

Astrocytes are endowed with an extensive complement of Gq protein-coupled neurotransmitter receptors that trigger IP3-mediated release of Ca²⁺ from intracellular stores (Halassa and Haydon, 2010; Araque et al., 2014; Khakh and McCarthy, 2015). In addition, ionotropic Ca^{2+} -permeable receptors can contribute to astroglial signaling (Palygin et al., 2011). There is an accumulating evidence that Ca²⁺signaling in brain astrocytes can be activated by synaptically-derived neurotransmitters (Lalo et al., 2011a, 2014a; Palygin et al., 2011; Panatier et al., 2011), by the local autocrine release of gliotransmitters such as glutamate or ATP (Araque et al., 2014) and via diffuse volume-transmitted neuromodulators such as serotonin, acetylcholine or noradrenaline (NA; Schipke et al., 2008; Ding et al., 2013; Paukert et al., 2014; Khakh and McCarthy, 2015). Although the importance of all modes of astroglial signaling is generally recognized, their specific physiological roles are yet to be fully understood (Araque et al., 2014; Khakh and McCarthy, 2015). It was shown that receptors to serotonin and acetylcholine do not bring significant contribution to calcium dynamics in cortical astrocytes (Schipke et al., 2008) whereas astrocytic α 1-adrenoreceptros (α 1-ARs) were recently highlighted as important participants in calcium signaling (Ding et al., 2013; Paukert et al., 2014).

Astroglial Ca²⁺-signaling is tightly linked to the release of gliotransmitters which plays an important role in glia-neuron communication (Halassa et al., 2007; Araque et al., 2014). It has been widely reported that the release of ATP (Lalo et al., 2014a,b), glutamate and D-serine from astrocytes can modulate the activity of neuronal excitatory and inhibitory synapses (Gordon et al., 2009; Panatier et al., 2011; Lalo et al., 2014a), long-term synaptic plasticity (Pascual et al., 2005; Henneberger et al., 2010; Araque et al., 2014; Lalo et al., 2014b; Rasooli-Nejad et al., 2014) and neurovascular coupling (Attwell et al., 2010; Gourine et al., 2010). Although detailed mechanisms of gliotransmission remain uncertain, the importance of Ca²⁺-dependent vesicular and nonvesicular pathways has been recently reported (Gourine et al., 2010; Woo et al., 2012; Araque et al., 2014; Lalo et al., 2014a).

Thus, it is conceivable that astroglial α 1-ARs may be involved in glial control of synaptic activity. A number of recent studies have used NA as a tool for the activation of astrocytes and showed that NA-evoked and glia-derived ATP can modulate excitatory synapses in the hippocampus and hypothalamus (Gordon et al., 2009; Pougnet et al., 2014). However these papers do not provide direct evidence for adrenoreceptor-triggered release of gliotransmitters and report opposing effects of gliaderived ATP on AMPA receptors trafficking. As such, the functional properties of noradrenergic glial signaling and its contribution to astroglial control of synaptic plasticity require further investigation. In the present study, we demonstrate that astroglial α 1-ARs can activate exocytosis of gliotransmitters, in particular ATP, and this mechanism contributes to modulation of synaptic plasticity in neocortical neurons. To verify this, we use a combination of approaches including transgenic mice with inducible astroglial expression of dominant-negative SNARE domain (dn-SNARE; Pascual et al., 2005), intracellular perfusion of astrocytes with Ca²⁺-chelators and inhibitors of SNARE proteins.

Material and Methods

All animal work has been carried out in accordance with UK legislation and "3R" strategy; research has not involved non-human primates.

Experiments were performed on astrocytes and neurons of somato-sensory cortex of dn-SNARE transgenic mice (Pascual et al., 2005; Halassa et al., 2009), their wild-type littermates (WT) and transgenic mice expressing enhanced green fluorescent protein (EGFP) under the control of the glial fibrillary acidic protein (GFAP) promoter (Lalo et al., 2011a; Palygin et al., 2011). Data obtained in the experiments on GFAP-EGFP (GFEC) mice did not differ significantly from data obtained in the WT mice. For clarity, all data referred to here as WT are reported solely for WT littermates to dn-SNARE mice; usage of GFAP-EGFP mice was explicitly stated where appropriate.

Slice and Cell Preparation

Mice (8-12 weeks) were anesthetized by halothane and then decapitated, in accordance with UK legislation. Brains were removed rapidly after decapitation and placed into ice-cold physiological saline containing (mM): NaCl 130, KCl₃, CaCl₂ 0.5, MgCl₂ 2.5, NaH₂PO₄ 1, NaHCO₃ 25, glucose 15, pH of 7.4 gassed with 95% O_2 -5% CO_2 . Transverse slices (280 μ m) were cut at 4°C and then placed in physiological saline containing (mM): NaCl 130, KCl₃, CaCl₂ 2.5, MgCl₂ 1, NaH₂PO₄ 1, NaHCO₃ 22, glucose 15, pH of 7.4 gassed with 95% O₂—5% CO₂ and kept for 1-4 h prior to cell isolation and recording. Neocortical pyramidal neurons were acutely isolated using the modified "vibrating" technique (Lalo et al., 2011a; Rasooli-Nejad et al., 2014). The glass ball (200 μ m diameter) was moved slowly some 10-50 μ m above the slice surface, while vibrating at 100 Hz (lateral displacements $20-30 \mu m$). This technique mechanically isolates cells whilst preserving the function of membrane proteins and is therefore devoid of many artifacts of enzymatic cell isolation and culturing procedures. The composition of extracellular solution for all isolated cell experiments was (mM): 135 NaCl; 2.7 KCl; 2.5 CaCl₂; 1 MgCl₂; 10 HEPES, 1 NaH₂PO₄, 15 glucose, pH adjusted with NaOH to 7.3.

Astrocytes were identified by their morphology under DIC observation, EGFP fluorescence (astrocytes from dn-SNARE and GFAP-EGFP mice) or staining with sulforhodamine 101 (astrocytes from WT mice). After recording, the identification of astrocyte was confirmed via functional properties (high potassium conductance, low input resistance, strong activity of glutamate transporters) as described previously (Lalo et al., 2011a; Palygin et al., 2011).

Electrophysiological Recordings

Whole-cell voltage clamp recordings from neocortical neurons and astrocytes were made with patch pipettes (4-5 M Ω for neurons and 6-8 M Ω for astrocytes) filled with intracellular solution (in mM): 110 KCl, 10 NaCl, 10 HEPES, 5 MgATP, 10 EGTA, 1 CaCl₂, pH 7.35. Currents were monitored using an AxoPatch200B patch-clamp amplifier (Axon Instruments, USA) filtered at 2 kHz and digitized at 4 kHz. Experiments were controlled by PCI-6229 data acquisition board (NI, USA) and WinFluor software (Strathclyde University, UK); data were analyzed with custom software. Liquid junction potentials were compensated with the patch-clamp amplifier. Series and input resistances were respectively 5-7 M Ω and 500-1100 M Ω in neurons and 8–12 M Ω and 50–150 M Ω in astrocytes; both series and input resistance varied by less than 20% in the cells accepted for analysis. For activation of synaptic inputs, axons originating from layer IV-VI neurons were stimulated with a bipolar coaxial electrode (WPI, USA) placed in layer V close to the layer IV border, approximately opposite the site of recording; stimulus duration was 300 μ s. The stimulus magnitude was set 3–4 times higher than the minimal stimulus necessary to elicit a response in layer II pyramidal neurons (Lalo et al., 2011a; Palygin et al., 2011; Lalo et al., 2014a).

Field excitatory postsynaptic potentials (fEPSPs) were measured via a glass micropipette filled with extracellular solution (0.5–1 M Ω resistance) placed in neocortical layer II/III. In order to induce long-term plasticity of EPSPs two or five episode of theta-burst stimulation (HFS) were delivered; each HFS episode consisted of five pulses of 100 Hz stimulation, repeated 10 times with 200 ms interval (total 50 pulses per episode).

Multi-photon Fluorescent Ca²⁺-imaging in astrocytes

To monitor the cytoplasmic free Ca^{2+} concentraton ($[Ca^{2+}]_i$) in situ, astrocytes of neocortical slices were loaded via 30 min incubation with 1 µM of Rhod-2AM or Calcium Green-2AM and sulphorhodamine 101 (WT mice) at 33°C. Two-photon imaging of neurons and astrocytes was performed using a Zeiss LSM-7MP multi-photon microscope coupled to a SpectraPhysics MaiTai pulsing laser; experiments were controlled by ZEN LSM software (Carl Zeiss, Germany). Images were further analyzed off-line using ZEN LSM (Carl Zeiss) and ImageJ (NIH) software. The $[Ca^{2+}]_i$ levels were expressed as $\Delta F/F$ ratio averaged over a region of interest (ROI). For analysis of spontaneous Ca²⁺-transients in astrocytes, three ROIs located over dendrites and one ROI located over the soma were chosen. Overall Ca²⁺-response to adrenoreceptor agonists or synaptic stimulation was quantified using an ROI covering the whole cell image.

The NA and other drugs were applied to the recording chamber using gravity-feed application system with the flow rate of 5 mL/min. The recording chamber volume was 1.2 mL, so the time of full solution exchange could be estimated as 20–30 s.

In measurements of the concentration-dependent response to adrenoreceptors agonists, only two or three applications of agonist were made to each neocortical slice in order to minimize the potential effect of receptor desensitization. The reference concentration of agonist (10 μ M for NA, 300 nM for A61603) was used in all experiments; the lowest concentrations were applied first. Amplitudes of all responses were normalized to the response to the reference concentration. Data were then pooled together and fitted with a sigmoidal relationship to obtain the EC₅₀ and Hill coefficient. Data on the concentration-dependence for the adrenoreceptors agonists were fitted with the following equation: $F/F_{ref} = ([A]/EC_{50})^p/(1 + ([A]/EC_{50})^p)$, where F is the amplitude of response to the agonist concentration [A], F_{ref} is the response to the reference concentration, p is the Hill coefficient.

Measurement of Extracellular Concentration of ATP and D-serine in the Brain Tissue

The concentration of ATP within cortical slices was measured using microelectrode biosensors obtained from Sarissa Biomedical Ltd. (Coventry, UK). A detailed description of the properties of biosensors and recording procedure has been published previously (Frenguelli et al., 2007). Briefly, biosensors consisted of ATP or D-serine metabolizing enzymes immobilized within a matrix on thin (25 μ M) Pt/Ir wire. This allowed insertion of the sensors into the cortical slice and minimized the influence of a layer of dead surface tissue. ATP and D-serine biosensors were used simultaneously. A third, null, biosensor was also used. This sensor is identical to the ATP and D-serine sensors and has a matrix, but lacks enzymes. The signal from the null sensor was subtracted from the signal obtained on the ATP and D-serine sensor. This allows the contribution of any non-specific electroactive substances that bypass the sensor screening layer to be eliminated. Biosensors show a linear response to increasing concentration of ATP and D-serine and have a rise time less than 10 s (Frenguelli et al., 2007). Biosensors were calibrated with a known concentrations $(10 \,\mu\text{M})$ of ATP and D-serine before the slice was present in the perfusion chamber and after the slice had been removed. This allowed compensation of any reduction in sensitivity during the experiment. The integrity of the screening layer was assessed with 10 μ M 5-HT. Biosensor signals were acquired at 1 kHz with a 1400 CED interface and analyzed using Spike 6.1 software (Cambridge Electronics Design, Cambridge, UK).

Data Analysis

All data are presented as mean \pm SD and the statistical significance of differences between data groups was tested by two-tailed unpaired *t*-test, unless indicated otherwise. Each neocortical slice was used only for one experiment (e.g., fluorescent recordings in single astrocyte or single long-term potentiation (LTP) induction experiment). The number of experiments/cells reported is therefore equal to the number of slices used. The experimental protocols were allocated randomly so the data in any group were drawn from at least three animals.

The spontaneous transmembrane currents recorded in neurons were analyzed off-line using methods described previously (Pankratov et al., 2007; Lalo et al., 2011a; Palygin et al., 2011). The amplitude distributions of spontaneous and evoked currents were analyzed with the aid of probability density functions and likelihood maximization techniques; all histograms shown were calculated as probability density functions. The amplitude distributions were fitted with either multi-quantal binomial model or bi-modal function consisting of two Gaussians with variable peak location, width and amplitude. The decay time distributions were fitted with bi-modal functions. Parameters of models were fit using likelihood maximization routine. To monitor and analyze the time course of changes in the amplitude and frequency of spontaneous currents, the amplitude and frequency were averaged over a 1 min time window.

Results

Functional Properties of Adrenergic Ca²⁺ Signaling in Neocortical Astrocytes *In Situ*

Under basal conditions (before application of NA), astrocytes in neocortical slices from all mice strains exhibited spontaneous Ca^{2+} transients with the average frequency varying in the range of 0.5–2.1 min⁻¹ (**Figure 1A**). Bath application of 3 µM NA (60 s long) induced robust Ca^{2+} elevations both in the soma and branches and increased the amplitude and frequency of Ca^{2+} transients (**Figures 1A,B**). There was no statistically significant difference in the action of NA between astrocytes of different strains (**Figure 1B**). The action of NA was mimicked by the specific α 1-AR agonist A61603 (Yoshiki et al., 2013) in all 13 cells tested (data not shown).

At the same time, astroglial α 1-ARs showed evidence of desensitization. In all eight astrocytes tested (WT mice), repetitive application of NA (3 µM) or A61603 (100 nM) with intervals shorter than 5 min caused marked reduction in the response amplitude and lead to a period of non-responsiveness, typically lasting 10–15 min (Figure 1C). Moreover, application of NA in concentrations greater than 10 µM lead to a longlasting period of elevated intracellular Ca2+ in 8 out of 10 cells tested. During this period, astrocytes did not respond further to NA and did not exhibit notable spontaneous activity (Figure 1D). Elevation in the baseline level of cytosolic Ca^{2+} reached 44 \pm 17% (*n* = 8) and was statistically significant (P < 0.01, compared to the control level using paired t-test).The susceptibility of alAR-mediated responses to desensitization suggests the existence of finely-tuned molecular mechanisms preventing their overstimulation, likely to avoid Ca²⁺-overload.

The predominant contribution of astroglial α 1-ARs to responses evoked by NA was confirmed by the selective α 1-AR antagonist terazosin. Application of terazosin (30 nM) effectively blocked responses to NA in all 12 astrocytes tested (**Figure 1B**). Terazosin also had a considerable inhibitory effect on spontaneous Ca²⁺-transients (**Figure 1B**). This suggests either a basal tone of NA in neocortical slices, or constitutive α 1-AR activity.



FIGURE 1 | α 1-adrenoreceptors contribute to Ca²⁺ signaling in cortical astrocytes. (A) Representative multi-photon images of enhanced green fluorescent protein (EGFP) fluorescence and presudo-color images of Rhod-2 fluorescence recorded in the astrocytes from glial fibrillary acidic protein (GFAP)-EGFP (GFEC) mouse before (control) and after the application of noradrenaline (NA). Graphs below show the time course of Rhod-2 fluorescence averaged over regions indicated in fluorescence images. Note the marked spontaneous elevations in the Ca2+ level, which were enhanced by application of NA. Note the significant NA-activated response in the astrocytic branch and inhibition of response to NA 10 min after application of ryanodine. (B) The pooled data on peak amplitude and frequency of spontaneous Ca²⁺-transients and the net response to the NA recorded in astrocytes of different mice strains in control and in the presence of a1-AR antagonist terazosin (30 nM). Frequency of spontaneous transients (middle graph) was measured within 3 min after application of NA and was normalized to baseline value. Net response was evaluated as an integral Ca²⁺-signal measured during 3 min after NA application, averaged over the whole cell image and normalized to the integral Ca^{2+} signal measured during 3 min before NA application. Data are shown as mean \pm SD for seven cells in control (for each strain) and six cells under terazosin (WT and GFEC). In the each strain, asterisks (*) indicate statistical significance of effect of NA on the peak amplitude of Ca²⁺-transients in comparison to the corresponding baseline value, double asterisks (**) indicate significance of inhibitory effect of terazosin (Continued)

Glial adrenoreceptors and plasticity

FIGURE 1 | Continued

in comparison to the effect of NA alone; P < 0.01 given by *t*-test in both cases. (C) repetitive application of NA (3 μ M) with 5 min interval causes the desensitization of the response; (D) prolonged application of 20 μ M NA leads to the elevated Ca²⁺ level and non-responsiveness of neocortical astrocytes; (E) the concentration-dependence of net Ca²⁺-transients evoked by NA in cortical astrocytes was assessed as described in the *Methods*; each point show mean \pm SD for 4–5 cells. Fluorescent signals shown in panels (C–E) were integrated over the cell somata; all scale bars are Δ F 0.5 and 200 s.

Rather surprisingly, NA-evoked responses in cortical astrocytes were sensitive to ryanodine. Application of 10 μ M ryanodine caused an initial augmentation of spontaneous Ca²⁺-signaling, mainly in the soma, which lasted typically for 5–10 min and was followed by an irreversible inhibition of spontaneous transients (**Figure 1A**). Such an action is typical for ryanodine modulation of calcium-induced calcium release (CICR) mechanism (Zucchi and Ronca-Testoni, 1997). When NA was applied after cessation of spontaneous signaling (10–15 min after ryanodine) it produced a much reduced Ca²⁺ response in all seven astrocytes tested (**Figures 1A,B**). These results suggest the significant role of ryanodine receptor-mediated CICR in the amplification of astroglial Ca²⁺ signaling.

The α 1-ARs of neocortical astrocytes showed rather high sensitivity; they could be activated by NA in sub-micromolar range (**Figure 1D**). The EC₅₀ for NA-activated net Ca²⁺ response was 365 ± 26 nM (n = 18, WT mice) with a Hill coefficient of 1.43. The EC₅₀ for the specific α 1-agonist A61603 was 18.9 ± 5.1 nM (n = 13) with a Hill coefficient of 1.45. Large values for Hill coefficients are, very likely, related to the amplification of the responses to higher concentrations by CICR mechanism.

Importantly, we did not observe any significant contribution of α 1-AR to neuronal signaling. The amplitude of responses evoked in pyramidal neurons by 3 μ M NA was much smaller than the amplitude of glutamate-evoked response (Figures 2A,B). The small NA-evoked response had slower kinetics and started with considerable delay which argues against its origin from direct activation of neuronal α1-ARs. Instead, the neuronal response may have originated from some gliotransmitters released upon activation of glial α 1-AR. Furthermore, neither NA nor terazosin exhibited significant effects on fEPSPs in the neocortex (Figure 2C). The application of NA caused a small increase in the slope and paired-pulse ratio of fEPSPs whereas terazosin decreased these parameters. In all cases, the difference from the control was not significant (paired *t*-test, n = 12 for NA and 11 for terazosin). To verify the specificity of action of NA and terazosin, we applied these drugs to acutely-isolated neocortical neurons which were devoid of the influence of glial cells (Figure 2D). We used a technique of non-enzymatic vibro-dissociation which allows functional synapses to be maintained on the membrane of isolated neurons, which can be verified by staining with FM1-43 and the presence of miniature spontaneous synaptic currents (Duguid et al., 2007; Rasooli-Nejad et al., 2014). We recorded whole-cell currents in acutely-dissociated neocortical pyramidal neurons at membrane potential of -80 mV. The glutamatergic miniature excitatory postsynaptic currents (mEPSCs) were recorded in the



FIGURE 2 | Noradrenaline did not cause notable response in neocortical neurons. The pyramidal neurons of somatosensory cortex layer 2/3 of wild-type (WT) mice were loaded with Ca²⁺-indicator Rhod-2 via patch-pipette. Ca²⁺-signals were evoked in neurons by 60 s-long rapid bath application of 3 μ M NA and 100 μ M L-Glutamate to cortical slices. The membrane holding potential during Ca^{2+} -measurements was -40 mV (A), the representative gradient-contrast image and pseudo-color fluorescent images recorded at rest and at the peak of Ca2+- responses to NA (B), left the representative Ca2+-transients evoked in the neuron of dn-SNARE mouse by application of NA and glutamate. *Right*, the diagram shows the pooled data (mean \pm SD for number of neurons indicated) of peak Ca²⁺-elevation; the difference between NA and glutamate-evoked response was statistically significant with (*) P < 0.005 (paired t-test). (C) Application of NA and terazosin do not have notable effect on the field excitatory synaptic potentials (fEPSPs) in the neocortical layer 2/3. Upper graphs show time course of fEPSP slope during application of 3 μM NA and 30 nM terazosin and paired pulse ratio in the control and 8 min after the drugs. The graphs below show the representative fEPSPs (average of 10 waveforms). Each dot in the time course shows the average slope of fEPSPs recorded in 1 min time window and (Continued)

FIGURE 2 | Continued

normalized to the control; data are presented as mean \pm SD for the number of experiments indicated. (D) Whole-cell currents were recorded in the isolated neuron retaining functional synaptic boutons. To verify the presence of functional synapses, the cell was pre-incubated with 3 μ M FM1–43 for 15 min, then dye was washed out for 15 min. The spontaneous excitatory currents (mEPSCs) were recorded at -80 mV in the presence of picrotoxin (100 μ M); the inhibitory mIPSCs were recorded in the presence of NBQX (30 μ M). *Left* column: representative fluorescent and gradient contrast image of neuron showing punctate staining with FM1–43. *Right*: the representative mEPSCs before and after application of NA and Terazosin as indicated in the graphs. *Below*, the diagram shows the frequency and quantal amplitude of mEPSCs and mIPSCs pooled for seven neurons. Note that application of NA and terazosin did not change the frequency and amplitude of synaptic currents. These data demonstrate specificity of NA action in the neocortex in respect to the astrocytic and neuronal signaling.

presence of 100 μ M picrotoxin and 20 μ M PPADS; the GABAmediated inhibitory currents were recorded in the presence of 30 μ M NBQX and 20 μ M PPADS. The application of NA and terazosin did not cause notable changes in the amplitude and frequency of mEPSCs and miniature inhibitory postsynaptic currents (mIPSCs; seven isolated neurons were tested in the each case).

Combined, our results show that α 1-ARs can make a substantial contribution to Ca²⁺-signaling in neocortical astrocytes. Importantly, our data show that expression of dnSNARE protein in astrocytes did not affect adrenergic signaling.

Glial Adrenoceptors Induce the Release of ATP and D-serine from Neocortical Astrocytes

To investigate the release of gliotransmitters which could plausibly follow the activation of α 1Rs in astrocytes, we used microelectrode biosensors to monitor the concentration of ATP and D-serine in neocortical tissue. This technique was used previously for evaluation of transmitter release in several brain areas (Frenguelli et al., 2007; Rasooli-Nejad et al., 2014). Since NA can be directly oxidized by the sensors and thus generate a measurable sensor current, we used the specific α 1-AR agonist A61603. Activation of intracellular Ca²⁺ in astrocytes by A61603 (100 nM) induced a significant increase in the levels of extracellular ATP and D-serine in the cortical tissues of WT mice (**Figure 3A**).

The α 1-AR-mediated elevation of extracellular ATP and Dserine reached 1.1 \pm 0.4 μ M and 2.1 \pm 0.7 μ M, respectively (**Figure 3**). In comparison to the WT littermates, the amplitudes of ATP and D-serine transients were reduced in the dn-SNAREexpressing mice by 69 \pm 19% (n = 4) and 72 \pm 14% (n = 4), respectively (**Figures 3A,B**). This result suggested the astroglial origin and vesicular nature of adrenoceptor-activated release of ATP and D-serine release. It is worth noting that one could not expect a complete inhibition of astroglial exocytosis in the neocortex of dn-SNARE mice since a proportion of astrocytes do not express dn-SNARE (Pascual et al., 2005). Also, there are non-vesicular pathways of gliotransmitter release which might contribute to the adrenoreceptors-triggered response (Hamilton and Attwell, 2010; Montero and Orellana, 2015).





In the next series of experiments we tried to directly verify that astroglial α 1-ARs contribute to triggering Ca²⁺dependent exocytosis. We previously demonstrated that pyramidal neocortical neurons express functional P2X receptors (Pankratov et al., 2007) and these receptors can be activated by ATP released from astrocytes (Lalo et al., 2014a). Thus, pyramidal neurons can be used as a native sensor for extracellular ATP. We recorded whole-cell currents in neocortical pyramidal neurons at a membrane potential of -80 mV in the presence of DNQX (30 μ M), D-APV (30 μ M) and picrotoxin (100 μ M). Similar to our previous experiments (Pankratov et al., 2007; Lalo et al., 2014a), we observed residual non-glutamatergic miniature spontaneous synaptic currents (Figure 4). These non-glutamatergic excitatory spontaneous currents (mEPSCs) were completely abolished by application of specific P2X receptor antagonists PPADS (10 μ M) and 5-BDBD (5 μ M) in all seven neurons tested (data not shown). Based on these data, as well as our previous work (Pankratov et al., 2007; Lalo et al., 2014a), the phasic inward currents observed in cortical neurons in the presence of glutamatergic and GABAergic antagonists can be confidently attributed to ATP receptors. In order to inhibit astroglial exocytosis, we perfused individual astrocytes with intracellular solution containing 3 nM Tetanus neurotoxin (TeNTx) and 30 µM of the calcium indicator Calcium Green-2 (Figure 4A) and recorded mEPSCs in a neighboring neuron (lying within 30 µm distance from the perfused astrocyte). Perfusion of astrocytes with solution containing only Calcium Green-2



FIGURE 4 | Astrocyte-derived ATP activates purinergic receptors in the neocortical neurons. (A) Whole-cell currents were recorded in the pyramidal neuron of layer 2/3 simultaneously with perfusion of astrocyte with intracellular solution containing either fluorescent dye Ca-Green-2 alone or Ca-Green-2 and 3 nM of Tetanus neurotoxin light chain. (B,D) Activation of astrocytic Ca2+ signaling elicited the burst of purinergic currents in the neuron. (B) The astrocytic Ca²⁺ transients (green) evoked by application of 1 μ M NA and neuronal whole-cell currents (black) recorded in the presence of picrotoxin, DNQX and TTX at -80 mV. Spontaneous currents recorded in these conditions are mediated by the P2X receptors. Upper and lower trace show currents recorded correspondingly before and 1 min after NA application. Note the appearance of the large number of spontaneous currents after NA. (D) Upper graph: each dot shows the average frequency of spontaneous purineraic currents recorded in 1 min time window in the pyramidal neurons: data are presented as mean \pm SD for six neurons. Lower graphs show the amplitude and decay time distributions for the purinergic currents recoded before (baseline) and 1-3 min after application of NA. Application of NA elicited the burst of purinergic currents which had slower kinetics and smaller quantal size than currents recorded in the baseline condions. (C,E) Perfusion of astrocyte with TeNTx inhibited the burst of purinergic currents verifying their origin from astrocytic exocytosis. (F) Diagram shows the frequency of slow purinergic spontaneous currents in the neurons of WT and dn-SNARE mice averaged within 3 min time window before (baseline) and after application of NA in control and during perfusion of astrocytes with TeNTx. Data are shown as mean \pm SD for the six neurons. The statistical significance of difference from the WT control values was as indicated (*) P < 0.05 and (**) P < 0.01 (unpaired t-test).

was used as a control. The electrophysiological recordings in neurons started 10–15 min after perfusion of astrocytes with TeNTx.

The purinergic mEPSCs recorded under control conditions had an average amplitude of 8.4 ± 2.5 pA and an average decay time of 9.6 ± 2.6 ms. Application of NA (2 µM) elicited Ca²⁺elevation in astrocytes and caused a dramatic increase in the frequency of purinergic mEPSCs in all seven neurons tested (**Figure 4B**). The burst of purinergic currents was accompanied by a decrease in the average amplitude to 6.7 ± 1.7 pA, and an increase in the decay time to 13.3 ± 3.5 ms (n = 7). Such behavior was similar to the previously observed burst of purinergic activity activated by astroglial PAR-1 receptors (Lalo et al., 2014a). When astrocytes were perfused with TeNTx, activation of α 1-ARs caused much smaller burst of purinergic currents (**Figure 4C**).

Consistent with our previous reports (Lalo et al., 2014a), purinergic mEPSCs recorded in pyramidal neurons (Figure 4D) exhibited a bimodal amplitude distribution with peaks at 5.8 \pm 1.5 pA and 9.8 \pm 2.4 pA (n = 7). The distributions of mEPSCs decay time in these neurons had peaks at 9.1 \pm 1.1 ms and 15.2 \pm 2.1 ms. Previously, we demonstrated that purinergic mEPSCs of smaller amplitude and slower kinetics originated from the vesicular release of ATP from astrocytes (Lalo et al., 2014a; Rasooli-Nejad et al., 2014). Application of NA dramatically increased the proportion of these smaller and slower currents (Figure 4E). Perfusion of astrocytes with TeNTx selectively decreased the frequency of slower purinergic mEPSCs, both in control conditions and after application of NA (Figure 4F). These results strongly suggest that smaller and slower purinergic mEPSCs originated directly from vesicular release of ATP from neighboring astrocytes. Incomplete inhibition of the slower mEPSCs can be explained by release from other astrocytes not exposed to TeNTx. NA-evoked bursts of purinergic mEPSCs were significantly inhibited in the dn-SNARE mice, supporting its astroglial origin (Figure 4F).

Astroglial α1 Adrenoceptors Modulate Long-term Plasticity in the Neocortex

The above data provide strong evidence that astroglial α 1adrenoreceprtors can trigger exocytosis of gliotransmitters, in particular ATP and D-serine (**Figures 3**, **4**). ATP and D-serine have been previously shown to regulate synaptic plasticity in the hippocampus (Pascual et al., 2005; Henneberger et al., 2010) and the neocortex (Lalo et al., 2014b; Rasooli-Nejad et al., 2014). We have shown previously that astrocyte-derived ATP can downregulate phasic and tonic GABAergic transmission in neocortical neurons. This down-regulation, in synergy with the release of D-serine, can facilitate the induction of LTP (Lalo et al., 2014b; Rasooli-Nejad et al., 2014). Thus, astroglial α 1-AR-mediated release of ATP might affect the induction of LTP in neocortical neurons.

We investigated the potentiation of fEPSPs layer II/III of somatosensory cortex of WT and dn-SNARE mice. The fEPSPs were evoked by the stimulation of neuronal afferents descending from layers IV–V. Potentiation of fEPSPs was induced by theta-burst stimulation. In slices from WT mice, five episodes of theta-burst stimulation (5 TBS) induced robust LTP in all 20 experiments (**Figure 5A**). Application of α 1-AR antagonist terazosin inhibited the induction of LTP, suggesting



FIGURE 5 | Release of gliotransmitters and glial a1-ARs are essential for long-term potentiation (LTP) in the neocortex. (A) LTP was induced in the neocortex of the WT mice by five Θ -bursts of high-frequency stimulation. The magnitude of LTP was significantly reduced by specific antagonist α1-NRs terazosin (30 nM). (B) Delivering just two Θ-bursts did not induce LTP in the control but was able to induce LTP when NA (1 μ M) was applied during induction as indicated in the graph. (C) Application of NA did not facilitate LTP induction in the dn-SNARE mice suggesting the importance of glial exocytosis for the action of NA. (D) Effect of NA was decreased by perfusion of astrocyte with TeNTx (similarly to the experiment shown in the Figure 4) or by inhibition of neuronal ATP receptors with PPADS and 5-BDBD. (E) Pooled data on the magnitude of LTP evaluated as relative increase in the fEPSP slope at 60th min, averaged across 10 min time window. Each data point shows mean \pm SD for the number of experiments indicated in (A-D). Asterisks (*, **) indicate statistical significance of difference in the LTP magnitude WT control values (unpaired t-test). These data suggest the importance of NA-triggered release of ATP for glial modulation of LTP in the neocortex.

the importance of glial adrenergic signaling. This notion was strongly supported by experiments on the induction of LTP by weaker stimulation (**Figures 5B–D**). In control conditions, two theta-burst episodes (2 TBS) induced a mild long-term depression rather than potentiation (**Figure 4B**). The threshold for LTP induction was three theta-bursts (n = 12, data not shown). Application of 1 μ M NA enabled the induction of LTP with sub-threshold stimulation (2 TBS). Washout of NA 3 min after TBS did not affect the potentiation suggesting the importance of additional NA-mediated activation of astrocytes in the initial period of LTP induction. As mentioned above (**Figure 2C**), application of NA without TBS did not produce marked potentiation (n = 12).

Importantly, the NA-induced facilitation of LTP was significantly reduced in the dn-SNARE mice (**Figures 5C,E**). In addition, the magnitude of LTP induced by 2 TBS in presence of NA considerably decreased when fEPSPs were recorded in the vicinity of astrocytes perfused with TeNTx (similarly to the experiment with purinergic mEPSCs shown in the **Figure 4**). The facilitatory effect of NA was abolished by selective inhibition of P2X receptors with 10 μ M PPADS and 5 μ M 5-BDBD (**Figures 5D,E**). This result demonstrates the importance of NA-triggered ATP release and activation of ATP receptors for the facilitation of LTP. Combined, our data imply that astroglial α 1-ARs contribute to the regulation of exocytosis of gliotransmitters and are important for the synaptic plasticity in the neocortex.

Discussion

Our data have shown that α 1-ARs participate in Ca²⁺-signaling in neocortical astrocytes (**Figure 1**) but do not have a strong direct action in neurons (**Figure 2**). We also demonstrate that astrocytic α 1-ARs can activate the release of ATP and Dserine from astrocytes (**Figure 3**). Moreover, we have found that adrenoceptor-activated release of ATP from astrocytes can directly activate postsynaptic P2X receptors in neocortical neurons (**Figure 4**) and this cascade is involved in astroglial modulation of long-term synaptic plasticity in the neocortex (**Figure 5**).

Functional Properties of Astroglial α1-Adrenoreceptors

Our data on the substantial contribution of α 1-ARs to Ca²⁺-signaling in neocortical astrocytes agree with previous observations (Ding et al., 2013; Paukert et al., 2014). Moreover, our data reveal specific features of adrenergic signals in cortical astrocytes that have been thus far largely overlooked. Firstly, α 1-ARs in cortical astrocytes are very sensitive to NA with an EC₅₀ of ~400 nM (**Figure 1**). Secondly, adrenergic signals in cortical astrocytes undergo amplification by a ryanodine-sensitive Ca²⁺-induced Ca²⁺-release mechanism, in particularly in astrocytic processes (**Figure 1A**). Nevertheless, application of NA at concentrations greater than 10 μ M leads to a long-lasting period of elevated Ca²⁺ and non-responsiveness of astrocytes to subsequent NA (**Figure 1B**).

vulnerability of a1AR-mediated responses to The desensitization suggests the existence of finely-tuned molecular mechanisms preventing the consequences of their overstimulation, likely to avoid Ca²⁺-overload, which can be very damaging for cells, including astrocytes. Our finding of desensitization of *α*1-ARs in astrocytes is in line with data obtained previously in other cell types (Akinaga et al., 2013; Jiang et al., 2013). The apparent desensitization of NA-activated responses upon prolonged exposure to an agonist usually originates from their rapid internalization (Mohan et al., 2013; Akinaga et al., 2013). The common molecular mechanisms of adrenoceptor (as well as many other GPCRs) internalization involve beta-arrestins (Mohan et al., 2013) which have been recently implicated in neurodegenerative diseases (Jiang et al., 2013). The, α 1-AR-specific internalization cascade involves PKC,

which can be activated by elevations in cytosolic Ca^{2+} (Akinaga et al., 2013). Interestingly, the internalization of al-ARs can also be influenced by their association with the cytoskeleton and lipid rafts (Morris et al., 2008; Akinaga et al., 2013), which can be linked to other astrocytic receptors, for instance P2X1 purinoceptors (Allsopp et al., 2010; Lalo et al., 2011b). The possibility of the activation of purinoceptors by autocrine release of ATP from astrocytes might provide feedback to adrenergic signaling. One might suggest the existence of a variety of mechanisms regulating desensitization and internalization of astrocytic a1-ARs thus underlying an activity-dependent plasticity of astroglial signaling. The study of the molecular mechanisms of desensitization of astrocytic al-ARa lies beyond the scope of the present work, but this topic surely is of high interest and importance. The plasticity of adrenergic signaling in astrocytes may be very important for glia-neuron interaction and is worth exploring further.

Astroglial Adrenoreceptors and the Exocytosis of Gliotransmitters

Our data suggest that a1-ARs can trigger the exocytosis of gliotransmitters from neocortical astrocytes (Figures 3, 4). The NA-triggered release of ATP exhibited the same functional properties as release activated by astroglial PAR-1 or CB1 receptors (Lalo et al., 2014a; Rasooli-Nejad et al., 2014). We would like to emphasize that the evidence for a role of vesicular gliotransmitter release in astrocyte-neuron interactions, presented in this study, were obtained mainly using intracellular perfusion of individual astrocytes with Tetanus Toxin light chain (Figures 4, 5). The results obtained by this approach are in a very good agreement with our previous observations of a decrease in the release of ATP and D-serine in dnSNARE mice in which astrocytic vesicular release is compromised (Pascual et al., 2005; Lalo et al., 2014a; Rasooli-Nejad et al., 2014), our data obtained using perfusion of astrocytes with inhibitors of vesicular ATP transporters (Lalo et al., 2014a) and the results obtained using intracellular perfusion with Ca²⁺-chelators (Henneberger et al., 2010). There is also an independent biochemical evidence of storage of D-serine in the synaptic vesicle-like structure in astrocytes (Martineau et al., 2013).

It is worth noting that most of the groups using dn-SNARE mice did not observe any evidence of neuronal expression of the dnSNARE transgene (Pascual et al., 2005; Halassa et al., 2009; Lalo et al., 2014a). Only one study suggested the possibility of neuronal expression of the dnSNARE transgene (Fujita et al., 2014), but it did not provide any evidence for an impairment of neurotransmitter release. Hypothetical neuronal expression of the dn-SNARE transgene should result in a notable deficit in synaptic transmission arising from impaired exocytosis of neurotransmitters. On contrary, there is evidence of up-regulated excitatory (Pascual et al., 2005) and inhibitory (Lalo et al., 2014a) synaptic transmission in the dnSNARE mice. The main deficits that we observed in the dnSNARE mice were in the effects caused by selective activation of Ca²⁺-signaling in the astrocytes via PAR-1 (Lalo et al., 2014a), CB1 (Rasooli-Nejad et al., 2014) or a1-ARs (Figures 3, 4E, 5C). Combined, these results strongly support the physiological importance of vesicular exocytosis from glia and verify the validity of using dn-SNARE mice as a tool to explore astrocyte-neuronal interactions.

The capability of astrocytes to release gliotransmitters is a core element of glia-neuron communication (Halassa and Haydon, 2010; Hamilton and Attwell, 2010). We have shown previously that astrocyte-derived ATP down-regulates inhibitory transmission in pyramidal neurons via phosphorylation of GABAA receptors and thereby can facilitate the induction of long-term synaptic plasticity (LTP) in the neocortex (Lalo et al., 2014b; Rasooli-Nejad et al., 2014). As a source of Ca²⁺elevation to trigger exocytosis in physiological conditions, our previous data suggested a role for astrocytic NMDA, mGluR and CB1 receptors (Lalo et al., 2014a; Rasooli-Nejad et al., 2014). Our present data highlight the importance of α 1-ARs for glial control of synaptic plasticity (Figure 5). The role for adrenergic astroglial signaling may be strengthened by the amplification via ryanodine receptor-mediated Ca²⁺-induced Ca²⁺-release (Figure 1).

Putative Role for Adrenergic Astroglial Signaling in Metaplasticity

There is growing recognition that information processing in the brain is coordinated by neuronal-glial networks (Halassa and Haydon, 2010; Hulme et al., 2013b; Araque et al., 2014). A key element of this coordination is the ability of astrocytes to integrate neuronal activity over a large spatial domain by virtue of high-affinity receptors (Araque et al., 2014). In comparison to the interaction between neurons, astroglial modulation of synaptic transmission gains many peculiar features, such as slower time-scale, but greater spatial-scale and a dependence upon the combined activity of numerous synapses (Araque et al., 2014). These features can render astrocytes particularly important in heterosynaptic metaplasticity (Panatier et al., 2011; Min and Nevian, 2012; Hulme et al., 2013b).

Contrary to the "classic" release of neurotransmitters into the synaptic cleft, the release of NA occurs from varicosities of adrenergic neurons into brain extracellular fluid, remotely from target cells, so the effective concentration of NA can be rather low. Cortical astrocytes, by virtue of highly-sensitive α 1-ARs, are strategically positioned to receive and integrate diffuse adrenergic input from remote adrenergic neurons and pass the information to the local network. Indeed, adrenergic signaling has been shown to modulate the activity of astrocyte networks according to the behavioral state or sensory inputs (Ding et al., 2013; Paukert et al., 2014). Our data suggest that astroglial *a*1-ARs can affect the induction of long-term changes in synaptic strength (Figure 5). Thus, astroglial adrenoceptors may be of particular importance for brain metaplasticity induced by experience, environmental factors or neurodegenerative disease (Nithianantharajah and Hannan, 2006; Hulme et al., 2013a).

Specificity of Astroglial Adrenergic Signaling

The ability of adrenoceptors to activate Ca^{2+} -signaling in astrocytes encouraged us to use NA for triggering gliotransmission (Gordon et al., 2009; Pougnet et al., 2014). This raises a question as to whether the action of NA is astrogliaspecific. Our data show that principal neocortical neurons do not produce Ca²⁺-transients in response to application of NA (Figures 2A,B). The application of NA produced a small effect on excitatory synaptic potentials (Figure 2C), which could possibly be attributed to the modulatory action of gliotransmitters. This notion is strongly supported by the lack of any notable effect of NA on synaptic currents in acutely-isolated neurons that are devoid of astrocyte influence (Figure 2D). In contrast, NAelicited phasic purinergic currents and NA-elicited enhancement of LTP were significantly reduced by selective inhibition of astrocytic exocytosis (Figures 4, 5). Thus, the observed effects of NA and terazosin on LTP can hardly be related to neuronal adrenoreceptors. Our data strongly suggest that astrocytes provide a major contribution to adrenergic modulation of synaptic transmission and plasticity in the neocortex.

Other types of glial cells, in particular microglia, can also express adrenoceptors (Gyoneva and Traynelis, 2013; Butt et al., 2014). Microglia and oligodendocytes can also release ATP and other gliotransmitters molecules, but mainly via hemichannels rather than exocytosis (Butt, 2011; Montero and Orellana, 2015). Most of the observations of microglial release of ATP were made in a pathological context, e.g., neuroinflammation or ischemia (Butt, 2011; Montero and Orellana, 2015). Hemichannelmediated pathways of ATP release do not agree with the fast kinetics and quantal behavior of the NA-elicited purinegic currents we observe in neurons (Figure 4). Furthermore, microglial cells were reported to express β 2-rather than α 1adrenoceptors (Gyoneva and Traynelis, 2013; Butt et al., 2014). This argues against their significant contribution to the regulation of neocortical LTP which is sensitive to the a1-AR antagonist terazosin (Figure 5). Still, one cannot a priori expect absolute astroglial selectivity of NA's action: the role for microglia and oligodendrocytes in adrenergic modulation of synaptic transmission are yet to be established.

References

- Akinaga, J., Lima, V., Kiguti, L. R., Hebeler-Barbosa, F., Alcántara-Hernández, R., García-Sáinz, J. A., et al. (2013). Differential phosphorylation, desensitization and internalization of alpha1A-adrenoceptors activated by norepinephrine and oxymetazoline. *Mol. Pharmacol.* 83, 870–881. doi: 10.1124/mol.112. 082313
- Allsopp, R. C., Lalo, U., and Evans, R. J. (2010). Lipid raft association and cholesterol sensitivity of P2X1–4 receptors for ATP: chimeras and point mutants identify intracellular amino-terminal residues involved in lipid regulation of P2X1 receptors. J. Biol. Chem. 285, 32770–32777. doi: 10.1074/jbc. m110.148940
- Araque, A., Carmignoto, G., Haydon, P. G., Oliet, S. H., Robitaille, R., and Volterra, A. (2014). Gliotransmitters travel in time and space. *Neuron* 81, 728–739. doi: 10.1016/j.neuron.2014.02.007
- Attwell, D., Buchan, A. M., Charpak, S., Lauritzen, M., Macvicar, B. A., and Newman, E. A. (2010). Glial and neuronal control of brain blood flow. *Nature* 468, 232–243. doi: 10.1038/nature09613
- Butt, A. M. (2011). ATP: a ubiquitous gliotransmitter integrating neuron-glial networks. Semin. Cell Dev. Biol. 22, 205–213. doi: 10.1016/j.semcdb.2011. 02.023
- Butt, A. M., Fern, R. F., and Matute, C. (2014). Neurotransmitter signaling in white matter. *Glia* 62, 1762–1779. doi: 10.1002/glia.22674

Our observation of a lack of direct NA action on synaptic potentials contrasts with the results obtained in the hippocampus, where NA caused a depression of fEPSPs and accelerated the hypoxic depression of synaptic transmission (Pearson and Frenguelli, 2004). Most likely, the adrenergic modulation of synaptic transmission in the hippocampus occurred via a2-AR-mediated presynaptic inhibition and B1-AR- activated increase in extracellular adenosine (Pearson and Frenguelli, 2004). It remains unclear whether glial adrenoreceptors can contribute to these mechanisms, e.g., by activating the release of ATP/adenosine. It is worth noting that recent work by Pougnet et al. (2014) also reported NA-induced synaptic depression in hippocampal neurons but suggested a different mechanism, involving a1-ARactivated release of ATP from astrocytes and activation of postsynaptic purinoreceptors causing Ca²⁺-dependent internalization of AMPA receptors. Thus, adrenergic modulation of synaptic transmission can involve multiple mechanisms and show significant regional differences. In each particular case, special care is needed to distinguish the putative involvement of glial and post- and presynaptic neuronal adrenoreceptors.

To conclude, our results strongly support the physiological importance of astroglial adrenergic signaling and the astrocytic exocytosis of gliotransmitters. This adrenoreceptor-mediated communication between astrocytes and neurons is necessary for the regulation of synaptic strength and the modulation of synaptic plasticity.

Acknowledgments

This work was supported by grant from BBSRC UK (BB/K009192/1). The authors thank Prof. S Kasparov and Prof. B Frenguelly for the helpful comments on the manuscript and Dr. Mark Wall for help with biosensor experiments.

- Ding, F., O'Donnell, J., Thrane, A. S., Zeppenfeld, D., Kang, H., Xie, L., et al. (2013). alpha1-Adrenergic receptors mediate coordinated Ca2+ signaling of cortical astrocytes in awake, behaving mice. *Cell Calcium* 54, 387–394. doi: 10.1016/j. ceca.2013.09.001
- Duguid, I. C., Pankratov, Y., Moss, G. W., and Smart, T. G. (2007). Somatodendritic release of glutamate regulates synaptic inhibition in cerebellar Purkinje cells via autocrine mGluR1 activation. *J. Neurosci.* 27, 12464–12474. doi: 10.1523/jneurosci.0178-07.2007
- Frenguelli, B. G., Wigmore, G., Llaudet, E., and Dale, N. (2007). Temporal and mechanistic dissociation of ATP and adenosine release during ischaemia in the mammalian hippocampus. *J. Neurochem.* 101, 1400–1413. doi: 10.1111/j.1471-4159.2006.04425.x
- Fujita, T., Chen, M. J., Li, B., Smith, N. A., Peng, W., Sun, W., et al. (2014). Neuronal transgene expression in dominant-negative SNARE mice. J. Neurosci. 34, 16594–16604. doi: 10.1523/jneurosci.2585-14. 2014
- Giaume, C., Koulakoff, A., Roux, L., Holcman, D., and Rouach, N. (2010). Astroglial networks: a step further in neuroglial and gliovascular interactions. *Nat. Rev. Neurosci.* 11, 87–99. doi: 10.1038/nrn2757
- Gordon, G. R., Iremonger, K. J., Kantevari, S., Ellis-Davies, G. C., MacVicar, B. A., and Bains, J. S. (2009). Astrocyte-mediated distributed plasticity at hypothalamic glutamate synapses. *Neuron* 64, 391–403. doi: 10.1016/j.neuron. 2009.10.021

- Gourine, A. V., Kasymov, V., Marina, N., Tang, F., Figueiredo, M. F., Lane, S., et al. (2010). Astrocytes control breathing through pH-dependent release of ATP. *Science* 329, 571–575. doi: 10.1126/science.1190721
- Gyoneva, S., and Traynelis, S. F. (2013). Norepinephrine modulates the motility of resting and activated microglia via different adrenergic receptors. J. Biol. Chem. 288, 15291–15302. doi: 10.1074/jbc.m113.458901
- Halassa, M. M., Fellin, T., and Haydon, P. G. (2007). The tripartite synapse: roles for gliotransmission in health and disease. *Trends Mol. Med.* 13, 54–63. doi: 10. 1016/j.molmed.2006.12.005
- Halassa, M. M., Florian, C., Fellin, T., Munoz, J. R., Lee, S. Y., Abel, T., et al. (2009). Astrocytic modulation of sleep homeostasis and cognitive consequences of sleep loss. *Neuron* 61, 213–219. doi: 10.1016/j.neuron.2008.11.024
- Halassa, M. M., and Haydon, P. G. (2010). Integrated brain circuits: astrocytic networks modulate neuronal activity and behavior. *Annu. Rev. Physiol.* 72, 335–355. doi: 10.1146/annurev-physiol-021909-135843
- Hamilton, N. B., and Attwell, D. (2010). Do astrocytes really exocytose neurotransmitters? *Nat. Rev. Neurosci.* 11, 227–238. doi: 10.1038/nrn2803
- Henneberger, C., Papouin, T., Oliet, S. H., and Rusakov, D. A. (2010). Longterm potentiation depends on release of D-serine from astrocytes. *Nature* 463, 232–236. doi: 10.1038/nature08673
- Hulme, S. R., Jones, O. D., and Abraham, W. C. (2013a). Emerging roles of metaplasticity in behaviour and disease. *Trends Neurosci.* 36, 353–362. doi: 10. 1016/j.tins.2013.03.007
- Hulme, S. R., Jones, O. D., Raymond, C. R., Sah, P., and Abraham, W. C. (2013b). Mechanisms of heterosynaptic metaplasticity. *Philos. Trans. R. Soc. Lond. B Biol. Sci.* 369:20130148. doi: 10.1098/rstb.2013.0148
- Jiang, T., Yu, J. T., Tan, M. S., Zhu, X. C., and Tan, L. (2013). beta-Arrestins as potential therapeutic targets for Alzheimer's disease. *Mol. Neurobiol.* 48, 812–818. doi: 10.1007/s12035-013-8469-8
- Khakh, B. S., and McCarthy, K. D. (2015). Astrocyte calcium signaling: from observations to functions and the challenges therein. *Cold Spring Harb. Perspect. Biol.* 7:a020404. doi: 10.1101/cshperspect.a020404
- Lalo, U., Palygin, O., North, R. A., Verkhratsky, A., and Pankratov, Y. (2011a). Age-dependent remodelling of ionotropic signalling in cortical astroglia. *Aging Cell* 10, 392–402. doi: 10.1111/j.1474-9726.2011.00682.x
- Lalo, U., Palygin, O., Rasooli-Nejad, S., Andrew, J., Haydon, P. G., and Pankratov, Y. (2014a). Exocytosis of ATP from astrocytes modulates phasic and tonic inhibition in the neocortex. *PLoS Biol.* 12:e1001747. doi: 10.1371/journal.pbio. 1001857
- Lalo, U., Rasooli-Nejad, S., and Pankratov, Y. (2014b). Exocytosis of gliotransmitters from cortical astrocytes: implications for synaptic plasticity and aging. *Biochem. Soc. Trans.* 42, 1275–1281. doi: 10.1042/bst20140163
- Lalo, U., Roberts, J. A., and Evans, R. J. (2011b). Identification of human P2X1 receptor-interacting proteins reveals a role of the cytoskeleton in receptor regulation. J. Biol. Chem. 286, 30591–30599. doi: 10.1074/jbc.m111.253153
- Martineau, M., Shi, T., Puyal, J., Knolhoff, A. M., Dulong, J., Gasnier, B., et al. (2013). Storage and uptake of D-serine into astrocytic synaptic-like vesicles specify gliotransmission. *J. Neurosci.* 33, 3413–3423. doi: 10.1523/jneurosci. 3497-12.2013
- Min, R., and Nevian, T. (2012). Astrocyte signaling controls spike timingdependent depression at neocortical synapses. *Nat. Neurosci.* 15, 746–753. doi: 10.1038/nn.3075
- Mohan, M. L., Vasudevan, N. T., Gupta, M. K., Martelli, E. E., and Naga Prasad, S. V. (2013). G-protein coupled receptor resensitization-appreciating the balancing act of receptor function. *Curr. Mol. Pharmacol.* 5, 350–361. doi: 10.2174/1874467211205030004
- Montero, T. D., and Orellana, J. A. (2015). Hemichannels: new pathways for gliotransmitter release. *Neuroscience* 286, 45–59. doi: 10.1016/j.neuroscience. 2014.11.048

- Morris, D. P., Lei, B., Wu, Y. X., Michelotti, G. A., and Schwinn, D. A. (2008). The alphala-adrenergic receptor occupies membrane rafts with its G protein effectors but internalizes via clathrin-coated pits. *J. Biol. Chem.* 283, 2973–2985. doi: 10.1074/jbc.m705795200
- Nithianantharajah, J., and Hannan, A. J. (2006). Enriched environments, experience-dependent plasticity and disorders of the nervous system. *Nat. Rev. Neurosci.* 7, 697–709. doi: 10.1038/nrn1970
- Palygin, O., Lalo, U., and Pankratov, Y. (2011). Distinct pharmacological and functional properties of NMDA receptors in mouse cortical astrocytes. *Br. J. Pharmacol.* 163, 1755–1766. doi: 10.1111/j.1476-5381.2011.01374.x
- Panatier, A., Vallée, J., Haber, M., Murai, K. K., Lacaille, J. C., and Robitaille, R. (2011). Astrocytes are endogenous regulators of basal transmission at central synapses. *Cell* 146, 785–798. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2011.07.022
- Pankratov, Y., Lalo, U., Verkhratsky, A., and North, R. A. (2007). Quantal release of ATP in mouse cortex. J. Gen. Physiol. 129, 257–265. doi: 10.1085/jgp. 200609693
- Pascual, O., Casper, K. B., Kubera, C., Zhang, J., Revilla-Sanchez, R., Sul, J. Y., et al. (2005). Astrocytic purinergic signaling coordinates synaptic networks. *Science* 310, 113–116. doi: 10.1126/science.1116916
- Paukert, M., Agarwal, A., Cha, J., Doze, V. A., Kang, J. U., and Bergles, D. E. (2014). Norepinephrine controls astroglial responsiveness to local circuit activity. *Neuron* 82, 1263–1270. doi: 10.1016/j.neuron.2014.04.038
- Pearson, T., and Frenguelli, B. G. (2004). Adrenoreceptor subtype-specific acceleration of the hypoxic depression of excitatory synaptic transmission in area CA1 of the rat hippocampus. *Eur. J. Neurosci.* 20, 1555–1565. doi: 10. 1111/j.1460-9568.2004.03602.x
- Pougnet, J. T., Toulme, E., Martinez, A., Choquet, D., Hosy, E., and Boué-Grabot, E. (2014). ATP P2X receptors downregulate AMPA receptor trafficking and postsynaptic efficacy in hippocampal neurons. *Neuron* 83, 417–430. doi: 10. 1016/j.neuron.2014.06.005
- Rasooli-Nejad, S., Palygin, O., Lalo, U., and Pankratov, Y. (2014). Cannabinoid receptors contribute to astroglia ICa²⁺-signalling and control of synaptic plasticity in the neocortex. *Philos. Trans. R. Soc. Lond. B Biol. Sci.* 369:20140077. doi: 10.1098/rstb.2014.0077
- Schipke, C. G., Haas, B., and Kettenmann, H. (2008). Astrocytes discriminate and selectively respond to the activity of a subpopulation of neurons within the barrel cortex. *Cereb. Cortex* 18, 2450–2459. doi: 10.1093/cercor/bhn009
- Woo, D. H., Han, K. S., Shim, J. W., Yoon, B. E., Kim, E., Bae, J. Y., et al. (2012). TREK-1 and Best1 channels mediate fast and slow glutamate release in astrocytes upon GPCR activation. *Cell* 151, 25–40. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2012. 09.005
- Yoshiki, H., Uwada, J., Umada, H., Kobayashi, T., Takahashi, T., Yamakawa, T., et al. (2013). Agonist pharmacology at recombinant alpha1A- and alpha1L-adrenoceptors and in lower urinary tract alpha1-adrenoceptors. *Br. J. Pharmacol.* 170, 1242–1252. doi: 10.1111/bph.12403
- Zucchi, R., and Ronca-Testoni, S. (1997). The sarcoplasmic reticulum Ca²⁺ channel/ryanodine receptor: modulation by endogenous effectors, drugs and disease states. *Pharmacol. Rev.* 49, 1–51.

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2015 Pankratov and Lalo. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution and reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.



Astroglial calcium signaling displays short-term plasticity and adjusts synaptic efficacy

Jérémie Sibille^{1,2}, Jonathan Zapata¹, Jérémie Teillon¹ and Nathalie Rouach¹*

¹ Neuroglial Interactions in Cerebral Physiopathology, Center for Interdisciplinary Research in Biology, Collège de France, CNRS UMR 7241, INSERM U1050, Paris, France, ² Université Paris Diderot, Sorbonne Paris Cité, Paris, France

Astrocytes are dynamic signaling brain elements able to sense neuronal inputs and to respond by complex calcium signals, which are thought to represent their excitability. Such signaling has been proposed to modulate, or not, neuronal activities ranging from basal synaptic transmission to epileptiform discharges. However, whether calcium signaling in astrocytes exhibits activity-dependent changes and acutely modulates short-term synaptic plasticity is currently unclear. We here show, using dual recordings of astroglial calcium signals and synaptic transmission, that calcium signaling in astrocytes displays, concomitantly to excitatory synapses, short-term plasticity in response to prolonged repetitive and tetanic stimulations of Schaffer collaterals. We also found that acute inhibition of calcium signaling in astrocytes by intracellular calcium chelation rapidly potentiates excitatory synaptic transmission and short-term plasticity of Shaffer collateral CA1 synapses, i.e., paired-pulse facilitation and responses to tetanic and prolonged repetitive stimulation. These data reveal that calcium signaling of astrocytes is plastic and down-regulates basal transmission and short-term plasticity of hippocampal CA1 glutamatergic synapses.

Keywords: hippocampus, glia, neurons, neuroglial interactions, calcium signals, synapses, synaptic transmission, short-term plasticity

Introduction

Astrocytes are dynamic signaling elements able to sense, integrate and respond to synaptic activity. They are indeed equipped with a variety of channels, receptors and transporters allowing for detection of neuronal activity. They can also transmit information, in part by complex calcium signaling, to regulate in turn neurotransmission through multiple pathways (Perea et al., 2009; Pannasch et al., 2011; Rusakov et al., 2011; Dallérac et al., 2013; Bernardinelli et al., 2014).

Remarkably, astrocytes not only respond transiently to neuronal activity but can also display, like neurons, several forms of plasticity (Pirttimaki and Parri, 2013). These include a morphological plasticity of neuronal coverage during specific physiological conditions such as lactation or whisker stimulation (Iino et al., 2001; Genoud et al., 2006; Oliet and Bonfardin, 2010; Saab et al., 2012; Bernardinelli et al., 2014; Perez-Alvarez et al., 2014), as well as a functional plasticity of neuronal-induced currents or gliotransmitter release. For instance in the cerebellum, AMPAR-mediated calcium currents induced in Bergmann glia by stimulation of parallel fibers show specific activity-dependent short-term and long-term plasticity compared to adjacent Purkinje neurons (Bellamy and Ogden, 2005, 2006). Similarly in the hippocampus, astroglial potassium and glutamate uptake exhibit specific patterns of short-term plasticity (Manita et al., 2007; Sibille et al., 2014), as well as

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Vladimir Parpura, University of Alabama at Birmigham, USA

Reviewed by:

Alexej Verkhratsky, University of Manchester, UK Cendra Agulhon, Paris Descartes University, France

*Correspondence:

Nathalie Rouach, Neuroglial Interactions in Cerebral Physiopathology, Center for Interdisciplinary Research in Biology, Collège de France, CNRS UMR 7241, INSERM U1050, 11 place Marcelin Berthelot, Paris 75005, France nathalie.rouach@college-de-france.fr

> Received: 28 January 2015 Accepted: 29 April 2015 Published: 27 May 2015

Citation:

Sibille J, Zapata J, Teillon J and Rouach N (2015) Astroglial calcium signaling displays short-term plasticity and adjusts synaptic efficacy. Front. Cell. Neurosci. 9:189. doi: 10.3389/fncel.2015.00189
long term potentiation (Pita-Almenar et al., 2006; Ge and Duan, 2007; Zhang et al., 2009). Finally in the thalamus, astroglial glutamate release displays long term potentiation in response to cortical or lemniscal afferent stimulation (Pirttimaki et al., 2011). Such morphological and functional plasticity of astrocytes has been shown in various physiological contexts to regulate neuronal activity (Iino et al., 2001; Oliet et al., 2001; Pirttimaki et al., 2011; Saab et al., 2012; Sibille et al., 2014).

Among the responses evoked in astrocytes by neuronal activity, calcium signaling has been extensively studied and is thought to represent their excitability, since these cells are electrically non excitable. Astroglial calcium signaling can be mediated by multiple pathways, thought to generate signals with specific temporal and spatial patterns (Verkhratsky et al., 2012, 2014; Khakh and McCarthy, 2015). Numerous studies have shown that calcium release from endoplasmic reticulum internal stores via inositol triphosphate (IP3) receptors occurs after activation of plasmalemmal G-protein coupled receptors, such as metabotropic glutamate receptors (mGluRs; Verkhratsky et al., 2012). Such pathway is thought to underlie relatively slow calcium signaling in astrocytes. Additionally, calcium can also enter from the extracellular space via activation of membrane store operated channels, sodium-calcium exchanger or ionotropic receptors, such as NMDA, P2X or TRPA1 receptors in astrocytes from specific brain regions. These pathways may rather mediate fast and local signaling, possibly in astroglial perisynaptic processes (Verkhratsky et al., 2014; Khakh and McCarthy, 2015).

Nevertheless, how astrocytes encode calcium signaling and whether such signaling also displays activity-dependent changes remains elusive. Neuronal activity has been shown to modulate the frequency of hippocampal astroglial calcium transients mediated by mGluR activation (Pasti et al., 1995, 1997). In addition, astrocytes from the hippocampus or the barrel cortex can distinguish and preferentially respond to specific excitatory inputs in a nonlinear manner (Perea and Araque, 2005; Schipke et al., 2008). Yet, although astroglial calcium signals do correlate with the number of activated synapses, they were found not to be altered shortly after induction of hippocampal longterm synaptic plasticity, when detected with Fluo-5F, a calcium indicator with low calcium binding affinity (Honsek et al., 2012). Thus unlike other glial cells types such as NG2 cells or Schwann cells, where calcium signaling plasticity has been established (Ge et al., 2006; Bélair et al., 2010), whether astrocytes also show activity-dependent plasticity of calcium signals is still currently unclear.

In addition, activity-dependent calcium transients can induce various responses in astrocytes, including release of gliotransmitters, which can in turn modulate neuronal activity (Araque et al., 2014). Astroglial calcium signaling has been reported to modulate different regimes of neuronal activity, ranging from basal synaptic transmission to epileptiform events (Perea et al., 2009; Nedergaard and Verkhratsky, 2012; Dallérac et al., 2013; Araque et al., 2014). Contradictory results have nevertheless emerged about its role in synaptic transmission and plasticity (Fiacco et al., 2007; Petravicz et al., 2008; Agulhon et al., 2010), likely due to the distinct experimental manipulations used to increase calcium in astrocytes (Nedergaard and Verkhratsky, 2012). In fact whether these manipulations relate to physiological events is still an open question. Thus the role of endogenous astrocytic calcium signaling in physiological neuronal activity is currently matter of debate.

We here show that astroglial calcium signaling displays, simultaneously to excitatory synapses, short-term plasticity in response to prolonged repetitive and tetanic stimulations of Schaffer collaterals. We also demonstrate that acute and local inhibition of astrocytic calcium signaling increases glutamatergic synaptic transmission and short-term plasticity of Shaffer collateral CA1 synapses. These results reveal that astrocytic calcium signaling is plastic and can dampen transmission and short-term plasticity of hippocampal CA1 excitatory synapses.

Material and Methods

Animals

Experiments were performed on the hippocampus of wild type mice (C57BL6/J). Experiments were carried out according to the guidelines of European Community Council Directives of January 1st 2013 (2010/63/EU) and our local animal committee (Center for Interdisciplinary Research in Biology in College de France). All efforts were made to minimize the number of used animals and their suffering. Experiments were performed on the hippocampus of wild type mice. For all analyses, mice of both genders were used (PN15-PN22).

Electrophysiology

Acute transverse hippocampal slices (400 μ m) were prepared as previously described (Pannasch et al., 2012; Sibille et al., 2014) from 15 to 22 days-old mice. Slices were maintained in a storage chamber containing an artificial cerebrospinal fluid (ACSF) (containing in mM: 119 NaCl, 2.5 KCl, 2.5 CaCl₂ 1.3 MgSO₄, 1 NaH₂PO₄, 26.2 NaHCO₃ and 11 glucose, saturated with 95% O₂-5% CO₂) for at least 1 h prior to recording. Slices were transferred to a submerged recording chamber mounted on an Olympus BX51WI microscope equipped for infra-red differential interference (IR-DIC) microscopy and were perfused with ACSF at a rate of 1.5 ml/min. Experiments were performed in the presence of picrotoxin (100 μ M) and a cut was made between CA1 and CA3 to prevent the propagation of epileptiform activity. Extracellular field excitatory postsynaptic potentials (fEPSPs) and whole-cell patch-clamp recordings of astrocytes were performed in the CA1 stratum radiatum region of the hippocampus. The simultaneous recordings were carried out when intra-astroglial calcium chelation experiments (BAPTA, 10 mM) were made, and the field potential recording pipette, filled with ACSF, was placed in stratum radiatum, 20-50 µm away from the recorded astrocyte. Postsynaptic responses were evoked by stimulating Schaffer collaterals (0.1 Hz, stimulation intensity 10–20 μ A) in CA1 stratum radiatum with ACSF filled glass pipettes. Paired-pulse facilitation was induced by delivery of two stimuli at an interval of 40 ms. Prolonged repetitive stimulation was performed at 10 Hz for 30 s, while post-tetanic potentiation was induced by stimulation at 100 Hz for 1 s in

the presence of 10 µM of CPP ((Rs)-3-(2-Carboxypiperazin-4-yl-)propyl-1-phosphonic acid), to prevent induction of longterm potentiation. To investigate the effect of astroglial calcium chelation on evoked synaptic transmission or on short-term synaptic plasticity (PPF, PTP or responses to prolonged repetitive stimulation), fEPSPs were recorded in the same slice before and after calcium chelation in astrocytes. To do so and minimize mechanical movements in the slice, fEPSPs were first recorded while a BAPTA-containing patch pipette was sealed on an astrocyte (control condition), and the seal was then broken to chelate calcium only once fEPSPs were stable for at least 10 min. Experiments were independently performed (on different slices) for each experimental protocol (evoked synaptic transmission, PPF, PTP or prolonged repetitive stimulation). Stratum radiatum astrocytes were identified by their small somata, low input resistance and resting membrane potential, passive membrane properties (linear IV relationship), lack of action potential and extensive gap junctional coupling. Somatic whole-cell recordings were obtained from visually identified stratum radiatum astrocytes, using 5-10 M Ω glass pipettes filled with (in mM): 105 K-gluconate, 30 KCl, 10 HEPES, 10 phosphocreatine, 4 ATP-Mg, 0.3 GTP-Tris, 0.3 EGTA (pH 7.4, 280 mOsm), supplemented or not with BAPTA (10 mM). For intercellular dye coupling experiments, the internal solution contained sulforhodamine B (1 mg/ml), which diffused passively in astrocytes patched in current-clamp mode during 20 min. Recordings were acquired with Axopatch-1D or MultiClamp 700B amplifiers (Molecular Devices) digitized at 10 kHz, filtered at 2 kHz, stored and analyzed on computer using Pclamp10, Clampfit10 (Molecular Devices) and Matlab (MathWorks) softwares. Stimulus artifacts were blanked in sample traces. After acquisition data were binned at different frequencies according to the stimulation protocol used, and in order to clearly visualize the illustrated effects in each figure. Picrotoxin was obtained from Sigma, and all other chemicals were from Tocris.

Calcium Imaging

All imaging experiments were performed simultaneously to electrophysiological field potential recordings in the same region of interest. Intracellular calcium measurements in astrocytes from hippocampal slices were made under single emission fluorescence microscopy using the fluorescent calcium indicator Fluo-4 AM (5 µM, Invitrogen), which has been demonstrated to load specifically astrocytes (Hirase et al., 2004). Loading was performed in ACSF with 0.02% Pluronic F-127 for 25 min in dark at room temperature. After recovery, slices were transferred to the recording chamber of an Olympus BX51WI microscope. Fluo-4 was excited at 488 nm through a light emitting diode (OptoLED, Cairn Research), controlled by the Axon Imaging Workbench software (Molecular Devices), triggering simultaneous acquisition of the electrophysiological recordings by Clampex10 software (Molecular Devices). Fluorescent light (>515 nm) emitted by labeled cells was detected with a long pass filter and an EM-CCD camera (Andor). Images were acquired at 4 Hz through a $20 \times$ water immersion objective (NA 0.95, Olympus) and stored on a PC. Images were

processed and analyzed off-line with AIW imaging (Molecular Devices), Fiji (Image J) and Matlab (Mathworks) softwares. Background subtraction and bleaching correction were made in Fiji (Schindelin et al., 2012) and performed before fluorescence quantification. Background correction consisted in subtracting a filtered image that closely reflects the background to all of the time-serie images. This background image was obtained by applying a Gaussian blur filter with a 20-pixel radius to the first image of the serie. This filter also removed the acquisition noise on this first image, so that it doesn't appear on the subtraction result images. The processed image serie was then corrected for photobleaching using the bleaching correction function in Fiji with the « Exponential fit » method. Data are then expressed as relative changes in fluorescence over baseline (Δ F/F0). After acquisition of images at 4 Hz, data were binned at different frequencies for clear visualization of the illustrated effects in figures. In average, 4-10 astrocytes were monitored per slice and several slices (n = 6) were monitored from at least 3 different animals.

Statistics

All data are expressed as mean \pm SEM and *n* represents the number of independent experiments. Statistical significance for within-group comparisons was determined by two-way repeated measures ANOVA, whereas two-tailed paired *t*-tests were used for between-group comparisons. Statistical analysis was performed in GraphPad Prism 6.

Results

Synaptically-Evoked Astroglial Calcium Signaling Displays Short-Term Plasticity

Glutamatergic synapses between Schaffer collaterals and CA1 pyramidal neurons in the hippocampus display several forms of short-term plasticity, such as post-tetanic potentiation (PTP) and facilitating and depressing responses to prolonged repetitive stimulation, which reflect alterations in presynaptic glutamate release. As calcium signaling in astrocytes is activity-dependent, we investigated whether it also exhibits some forms of short-term plasticity typical of excitatory synapses from CA1 pyramidal neurons. To do so, we recorded synchronously neuronal field excitatory postsynaptic potentials (fEPSPs) and astroglial calcium signaling in response to tetanic stimulation (100 Hz, 1 s) and prolonged repetitive stimulation (10 Hz, 30 s) of Schaffer collaterals (**Figures 1A–D**).

We found that astroglial calcium signaling displayed differential short-term plasticity patterns compared to adjacent pyramidal cells.

Tetanic stimulation of Schaffer collaterals (100 Hz, 1 s) results in PTP, a transient potentiation of excitatory transmission (**Figures 1E,G**). During the tetanus, astroglial calcium signaling continuously and gradually increased (peak increase (Δ F/F0): +28 ± 3%, n = 35 astrocytes from 6 slices), in contrast to neuronal responses, which only transiently potentiated (+61 ± 21%, n = 6) and then rapidly depressed (peak depression: -63.2 ± 8.2%, n = 6) (**Figures 1E,G**). In addition, after the tetanus astroglial calcium signaling rapidly exhibited a post-tetanic



decrease (peak decrease (Δ F/F0): $-32.5 \pm 0.5\%$ 20 s after the tetanus, n = 35 astrocytes from 6 slices) in contrast to neurons, which displayed a characteristic transient potentiation (fEPSP PTP: $+74 \pm 7.5\%$ 10 s after the tetanus, n = 6) with a similar time course to that of the decrease of glial responses (**Figures 1E,G**). Remarkably, both neuronal and glial responses slowly came back to baseline levels \sim 1 min after the tetanus (**Figure 1G**).

Repetitive stimulation of Schaffer collaterals (10 Hz, 30 s) induces an initial facilitation of glutamatergic synaptic transmission, resulting from extensive glutamate release, followed by a depression, caused by depletion of glutamate vesicular pools (**Figures 1F,H**). As found for tetanic stimulation, astroglial calcium signaling exhibited a rapid and sustained increase during the whole repetitive stimulation (peak

potentiation (Δ F/F0): +39.1 ± 1.8% after 3 s of repetitive stimulation, n = 28 astrocytes from 6 slices), in contrast to fEPSPs, which first transiently potentiated with stronger magnitude (peak potentiation: +52.8 ± 14.1% after 1 s of repetitive stimulation, n = 6) and then gradually depressed (peak depression: -57.8 ± 8% at the end of the repetitive stimulation, n = 6) (**Figures 1F,H**). Although both neuronal and glial responses reached their peak potentiation rapidly (1 s and 3 s, respectively) and then slowly decayed during the rest of the repetitive stimulation, the magnitude and time course of the responses differed, as astroglial calcium signal amplitudes reached a peak increase of ~ +40% within ~3-4 s of 10 Hz stimulation, and then slowly decayed to half peak responses after 30 s, while fEPSPs reached a peak potentiation of ~ +57% within ~1 s, fully decayed to baseline level after ~5-13 s and strongly depress (~ -35 to -60%) after ~ 20 s (**Figure 1H**). In addition, after the repetitive stimulation, the neuronal response returned immediately and steadily to baseline levels, while astroglial calcium signals exhibited a decrease in their amplitude below basal levels during ~ 1 min (reaching $-11.1 \pm 1.1\%$ 60 s after the repetitive stimulation, and returning to basal levels 90 s after the stimulation, n = 28 astrocytes from 6 slices, **Figure 1H**).

Together, these data show that astroglial calcium signals display differential short-term plasticity patterns compared to neighboring excitatory synapses.

Acute Calcium Chelation in Astrocytes Increases Evoked Excitatory Synaptic Transmission

We then investigated whether in turn astroglial calcium signaling evoked by neuronal activity regulates locally the moment-tomoment glutamatergic synaptic transmission. To do so, we acutely and selectively inhibited calcium responses in local astrocytic networks, while simultaneously recording neighboring neuronal activity with fEPSP evoked by single stimulation of Schaffer collaterals. Calcium responses were specifically inhibited in astrocytes by intracellular dialysis of BAPTA (10 mM), a low molecular weight calcium chelator (astroglial calcium response peak amplitude: $-70 \pm 2\%$, n = 4 independent experiments on 26 astrocytes). BAPTA, together with sulforhodamine-B, a gap-junction permeable dye, were initially delivered to a single astrocyte via a patch pipette, and subsequently spread within populations of astrocytes through gap junction channels (Serrano et al., 2006; Rouach et al., 2008), as revealed by the extent of astrocyte dye coupling (Figure 2A). In all experiments, neuronal responses were recorded in close proximity $(20-50 \,\mu m)$ to the astrocyte patched with the BAPTA-containing pipette. fEPSPs were initially recorded while the BAPTA-containing patch pipette was sealed on an astrocyte (control condition), and the seal was then broken to chelate calcium (BAPTA condition). fEPSPs were thus analyzed in the same slice before and after calcium chelation in astrocytes. In these conditions, we found that calcium chelation in astrocytes induced a rapid and sustained increase of \sim 20% in excitatory synaptic transmission $(+22 \pm 0.9\%$ after 17 min of dialysis, n = 6, p < 0.001, Figures 2B,C). The increase occurred within ~10 min and lasted for at least 30 min. This effect was not due to leakage of BAPTA from the patch pipette in the extracellular space, because sealing an astrocyte with the BAPTA-containing patch pipette for 25 min had no effect on fEPSPs recorded prior to the astroglial seal $(100.5 \pm 1\%)$ of baseline response from 15 to 25 min after the seal, n = 5).

Astroglial Calcium Chelation Potentiates Short-Term Plasticity Of Excitatory Synapses

To test whether astroglial calcium signaling also contributes to short-term synaptic plasticity, we performed the astroglial calcium chelation experiment while stimulating Schaffer collaterals with various patterns of activity. In all experiments, short-term synaptic plasticity was assessed in the same slice before and after astrocyte calcium chelation by recording activity-dependent changes in fEPSPs while the patch pipette



was sealed on an astrocyte (control condition) and after 15 min of astrocyte dialysis with BAPTA (10 mM).

Paired-pulse stimulation of Schaffer collaterals induced paired-pulse facilitation of excitatory synaptic transmission (PPF), a typical form of short-term plasticity in hippocampal CA1 pyramidal cells (**Figures 3A,B**). We found that calcium chelation in local astrocytic networks significantly increased PPF (PPF: before calcium chelation, 1.75 ± 0.13 ; 15 min after calcium chelation: 1.91 ± 0.18 , n = 6, p < 0.05, **Figures 3A,B**).

Sibille et al.



Tetanic stimulation of Schaffer collaterals (100 Hz, 1 s) resulted in PTP, a transient potentiation of glutamatergic synaptic transmission (**Figure 3D**). Similarly to the effect observed on PPF, we found that the astroglial calcium chelation enhanced PTP (peak potentiation 10 s after the tetanus: before calcium chelation, $+74 \pm 7.5\%$; after calcium chelation: $+90 \pm 9.5\%$; normalized fEPSP 110 s after the tetanus: before calcium chelation, $105 \pm 8\%$; after calcium chelation, $103 \pm 4.4\%$; n = 10, p < 0.05, **Figure 3D**). Moreover, inhibition of calcium responses in astrocytes also potentiated the neuronal responses recorded during the tetanic stimulation (peak potentiation after 100 ms of stimulation: $+90 \pm 27\%$; peak depression at the end of the tetanus: before calcium chelation, $-65 \pm 7.2\%$; after calcium chelation: $-61 \pm 6.8\%$; n = 10, p < 0.001), **Figures 3C,D**).

Prolonged repetitive stimulation of Schaffer collaterals (10 Hz, 30 s) induced a transient facilitation of excitatory synaptic transmission, followed by a depression (**Figures 3E,F**). As found for paired-pulse and tetanic stimulations, acute chelation of astroglial calcium increased the magnitude of the transient potentiation (peak potentiation after 1 s of repetitive stimulation: before calcium chelation, $52 \pm 14.1\%$; after calcium chelation: $84 \pm 11.8\%$, n = 6, p < 0.05, **Figures 3E,F**). However, amplitude of the maximal depression was unchanged (maximal depression at the end of the stimulation: before calcium chelation, $-57 \pm 7.2\%$, n = 6, **Figure 3F**).

The effects of astroglial calcium chelation on the three forms of short-term synaptic plasticity described above were specific, as performing two consecutive times with a 15 min interval either paired-pulse, tetanic or prolonged repetitive stimulation of Schaffer collaterals did not alter by itself the induced short-term plasticities (PPF: 1.725 ± 0.09 ; 15 min after: 1.655 ± 0.006 , n = 4, p > 0.05, Student's paired *t*-test; PTP, peak potentiation 10 s after the tetanus: $+75.50 \pm 20.93$; 15 min after: $+72.29 \pm 6.73$, n = 5, p > 0.05, two-way repeated measures ANOVA; repetitive stimulation: peak potentiation after 1 s of repetitive stimulation: $+59.1 \pm 11$; 15 min after: $+60.4 \pm 2.1$; maximal depression at the end of the stimulation: -36.3 ± 4.4 ; 15 min after: -36.9 ± 5.7 , n = 5, p > 0.05, two-way repeated measures ANOVA).

Discussion

We here show that calcium signaling in hippocampal astrocytes displays several forms of activity-dependent short-term plasticity, with differential patterns compared to adjacent excitatory synapses. We also show that endogenous calcium signaling in astrocytes can down-regulate evoked glutamatergic synaptic transmission and short-term synaptic plasticity. These data provide novel insights into the dynamics of astroglial calcium signaling and its role in synaptic efficacy.

Short-Term Plasticity of Astroglial Calcium Signaling

Activity-dependent plasticity refers to the strengthening or weakening of a response as a result of an increase or decrease in activity. Although this term is traditionally used for synapses, it is also currently used for glial cells, in particular for currents and calcium signaling from NG2 cells (Ge et al., 2006; Bélair et al., 2010), as well as for currents from astrocytes (Linden, 1997; Bellamy and Ogden, 2005, 2006; Pita-Almenar et al., 2006; Ge and Duan, 2007; Zhang et al., 2009; Sibille et al., 2014). Consistent with these findings, we here identified a novel type of astrocytic plasticity, i.e., an activity-dependent shortterm plasticity of calcium signaling. We found two forms of calcium signaling short-term plasticity, which describe changes over time of astroglial calcium responses evoked by Schaffer collateral tetanic (100 Hz, 1 s) or prolonged repetitive stimulation (10 Hz, 30 s), which are stimulation patterns commonly used to induce specific forms of short-term synaptic plasticity (PTP or facilitating and depressing responses to prolonged repetitive stimulation, respectively).

Remarkably the two forms of plasticity were evoked by relatively low amplitude stimulation of Schaffer collaterals (10–20 μ A), indicating that astrocytes display adaptive responses to moderate physiological synaptic activity. Interestingly, astrocytes were able to integrate relatively rapidly fast neuronal activity induced by either tetanic or repetitive stimulations, since astroglial calcium responses were evoked within hundred(s) of milliseconds. Moreover, both the short tetanic (1 s) and repetitive (30 s) stimulations evoked over time similar magnitude of intracellular calcium level increase in astrocytes, although the timing of the peak responses slightly differed (1 s vs. 3 s, respectively). This difference most likely reflects summation over time of evoked calcium elevations to reach peak amplitude. These data suggest that both types of stimulation may recruit similar intracellular pathway within slightly different timeframes.

In addition, both types of astrocytic plasticity displayed differential patterns compared to the short-term plasticity of synaptic responses. Although it is well admitted that astrocytes integrate neuronal activity through their calcium signaling, our data suggest that such signaling does not simply reflect neuronal responses, but exhibits specific behavior with proper dynamics (Volterra et al., 2014). Our results also suggest that during tetanic stimulation, astrocytes can integrate graded levels of presynaptic activity, through their calcium signaling, which likely does not saturate. In contrast, calcium signals may saturate in astrocytes after a few seconds of the 10 Hz stimulation, as they slowly decrease after 3 s.

The pathway underlying astroglial calcium signaling shortterm plasticity was not identified in this study, but likely relies on activation of the canonical calcium release from internal stores induced by activation of glutamate metabotropic receptors. Indeed, both tetanic and prolonged repetitive stimulation of Schaffer collateral induce significant presynaptic release of glutamate, which spill over to likely activate the abundantly expressed mGluR5 in neighboring astrocytes from juvenile mice (Sun et al., 2013; Verkhratsky et al., 2012). This pathway has already been shown in astrocytes to be recruited in a graded manner during Schaffer collateral stimulation, correlating with the number of activated synapses (Honsek et al., 2012). In addition, the time needed to reach maximum amplitude of mGluR-mediated calcium responses in astrocytes is relatively slow, i.e., in the range of seconds (1-3 s) (Honsek et al., 2012), as reported in our study. Finally, the slow decrease in calcium signaling that occurs after a few seconds of the 10 Hz stimulation may reflect desensitization of mGluRs as well as gradual depletion of internal calcium stores during the course of the stimulation. We cannot however exclude the involvement of other molecular pathways mediating extracellular calcium entry in astrocytes through store operated channels, sodium-calcium exchanger or ionotropic receptors, such as P2X or TRPA1 receptors, which may underlie fast signaling initiated in astroglial perisynaptic processes that slowly propagate to cell soma (Verkhratsky et al., 2012, 2014; Khakh and McCarthy, 2015).

Remarkably, astrocytes did not only show a differential pattern compared to neurons during the tetanic and repetitive stimulations, but also after. Indeed, while postsynaptic neuronal responses displayed a typical post-tetanic potentiation, astroglial calcium signals showed a mirror response with a post-tetanic decrease, slowly coming back to baseline levels within a minute, akin to neuronal responses. Similarly astroglial calcium signals showed a decrease after the repetitive stimulation, in contrast to neuronal responses which returned immediately to baseline levels. Such post-tetanic and post-repetitive decreases in astroglial calcium signaling resemble the depression of the synaptically-evoked potassium and residual currents (IK and Ires) that we recently identified in hippocampal astrocytes after tetanic and repetitive stimulations (Sibille et al., 2014). They are also reminiscent of typical undershoot responses (such as extracellular potassium levels and space volume) occurring after similar high frequency stimulations (D'Ambrosio et al., 2002; Chever et al., 2010; Haj-Yasein et al., 2011; Pannasch et al., 2011; Bay and Butt, 2012). These short-term plasticities may represent an adaptive response to prevent prolonged activation of astroglial calcium signaling, thus enabling local and transient increase in astroglial signaling during the stimulations. They may also serve to increase the signal-to-noise ratio by contrasting the astroglial calcium responses. In addition, the short-term decreases in astroglial calcium signaling might also code for downstream intracellular pathways, which would regulate in turn neuronal activity. The mechanism underlying the transient depression of astroglial calcium signaling after tetanic and repetitive stimulations still needs to be investigated. It could result from the combination of mGluRs desentization, intracellular calcium store depletion and astroglial calcium release through calcium ATPases, sodium-calcium exchangers or connexin and pannexin hemichannels, which can be activated by increase in cytosolic calcium (Verkhratsky et al., 2012; Cheung et al., 2014).

Regulation of Neurotransmission by Endogenous Calcium Signaling

Astroglial calcium signaling is generally thought to modulate neuronal activity through multiple and complex pathways (Volterra et al., 2014). Although many studies have shown that calcium signaling in astrocytes regulates various regimes of neuronal activity (Perea et al., 2009; Nedergaard and Verkhratsky, 2012; Dallérac et al., 2013; Araque et al., 2014; Volterra et al., 2014), some failed to detect any effect on synaptic transmission or plasticity (Fiacco et al., 2007; Petravicz et al., 2008; Agulhon et al., 2010). These discrepancies led to the view that calcium signaling in astrocytes is more complex than initially thought, and that different effects may occur according to the manipulations used to alter astroglial calcium. Indeed to interfere with astroglial calcium signaling, several approaches have been used, including acute downregulation using intracellular calcium chelation with BAPTA or calcium-clamp, chronic and targeted inhibition using transgenic mice with impaired astroglial store-mediated calcium signaling (IP3R2^{-/-} mice), as well as acute activation using pharmacogenetic approach to activate specifically calcium signaling in astrocytes in a transgenic mice expressing in astrocytes in an inducible manner a Gq-G protein coupled receptor (MrgA1) not expressed in the brain and activated by a brain exogenous ligand (Fiacco et al., 2007; Petravicz et al., 2008; Agulhon et al., 2010; Henneberger et al., 2010; Nedergaard and Verkhratsky, 2012; Volterra et al., 2014). Identifying the manipulations that relate to physiological events or interfere with endogenous signaling is a current effort to unravel the actual role of astroglial calcium in physiological processes.

We here aimed at clarifying such role on hippocampal physiological synaptic transmission and short-term plasticity. To do so, we used calcium chelator infusion into populations of astrocytes through patch pipettes to downregulate acutely calcium signals in astrocytes. Remarkably, we found that such manipulation relatively rapidly unleashed evoked excitatory synaptic transmission and several forms of its short-term plasticity. Using similar approaches, several studies have shown ex vivo or in vivo during alternative paradigms that acute downregulation of endogenous calcium signaling, via calcium chelation with BAPTA or calcium-clamp (Henneberger et al., 2010), regulates physiological synaptic activity such as basal synaptic transmission (Panatier et al., 2011), spontaneous postsynaptic currents and evoked bursts (Benedetti et al., 2011), LTP (Henneberger et al., 2010), heterosynaptic depression (Serrano et al., 2006), short-term synaptic depression (Andersson and Hanse, 2010), as well as cholinergic-induced LTP (Navarrete et al., 2012). Noteworthy in most cases, astroglial calcium signaling was found to increase neuronal activity through gliotransmitter release (Serrano et al., 2006; Henneberger et al., 2010; Panatier et al., 2011; Navarrete et al., 2012). However, each regulation was reported to be mediated by a different gliotransmitter or targeted receptor, such as D-serine (Henneberger et al., 2010), glutamate (Navarrete et al., 2012) or ATP, subsequently metabolized into adenosine and activating either presynaptic A1 (Serrano et al., 2006) or A2 receptors (Panatier et al., 2011). We here found that calcium chelation

References

Agulhon, C., Fiacco, T. A., and McCarthy, K. D. (2010). Hippocampal short- and long-term plasticity are not modulated by astrocyte Ca²⁺ signaling. *Science* 327, 1250–1254. doi: 10.1126/science.1 184821 in astrocytes increased evoked excitatory synaptic transmission, paired pulse facilitation, post-tetanic potentiation and responses to repetitive stimulation in the hippocampus, implying that in these cases astroglial calcium signals downregulate synaptic transmission and short-term plasticity.

However, the underlying mechanism still remains to be determined. These astroglial regulations of synaptic efficacy may be directly mediated by calcium-dependent release of inhibitory gliotransmitters, such as ATP-derived adenosine activating A1 receptors, cannabinoids activating CB1 receptors (Navarrete and Araque, 2008), or GABA (Angulo et al., 2008) acting on GABA_A or GABA_B receptors, pathways all well known to decrease presynaptic glutamate release. However other mechanisms may be at play, such as calcium-dependent potassium uptake through astroglial Na/K ATPase, leading to decreased extracellular potassium levels and thereby reduced excitatory synaptic transmission, as recently reported in the hippocampus (Wang et al., 2012). Alternatively calciumdependent astroglial synapse coverage, promoting at the synapse tight morphological interactions (Iino et al., 2001; Saab et al., 2012; Tanaka et al., 2013; Bernardinelli et al., 2014) and efficient astroglial clearance of glutamate (Pannasch et al., 2014) or likely potassium, as well as availability of astrocytederived neuroactive factors, might also dampen glutamatergic transmission. Interestingly our results are comparable to the ones obtained in two recent studies, showing that calcium chelation in the barrel cortex increased the frequency of spontaneous excitatory postsynaptic currents, as well as the amplitude and duration of evoked bursts (Benedetti et al., 2011), while in the hippocampus it inhibited a post-burst short-term depression of glutamatergic transmission (Andersson and Hanse, 2010). In both studies the underlying mechanism was not identified, although D-serine, adenosine or glutamatergic transmission were not found to be involved in regulation of neuronal activity from the barrel cortex (Benedetti et al., 2011). It is thus tempting to speculate that the differential effects of astroglial calcium chelation on neuronal activity may rely on the type of neuronal activity, the brain area and the developmental stage studied, which are likely associated with different forms of astroglial calcium signals and downstream intracellular pathways. Such multiple effects illustrate the complexity of the astroglial calcium signaling code, which remains to be further unraveled.

Acknowledgments

We thank G. Dallérac for helpful discussions. This work was supported by grants from INSERM, CNRS and Collège de France to NR, and from the doctoral school "Frontiers in Life Science", Paris Diderot University and FRM (Fondation pour la Recherche Médicale) doctoral fellowship to JS.

Andersson, M., and Hanse, E. (2010). Astrocytes impose postburst depression of release probability at hippocampal glutamate synapses. J. Neurosci. 30, 5776–5780. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.3957-09.2010

Angulo, M. C., Le Meur, K., Kozlov, A. S., Charpak, S., and Audinat, E. (2008). GABA, a forgotten gliotransmitter. *Prog. Neurobiol.* 86, 297–303. doi: 10.1016/j. pneurobio.2008.08.002

- Araque, A., Carmignoto, G., Haydon, P. G., Oliet, S. H., Robitaille, R., and Volterra, A. (2014). Gliotransmitters travel in time and space. *Neuron* 81, 728–739. doi: 10.1016/j.neuron.2014.02.007
- Bay, V., and Butt, A. M. (2012). Relationship between glial potassium regulation and axon excitability: a role for glial Kir4.1 channels. *Glia* 60, 651–660. doi: 10. 1002/glia.22299
- Bélair, E. L., Vallée, J., and Robitaille, R. (2010). *In vivo* long-term synaptic plasticity of glial cells. *J. Physiol.* 588, 1039–1056. doi: 10.1113/jphysiol.2009. 178988
- Bellamy, T. C., and Ogden, D. (2005). Short-term plasticity of Bergmann glial cell extrasynaptic currents during parallel fiber stimulation in rat cerebellum. *Glia* 52, 325–335. doi: 10.1002/glia.20248
- Bellamy, T. C., and Ogden, D. (2006). Long-term depression of neuron to glial signalling in rat cerebellar cortex. *Eur. J. Neurosci.* 23, 581–586. doi: 10.1111/j. 1460-9568.2005.04588.x
- Benedetti, B., Matyash, V., and Kettenmann, H. (2011). Astrocytes control GABAergic inhibition of neurons in the mouse barrel cortex. J. Physiol. 589, 1159–1172. doi: 10.1113/jphysiol.2010.203224
- Bernardinelli, Y., Randall, J., Janett, E., Nikonenko, I., Konig, S., Jones, E. V., et al. (2014). Activity-dependent structural plasticity of perisynaptic astrocytic domains promotes excitatory synapse stability. *Curr. Biol.* 24, 1679–1688. doi: 10.1016/j.cub.2014.06.025
- Cheung, G., Chever, O., and Rouach, N. (2014). Connexons and pannexons: newcomers in neurophysiology. *Front. Cell. Neurosci.* 8:348. doi: 10.3389/fncel. 2014.00348
- Chever, O., Djukic, B., McCarthy, K. D., and Amzica, F. (2010). Implication of Kir4.1 channel in excess potassium clearance: an *in vivo* study on anesthetized glial-conditional Kir4.1 knock-out mice. *J. Neurosci.* 30, 15769–15777. doi: 10. 1523/JNEUROSCI.2078-10.2010
- Dallérac, G., Chever, O., and Rouach, N. (2013). How do astrocytes shape synaptic transmission? Insights from electrophysiology. *Front. Cell. Neurosci.* 7:159. doi: 10.3389/fncel.2013.00159
- D'Ambrosio, R., Gordon, D. S., and Winn, H. R. (2002). Differential role of KIR channel and Na(+)/K(+)-pump in the regulation of extracellular K(+) in rat hippocampus. J. Neurophysiol. 87, 87–102.
- Fiacco, T. A., Agulhon, C., Taves, S. R., Petravicz, J., Casper, K. B., Dong, X., et al. (2007). Selective stimulation of astrocyte calcium in situ does not affect neuronal excitatory synaptic activity. *Neuron* 54, 611–626. doi: 10.1016/j. neuron.2007.04.032
- Ge, W. P., and Duan, S. (2007). Persistent enhancement of neuron-glia signaling mediated by increased extracellular K⁺ accompanying long-term synaptic potentiation. J. Neurophysiol. 97, 2564–2569. doi: 10.1152/jn.00146.2006
- Ge, W. P., Yang, X. J., Zhang, Z., Wang, H. K., Shen, W., Deng, Q. D., et al. (2006). Long-term potentiation of neuron-glia synapses mediated by Ca²⁺-permeable AMPA receptors. *Science* 312, 1533–1537. doi: 10.1126/science.1124669
- Genoud, C., Quairiaux, C., Steiner, P., Hirling, H., Welker, E., and Knott, G. W. (2006). Plasticity of astrocytic coverage and glutamate transporter expression in adult mouse cortex. *PLoS Biol.* 4:e343. doi: 10.1371/journal.pbio.0040343
- Haj-Yasein, N. N., Jensen, V., Vindedal, G. F., Gundersen, G. A., Klungland, A., Ottersen, O. P., et al. (2011). Evidence that compromised K⁺ spatial buffering contributes to the epileptogenic effect of mutations in the human Kir4.1 gene (KCNJ10). *Glia* 59, 1635–1642. doi: 10.1002/glia.21205
- Henneberger, C., Papouin, T., Oliet, S. H., and Rusakov, D. A. (2010). Longterm potentiation depends on release of D-serine from astrocytes. *Nature* 463, 232–236. doi: 10.1038/nature08673
- Hirase, H., Qian, L., Bartho, P., and Buzsáki, G. (2004). Calcium dynamics of cortical astrocytic networks *in vivo*. *PLoS Biol*. 2:E96. doi: 10.1371/journal.pbio. 0020096
- Honsek, S. D., Walz, C., Kafitz, K. W., and Rose, C. R. (2012). Astrocyte calcium signals at Schaffer collateral to CA1 pyramidal cell synapses correlate with the number of activated synapses but not with synaptic strength. *Hippocampus* 22, 29–42. doi: 10.1002/hipo.20843
- Iino, M., Goto, K., Kakegawa, W., Okado, H., Sudo, M., Ishiuchi, S., et al. (2001). Glia-synapse interaction through Ca²⁺-permeable AMPA receptors in Bergmann glia. Science 292, 926–929. doi: 10.1126/science.1058827
- Khakh, B. S., and McCarthy, K. D. (2015). Astrocyte calcium signaling: from observations to functions and the challenges therein. *Cold Spring Harb. Perspect. Biol.* 7:a020404. doi: 10.1101/cshperspect.a020404

- Linden, D. J. (1997). Long-term potentiation of glial synaptic currents in cerebellar culture. Neuron 18, 983–994. doi: 10.1016/s0896-6273(00)80337-2
- Manita, S., Suzuki, T., Inoue, M., Kudo, Y., and Miyakawa, H. (2007). Pairedpulse ratio of synaptically induced transporter currents at hippocampal CA1 synapses is not related to release probability. *Brain Res.* 1154, 71–79. doi: 10. 1016/j.brainres.2007.03.089
- Navarrete, M., and Araque, A. (2008). Endocannabinoids mediate neuronastrocyte communication. *Neuron* 57, 883–893. doi: 10.1016/j.neuron.2008. 01.029
- Navarrete, M., Perea, G., Fernandez de Sevilla, D., Gómez-Gonzalo, M., Núñez, A., Martín, E. D., et al. (2012). Astrocytes mediate *in vivo* cholinergic-induced synaptic plasticity. *PLoS Biol.* 10:e1001259. doi: 10.1371/journal.pbio.1001259
- Nedergaard, M., and Verkhratsky, A. (2012). Artifact versus reality-how astrocytes contribute to synaptic events. *Glia* 60, 1013–1023. doi: 10.1002/glia.22288
- Oliet, S. H., and Bonfardin, V. D. (2010). Morphological plasticity of the rat supraoptic nucleus-cellular consequences. *Eur. J. Neurosci.* 32, 1989–1994. doi: 10.1111/j.1460-9568.2010.07514.x
- Oliet, S. H., Piet, R., and Poulain, D. A. (2001). Control of glutamate clearance and synaptic efficacy by glial coverage of neurons. *Science* 292, 923–926. doi: 10. 1126/science.1059162
- Panatier, A., Vallée, J., Haber, M., Murai, K. K., Lacaille, J. C., and Robitaille, R. (2011). Astrocytes are endogenous regulators of basal transmission at central synapses. *Cell* 146, 785–798. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2011.07.022
- Pannasch, U., Freche, D., Dallérac, G., Ghézali, G., Escartin, C., Ezan, P., et al. (2014). Connexin 30 sets synaptic strength by controlling astroglial synapse invasion. *Nat. Neurosci.* 17, 549–558. doi: 10.1038/nn.3662
- Pannasch, U., Sibille, J., and Rouach, N. (2012). Dual electrophysiological recordings of synaptically-evoked astroglial and neuronal responses in acute hippocampal slices. J. Vis. Exp. 69:e4418. doi: 10.3791/4418
- Pannasch, U., Vargová, L., Reingruber, J., Ezan, P., Holcman, D., Giaume, C., et al. (2011). Astroglial networks scale synaptic activity and plasticity. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U S A* 108, 8467–8472. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1016650108
- Pasti, L., Pozzan, T., and Carmignoto, G. (1995). Long-lasting changes of calcium oscillations in astrocytes. A new form of glutamate-mediated plasticity. J. Biol. Chem. 270, 15203–15210. doi: 10.1074/jbc.270.25.15203
- Pasti, L., Volterra, A., Pozzan, T., and Carmignoto, G. (1997). Intracellular calcium oscillations in astrocytes: a highly plastic, bidirectional form of communication between neurons and astrocytes *in situ. J. Neurosci.* 17, 7817–7830.
- Perea, G., and Araque, A. (2005). Properties of synaptically evoked astrocyte calcium signal reveal synaptic information processing by astrocytes. *J. Neurosci.* 25, 2192–2203. doi: 10.1523/jneurosci.3965-04.2005
- Perea, G., Navarrete, M., and Araque, A. (2009). Tripartite synapses: astrocytes process and control synaptic information. *Trends Neurosci.* 32, 421–431. doi: 10.1016/j.tins.2009.05.001
- Perez-Alvarez, A., Navarrete, M., Covelo, A., Martin, E. D., and Araque, A. (2014). Structural and functional plasticity of astrocyte processes and dendritic spine interactions. *J. Neurosci.* 34, 12738–12744. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.2401-14.2014
- Petravicz, J., Fiacco, T. A., and McCarthy, K. D. (2008). Loss of IP3 receptordependent Ca²⁺ increases in hippocampal astrocytes does not affect baseline CA1 pyramidal neuron synaptic activity. *J. Neurosci.* 28, 4967–4973. doi: 10. 1523/JNEUROSCI.5572-07.2008
- Pirttimaki, T. M., Hall, S. D., and Parri, H. R. (2011). Sustained neuronal activity generated by glial plasticity. J. Neurosci. 31, 7637–7647. doi: 10. 1523/JNEUROSCI.5783-10.2011
- Pirttimaki, T. M., and Parri, H. R. (2013). Astrocyte plasticity: implications for synaptic and neuronal activity. *Neuroscientist* 19, 604–615. doi: 10. 1177/1073858413504999
- Pita-Almenar, J. D., Collado, M. S., Colbert, C. M., and Eskin, A. (2006). Different mechanisms exist for the plasticity of glutamate reuptake during early longterm potentiation (LTP) and late LTP. J. Neurosci. 26, 10461–10471. doi: 10. 1523/jneurosci.2579-06.2006
- Rouach, N., Koulakoff, A., Abudara, V., Willecke, K., and Giaume, C. (2008). Astroglial metabolic networks sustain hippocampal synaptic transmission. *Science* 322, 1551–1555. doi: 10.1126/science.1164022
- Rusakov, D. A., Zheng, K., and Henneberger, C. (2011). Astrocytes as regulators of synaptic function: a quest for the Ca²⁺ master key. *Neuroscientist* 17, 513–523. doi: 10.1177/1073858410387304

- Saab, A. S., Neumeyer, A., Jahn, H. M., Cupido, A., Šimek, A. A., Boele, H. J., et al. (2012). Bergmann glial AMPA receptors are required for fine motor coordination. *Science* 337, 749–753. doi: 10.1126/science.1221140
- Schindelin, J., Arganda-Carreras, I., Frise, E., Kaynig, V., Longair, M., Pietzsch, T., et al. (2012). Fiji: an open-source platform for biological-image analysis. *Nat. Methods* 9, 676–682. doi: 10.1038/nmeth.2019
- Schipke, C. G., Haas, B., and Kettenmann, H. (2008). Astrocytes discriminate and selectively respond to the activity of a subpopulation of neurons within the barrel cortex. *Cereb. Cortex* 18, 2450–2459. doi: 10.1093/cercor/ bhn009
- Serrano, A., Haddjeri, N., Lacaille, J. C., and Robitaille, R. (2006). GABAergic network activation of glial cells underlies hippocampal heterosynaptic depression. J. Neurosci. 26, 5370–5382. doi: 10.1523/jneurosci.5255-05. 2006
- Sibille, J., Pannasch, U., and Rouach, N. (2014). Astroglial potassium clearance contributes to short-term plasticity of synaptically evoked currents at the tripartite synapse. J. Physiol. 592, 87–102. doi: 10.1113/jphysiol.2013.26 1735
- Sun, W., McConnell, E., Pare, J. F., Xu, Q., Chen, M., Peng, W., et al. (2013). Glutamate-dependent neuroglial calcium signaling differs between young and adult brain. *Science* 339, 197–200. doi: 10.1126/science.1226740
- Tanaka, M., Shih, P. Y., Gomi, H., Yoshida, T., Nakai, J., Ando, R., et al. (2013). Astrocytic Ca²⁺ signals are required for the functional integrity of tripartite synapses. *Mol. Brain* 6:6. doi: 10.1186/1756-6606-6-6

- Verkhratsky, A., Reyes, R. C., and Parpura, V. (2014). TRP channels coordinate ion signalling in astroglia. *Rev. Physiol. Biochem. Pharmacol.* 166, 1–22. doi: 10. 1007/112_2013_15
- Verkhratsky, A., Rodríguez, J. J., and Parpura, V. (2012). Calcium signalling in astroglia. Mol. Cell. Endocrinol 353, 45–56. doi: 10.1016/j.mce.2011.08.039
- Volterra, A., Liaudet, N., and Savtchouk, I. (2014). Astrocyte Ca²⁺ signalling: an unexpected complexity. *Nat. Rev. Neurosci.* 15, 327–335. doi: 10.1038/nrn3725
- Wang, F., Smith, N. A., Xu, Q., Fujita, T., Baba, A., Matsuda, T., et al. (2012). Astrocytes modulate neural network activity by Ca(2)+-dependent uptake of extracellular K⁺. Sci. Signal. 5:ra26. doi: 10.1126/scisignal.2002334
- Zhang, X., Zhang, J., and Chen, C. (2009). Long-term potentiation at hippocampal perforant path-dentate astrocyte synapses. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.* 383, 326–330. doi: 10.1016/j.bbrc.2009.04.005

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2015 Sibille, Zapata, Teillon and Rouach. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution and reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.



Observation and manipulation of glial cell function by virtue of sufficient probe expression

Akiyo Natsubori, Norio Takata and Kenji F. Tanaka*

Department of Neuropsychiatry, School of Medicine, Keio University, Tokyo, Japan

The development of gene-encoded indicators and actuators to observe and manipulate cellular functions is being advanced and investigated. Expressing these probe molecules in glial cells is expected to enable observation and manipulation of glial cell activity, leading to elucidate the behaviors and causal roles of glial cells. The first step toward understanding glial cell functions is to express the probes in sufficient amounts, and the Knockin-mediated ENhanced Gene Expression (KENGE)-tet system provides a strategy for achieving this. In the present article, three examples of KENGE-tet system application are reviewed: depolarization of oligodendrocytes, intracellular acidification of astrocytes, and observation of intracellular calcium levels in the fine processes of astrocytes.

Keywords: knockin-mediated enhanced gene expression, tet system, tTA, tetO, optogenetic actuator, calcium indicator, genetically modified mice

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Vladimir Parpura, University of Alabama at Birmigham, USA

Reviewed by:

Vladimir Grubišic, University of Alabama at Birmigham, USA Shinghua Ding, University of Missouri, USA

*Correspondence:

Kenji F. Tanaka, Department of Neuropsychiatry, School of Medicine, Keio University, 35 Shinanomachi, Shinjuku, Tokyo 160-8582, Japan kftanaka@kejo.jo

> **Received:** 13 March 2015 **Accepted:** 21 April 2015 **Published:** 08 May 2015

Citation:

Natsubori A, Takata N and Tanaka KF (2015) Observation and manipulation of glial cell function by virtue of sufficient probe expression. Front. Cell. Neurosci. 9:176. doi: 10.3389/fncel.2015.00176

Expressing Functional Genes to Observe and Manipulate Glial Cells

To observe and manipulate glial cell functions, probes needed for selective observation and manipulation of cells should be expressed in advance. These functional probes include the intracellular calcium sensor molecules such as GCaMP (Nakai et al., 2001) for observation, and light-sensitive membrane potential converting molecules, such as channelrhodopsin for depolarization (Nagel et al., 2003) and halorhodopsin (HaloR; Zhang et al., 2007) or archaerhodopsin (Arch)/ArchT (Chow et al., 2010; Han et al., 2011) for hyperpolarization. Mouse Genetics can be used for glial cell-specific expression of these molecules.

Glial cells are present in every brain region and show complex interactions with neurons. Therefore, when observing or manipulating glial cell functions, glial cell-specific expression of functional molecules is vital. These functional molecules should be fully expressed in transfected glial cells in a cell type-specific manner to exert their activities. In general, however, it is not easy to simultaneously achieve both a high level and a cell type-specific expression. The worst-case scenario would be a failure to express these molecules at a level sufficient to exert their functions, as a result of too much focus placed on the cell type specifically in astrocytes, but failed to trigger photocurrent because of low expression. To continue with glial cell research, cell type-specific expression of functional probes need to be pursued, while simultaneously avoiding such undesirable scenarios.

To accomplish cell type-specific expression of functional probes in the brain, many researchers have employed local viral injections as a means to introduce those genes. However, viral injection via a needle causes cerebral parenchyma injury and will induce substantial alterations in the nature of glial cells. Injury-induced augmentation of glial cell activity and subsequent cross-interactions between glia and neurons are inevitable to some degree. Therefore, any research projects that cannot disregard the effects of external injury need alternative methods. If mouse genetics were adapted to this purpose, functional molecules could be expressed without any problems caused by external injuries.

Making History of KENGE-tet

What are the possibilities for reasonable expression of functional probes specifically in glial cells using mouse genetics? We have tried glial cell-specific expression of ChR2 using transgenic mouse technology. We attempted not only to achieve glial cellspecific expression of ChR2, but also to fulfill high enough expression to function, in this case to induce photocurrent.

ChR2 conductance was reported to be 50-250 fS (Lin et al., 2009), indicating a smaller conductance compared to those of most ionic channels reported until then. This fact suggested that a "more than a moderate level of expression" of ChR2 would be needed to control the membrane potential. Although this information had been recognized early, scientists did not know how much ChR2 should be expressed on the cell membrane to successfully control the membrane potential. Higher level of expression was considered to be better than less expression. However, aggregation of ChR2 molecules was a concern for having too much expression. Scientists were confused by the variety of information. Furthermore, it was suggested that ChR2 molecules stayed in the endoplasmic reticulum and did not reach the cell membrane causing failure of detection of photocurrents. To evaluate this possibility, expression of a ChR2green fluorescent protein (GFP; or mCherry) fusion protein was attempted. This made the already difficult situation more difficult. Expression of a ChR2-GFP (or mCherry) fusion protein was a challenging subject when compared to expression of ChR2 molecules alone.

The tet system (tetracycline-controllable gene expression system) is a gene expression system (Gossen and Bujard, 1992) allowing enhanced expression of an exogenous gene in a cell type-specific manner. The tet system is a bipartite system (**Figure 1**). The first mouse line expresses the gene encoding tetracycline transactivator (tTA) protein under the control of cell-type specific promoter. In the second mouse line, ChR2 complementary DNA (cDNA) is connected downstream of the tet operator (tetO) promoter, which is activated only by the presence of tTA protein. Cell-type specific expression of ChR2 can be expected only in tTA::tetO double transgenic mice. If any undesirable events, such as toxicity, are caused by the overexpression, the amount of expression can be lowered using doxycycline, a tetracycline analog.

We first generated tetO-ChR2-mCherry plasmid transgenic lines (actually tetO-ChR2-mCherry, HaloR-GFP lines) and established 6 lines (Chuhma et al., 2011). When we crossed them with neuronal tTA line (*Camk2a*-tTA, Jax stock number 003010), we succeeded in functional ChR2-mCherry expression with all combination, indicating that tet system worked. However, when we crossed them with astrocytic tTA line (*Mlc1*-tTA; Tanaka et al., 2010), Riken BioResource Center (BRC) number 05450), none of combination yielded a red fluorescence in astrocytes. We observed a few HaloR-GFP expressing Bergmann glia in line 6



tTA binding to the tetO promoter triggers the transcription, which results in the cell-type specific expression of ChR2. TetO is the cassette containing the tetracycline operon site (multiple closed squares) and CMV minimal promoter (circle P). ChR2: channelrhodopsin 2, tetO: tet operator, tet system: tetracycline-controllable gene expression system, tTA: tetracycline transactivator.

(Tanaka et al., 2012, Jax stock number 017906), which was the best line among them. The chromosomal positional effect on the tetO transgene by the random insertion, the copy number of tetO transgene, or the DNA methylation of tetO promoter may account for the cell-type dependent difference of gene induction.

We then attempted to improve the tet system. What was the reason why the tetO promoter failed to induce ChR2 expression despite the fact that expression of tTA was obtained? For this question, we got ideas from our own experience (Tanaka et al., 2010). In past experiments, we established tetO mice by microinjection of transgenic plasmid DNA into the fertilized eggs, resulting in poor tTA-mediated gene induction. However, we found that the efficiency of tTA-mediated gene induction was improved dramatically when tetO mice were generated by homologous recombination technique through embryonic stem cells. From this, we generated the tetO-ChR2 mouse not by transgenic but by knocking-in approach, called the Knockinmediated ENhanced Gene Expression (KENGE)-tet (Tanaka et al., 2012). The house-keeping β -actin gene locus was used as the knock-in site and the tetO-ChR2 cassette was inserted (Figure 2). This strategy was a major success and tremendously high levels of ChR2 expression was achieved compared to the previous tetO lines. Importantly, the levels of ChR2 in astrocytes, oligodendrocytes, and microglia were high enough to trigger



photocurrents with *Mlc1*-tTA, *Plp1*-tTA (Inamura et al., 2012, Riken BRC number 05446), and *Aif1*-tTA (also known as *Iba1*tTA; Tanaka et al., 2012, Riken BRC number 05769) lines, respectively.

KENGE-tet is not limited in the usage of β -actin gene locus. The usage of euchromatic locus, such as collagen type 1 alpha 1 gene (*Col1a1*) locus (Beard et al., 2006; Egli et al., 2007; Carey et al., 2010; Premsrirut et al., 2011) or TIGRE (tightly regulated) locus (Zeng et al., 2008; Madisen et al., 2015) shares the same idea of KENGE-tet and yields high levels of tTA-mediated gene expression.

Expression of Functional Probes using Genetically Modified Mice

In addition to the KENGE-tet system, an improved Cre-loxP system can be used to satisfy the requirements of both a high level and cell type-specific expression. The combination of the euchromatic locus with the stronger promoter greatly enhanced the expression levels of functional probes. The Ai (Allen Institute) mouse (Madisen et al., 2010, 2012), with a CAG promoter inserted in the ROSA26 locus, and the PC (*Polr2a*-CAG) mouse (Gee et al., 2014), with a CAG promoter inserted in the polymerase (RNA) II (DNA directed) polypeptide A (*Polr2a*) gene locus, have been developed as loxP lines.

Both the tet and Cre-loxP systems use double-transgenic mice obtained by mating two mouse lines. One mouse line is aimed at ensuring a cell type-specific expression (Cre or tTA mice), and the other to obtain a high expression level (ROSA-CAG/Polra2-CAG or KENGE-tet mice). LoxP or tetO line has been further improved, providing a wider repertoire of functional probes to be expressed.

Table 1 shows the repertoire of mouse lines for the expression of functional molecules in a glial cell-specific manner (tTA mice), and those for the expression of sufficient amounts of functional molecules (KENGE-tet mice). tTA and tetO mice can be mated in any combination. Although not all the theoretically obtainable mouse lines have been tested, we have confirmed that sufficient expression was obtained for photocurrent induction in astrocyte-specifically expressed ChR2 and ArchT, oligodendrocyte-specifically expressed ChR2 and ArchT, and microglia-specifically expressed ChR2. Yellow cameleon nano50 (YC; Horikawa et al., 2010) was also expressed in an astrocyte-specific manner to a level sufficient for the observation of intracellular calcium level *in vivo*. Most of these mouse lines can be obtained from Riken BioResource Center.¹ Ai mice are available from the Jackson Laboratory.²

Manipulation and Observation of Glial Cells Avoiding Injury

Using genetically modified mice, functional molecules can be expressed specifically in glial cells without injury. However, it is meaningless if the brain injury occurs in the process of observation and manipulation (Xu et al., 2007). What are the possibilities of carrying out observations and manipulations without any injuries? It was demonstrated that mice expressing ChR2(C128S) in astrocytes responded to blue light illumination over the skull (Tanaka et al., 2012), since ChR2(C128S) variant had higher photosensitivity (Berndt et al., 2009). These data indicated that cortical astrocytes could be manipulated without an insertion of optical fiber, but the optic fiber insertion was still required when astrocytes in the deep brain were targeted.

To visualize the effects of optogenetic manipulation, the laser speckle method can be used to observe blood stream changes through the cranial bone (Zakharov et al., 2009), and functional magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) can be used to observe the blood oxygenation level-dependent (BOLD) signal changes from the intact brain (Ogawa et al., 1990). Intracellular calcium concentrations in glial cells *in vivo* can be observed using two-photon microscopy (Hirase et al., 2004; Wang et al., 2006; Schummers et al., 2008; Takata et al., 2011; Nimmerjahn and Bergles, 2015), in which brain parenchyma injuries can be minimized. The process of combining these manipulation and observation methods does not cause injuries to the brain parenchyma, avoiding unwanted glial cell activation.

Glial cells respond to injuries. If you compare this response to a "scream," and responses during normal interactions between glia and neurons to a "whisper," then the most intriguing scientific phenomenon for glia researchers is the "whisper" being washed out by the "scream". To date, there is no definitive evidence indicating responses to injury are extensive and normal responses are imperceptible. However, glia researchers need to implant functional molecules into glial cells like a "spy" to extract information and to alert them to any tiny response in glial cells. We believe that only through these types of efforts we can understand the glial cell function.

Functional Analysis of Glial Cells after Optogenetic Manipulation

What are the purposes of ChR2-mediated manipulation in glial cells? The purposes of optogenetic manipulation

¹http://mus.brc.riken.jp/en/

²http://jaxmice.jax.org/list/ra2600.html

TABLE 1 | The repertories of glia-specific tTA lines and KENGE-tetO lines.

		Glial tTA lines		
Target cell	Line name	Ref	RIKEN BRCstock number	Crossing with KENGE-tet mouse
Astrocyte	MIc1-tTA	Tanaka et al. (2010)	05450	Okada et al. (2012), Sasaki et al. (2012), Tanaka et al. (2012), and Beppu et al. (2014)
	Slc1a2-tTA (GLT1-tTA)	Tanaka et al. (2013)	-	-
	Gfap-tTA	Pascual et al. (2005)	-	-
Oligodendrocyte	Plp1-tTA	Inamura et al. (2012)	05446	Inamura et al. (2012), Tanaka et al. (2012), and Yamazaki et al. (2014)
Oligodendrocyteprogenitor cell	Sox10-rtTA	Ludwig et al. (2004)	-	no induction with tetO-ChR2 (C128S) (Inamura et al., 2012)
Microglia	Aif1-tTA (Iba1-tTA)	Tanaka et al. (2012)	05769	Tanaka et al. (2012)
		KENGE-tetO lines		
Probe	Line name	Ref	RIKEN BRC stock number	
ChR2 (C128S)	tetO-ChR2 (C128S)	Tanaka et al. (2012)	05454	
ChR2 (E123T/T159C)	tetO-ChR2 (E123T/T159C)	Tsunematsu et al. (2014)	05843	
ArchT	tetO-ArchT	Tsunematsu et al. (2013)	05842	
YC nano50	tetO-YC	Kanemaru et al. (2014)	-	

(-): not available.tTA: tetracycline transactivator, KENGE: Knockin-mediated ENhanced Gene Expression, GLT-1: glial glutamate transporter-1, Iba1: Ionized calciumbinding adapter molecule 1, ChR2: channelrhodopsin 2, ArchT: archaerhodopsin from Halorubrum strain TP009, YC: Yellow cameleon nano50.

are clear in the case of neurons. In neurons, an inward current generated by light opens voltage-dependent sodium channels at the axon initial segment and induces an action potential. Therefore, ChR2 expressing neurons can generate action potentials on demand. In glial cells, however, action potentials cannot be generated by depolarization. Apart from action potential generation, expected approaches to glial cells using ChR2 are indicated in the following sections:

Depolarization of Oligodendrocytes by ChR2

Hippocampal slices are often used in experiments for induction of long-term potentiation (LTP) of synaptic transmission. When high-frequency stimulation was delivered to the slice to induce LTP, the depolarization of oligodendrocytes at about 15-20 mV was observed (Yamazaki et al., 2007). The effects of oligodendrocytic depolarization on neuronal activity were investigated from the viewpoint of the oligodendrocyteneuron interaction. To directly demonstrate the physiological implication of oligodendrocytic depolarization, Yamazaki et al. depolarized a single oligodendrocyte at the alveus of the hippocampus using a glass electrode (Yamazaki et al., 2007). The response was recorded from a single CA1 pyramidal neuron around which clamped-oligodendrocyte wrapped. An action potential was generated by electrostimulation of the distal axon, which traveled retrogradely, and was recorded in the soma of CA1 neuron. The clamped-oligodendrocyte was located between the sites of stimulus and observation. The latency between electrostimulation of the distal axon and detection of the action potential reflects the axonal conduction velocity. Normally the latency, or conduction velocity, is constant, but oligodendrocytic depolarization decreased the latency and increased the conduction velocity of action potentials. These findings suggested that oligodendrocytes regulated the neuronal conduction velocity through the depolarization of oligodendrocytes themselves.

Multiple oligodendrocytes wrap the single axon, therefore, the single axonal activity should affect multiple oligodendrocytes. However, it is technically difficult to mimic such situation by using multiple glass electrodes. To achieve this, Yamazaki et al. constructed an experimental system for simultaneous multiple oligodendrocytic depolarizations by optogenetical approach (Yamazaki et al., 2014). That system using Plp1tTA::tetO-ChR2(C128S) double transgenic animals enabled -20 mV oligodencrocytic depolarization without high-frequency electrical stimulation. They investigated if multi-cellular optogenetic manipulation could induce an increase in the conduction velocity similar to single-cellular glass electrodemediated depolarization. The results showed a transient (~10 min) but increased conduction velocity. The disappearance of this effect coincided with the termination of oligodendrocytic depolarization.

Yamazaki et al. (2007) also investigated axon excitability using the extracellular recordings. In these recordings, axon excitability was measured as a compound action potential (CAP). Immediately after the illumination of oligodendrocytes, CAPs significantly increased and this effect continued for 3 h. These results suggested either an increased number of excited axons, or increased action potentials from each axon. Interestingly, transient oligodendrocytic depolarization resulted in the plastic change of the nerve conduction for several hours. The oligodendrocytic depolarization by an optogenetic approach recapitulated the response to highfrequent neuronal firing and these data demonstrated that the oligodendrocytic reaction resulted in short- and long-term plasticity of axons.

Astrocytic Intracellular pH Control by Opsins

Since astrocytes have small membrane resistance, their membrane potential changes very little, even when a photocurrent is delivered. Despite this fact, it was demonstrated that photostimulation of ChR2 expressing astrocytes resulted in the excitation of adjacent neurons (Okada et al., 2012). Using ChR2 expressing Bergmann glial cells of the cerebellum, Sasaki et al. revealed that (1) glutamate was released from Bergmann glia during ChR2 photoactivation; and (2) glutamate was released through 4, 4'-Diisothiocyanostilbene-2, 2'-disulfonic acid (DIDS)-sensitive anion channels (Sasaki et al., 2012). However, the trigger of glutamate release after ChR2 activation remained unclear.

Beppu et al. (2014) focused on the fact that ChR2 shows greater permeability for H⁺ compared to Na⁺ (Nagel et al., 2003). They suspected that glutamate was released secondary to intracellular acidification induced by H⁺ influx into Bergmann glial cells through ChR2 (Beppu et al., 2014). As expected, they demonstrated that ChR2 opening induced the intracellular acidification and triggered the release of glutamate. Furthermore, Beppu et al. (2014) found the intracellular acidification of Bergmann glial cells during the cerebral ischemia. They hypothesized that the intracellular acidification of Bergmann glial cells triggered glutamate release, which exacerbated neuronal damage by ischemia. They carried out a series of experiments in an attempt to counteract this pathologic condition. They showed that the illumination on ArchT-expressing Bergmann glial cells induced H⁺ efflux. Furthermore, the illumination on these cells mitigated intracellular acidification of Bergmann glial cells during the ischemia and suppressed glutamate release. Subsequently, neuronal damage was reduced.

These experiments suggested that ChR2 and ArchT could be used as tools to manipulate intracellular pH, and that intracellular acidification of astrocytes induced glutamate release.

References

- Beard, C., Hochedlinger, K., Plath, K., Wutz, A., and Jaenisch, R. (2006). Efficient method to generate single-copy transgenic mice by site-specific integration in embryonic stem cells. *Genesis* 44, 23–28. doi: 10.1002/gene. 20180
- Beppu, K., Sasaki, T., Tanaka, K. F., Yamanaka, A., Fukazawa, Y., Shigemoto, R., et al. (2014). Optogenetic countering of glial acidosis suppresses glial glutamate release and ischemic brain damage. *Neuron* 81, 314–320. doi: 10.1016/j.neuron. 2013.11.011
- Berndt, A., Yizhar, O., Gunaydin, L. A., Hegemann, P., and Deisseroth, K. (2009). Bi-stable neural state switches. Nat. Neurosci. 12, 229–234. doi: 10.1038/nn. 2247

Analysis of Glial Cell Intracellular Calcium Level

In studies of glial cells, especially astrocytes, the fluctuation of the intracellular calcium level has been analyzed to monitor the cellular response to the external stimulus (Wang et al., 2006; Schummers et al., 2008). Studies have been focused on the temporal relationships between intracellular calcium responses and other physiological or pathological events, such as changes in blood flow (Takano et al., 2006) or synaptic activity (Panatier et al., 2011; Min and Nevian, 2012), and if calcium transients occur before or after such events. It was found that the timing of calcium transient in the soma of astrocytes differed from that in their fine processes (Shigetomi et al., 2010; Otsu et al., 2015). These observations enhanced opportunities for *in vivo* research of calcium transients in astrocyte fine processes, and for re-investigation of the temporal relationships between those changes and other events (Volterra et al., 2014).

An essential requirement to visualize calcium transients in astrocytic fine processes is the expression of sufficient amounts of calcium indicators. To satisfy this requirement, Yellow Cameleon nano50, a ratiometric calcium indicator, was expressed sufficiently and specifically in astrocytes using the KENGE-tet system. Calcium indicator amount was high enough to monitor astrocytic calcium dynamics in vivo using two-photon microscopy (Kanemaru et al., 2014). The results demonstrated calcium transients in resting state astrocytes under anesthesia and that most (80%) transients appeared in the fine processes. The half-life of calcium transients was about 40 s. In response to sensory stimulation, intracellular calcium level increased in both processes and soma. Meticulous observation revealed that the calcium transient initially occurred at the distal end of fine processes and spread toward the soma. This suggested that astrocytes detected extracellular environmental changes, such as neural activity, via fine processes.

Conclusion

The continuous improvement of observation and manipulation probes in glial cell research is of great importance. One of the important points is the expression of sufficient amounts of these probes specifically in glial cells. The KENGE-tet system is a useful tool for this purpose.

- Carey, B. W., Markoulaki, S., Beard, C., Hanna, J., and Jaenisch, R. (2010). Singlegene transgenic mouse strains for reprogramming adult somatic cells. *Nat. Methods* 7, 56–59. doi: 10.1038/nmeth.1410
- Chow, B. Y., Han, X., Dobry, A. S., Qian, X., Chuong, A. S., Li, M., et al. (2010). High-performance genetically targetable optical neural silencing by light-driven proton pumps. *Nature* 463, 98–102. doi: 10.1038/nature 08652
- Chuhma, N., Tanaka, K. F., Hen, R., and Rayport, S. (2011). Functional connectome of the striatal medium spiny neuron. J. Neurosci. 31, 1183–1192. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.3833-10.2011
- Egli, D., Rosains, J., Birkhoff, G., and Eggan, K. (2007). Developmental reprogramming after chromosome transfer into mitotic mouse zygotes. *Nature* 447, 679–685. doi: 10.1038/nature05879

- Gee, J. M., Smith, N. A., Fernandez, F. R., Economo, M. N., Brunert, D., Rothermel, M., et al. (2014). Imaging activity in neurons and glia with a Polr2a-based and cre-dependent GCaMP5G-IRES-tdTomato reporter mouse. *Neuron* 83, 1058–1072. doi: 10.1016/j.neuron.2014.07.024
- Gossen, M., and Bujard, H. (1992). Tight control of gene expression in mammalian cells by tetracycline-responsive promoters. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U S A* 89, 5547–5551. doi: 10.1073/pnas.89.12.5547
- Han, X., Chow, B. Y., Zhou, H., Klapoetke, N. C., Chuong, A., Rajimehr, R., et al. (2011). A high-light sensitivity optical neural silencer: development and application to optogenetic control of non-human primate cortex. *Front. Syst. Neurosci.* 5:18. doi: 10.3389/fnsys.2011.00018
- Hirase, H., Qian, L., Barthó, P., and Buzsáki, G. (2004). Calcium dynamics of cortical astrocytic networks *in vivo*. *PLoS Biol*. 2:E96. doi: 10.1371/journal.pbio. 0020096
- Horikawa, K., Yamada, Y., Matsuda, T., Kobayashi, K., Hashimoto, M., Matsu-ura, T., et al. (2010). Spontaneous network activity visualized by ultrasensitive Ca(2+) indicators, yellow Cameleon-Nano. *Nat. Methods* 7, 729–732. doi: 10. 1038/nmeth.1488
- Inamura, N., Sugio, S., Macklin, W. B., Tomita, K., Tanaka, K. F., and Ikenaka, K. (2012). Gene induction in mature oligodendrocytes with a PLP-tTA mouse line. *Genesis* 50, 424–428. doi: 10.1002/dvg.20808
- Kanemaru, K., Sekiya, H., Xu, M., Satoh, K., Kitajima, N., Yoshida, K., et al. (2014). *In vivo* visualization of subtle, transient and local activity of astrocytes using an ultrasensitive Ca(2+) indicator. *Cell Rep.* 8, 311–318. doi: 10.1016/j.celrep.2014. 05.056
- Lin, J. Y., Lin, M. Z., Steinbach, P., and Tsien, R. Y. (2009). Characterization of engineered channelrhodopsin variants with improved properties and kinetics. *Biophys. J.* 96, 1803–1814. doi: 10.1016/j.bpj.2008.11.034
- Ludwig, A., Schlierf, B., Schardt, A., Nave, K. A., and Wegner, M. (2004). Sox10-rtTA mouse line for tetracycline-inducible expression of transgenes in neural crest cells and oligodendrocytes. *Genesis* 40, 171–175. doi: 10.1002/gene. 20083
- Madisen, L., Garner, A. R., Shimaoka, D., Chuong, A. S., Klapoetke, N. C., Li, L., et al. (2015). Transgenic mice for intersectional targeting of neural sensors and effectors with high specificity and performance. *Neuron* 85, 942–958. doi: 10. 1016/j.neuron.2015.02.022
- Madisen, L., Mao, T., Koch, H., Zhuo, J. M., Berenyi, A., Fujisawa, S., et al. (2012). A toolbox of Cre-dependent optogenetic transgenic mice for light-induced activation and silencing. *Nat. Neurosci.* 15, 793–802. doi: 10.1038/nn.3078
- Madisen, L., Zwingman, T. A., Sunkin, S. M., Oh, S. W., Zariwala, H. A., Gu, H., et al. (2010). A robust and high-throughput Cre reporting and characterization system for the whole mouse brain. *Nat. Neurosci.* 13, 133–140. doi: 10.1038/nn. 2467
- Min, R., and Nevian, T. (2012). Astrocyte signaling controls spike timingdependent depression at neocortical synapses. *Nat. Neurosci.* 15, 746–753. doi: 10.1038/nn.3075
- Nagel, G., Szellas, T., Huhn, W., Kateriya, S., Adeishvili, N., Berthold, P., et al. (2003). Channelrhodopsin-2, a directly light-gated cation-selective membrane channel. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U S A* 100, 13940–13945. doi: 10.1073/pnas. 1936192100
- Nakai, J., Ohkura, M., and Imoto, K. (2001). A high signal-to-noise Ca(2+) probe composed of a single green fluorescent protein. *Nat. Biotechnol.* 19, 137–141. doi: 10.1038/84397
- Nimmerjahn, A., and Bergles, D. E. (2015). Large-scale recording of astrocyte activity. *Curr. Opin. Neurobiol.* 32C, 95–106. doi: 10.1016/j.conb.2015. 01.015
- Ogawa, S., Lee, T. M., Kay, A. R., and Tank, D. W. (1990). Brain magnetic resonance imaging with contrast dependent on blood oxygenation. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U S A* 87, 9868–9872. doi: 10.1073/pnas.87.24.9868
- Okada, Y., Sasaki, T., Oku, Y., Takahashi, N., Seki, M., Ujita, S., et al. (2012). Preinspiratory calcium rise in putative pre-Botzinger complex astrocytes. *J. Physiol.* 590, 4933–4944. doi: 10.1113/jphysiol.2012.231464
- Otsu, Y., Couchman, K., Lyons, D. G., Collot, M., Agarwal, A., Mallet, J. M., et al. (2015). Calcium dynamics in astrocyte processes during neurovascular coupling. *Nat. Neurosci.* 18, 210–218. doi: 10.1038/nn.3906
- Panatier, A., Vallée, J., Haber, M., Murai, K. K., Lacaille, J. C., and Robitaille, R. (2011). Astrocytes are endogenous regulators of basal transmission at central synapses. *Cell* 146, 785–798. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2011.07.022

- Pascual, O., Casper, K. B., Kubera, C., Zhang, J., Revilla-Sanchez, R., Sul, J. Y., et al. (2005). Astrocytic purinergic signaling coordinates synaptic networks. *Science* 310, 113–116. doi: 10.1126/science.1116916
- Premsrirut, P. K., Dow, L. E., Kim, S. Y., Camiolo, M., Malone, C. D., Miething, C., et al. (2011). A rapid and scalable system for studying gene function in mice using conditional RNA interference. *Cell* 145, 145–158. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2011. 03.012
- Sasaki, T., Beppu, K., Tanaka, K. F., Fukazawa, Y., Shigemoto, R., and Matsui, K. (2012). Application of an optogenetic byway for perturbing neuronal activity via glial photostimulation. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U S A* 109, 20720–20725. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1213458109
- Schummers, J., Yu, H., and Sur, M. (2008). Tuned responses of astrocytes and their influence on hemodynamic signals in the visual cortex. *Science* 320, 1638–1643. doi: 10.1126/science.1156120
- Shigetomi, E., Kracun, S., Sofroniew, M. V., and Khakh, B. S. (2010). A genetically targeted optical sensor to monitor calcium signals in astrocyte processes. *Nat. Neurosci.* 13, 759–766. doi: 10.1038/nn.2557
- Takano, T., Tian, G. F., Peng, W., Lou, N., Libionka, W., Han, X., et al. (2006). Astrocyte-mediated control of cerebral blood flow. *Nat. Neurosci.* 9, 260–267. doi: 10.1038/nn1623
- Takata, N., Mishima, T., Hisatsune, C., Nagai, T., Ebisui, E., Mikoshiba, K., et al. (2011). Astrocyte calcium signaling transforms cholinergic modulation to cortical plasticity *in vivo. J. Neurosci.* 31, 18155–18165. doi: 10. 1523/JNEUROSCI.5289-11.2011
- Tanaka, K. F., Ahmari, S. E., Leonardo, E. D., Richardson-Jones, J. W., Budreck, E. C., Scheiffele, P., et al. (2010). Flexible accelerated STOP Tetracycline Operator-knockin (FAST): a versatile and efficient new gene modulating system. *Biol. Psychiatry* 67, 770–773. doi: 10.1016/j.biopsych.2009. 12.020
- Tanaka, K. F., Matsui, K., Sasaki, T., Sano, H., Sugio, S., Fan, K., et al. (2012). Expanding the repertoire of optogenetically targeted cells with an enhanced gene expression system. *Cell Rep.* 2, 397–406. doi: 10.1016/j.celrep.2012. 06.011
- Tanaka, M., Shih, P. Y., Gomi, H., Yoshida, T., Nakai, J., Ando, R., et al. (2013). Astrocytic Ca2+ signals are required for the functional integrity of tripartite synapses. *Mol. Brain* 6:6. doi: 10.1186/1756-6606-6-6
- Tsunematsu, T., Tabuchi, S., Tanaka, K. F., Boyden, E. S., Tominaga, M., and Yamanaka, A. (2013). Long-lasting silencing of orexin/hypocretin neurons using archaerhodopsin induces slow-wave sleep in mice. *Behav. Brain Res.* 255, 64–74. doi: 10.1016/j.bbr.2013.05.021
- Tsunematsu, T., Ueno, T., Tabuchi, S., Inutsuka, A., Tanaka, K. F., Hasuwa, H., et al. (2014). Optogenetic manipulation of activity and temporally controlled cell-specific ablation reveal a role for MCH neurons in sleep/wake regulation. J. Neurosci. 34, 6896–6909. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.5344-13. 2014
- Volterra, A., Liaudet, N., and Savtchouk, I. (2014). Astrocyte Ca(2)(+) signalling: an unexpected complexity. *Nat. Rev. Neurosci.* 15, 327–335. doi: 10. 1038/nrn3725
- Wang, X., Lou, N., Xu, Q., Tian, G. F., Peng, W. G., Han, X., et al. (2006). Astrocytic Ca2+ signaling evoked by sensory stimulation *in vivo. Nat. Neurosci.* 9, 816–823. doi: 10.1038/nn1703
- Xu, H. T., Pan, F., Yang, G., and Gan, W. B. (2007). Choice of cranial window type for *in vivo* imaging affects dendritic spine turnover in the cortex. *Nat. Neurosci.* 10, 549–551. doi: 10.1038/nn1883
- Yamazaki, Y., Fujiwara, H., Kaneko, K., Hozumi, Y., Xu, M., Ikenaka, K., et al. (2014). Short- and long-term functional plasticity of white matter induced by oligodendrocyte depolarization in the hippocampus. *Glia* 62, 1299–1312. doi: 10.1002/glia.22681
- Yamazaki, Y., Hozumi, Y., Kaneko, K., Sugihara, T., Fujii, S., Goto, K., et al. (2007). Modulatory effects of oligodendrocytes on the conduction velocity of action potentials along axons in the alveus of the rat hippocampal CA1 region. *Neuron Glia Biol.* 3, 325–334. doi: 10.1017/s1740925x08000070
- Zakharov, P., Völker, A. C., Wyss, M. T., Haiss, F., Calcinaghi, N., Zunzunegui, C., et al. (2009). Dynamic laser speckle imaging of cerebral blood flow. *Opt. Express* 17, 13904–13917. doi: 10.1364/OE.17.013904
- Zeng, H., Horie, K., Madisen, L., Pavlova, M. N., Gragerova, G., Rohde, A. D., et al. (2008). An inducible and reversible mouse genetic rescue system. *PLoS Genet.* 4:e1000069. doi: 10.1371/journal.pgen.1000069

Zhang, F., Wang, L. P., Brauner, M., Liewald, J. F., Kay, K., Watzke, N., et al. (2007). Multimodal fast optical interrogation of neural circuitry. *Nature* 446, 633–639. doi: 10.1038/nature05744

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2015 Natsubori, Takata and Tanaka. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution and reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.



Molecular approaches for manipulating astrocytic signaling *in vivo*

Alison X. Xie¹, Jeremy Petravicz² and Ken D. McCarthy^{1*}

¹ Department of Pharmacology, School of Medicine, University of North Carolina at Chapel Hill, NC, USA, ² Department of Brain and Cognitive Sciences, Picower Institute for Learning and Memory, Massachusetts Institute of Technology, Cambridge, MA, USA

Astrocytes are the predominant glial type in the central nervous system and play important roles in assisting neuronal function and network activity. Astrocytes exhibit complex signaling systems that are essential for their normal function and the homeostasis of the neural network. Altered signaling in astrocytes is closely associated with neurological and psychiatric diseases, suggesting tremendous therapeutic potential of these cells. To further understand astrocyte function in health and disease, it is important to study astrocytic signaling *in vivo*. In this review, we discuss molecular tools that enable the selective manipulation of astrocytic signaling, including the tools to selectively activate and inactivate astrocyte signaling *in vivo*. Lastly, we highlight a few tools in development that present strong potential for advancing our understanding of the role of astrocytes in physiology, behavior, and pathology.

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Tycho M. Hoogland, Netherlands Institute for Neuroscience, Netherlands

Reviewed by:

Eliana Scemes, Albert Einstein College of Medicine, USA Erlend Arnulf Nagelhus, University of Oslo, Norway

*Correspondence:

Ken D. McCarthy, Department of Pharmacology, School of Medicine, UNC-Chapel Hill, 120 Mason Farm Road, Chapel Hill, NC 27599-7365, USA ken_mccarthy@med.unc.edu

> Received: 05 February 2015 Accepted: 27 March 2015 Published: 21 April 2015

Citation:

Xie AX, Petravicz J and McCarthy KD (2015) Molecular approaches for manipulating astrocytic signaling in vivo. Front. Cell. Neurosci. 9:144. doi: 10.3389/fncel.2015.00144 Keywords: astrocyte, in vivo, GPCR signaling, DREADD, IP3R2 KO

Introduction

G protein coupled receptors (GPCRs) are the primary molecules through which non-excitable cells transduce information from external cues to biological responses. There are four major families of GPCRs that are distinguished by their composition, ability to activate intracellular signaling cascades, and the functional consequences associated with their activation. The importance of GPCRs is underscored by the fact that these molecules are the most common targeted class of proteins of therapeutic agents. Astrocytes express each of the major classes of GPCRs (Porter and McCarthy, 1997) clearly demonstrating that these cells are dynamically coupled to the activity of their surrounding cellular and chemical milieu. It is likely that astrocyte GPCRs are activated by neurotransmitters released from neurons synaptically as well as through volume transmission. It is also likely that neighboring non-neuronal cells including microglia, vascular endothelial cells, astrocytes, and other resident CNS cells release molecules that activate astrocyte GPCRs and modulate astrocyte activity. In certain situations, low levels of ambient neurotransmitters might tonically activate astrocyte GPCRs. However, it is likely that in most cases astrocyte GPCRs are spatially restricted to discrete signaling domains that are activated with different temporal characteristics dependent on the source of the signal and biological response being affected. Layered onto this signaling complexity is the morphological complexity of astrocytes; the fine processes of an individual astrocyte within the CA1 region of the hippocampus can associate with \sim 100,000 synapses (Bushong et al., 2002). This being the case, different regions of an individual astrocyte are likely responding simultaneously

to local signals (from neurons or other cell types) with different functional outcomes. Collectively, this information underscores how difficult it is to replicate *in vitro* or *in situ* the complicated pattern of GPCR activation that normally occurs *in vivo*.

By far, the emphasis in astrocyte GPCR signaling activity has been on the regulation of Ca^{2+} . This is not surprising given that Ca²⁺ fluxes play a very important role in regulating biological processes and Ca²⁺ is the only signaling molecule that we can readily monitor selectively in astrocytes in complex tissue such as brain. Consequently, we know a lot about astrocyte Ca²⁺ responses following the activation of Gq-GPCRs and the consequences of increasing astrocyte Ca²⁺ by a number of different approaches. Two important points need to be kept in mind when considering findings in this area. First, most investigations linking increases in astrocyte Ca²⁺ with functional responses use pharmacological methods to increase astrocyte Ca²⁺ and consequently findings may not reflect physiological responses. Second, while the field has focused on the role of astrocyte Ca²⁺ in functional responses, the activation of Gq-coupled GPCRs leads to the modulation of a broad set of signaling cascades beyond changes in Ca^{2+} ; the variety of effector proteins in $G\alpha q$ "interactome" may affect astrocyte Ca²⁺ responses as well as play important roles in physiological responses to Gq-GPCR activation (Figure 1; Sanchez-Fernandez et al., 2014).

Molecular Tools for Selective Activation of Astrocytes *In Vivo*

Temporal Control of Astrocyte Activation *In Vivo* Using Optogenetics

Optogenetics is an extremely powerful tool for activating and inactivating neuronal circuits *in vivo* with high temporal resolution. Optogenetic regulation of neuronal activity generally occurs through the flux of ions that either depolarize or hyperpolarize neurons with high temporal and spatial resolution (Schoenenberger et al., 2011; Lin, 2012). More recently, a number of investigators have used this technology to activate astrocyte signaling *in situ* and *in vivo* (Gourine et al., 2010; Perea et al., 2014; Yamashita et al., 2014). It is important to understand that while optogenetic activation of astrocytes can lead to changes in ion fluxes across plasma and intracellular compartment membranes, these fluxes do not remotely reflect the changes in signaling that occur following the activation of astrocyte GPCRs, the primary mode for activating astrocyte signaling (Agulhon et al., 2012; Sanchez-Fernandez et al., 2014).

Multiple variants of channelrhodopsin (ChR2) have been expressed in astrocytes, primarily to elicit Ca²⁺ responses (**Table 1**). *In vivo*, activation of the ChR2 variant ChR2 (H134R) (Nagel et al., 2005) in astrocytes in the ventral surface of the medulla oblongata was shown to lead to increases in intracellular Ca²⁺ and alteration in respiratory activity of rats (Gourine et al., 2010). This same variant of ChR2 was employed to illustrate the ability of astrocyte Ca²⁺ elevations to alter the firing and orientation responses of mouse primary visual cortex excitatory and inhibitory neurons *in vivo* (Perea et al., 2014). Most recently, Beppu et al. (2014) created mice expressing the ChR variant ChR2 (C128S) or an optogenetic proton pump (ArchT). Activation of these optogenetic tools lead to, respectively, acidification or alkalization of astrocytes which modulated glutamate release and ischemic damage *in vivo*. The remainder of studies using ChR2 or its variants have been performed using culture or slice preparations, but provide valuable insights into the mechanisms of their ability to activate astrocytes signaling (Figueiredo et al., 2014). A second variant, CatCh (Ca²⁺ translocating ChR, which has improved Ca²⁺ permeability) (Kleinlogel et al., 2011) when expressed in cultured astrocytes, was found to also increase Ca²⁺ but with varying reliability compared to ChR2 (H134R) (Li et al., 2012; Figueiredo et al., 2014). A non-ChR2 light activated channel, the light-gated Ca²⁺ -permeable ionotropic GluR6 glutamate receptor (LiGluR), has also been used in cultured astrocytes, with again varying results (Li et al., 2012).

The advantages of using optogenetics to activate astrocytes are the ability to temporally and spatially control the extent of activation. However, there are a number of important caveats involved in the use of optogenetics to activate astrocyte signaling cascades. First, it is unresolved as to the source of Ca²⁺ when using these optogenetic actuators in astrocytes. Extracellular Ca²⁺ entry through ChR2 variants seems the most logical mechanism, but a recent comparative study found that intracellular stores are the primary source (Figueiredo et al., 2014). These finding are at odds with studies from other laboratories (Li et al., 2012), and previous research from the same authors (Gourine et al., 2010). Current evidence indicates that both external and internal Ca²⁺ sources are involved in the ChR2 induced Ca²⁺ signal. Second, ChR2 and its variants are non-selective cation channels, allowing the entry of Na⁺ K⁺, H⁺, and Ca²⁺ upon activation (Nagel et al., 2003). ChR2 expressed in the cultured astroglia cell line GL261 display significant influx of Na⁺ and Ca²⁺ across the cell membrane based upon fluorescent indicator imaging (Ono et al., 2014). Additionally, significant alterations in intracellular pH were also observed in the same study, which has been corroborated in the recent study by Beppu et al. (2014). Interestingly, the ChR2 (H134R) used in the two current in vivo studies of astrocyte function was engineered to increase its ability to depolarize cultured HEK293 and neuronal cells over wild type ChR2 (Nagel et al., 2005; Beppu et al., 2014). Astrocytes process intracellular changes in Na⁺, Ca²⁺, and protons in different ways that may affect several different astrocyte functions. For example, increases in intracellular sodium and membrane depolarization, which is known to occur with ChR2-stimulation (Gourine et al., 2010), could alter glutamate reuptake efficacy (Djukic et al., 2007; Unichenko et al., 2012; Verkhratsky et al., 2013). Alterations to intracellular pH in astrocytes are important in the regulation of ischemic damage in vivo (Benesova et al., 2009; Beppu et al., 2014) and gap junction connectivity (Duffy et al., 2004). It is not unreasonable to hypothesize that ChR2 activation leads to membrane depolarization of astrocytes and interferes with a number of transport systems, most importantly glutamate, which may lead to effects on neuronal activity. In addition, to use optogenetics in vivo it is necessary to use a viral vector to deliver the optogenetic construct and may require the insertion of a light probe to activate the optogenetic channel in deeper brain regions. It seems very likely that these insults will lead to pathological



astrocyte Gq-GPCHs. Upon Gq-GPCH activation, Gαq subunits are known to interact with G protein-coupled receptor kinases (GRKs), β-arrestins, Rho family of guanine exchange factors (RhoGEFs) and phospholipase C (PLC) in astrocytes or astroglia. In addition, Gβγ subunits are able to regulate ion channel properties, as well as to interact with signaling molecules including cdc42, PAK-PIXα, phospholipase A (PLA), PLC, and Ras/MAPK/ERK1/2. Many of the key signaling molecules regulated by Gβγ are expressed in astrocytes or astroglia. Therefore, Gq-GPCR activation in astrocytes is likely to activate an entire fabric of downstream signaling pathways that may include (1) GRKs-mediated glutamate transporter (GLAST) localization (Nijboer et al., 2013), gene transcription (Atkinson et al., 2009), metabotropic glutamate receptor 5 (mGluR5) expression (Sorensen and Conn, 2003), and astrocytoma growth (Woerner et al., 2012); (2) β-arrestin-mediated gene silencing (McLennan et al., 2002; Miyatake et al., 2003; Zuu and Reiser, 2014); (3) RhoGEFs-mediated activation of Kinectin (Santama et al., 2004), citron kinase (Ackman et al., 2007), phospholipase D (PLD) (Burkhardt et al., 2014), diacylglycerol kinase (DGKa) (Kefas et al., 2013), Rhophilin2 (Vedrenne and Hauri, 2006;

changes that alter astrocyte responses. Overall, while optogenetic tools are great tools to activate or silence neurons, using optogenetics to increase astrocyte Ca^{2+} bypasses the majority of signaling pathways that are activated by GPCRs, as well as result in aberrant ion fluxes that likely never occur under physiological conditions (Fiacco et al., 2007; Agulhon et al., 2012; Wang et al., 2013).

Danussi et al., 2013), Rock (Holtje et al., 2005; Lau et al., 2011), and mDia1 (Shinohara et al., 2012); (4) PLC regulation of PtdIns(3,4,5)P3 (PIP3)/protein kinase B (PKB or Akt) pathway (DiNuzzo et al., 2013; Kong et al., 2013), PtdIns(4,5)P2(PIP2)/diacylglycerol (DAG)/protein kinase C (PKC) pathway, and PIP2/Ins(1,4,5)P3(IP3) pathway. Moreover, PKC activation in astrocytes (Wang et al., 2002) engages PLD (Servitja et al., 2003), c-src tyrosine kinase (CSK) (Jo et al., 2014), glycogen synthase kinase (GSK) (Sanchez et al., 2003), and cAMP signaling. Many of these signaling pathways are known to trigger cellular responses that are important for astrocyte function including gene transcription and cell migration. Box 1. Selected PIP2-induced signaling pathways in which key molecules are expressed by astrocytes. These signaling molecules include: Epithelial sodium channel (ENaC) (Miller and Loewy, 2013), PLA2 (Ha et al., 2014), Myristoylated alanine-rich C-kinase substrate (MARCKS) (Vitkovic et al., 2005), Wiskott–Aldrich syndrome protein (WASP) (Murk et al., 2013), profilin (Molotkov et al., 2013), vinculin, talin, and paxillin (Kalman and Szabo, 2001), ERM protein family (Persson et al., 2010), al-syntrophin (Masaki et al., 2010), ankyrin (Lee et al., 2012), adipocyte protein 2 (AP2) (Rossello et al., 2012), and clathirin (Pascual-Lucas et al., 2014).

Selective Activation of Astrocyte Gq-GPCR Signaling with MrgA-1

The first experimental system that enabled the specific activation of endogenous astrocyte signaling cascades in complex tissue was the Mas-related gene A1 (MrgA-1) transgenic mouse line (Fiacco et al., 2007) (**Table 1**). MrgA-1 is a Gq-GPCR that is normally expressed in a subsets of nociceptive sensory neurons

Class	Tools	Molecule	Application method	Comments	Selected references
	Photo-activated cation channel, ChR2 variant	ChR2 (H134R)	Lenti-viral vectors	Localized, high temporal control of glial activation, yet bring in non-physiological sources of Ca ²⁺ and significantly alter intracellular pH; Non-selective to all cations; Require viral injections and light-source	Gourine et al., 2010; Figueiredo et al., 2014; Perea et al., 2014
Pharmacogenetics		ChR2 (L132C); CatCh	AAV vector	Improved Ca ²⁺ permeability compared to ChR2 (H134R) with varying reliability; Tested in cultured astroglia and no <i>in vivo</i> data	Figueiredo et al., 2014; Li et al., 2012
		ChR2 (C128S)	tetO-ChR2(C128S)-EYFP β-actin locus knockin mice (crossed to Mlc1-tTA mice)	Does not require virus injection but requires light activation. Highly sensitive to light activation. Provide high temporal control of glial acidification	Tanaka et al., 2012, 2010; Beppu et al., 2014
	Photo-activated outward proton pump	Archaerhodopsin (ArchT)	tetO-ArchT-EGFP β-actin locus knockin mice (crossed to Mlc1-tTA mice)	Does not require virus injection but requiresTanaka et al., 2light activation; High temporal control; OnlyTsunematsu etavailable tool for glial alkalizationBeppu et al., 20	
	Photo-activated Ca ²⁺ -permeable iGluR6	LiGluR	Lipofectamine 2000 transfection	Varying reliability; Tested in cultured astroglia and no <i>in vivo</i> data	Li et al., 2012
	Endogenous Gq GPCR expressed outside of the brain	MrgA-1	tetO-MrgA-1 transgenic mouse line (crossing to GFAP-tTA*)	Stable expression in brain astrocytes; Peptide ligands do not cross BBB, therefore requires brain infusion, injection or implantation for <i>in vivo</i> activation; Low temporal control; Potential over-activation	Fiacco et al., 2007; Agulhon et al., 2010; Cao et al., 2013
	Engineered Gq GPCR	Gq-DREADD (hM3Dq)	GFAP-hM3Dq transgenic mouse line**; AAV-GFAP***	Stable expression in brain astrocytes; ligand crosses BBB and bio-inert; Long-lasting physiological and behavioral phenotypes; Also expressed in PNS GFAP ⁺ glial cells and certain non-neural cells; Low temporal control; Potential over-activation	Armbruster et al., 2007; Agulhon et al., 2013; Bonder and McCarthy, 2014
	Engineered Gi GPCR	Gi-DREADD (hM4Di)	Transgenic mouse line	Under characterization	Armbruster et al., 2007
	Engineered Gs GPCR	Gs-DREADD	Transgenic mouse line; AAV-GFAP***	Under characterization	Guettier et al., 2009

*Mouse line available in the Jackson Laboratory, stock No. 005964; **For various DREADD constructs and transgenic mouse lines currently available, see http://pdspit3.mml. unc.edu/projects/dreadd/wiki/WikiStart; ***AAV-GFAP minimal promotor available via UNC Vector core.

(Dong et al., 2001) but not in the brain. The ligand used to activate MrgA-1, the peptide FMRF, does not activate endogenous brain Gq-GPCRs (Fiacco et al., 2007). To achieve cell specificity in the brain, MrgA-1 expression was controlled by using a tetracycline-controlled inducible expression system (tetO system), which requires a second transgene, the transcription transactivator (tTA). By crossing tetO-MrgA-1 transgenic mouse to GFAP-tTA transgenic mouse, GFAP+ glia become the only cells in the brain that express both tTA and tetO-MrgA-1, therefore the only CNS cells to express MrgA-1 receptor (Fiacco et al., 2007). As a native GPCR, MrgA-1 activation triggers the entire fabric of signaling cascades normally activated by endogenous astrocyte Gq-GPCRs; an important component that is absent when selectively increasing specific signaling molecules such as IP3 and Ca²⁺. With respect to Ca²⁺, MrgA-1 activation leads to a similar spatial and temporal response as endogenous Gq-GPCRs in hippocampal astrocytes (Fiacco et al., 2007).

MrgA-1 transgenic mice were used to prepare brain slices to test the gliotransmission hypothesis at hippocampal CA3-CA1 synapses (Fiacco et al., 2007; Agulhon et al., 2010; Wang et al., 2012, 2013; Devaraju et al., 2013). Initial reports showed that bath application of FMRFa induced widespread Ca²⁺ elevations in stratum radiatum astrocytes from MrgA-1 mice, while CA1 neuronal Ca²⁺ activity, excitatory synaptic transmission and short- or long-term excitatory synaptic plasticity in CA3-CA1 synapses were not affected (Fiacco et al., 2007; Agulhon et al., 2010). Later Wang et al. reported that although MrgA-1 mediated astrocyte activation did not change neuronal excitability and miniature excitatory synaptic currents (mEPSCs) in neurons near the surface of hippocampal slices, both bath and microinjection of FMRFa led to a transient hyperpolarization and decreased mEPSC frequency in neurons below 80 µm depth in the slices (Wang et al., 2012, 2013). These studies suggested that selective activation of Gq-GPCR signaling in astrocytes increased activity

of the Na⁺/K⁺ ATPase, resulting in a reduction of extracellular K⁺ which consequently hyperpolarized neurons and suppressed excitatory transmission (Wang et al., 2012). The Gq-GPCR activated change in [K⁺] was hard to detect in the superficial layer of the slices, where the constant bath perfusion buffered the effects (Wang et al., 2012). The K⁺ removal hypothesis was supported by an independent study from Devaraju et al. who found that both Schaffer Collaterals stimulation and selective stimulation of astrocytic MrgA-1s potentiated inward K⁺ current and glutamate uptake in hippocampal astrocytes (Devaraju et al., 2013). These data suggest that astrocytic Gq-GPCR activation may regulate neuronal excitability and modulate neuronal network activity indirectly rather than inducing the release of gliotransmitters.

The MrgA-1 mouse line is rarely used for studying astrocyte function *in vivo* because the peptide agonists do not effectively cross blood brain barrier. Recently, Cao et al. used MrgA-1 mouse line to study the role of astrocytic activation in behavior by implanting infusion cannula or osmotic pumps into the brain of MrgA-1 mouse (Cao et al., 2013). Brain infusion of the peptide agonist of MrgA-1 mice induced antidepressant-like effect in forced swimming test and reversed depression-like behavior in MrgA-1 mice suggesting that astrocytic Gq-GPCR signaling is capable of modulating depressive-like behaviors (Cao et al., 2013).

Pharmacogenetic Activation of Astrocytic Signaling *In Vivo* Using DREADDs

In 2007, a new family of engineered GPCRs, Designer Receptor Exclusively Activated by Designer Drugs (DREADD) were developed (Armbruster et al., 2007) and have become the best option for activating GPCR signaling in specific cell populations in vivo (Rogan and Roth, 2011) (Table 1). A significant advantage of DREADDs compared to MrgA-1 is that the ligand of DREADDs, clozapine N-oxide (CNO), crosses BBB (Bender et al., 1994), therefore enabling non-invasive manipulation of receptor activity via peripheral injections (e.g., intraperitoneal or intravenous injections) and even via drinking water (Jain et al., 2013). The M3 muscarinic cholinergic receptor (M₃AChR) was engineered through directed molecular evolution (Dong et al., 2010) that led to a striking decrease the affinity of this receptor for its native agonist (acetylcholine) as well as to a large increase in affinity for CNO. In addition, DREADDs do not exhibit constitutive activity and CNO is pharmacologically inert in the absence of DREADDs (Armbruster et al., 2007; Nichols and Roth, 2009; Dong et al., 2010). Consequently, mice expressing DREADDs do not exhibit a phenotype in the absence of CNO and CNO does not lead to a phenotype in wild type mice (Alexander et al., 2009; Guettier et al., 2009; Agulhon et al., 2013). Since their development, DREADDs have been extensively used to chronically and acutely activate (Gq-DREADDs) and silence (Gi-DREADDs) specific subsets of neurons in vivo (Wess et al., 2013).

Gq-DREADD was introduced into astrocyte research studies with the development of GFAP-Gq-DREADD mice for specifically activating GFAP⁺ glial Gq-GPCR signaling *in vivo* (Agulhon et al., 2013). Gq-DREADD expression was regulated by the 2.2 Kb human GFAP promotor fragment; a hemagglutinin (HA) tag was added to the N-terminus of the Gq-DREADD for highly specific antibody staining. Extensive

immunostaining studies demonstrated that the expression of Gq-DREADD was restricted to GFAP⁺ glia in the CNS and PNS (Agulhon et al., 2013). Bath application of CNO in situ or i.p. injection of CNO in vivo led to Ca²⁺ increases in brain astrocytes, without affecting Ca²⁺ in nearby neurons; CNO induced Ca²⁺ increases occurred throughout astrocytes including their fine processes within the neuropil. The development of this model enabled, for the first time, examination of the behavioral and physiological consequences of specifically activating Gq-GPCR signaling in GFAP+ glia. CNO administration to GFAP-Gq-DREADD transgenic mice revealed robust and unexpected behavioral and physiological phenotypes that were absent in litter mate controls; phenotypic changes include robust increases in heart rate and blood pressure, saliva formation, a decrease in body temperature, and increased sedation in the presence of a GABA receptor agonist (Agulhon et al., 2013). These findings suggest that GFAP⁺ glia have the potential for modulating a number of important physiological processes.

In addition to GFAP-Gq-DREADD mice, transgenic mouse lines expressing Gs- and Gi-DREADD specifically in GFAP⁺ glia were developed and are currently under characterization in the McCarthy laboratory. GFAP-DREADD transgenic mice offer the best system to non-invasively and simultaneously activate widely distributed astrocyte populations. Other systems for manipulating astrocytic activity in vivo, including MrgA-1 transgenic mice and optogenetics, requires direct application of ligand/light to brain tissue and thus have spatial limitations with regard to cells being activated at a given time. Region-specific expression DREADD can be achieved via viral delivery (Bull et al., 2014). Once the expression pattern is established, one can activate a subset of astrocytes acutely or chronically in dose-dependent manner, and behavior and physiological outcome can be measured from free-moving, awake mice. For the first time in astrocyte research, we can now test the contribution of astrocytes GPCR signaling in physiology and behavior, as well as verify the previously known astrocytic function in intact animals.

There are caveats associated with using pharmacogenetic systems to study the role of astrocyte Gq-GPCR signaling in vivo. First, engineered GPCRs are driven by an exogenous promoter system and consequently the levels of expression are likely to be different than that of endogenous astrocytic GPCRs. While this does not appear to lead to markedly different Ca²⁺ responses compared to endogenous receptors, it has not been confirmed that the engineered GPCR signaling cascades are regulated in a similar manner. Second, it is impossible to mimic the temporal and spatial characteristics of in vivo GPCR activation, a caveat associated with all pharmacological stimulation. Following an i.p. injection of CNO, most of the physiological phenotypes were observed in 5 min and peak in $30 \sim 45$ min (Agulhon et al., 2013). Increased temporal and spatial resolution can be obtained by either microinjecting CNO into the region of interest or uncaging CNO with laser pulse activation; the latter approach has temporal and spatial resolution similar to optogenetic activation; caged CNO has recently been prepared (Brian Roth, personal communication). Overall, DREADD technology enables activation of the entire fabric of endogenous signaling cascades in specific cell types that are generally stimulated by GPCRs; this is a striking advantage over most other methods used to activate glial signaling *in situ* or *in vivo*.

Selective Astrocyte Gene Rescue in Mice with Global Gene Deletion

The optogenetic and pharmacogenetic approaches for activating astrocyte *in vivo* share a common pitfall of potential over-activation. Recently, a conditional endogenous gene repair approach was used to isolate the role of astrocyte-specific endogenous signaling *in vivo* in a mouse model of Rett's syndrome (RTT).

RTT is an X-chromosome-linked autism spectrum disorder due to the loss of function of the transcriptional regulator methyl-CpG-binding protein 2 (MeCP2) in the brain (Amir et al., 1999; Guy et al., 2007). Because MeCP2 is expressed in all CNS cell types (Ballas et al., 2009), a conditional knock-in mice, MeCP2^{loxp} mice, was developed to study cell-specific disease mechanisms. In this model, the endogenous Mecp2 gene is silenced by insertion of a loxP-Stop cassette, but can be activated when combined with Cre- or Cre-ER system (Guy et al., 2007). When MeCP2^{loxp} mice were crossed to hGFAP-CreER^{T2} mice (Hirrlinger et al., 2006), the expression of MeCP2 was selectively restored in GFAP+ astrocytes when mice were treated with tamoxifen (Lioy et al., 2011). The specific re-expression of MeCP2 in astrocytes significantly improved RTT phenotype possibly by restoring normal dendritic morphology and levels of the excitatory glutamate transporter VGLUT1 (Lioy et al., 2011). This model illustrates the potential of using conditional astrocytespecific rescue model to isolate the function of astrocyte signaling in vivo and in disease.

Spatial Control of Astrocytic Signaling via Viral Delivery—Advantages and Disadvantages

At this time, there are no astrocyte transcriptional units that can be used to target specific populations of astrocytes in mature brain. Consequently, a large number of investigators have used viral vectors to perturb signaling in subpopulations of astrocytes using both adeno-associated viruses (AAV) and lentiviral vectors (Figueiredo et al., 2014). Several AAV serotypes show tropism toward astrocytes, including AAV 2/5 and AAV 8 (Koerber et al., 2009; Aschauer et al., 2013; Petrosyan et al., 2014). In combination with an astrocytic selective promoter (Lee et al., 2008; Pfrieger and Slezak, 2012), these AAVs are expected to express the gene of interest selectively in astrocytes in specific brain regions.

The disadvantages of using viral vectors to express genes in astrocytes should not be overlooked. The most obvious concerns are tissue damage and reactive gliosis induced by viral injection. Reactive astrocytes display more robust, frequent and widely-spread intracellular Ca^{2+} activity, and intercellular coupling and Ca^{2+} waves are exaggerated among reactive astrocytes (Agulhon et al., 2012). A recent study showed that AAV 2/5 vector can be used to induce astrogliosis and disrupt the glutamate-glutamine cycle in astrocytes, which led to glutamate-reversible hyperactivity of nearby neurons (Ortinski et al., 2010). The primary methods for assessing whether or not astrocytes are pathologically transformed by viral infection are through morphological

studies and GFAP expression levels (Xie et al., 2010; Shigetomi et al., 2013a). However, it is likely that more subtle undetected changes in astrocytes occur that could influence their functional interactions with surrounding cells.

Another challenge of using viral injection to express constructs in astrocytes is cell-specificity. AAVs show tropism to all cell types in the CNS (Aschauer et al., 2013; Gholizadeh et al., 2013; Petrosyan et al., 2014; Yang et al., 2014). Even with an astrocytic-specific promoter, it is important to carefully verify astrocyte specific transduction using the most sensitive methods available. A low level of GPCR expression in non-astrocyte cell types could lead to significant downstream signaling and confound the interpretation of findings.

One final consideration to keep in mind is that it is currently impossible to transduce functionally distinct populations of astrocytes in a manner analogous to transducing a subpopulation of functionally distinct neurons; this will only be solved as new subpopulation specific astrocyte transcriptional units are identified.

Current Knock-Out Models for Selective Inactivation of Astrocytic Signaling

Specific GPCR Knockout Models

To date, most investigators have used optogenetic, pharmacogenetic or pharmacological tools to determine the consequences of activating astrocyte signaling cascades (Agulhon et al., 2008). None of these approaches recapitulate the complex regulation of signaling cascades occurring *in vivo*. Findings from these studies (see review by Agulhon et al., 2008) provide insight into the potential outcome(s) of astrocyte signaling. However, one has to keep in mind that these highly artificial types of stimulation may lead to outcomes that rarely, or perhaps never, occur in physiology. To determine the functional significance of astrocytic signaling, a more powerful approach is to demonstrate that the loss-of-function of a particular pathway affects physiological processes such as synaptic transmission or behavior. Here we review current knockout (KO) and conditional KO (cKO) models for deleting specific astrocytic signaling pathways (**Table 2**).

GFAP-CB1R-KO

One of the first GPCRs targeted for a cKO in astrocytes was the cannabinoid type-1 receptor (CB1R), a GPCR predominately coupled to Gi signaling (Han et al., 2012). GFAP-CB1R cKO mouse line was accomplished by crossing floxed CB1R mouse line with an inducible Cre system driven by the GFAP promoter (GFAP-CreERT2) (Hirrlinger et al., 2006). Following tamoxifen administration, CB1R expression was reduced in GFAP⁺ astrocytes in the brain, providing the first model to study the contribution of astrocytes in cannabinoid induced working memory impairment in vivo. Han et al. found that conditional knockout of astrocytic CB1R abolished cannabinoid-induced impairment of spatial working memory and in vivo long-term depression at hippocampal CA3-CA1 synapses. In contrast, a cKO of CB1R in glutamatergic or GABAergic neurons did not rescue cannabinoid induced deficit (Han et al., 2012). This study revealed significant impact of a single astrocyte GPCR signaling system on synaptic

TABLE 2 | Current molecular tools for perturbing astrocyte signaling in vivo.

Class	Mouse line	Confirmed expression profile	<i>In vivo</i> phenotype	Comments	Selected references
GPCR KO	Floxed CB1R mouse line (crossed to GFAP-CreERT2)	79% reduction in the number of CB1R ⁺ CA1 astrocytes by immunohistochemistry	Cannabinoid-induced impairment of spatial working memory and <i>in vivo</i> long-term depression at hippocampal CA3-CA1 synapses were abolished	For GFAP-CreERT2 please see Hirrlinger et al., 2006	Marsicano et al., 2003
	Floxed DrD2 mouse line (crossed to hGFAP-Cre)	No marked excision detected in striatal tissue by qPCR analysis	Mild increase in pro-inflammatory mediators in the striatum was detected by qPCR; Neuronal development, neuronal numbers and astrogliosis in advanced age appear normal in the substantia nigra (SNC) and the ventral tegmental area (VTA)	Compared to global DrD2 KO, the pro-inflammatory phenotypes of astrocytes in the SNC and in the striatum are very mild. Further characterization in other brain regions needed	Shao et al., 2013 (created by Shanghai Research Center for Model Organisms)
Perturbing Ca ²⁺ signaling	Global IP3R2 KO	Global knockout	Loss of astrocyte GPCR mediated Ca ²⁺ increase; conflicting evidence for alterations in synaptic transmission; minor behavioral alterations; no evidence for altered vascular control; alterations in astrocyte processes mobility in response to LTP-inducing sensory stimuli	There are two sources for the global IP3R2 KO: Ju Chen lab at UCSD (used by McCarthy lab) and Katsuhiko Mikoshiba lab at RIKEN Brain Science Institute. There has been no direct comparison of these two lines for differences	Petravicz et al., 2008; Agulhon et al., 2010; Navarrete et al., 2012; Bonder and McCarthy, 2014
	Floxed IP3R2 (crossed to hGFAP-Cre)	Conditional knockout, with 80–95% reduction in the number of IP3R2 ⁺ astrocytes in brain by immuno-histochemistry and Gq GPCR agonist-evoked Ca ²⁺ imaging	Loss of astrocyte GPCR mediated Ca ²⁺ increases; no reported behavioral phenotypes; reduced cholinergic modulation of visual responses	For hGFAP-Cre, please see Casper and McCarthy, 2006	Chen et al., 2012; Petravicz et al., 2014
	AAV2/5- gfaABC1D-p130PH		Reduced ATP-evoked Ca ²⁺ signaling <i>in vitro</i> and <i>in vivo</i>	No effect on spontaneous Ca ²⁺ increase	Xie et al., 2010
	tetO-GST-"IP3 sponge" transgenic mice (crossed to GLT-1-tTA mice)	80–90% S100β+ cells are lacZ+ in many brain regions including CA1; Each astrocyte on average express 3800 "IP3 sponge" molecules	Reduced spontaneous and GPCR evoked Ca ²⁺ responses; reduced synaptic coverage by astrocyte processes; impaired glutamate uptake; impaired spatial reference memory and contextual fear responses	While alterations to the listed behaviors and impaired glutamate uptake were observed, there we no significant alterations to any synaptic measures such as LTP and LTD	Tanaka et al., 2013
Blocking vesicular release	tetO-dnSNARE (crossed to GFAP-tTA)	Global astrocyte expression; recently discovered cortical neuronal expression	Changes in sleep-wake cycle, sleep loss related cognitive functions, cortical slow waves, depressive-like behavior, LTP induction threshold in hippocampus, neuronal survival after stroke, development of temporal lobe epilepsy, and baseline mechanical nociception	Recent in-depth analysis of dnSNARE expression in large population of neurons suggest re-evaluation of thought-to-be astrocyte-driven <i>in vivo</i> phenotypes	Pascual et al., 2005; Nam et al., 2012; Fujita et al., 2014
	TRE-loxP-STOP-loxP- TeNT $^{\Delta 1}$ -GFP (crossed to GFAP-tTA and GFAP-CreERt2 lines)	No direct data on the percentage of astrocytes expressing TeNT in different brain regions from the transgenic animals	Unaltered sleep patterns, only the EEG power in low-gamma range during wakefulness was reduced; Unaltered basal synaptic transmission as well as normal short- and long-term plasticity in hippocampus	Characterization of TeNT expression profile is needed at least in the region-of-interest in future studies. The expression is expected to be variable among users due to differences in the induction protocols	Lee et al., 2014

(Continued)

TABLE 2 | Continued

Class	Mouse line	Confirmed expression profile	<i>In vivo</i> phenotype	Comments	Selected references
	Global Glt-1 KO	Global knockout	Reduced body weight, increased morbidity, excitotoxic neuronal death		Tanaka et al., 1997
Glutamate transporter KO		Heterozygous global knockout	Behavioral alterations in sensorimotor function, locomotor activity, anxiety, contextual and cue-based fear conditioning		Kiryk et al., 2008
	Floxed Glt-1 (crossed to GLAST-CreERT2)	Conditional knockout	Excessive repetitive and injurious self-grooming, bodily tics, increased excitatory transmission at corticostriatal synapses		Aida et al., 2015
	Global GLAST KO	Global knockout	Altered glutamate/glucose uptake and sensory evoked neuronal oscillations in olfactory bulbs; impaired vestibular activity in aged mice; reduced sociability, reduced acoustic startle response; impaired visual discrimination; hyperactive locomotor activity		Karlsson et al., 2008, 2009; Martin et al., 2012; Schraven et al., 2012
NT synthesis enzyme KO	Nitrous oxide synthase 2 KO	Global knockout	Increased NO production <i>in vivo</i> ; stress and anxiety-related behavior alterations		Buskila et al., 2007; Abu-Ghanem et al., 2008
	Serine-racemase cKO	Conditional knockout; Analyses of astrocyte specific D-serine KO mice show only a modest reduction in serine racemase activity		No alteration to hippocampal LTP <i>in situ</i> ; No <i>in vivo</i> phenotype to date	Benneyworth et al., 2012
Ion channel KO	Kir4.1 cKO	Conditional knockout; Complete loss of Kir4.1 expression from S100β+ and GLAST+ astrocytes as well as CNP+ oligodendrocytes throughout brain and spinal cord	Increased morbidity, ataxia, stress-induced seizures, brain anatomical changes, white-matter vacuolization; reduced potassium buffering <i>in vivo</i>	Disorganized and fragmented processes of cerebellar Bergman glia, spinal cord white matter astrocytes, and motor neurons	Djukic et al., 2007; Chever et al., 2010
Connexin KOs	Cx30 and Cx43 KO and cKO	Multiple global and conditional knockout models	Alterations to spatial working memory, motor coordination, sensorimotor adaptation, anxiety, and pain perception	There exist multiple global, conditional and combinatorial knockouts (for example global Cx30 KO with astrocyte specific Cx43 knockout)	For comprehensive reviews of connexin genetic models, please see reviews by Giaume and Theis (2010) and Pannasch and Rouach (2013)

modulation and behavior, as well as presented an elegant *in vivo* system for temporal control of astrocytic signaling.

GFAP-DRD2-cKO

In 2013, an astrocyte dopamine D2 receptor (DRD2) conditional knockout mouse was generated to study the role of astrocytic GPCR signaling in aging-related neuroinflammation (Shao et al., 2013). DRD2 couples to Gi (Missale et al., 1998) and is expressed in astrocytes *in vivo* (Khan et al., 2001). During aging, DRD2 expression is downregulated in the brain (Kaasinen et al., 2000), suggesting potential involvement of DRD2 in aging related neuroinflammation. In this study DRD2-deficient astrocytes were found to produce more proinflammatory mediators compared to wild-type astrocytes. Further, this effect appears to be mediated through a decrease in α B-crystallin (CRYAB) signaling, a small heat-shock protein known to negatively regulate pro-inflammatory mediator production and to display neuroprotective effect (Ousman et al., 2007). Interestingly, DRD2deficient astrocytes also show robust GFAP upregulation, and a reactive morphology in the substantia nigra and the striatum of aged mice (Shao et al., 2013), suggesting the possible link between astrocytic GPCR signaling and age-related impairments in cognitive and motor function.

Models for Removing or Partially Removing Astrocytic Ca²⁺ Fluxes *In Vivo*

IP3R2 Germline and Conditional IP3R2 Knockout

Astrocytic Gq-GPCR/PLC/IP3 signaling is the most intensely studied pathway in the proposed modulation of neuronal activity and cerebral blood flow by astrocytes and has been the subject of numerous reviews (Haydon and Carmignoto, 2006; Agulhon et al., 2008, 2012; Fiacco et al., 2009; Halassa and Haydon, 2010; Hamilton and Attwell, 2010). The activation of this pathway results in the release of Ca²⁺ from IP3 receptor (IP3R) regulated intracellular stores in the endoplasmic reticulum. Astrocytes express only one of three subtypes of this receptor, IP3R type 2 (IP3R2) (Sharp et al., 1999; Holtzclaw et al., 2002; Foskett et al., 2007; Hertle and Yeckel, 2007). The first functional report to confirm this was published by Petravicz et al. (2008), in which the germline IP3R2 knockout mouse (generated by the Ju Chen lab; Li et al., 2005) was found to lack somatic increases in intracellular Ca²⁺ upon activation of multiple subtypes of Gq-GPCRs known to exist on astrocytes. Further experiments using this model have confirmed that astrocytes lack Gq-GCPR elicited, IP3R-dependent Ca²⁺ signals in their processes and soma (Agulhon et al., 2010; Di Castro et al., 2011; Panatier et al., 2011; Takata et al., 2011; Navarrete et al., 2012; Tamamushi et al., 2012; Nizar et al., 2013). The IP3R2 KO mouse is fertile, displays no overt alterations in brain development, and displays no obvious behavioral alterations (in contrast to the IP3R1 KO, the primary neuronal IP3R Matsumoto and Nagata, 1999). Due to these features, this mouse model has become one the most utilized mouse models in astrocyte research. Use of this model has led to novel findings (Panatier et al., 2011; Navarrete et al., 2012; Haustein et al., 2014; Perez-Alvarez et al., 2014), several of which have been contradictory with previously held theories concerning astrocyteneuron communication and vascular control (Fiacco et al., 2007; Petravicz et al., 2008; Agulhon et al., 2010; Nizar et al., 2013; Takata et al., 2013; Bonder and McCarthy, 2014). Recently, evidence of residual Ca²⁺ signaling of a non-IP3R origin has been published using genetically encoded Ca²⁺ indicators (GECIs) in the IP3R2 KO model (Haustein et al., 2014; Kanemaru et al., 2014), further illustrating the model's usefulness for discovery of novel signaling events in astrocytes; importantly, there is no evidence suggesting that this residual Ca^{2+} signaling is regulated by neuronal activity.

Due to its restricted expression pattern in the CNS, a germline knockout of IP3R2 provides a clean and reliable model to block the release of intracellular Ca^{2+} in astrocytes elicited by Gq-GPCR activity *in vivo*. However, this model suffers in that it lacks tissue specificity, as do all germline knockout models. IP3R2 is expressed in multiple tissues outside the CNS including the heart (Li et al., 2005), pancreas (Orabi et al., 2012), lungs, liver, and

kidneys (Fujino et al., 1995); this leads to potential confounding issues in the use of this model *in vivo* when assessing the role of astrocyte GPCR-dependent Ca^{2+} fluxes in behavior. Additionally, concerns over compensation due to the role of intracellular Ca^{2+} signaling during development have been raised regarding this model; however to date no evidence for altered development leading to compensation has been reported.

In an attempt to address some of these issues, a conditional IP3R2 knockout mouse model was developed by our laboratory. This model was generated by crossing the original floxed IP3R2 mouse developed by Dr. Ju Chen at UCSF (Li et al., 2005) to a GFAP-Cre recombinase mouse (Stehlik et al., 2006) to restrict the deletion of IP3R2 to GFAP⁺ cells in the CNS. This model recombines the floxed IP3R2 allele at a high rate (>80-85% GFAP+ cells lack IP3R2), significantly reducing the number of astrocytes responding to Gq-GPCR activation or neuronal activity in multiple brain regions (Petravicz et al., 2008; Chen et al., 2012). The use of the GFAP-Cre system spatially and temporally restricts the IP3R2 deletion to GFAP⁺ glia, thereby making it more appropriate for in vivo analysis such as behavioral characterization and reduces potential developmental compensation. Our lab recently published a behavioral analysis of the IP3R2 cKO mice and found no significant alteration to behavior (Petravicz et al., 2014). Most importantly, no alterations to learning and memory as assessed by the Morris Water Maze test were observed in these mice, despite previous literature proposing an important role for astrocyte IP3R-mediated Ca²⁺ signaling in hippocampal LTP. It is unlikely that developmental compensation occurs such that alternative ions substitute for Ca²⁺ in physiological processes or that global rewiring of neuronal circuits occurs to compensate for the loss of astrocyte Ca²⁺ fluxes. Nevertheless, to completely rule out developmental compensation, it will be necessary to prepare inducible IP3R2 cKO mice using mice expressing floxed IP3R2 and an astrocyte specific inducible Cre system.

IP3 Sponges

Activation of Phospholipase C beta (PLCB) and sequential release of IP3 are the key steps in Gq-GPCR mediated intracellular Ca²⁺ elevations. Traditional approaches to abolish Gq-GPCR mediated Ca²⁺ elevation in astrocytes include chelating intracellular Ca²⁺ with BAPTA, or preventing IP3-mediated release of Ca²⁺ from ER using IP3R2 KO mice. Recently, the Pleckstrin Homology domain of PLC-like protein (p130PH), which binds cytosolic IP3 molecules, was used to suppress astrocytic Ca²⁺ signaling in vitro and ATP-induced astrocytic Ca²⁺ responses in vivo (Xie et al., 2010). In this study, p130PH was selectively expressed in cortical astrocytes in vivo using rAAV2/5 vector in combination with a specific astrocyte promoter, gfaABC(1)D (Lee et al., 2008; Xie et al., 2010). p130PH transduced astrocytes in the somatosensory cortex exhibited reduced amplitude and frequency of Ca²⁺ activity in response to direct ATP application on cortex compared to non-transduced astrocytes, whereas the characteristics of spontaneous Ca²⁺ activity in p130PH-transduced astrocytes remained unchanged (Xie et al., 2010). Therefore, p130PH serves as a more selective tool to suppress Gq-GPCR induced Ca²⁺ elevations without chelating Ca^{2+} activity in astrocytes completely. This system serves as a nice addition to IP3R2KO and IP3R2 cKO

mouse lines to distinguish astrocyte functions regulated by ER released Ca^{2+} vs. channel mediated Ca^{2+} *in vivo*.

The expression of a fragment of the IP3 binding domain of IP3R1, an "IP3 sponge" (Iwasaki et al., 2002) can also be used to suppress IP3 induced Ca²⁺ release in astrocytes in vivo (Tanaka et al., 2013). These investigators found that suppression of astrocyte Ca²⁺ responses affected several behavioral responses, but no underlying evidence for alterations to synaptic transmission was found. Surprisingly, astrocytes expressing the "IP3 sponge" exhibited process retraction surrounding synapses, which was attributed to underlie the behavioral phenotypes. Recently, evidence that astrocyte processes retract in response to LTP-inducing stimuli in vivo was reported, and that this feature was lacking in IP3R2 KO mice (Perez-Alvarez et al., 2014). These findings appear to contradict those reported by Tanaka et al. (2013). Further comparison between these two methods of blocking astrocyte Ca²⁺ increases will be required to clarify this contradiction.

Blocking Vesicular Release from Astrocytes with dnSNARE or Tetanus Toxin

Ca²⁺ dependent release of neurotransmitters from astrocytes, termed "gliotransmission," is one of the most important concepts presented in glial biology over the past several decades (Araque et al., 2014). While several mechanisms have been suggested to underlie gliotransmission, most studies support a process dependent on a vesicular release system (i.e., a SNARE dependent process) similar to that found in neurons (Zorec et al., 2012; Sahlender et al., 2014). To test the significance of SNAREmediated gliotransmission to synaptic function, a mouse line that expresses a dominant negative form of SNARE (dnSNARE) in astrocytes was developed in our laboratory in 2005 (Pascual et al., 2005). This line was prepared by coinjecting three independent constructs (tetO-lacZ, tetO-dnSNARE, and tetO-eGFP) into fertilized zygotes. In dnSNARE transgenic mice, the expression of the cytosolic portion of the SNARE domain of synaptobrevin 2, lacZ, and eGFP are controlled by tetracycline regulatory system. When crossed with GFAP-tTA mice, the expression of dnSNARE, lacZ, and eGFP are independently controlled by doxycycline. In the absence of doxycycline, dnSNARE is expressed and interferes with SNARE-dependent vesicular release. A limitation of this model is that since dnSNARE was not directly tagged, there is no way in situ to verify that it is not expressed in cells other than astrocytes. Nevertheless, the dnSNARE mice have been used in a large number of studies to demonstrate a role for gliotransmission in synaptic transmission, synaptic plasticity, as well as behavior. However, a recent paper performed an in-depth analysis of dnSNARE mice and found that that the expression of dnSNARE was also expressed by a large population of neurons (Fujita et al., 2014). Given the critical role of the SNARE complex in neurotransmitter release, these findings bring into question the validity of this model and the findings obtained using this system.

Studies using dnSNARE mice suggest that SNARE-mediated astrocytic release of ATP and subsequent adenosine receptor activation regulates neuronal excitability and synaptic plasticity in many brain regions as well as modulate certain behaviors including sleep (Nam et al., 2012). The dnSNARE mice exhibit a weak sleep phenotype under basal conditions, as well as an attenuated "rebound" response to sleep deprivation (Halassa et al., 2009). Cortical slow oscillations, a rhythm characterizing nonrapid eye movement (non-REM) sleep was also found impaired in dnSNARE mice (Fellin et al., 2009). Further, the hippocampal dependent memory deficits produced by sleep deprivation were rescued in dnSNARE mice (Florian et al., 2011). These studies suggest that astrocytes release ATP in vesicular manner and that this plays an important role in sleep patterns and cortical oscillations.

Tenanus toxins (TeNTs) are known to interfere with synaptic vesicular release as well as other processes dependent on vesicular protein trafficking (Galli et al., 1994). Recently, a transgenic model system was developed using TeNT to block vesicular release in astrocytes in vivo (Lee et al., 2014). This transgenic model took advantage of both the tetracycline inducible regulatory system and the Cre-dependent inducible system to block vesicular release from astrocytes. A transgenic line was prepared that contained the tetracycline response element (TRE) followed by a floxed stop cassette and a cassette that when expressed led to the expression of eGFP tagged TeNT (TRE-loxP-STOP-loxP-TeNT^{Δ 1}-GFP). In this system, the expression of TeNT required Cre expression to remove the floxed stop cassette and tetracycline transactivator (tTA) to activate the TRE. TRE-loxP-STOP-loxP-TeNT $^{\Delta 1}$ -GFP mice were crossed with GFAP-tTA and GFAP-CreERt2 lines to create a triple transgenic mouse line. In the triple transgenic mice TeNT can be expressed in astrocytes following tamoxifen treatment; the expression of TeNT is suppressed in the presence of doxycycline. In this model, astrocyte expression of TeNT requires that two different transgenes driven by the GFAP promoter be expressed in the same astrocyte markedly increasing the probability of astrocyte specific expression. Further, as TeNT was directly tagged with eGFP, it is possible to identify all cells expressing TeNT. In contrast to the impaired sleep pattern in dnSNARE mice, astrocytic TeNT-expressing mice showed unaltered sleep patterns compared to triple transgenic mice without tamoxifen or double transgenic mice with tamoxifin (Lee et al., 2014). Studies using this mouse line indicate that basal synaptic transmission as well as normal short- and long-term plasticity in hippocampus in situ is not altered by the expression of TeNT (Lee et al., 2014); these findings bring into question the concept that astrocytes release gliotransmitters that modulate synaptic transmission and plasticity via a vesicular dependent process. Interestingly, the EEG power in low-gamma range during wakefulness was reduced, whereas the EEG power during but not non-REM sleep remain unchanged (Lee et al., 2014). These observations in sleep regulation from astrocytic TeNT-expressing mice do not match with those from dnSNARE mice.

Memory deficit was also detected in the mice expressing TeNT in astrocytes using novel object recognition test (Lee et al., 2014). Fast local field potential oscillations in the gamma frequency are closely correlated with many cognitive functions, including learning, memory storage and retrieval and attention (Basar-Eroglu et al., 1996). Astrocytic TeNT-expressing mice did not show deficit in other behavior tests that involves simpler form of memory processing or are less dependent on cortical processing. The reduction of gamma oscillation power and significant deficit in novel object recognition suggest that the fast neural circuit oscillations are regulated by astrocytes (Lee et al., 2014).

Mouse Models for Assessing Astrocyte Neurotransmitter Regulation

Glutamate Transporter Knockout Mouse Models Astrocytes are responsible for 80-90% of glutamate reuptake in the brain (Tzingounis and Wadiche, 2007), and two of the five glutamate transporters (GluTs) are primarily expressed in astrocytes: Glt-1/EAAT2 and GLAST/EAAT1 (Danbolt, 2001; Huang and Bergles, 2004). There are currently germline knockout mouse models for both Glt-1 (Tanaka et al., 1997) and GLAST (Harada et al., 1998); however their use in vivo has been limited. The Glt-1 germline knockout mouse model suffers from reduced body weight, increased morbidity, and progressive neuronal death due to excitotoxocity (Tanaka et al., 1997). This limits the ability to conduct in vivo experiments, which typically require older mice, to examine the role of astrocytic glutamate reuptake via Glt-1. Recently, the heterozygous Glt-1 (Glt-1 Het) knockout model has become an attractive model for studying the role of Glt-1 in vivo. The Glt-1 Het model does not suffer from the more obvious adverse effects of the full Glt-1 knockout, and displays several interesting behavioral phenotypes and has allowed for the study of Glt-1 in several brain pathologies (Kiryk et al., 2008). The GLAST knockout mice are viable, enabling in vivo studies. GLAST is primarily expressed in the cerebellum and olfactory bulb (Regan et al., 2007), and this mouse model has led to interesting findings concerning the physiological (Martin et al., 2012; Schraven et al., 2012) and pathological (Karlsson et al., 2008, 2009) functions of GLAST. Recently, a Glt-1 floxed mouse model has been developed (Aida et al., 2015). Induced knockout of Glt-1 in adult animals resulted in development of repetitive behaviors and alterations to excitatory transmission due to reduced glutamate uptake. The floxed Glt-1 model when combined with inducible Cre systems will open up new avenues of research into the role of Glt-1 in vivo that were not possible due to the lethality of the germline Glt-1 KO.

Nitrous Oxide Synthase 2 Knockout

In the central nervous system nitric oxide serves a number of roles, and has been shown to act at glutamatergic synapses to enhance glutamate release (Garthwaite, 2008). While neurons in many brain regions are known to produce and release NO via nitric oxide synthase (nNOS), this does not account fully for the activity of NO in several brain regions where excitatory neurons lack nNOS expression. Astrocytes are known to express all three isoforms of NOS, and are the sole expressers of an inducible form of NOS (iNOS or NOS2) that is activated in response to physiological stress in a Ca²⁺ dependent manner (Murphy, 2000; Buskila et al., 2005; Amitai, 2010). Astrocyte-derived NO has been shown to enhance LTP of presynaptic afferents in the spinal cord, as well as enhance synaptic transmission in the neocortex in acute slice preparations (Ikeda and Murase, 2004; Buskila and Amitai, 2010). In vivo evidence for astrocytic-derived NO being a modulator of neuronal transmission has primarily come from the use of a NOS2 knockout mouse, in which it was discovered that deletion of the calmodulin-binding domain of NOS2 led to a net increase in overall NO concentrations in the brains of mutant mice. Interesting, the increase in NO originated from astrocytes through an alternate mechanism without alterations in the relative levels of NOS isoforms (Buskila et al., 2007). Further, these mice display stress and anxiety-related alterations to behavior suggesting a role for astrocyte-derived NO in the modulation of neural circuits (Abu-Ghanem et al., 2008). Currently, the role of astrocyte-derived NO in modulation of neuronal circuit activity remains an understudied area of glial research.

Astrocytic Serine-Racemase Conditional Knockout

D-serine has long been considered one of the three primary gliotransmitters along with ATP/adenosine and glutamate, with putative astrocyte derived D-serine reported to modulate neuronal NMDA receptors (Panatier et al., 2006; Billard, 2008; Oliet and Mothet, 2009; Martineau, 2013; Shigetomi et al., 2013b; Sild and Van Horn, 2013). The enzyme responsible for D-serine production (serine racemase, SR) was initially found to be primarily expressed by astrocytes with some modest expression in neurons (Schell et al., 1995; Mothet et al., 2005). However, more recent studies have called this expression pattern into question (Miya et al., 2008; Ding et al., 2011; Ehmsen et al., 2013). The most recent study of SR localization in mice and human brains finds that nearly all immunostaining for SR is found in neurons and not astrocytes (Balu et al., 2014). Recently, cell type specific knockouts of SR were generated to examine the relative contributions of astrocytes and neurons in the forebrain of mice (Benneyworth et al., 2012). The astrocyte specific knockout of SR led to a modest (~15%) reduction in SR expression, while the neuronal knockout in forebrain neurons reduced SR by much larger amounts (~65%). Further, the neuronal specific SR knockout displayed alterations to LTP at hippocampal synapses that were not found in the astrocyte SR knockout. These findings raise new questions in how astrocytes may be regulating D-serine availability in the brain, which the astrocyte specific SR knockout will be crucial to resolving.

Knockout Models for Astrocyte Membrane Channels

Kir4.1

One of the major roles in the CNS for astrocytes is the buffering of potassium ions in response to neuronal activity. Astrocytes express a variety of potassium channels, but among them Kir4.1 plays a predominant role in their K⁺ buffering capacity (Takumi et al., 1995; Higashi et al., 2001; Djukic et al., 2007). A germline full Kir4.1 knockout model has provided insight into the role of potassium buffering in response to hyperammonemic conditions (Stephan et al., 2012) and the channel's role in regulating astrocyte membrane potential during development (Seifert et al., 2009). An astrocyte conditional knockout model for Kir4.1 was generated by the McCarthy lab to provide a cleaner animal model alternative to the germline KO (Djukic et al., 2007). The conditional knockout astrocytes display reduced glutamate clearance and decreased resting membrane voltage, while neuronal plasticity was enhanced implicating Kir4.1 as an important mediator of extracellular potassium regulation. These finding have been confirmed in an in vivo study utilizing the Kir4.1 cKO, with the cKO mice found to have reduced capacity to regulate extracellular potassium levels compared to controls (Chever et al., 2010). Usage of this model in awake mice to examine the effect of altered potassium homeostasis may provide unique insights into how astrocytes regulate neuronal networks.

Connexins

Astrocytes in the brain exist not only as single units occupying a discrete domain, but also as a network of cells connected by connexin (Cx) gap junctions. Astrocytes express two major connexin proteins (Cx43 and Cx30) with germline and conditional knockout mouse models existing (Dermietzel et al., 2000; Teubner et al., 2003; Wiencken-Barger et al., 2007). These mouse models display a variety of alterations to behavior, synaptic transmission, metabolic support, and ion homeostasis (Giaume and Theis, 2010; Pannasch and Rouach, 2013). However, there are a large number of open questions concerning the role of gap junction communication and astrocyte networks in vivo. Currently, the only in vivo experiments in these models have involved behavioral studies, indicating a significant impact on neuronal circuit function (for an excellent review please see Pannasch and Rouach, 2013). Further exploration of neuronal activity in vivo utilizing these models, as well as generation of inducible knockout systems, represents novel avenues of research for understanding astrocyte network function.

Current Limitations in Genetically Targeting Astrocytes

At this time, there is not a single gene delivery system that can be used to exclusively express transgenes or recombine naïve genes in astrocytes. The common astrocyte marker proteins (GFAP, S100b, glutamine synthetase, aquaporin 4, connexin43, GLAST, GLT1, ALDH1L1) are either expressed in alternate subsets of mature CNS cells (Dunham et al., 1992; Zhuo et al., 2001; Su et al., 2004; Hachem et al., 2005; Regan et al., 2007; Donato et al., 2013), in progenitor CNS cells that give rise to multiple CNS cell types (Hartfuss et al., 2001; Casper and McCarthy, 2006), or are expressed outside the CNS (Jessen et al., 1990; Rinholm et al., 2007; Darlot et al., 2008; Meabon et al., 2012; Rutkovskiy et al., 2012; Jesus et al., 2014; Kato et al., 2014). The GFAP transcriptional regulatory unit (TRU) is probably the best characterized and most frequently used TRU for regulating gene expression in astrocytes and serves as a good example to illustrate the difficulties in targeting genes to astrocytes. The GFAP TRU is active in progenitor cells that give rise to astrocytes, neurons, and oligodendrocytes (Casper and McCarthy, 2006). Even in the mature CNS, certain populations of neurons express GFAP (Zhuo et al., 2001; Su et al., 2004; Regan et al., 2007). Further, in the periphery, non-myelinating peripheral glia (Jessen et al., 1990) as well as certain populations of non-neural cells (e.g., stellate cells in the liver) are GFAP+ (Lim et al., 2008) and will express transgenes driven by the GFAP TRU. To avoid transgene expression in progenitor cells, many laboratories have developed inducible gene regulatory systems (Casper and McCarthy, 2006; Hirrlinger et al., 2006; Mori et al., 2006). This approach circumvents gene expression in progenitors during development but does not affect the expression of transgenes in peripheral glia, adult stem cells or

small populations of neurons that normally express GFAP. How much of a problem this presents depends on the question being asked. When studying a transgene in the mature CNS that can be assumed not to affect developmental processes nor lead to a peripheral phenotype it is reasonable to use many of the available astrocyte TRU to drive transgenes to astrocytes. For example, the GFAP TRU can be used to express eGFP, GCaMP, or DREADD receptors that must be activated by an exogenous ligand without preventative concern about developmental expression. However, when using the GFAP TRU to drive bioactive molecules such as DREADD receptors or inducible Cre recombinase, it is important to remain cognizant that in addition to astrocytes, peripheral GFAP⁺ cells, adult stem cells, and certain neurons will also be affected. Alternatively, when expressing molecules that innately affect biological processes (e.g., a dominant negative mutation, constitutively active signaling molecule or Cre recombinase), it is very important to consider the consequences of expression during development.

The above discussion assumes that the astrocyte TRU is acting with the fidelity of the endogenous TRU. Unfortunately, this is often not the case and is largely dependent on the genomic construct used to prepare the TRU. Most typically, investigators use a fragment of the TRU to drive transgene expression. As transgenes generally integrate somewhat randomly at active sites in the genome, the activity of surrounding genomic regulatory units can markedly affect transgene expression levels as well as the cells the transgene is expressed. This problem is markedly reduced using a BAC approach where very large genomic segments containing the TRU and inserted transgene are used to prepare transgenic lines. One final difficulty is that there are no astrocyte TRU systems that can be used to target subpopulations of astrocytes. Currently, the only way to genetically-manipulate subpopulations of astrocytes is to transduce these cells using viral vectors. Unfortunately, this generally restricts the size of the TRU used to target astrocytes and requires viral injection that may lead to subtle or striking changes in astrocyte function.

In summary, genetic manipulation of astrocytes is a very powerful tool for assessing the role of these cells in physiology, disease, and behavior. However, just as one has to verify the specificity of pharmacological reagents, great care must be used to insure the specificity of genetic manipulations.

Emerging Technologies for Manipulating Astrocytic Signaling *In Vivo*

Temporal Control of GPCR Signaling Using Optogenetic GPCRs

Optogenetically activated GPCR signaling is a reasonable alternative to ChR2 stimulation in astrocytes. There are two systems based on adrenergic receptors: Opto-alpha-1 (Gq linked) and opto-beta-1 (Gs linked) (Airan et al., 2009). Activation of these systems use similar experimental methods as optogenetics, but have the advantage of activating endogenous signaling cascades that exist in astrocytes. To date, these systems have not been tested for astrocytes *in vivo*, only in astroglia in culture (Figueiredo et al., 2014). While the Gq-linked opto-alpha-1 predictably elicited Ca²⁺ increases via release from intracellular stores, the Gs-linked opto-beta-1 was found to also trigger Ca²⁺ increases in a cyclic AMP-dependent manner. In culture systems, it has been shown that the G $\beta\gamma$ subunit of Gs-coupled GPCRs is capable of directly gating IP3Rs (Zeng et al., 2003). Recently, experiments in HEK293 cells discovered that IP3R2 complexes with G α s and type 6 adenyl cyclase (AC6), and facilitates crosstalk between the two signaling pathways (Tovey et al., 2008, 2010). Further study into the mechanism behind increases in Ca²⁺ in astrocytes may lead to the identification of novel pathways regulating Ca²⁺ signaling.

Recently, the concept of using opsin based-pigments to develop optogenetic tools for modulating GPCR signaling was suggested (Koyanagi and Terakita, 2014). One of the candidates is melanopsin (OPN4), a Gq-coupled opsin that is originally found in a subtype of retinal ganglion cells (Hatori and Panda, 2010; Sexton et al., 2012). Several groups have used ectopic expression of OPN4 to control intracellular Ca²⁺ dynamics in neurons (Koizumi et al., 2013). In 2013, Karunarathne and colleagues used non-rhodopsin opsins to activate native Gq, Gi/o, and Gs signaling in localized regions of a single cell, and were able to gain spatial-temporal control over immune cell migration (Karunarathne et al., 2013a). These studies suggest high potential of opsins as optogenetic GPCRs for *in vivo* astrocyte research.

Studying G-Protein Independent Signaling Using Biased DREADDs

One important aspect of GPCR signaling in astrocytes that has rarely been explored is the role of G-protein independent signaling. Endogenous GPCR activation not only initiates signaling via heterotrimeric G proteins, but also recruits proteins of the arrestin family, which act as scaffolding proteins and promote G protein-independent signaling (Pierce et al., 2002; Rajagopal et al., 2010; Shukla et al., 2011). Research has shown that arrestin 3 (β -arrestin 2) is expressed in astrocytes *ex vivo* (Bruchas et al., 2006; McLennan et al., 2008), and it is involved in kappa opioid receptor (KOR)-induced proliferation (McLennan et al., 2008; Miyatake et al., 2009), reduction of chemical-induced apoptosis (Zhu and Reiser, 2014), CXCR7 mediated inflammatory response (Odemis et al., 2012; Lipfert et al., 2013) and beta 2-adrenergic receptor (β2AR)-mediated glycogenolysis (Dong et al., 2001; Du et al., 2010) in astrocytes. As a scaffolding protein, β -arrestins also mediate internalization and ubiquitylation for many ion channels and transporters expressed in astrocytes (Shukla et al., 2011). As the list of signaling pathways that β -arrestins can regulate in astrocytes grows, it is important to dissect the relative contribution of G-protein independent signaling pathway to known functions of astrocytic GPCR signaling.

Recently, a modified Gq-DREADD that has strong biases toward arrestin-signaling was developed (Nakajima and Wess, 2012). This receptor was generated by introducing a point mutation within the highly conserved DRY motif [Rq(R165L)] of Gq-DREADD, which results in lack of ability to activate heterotrimetic G proteins. Therefore, CNO-induced Rq(R165L) activation has no effect on the levels of conventional second messages, but can promote CNO-dependent and arrestindependent signaling in biological systems (Nakajima and Wess, 2012). This novel GPCR represents an excellent tool to study the relative contribution of G protein-dependent and independent pathways in the known function of astrocytes, as well as reveal the physiological roles of astrocytic-arrestin signaling *in vivo*.

Conditional Gaq/Ga11 KO

GPCR KO mouse lines for all the known G α subunits have been developed to analyze the physiological function of GPCR signaling *in vivo* (Offermanns, 1999), many of which show deficiencies in CNS-related physiology (Offermanns, 2001). Although these KO mouse lines are not astrocyte specific, inducible and conditional G α q/G α 11 KO mice are available (Wettschureck et al., 2001) and can be combined with astrocytic specific Cre mouse line to selectively knock out Gq-GPCR signaling in astrocytes.

The conditional Gaq/Ga11 KO system was developed to study the role of Gaq/Ga11 signaling in specific tissues without developmental problems exhibited in the constitutive KO mouse line for both genes. This mouse line was developed using the Cre/LoxP system where the Gaq gene (gnaq) is conditionally inactivated in Ga11 KO (gna11-/-) mice, which do not have obvious behavior defect (Stanislaus et al., 1998). Therefore, mice homozygous for gnaq^{flox} gene appear normal until Cre recombinase is introduced. The conditional Gaq/Ga11 KO mouse was first used with *MLC2a*-Cre to obtain cardiomyocytespecific Gaq/Ga11 deficiency, resulting in a nearly complete recombination of gnaq^{flox} in cardiomyocytes (Wettschureck et al., 2001).

In 2006, the Gaq/Ga11 cKO mice was crossed to mice that express Cre under the control of the promoter of the Ca²⁺/calmodulin-dependent protein kinase IIα gene (*Camkcre4* mice) to generate forebrain specific and neuronal Gaq/Ga11 double KO mice (Wettschureck et al., 2004, 2006; Broicher et al., 2008), resulting in impaired endocannabinoid levels, increased seizure susceptibility (Wettschureck et al., 2006), and lack of maternal behavior in females (Wettschureck et al., 2004). The Gaq/Ga11 cKO line was also used to disrupt glial Gq/11 signaling in combination with Nestin-Cre mouse (Wettschureck et al., 2005), resulting in loss of Gq/11 in the neural stem cells that gives rise to both neurons and astrocytes. Although the Gq/11 signaling deficiency did not cause gross morphological changes in the developing nervous system, pups with insufficient Gq/11 signaling suffers from hypothalamic growth hormone deficiency and somatotroph hypoplasia, dwarfism, and anorexia (Wettschureck et al., 2005). Given the availability of astrocytic-specific Cre mice, it will be possible to isolate the contribution of astrocytic Gq/11 signaling in vivo.

Summary and Future Directions

There is no doubt that genetic tools will play an important role in understanding the role of astrocytes in physiology, behavior, and neurological disorders. Studies cited above provide strong evidence that astrocytes are doing much more than simply insulating synapses and providing nutrients to neurons. It is not

surprising that findings using genetic tools may conflict with previous findings using pharmacological methods to perturb astrocyte function. It is also not surprising that different genetic approaches (e.g., dnSNARE and tetanus toxin expression) may yield different results. These conflicts require additional studies using multiple tools (pharmacological and genetic) to refine our understanding of astrocyte function. Currently, there are several important limitations in the genetic tools available for perturbing astrocyte function in vivo. First, we are extremely limited in the transcriptional units (promoters) available for expressing molecules in astrocytes. Currently, all available transcriptional units drive transgene expression in cells other than astrocytes. Further, during development, most astrocyte promoters drive gene expression in progenitor cells that give rise to neurons, oligodendrocytes, and astrocytes (Casper and McCarthy, 2006). Consequently, it is necessary to use inducible systems linked to astrocyte promoters to avoid transgene expression in progenitors during development. Second, when expressing transgenes that drive function, it is important to remember that the transgene may be overexpressed and targeted to cellular compartments not normally found. While this can be partially overcome using an

References

- Abu-Ghanem, Y., Cohen, H., Buskila, Y., Grauer, E., and Amitai, Y. (2008). Enhanced stress reactivity in nitric oxide synthase type 2 mutant mice: findings in support of astrocytic nitrosative modulation of behavior. *Neuroscience* 156, 257–265. doi: 10.1016/j.neuroscience.2008. 07.043
- Ackman, J. B., Ramos, R. L., Sarkisian, M. R., and Loturco, J. J. (2007). Citron kinase is required for postnatal neurogenesis in the hippocampus. *Dev. Neurosci.* 29, 113–123. doi: 10.1159/000096216
- Agulhon, C., Boyt, K. M., Xie, A. X., Friocourt, F., Roth, B. L., and McCarthy, K. D. (2013). Modulation of the autonomic nervous system and behaviour by acute glial cell Gq protein-coupled receptor activation *in vivo. J. Physiol.* 591, 5599–5609. doi: 10.1113/jphysiol.2013.261289
- Agulhon, C., Fiacco, T. A., and McCarthy, K. D. (2010). Hippocampal short- and long-term plasticity are not modulated by astrocyte Ca²⁺ signaling. *Science* 327, 1250–1254. doi: 10.1126/science.1184821
- Agulhon, C., Petravicz, J., McMullen, A. B., Sweger, E. J., Minton, S. K., Taves, S. R., et al. (2008). What is the role of astrocyte calcium in neurophysiology? *Neuron* 59, 932–946. doi: 10.1016/j.neuron.2008.09.004
- Agulhon, C., Sun, M. Y., Murphy, T., Myers, T., Lauderdale, K., and Fiacco, T. A. (2012). Calcium signaling and gliotransmission in normal vs. reactive astrocytes. *Front. Pharmacol.* 3:139. doi: 10.3389/fphar.2012.00139
- Aida, T., Yoshida, J., Nomura, M., Tanimura, A., Iino, Y., Soma, M., et al. (2015). Astroglial glutamate transporter deficiency increases synaptic excitability and leads to pathological repetitive behaviors in mice. *Neuropsychopharmacology*. doi: 10.1038/npp.2015.26. [Epub ahead of print].
- Airan, R. D., Thompson, K. R., Fenno, L. E., Bernstein, H., and Deisseroth, K. (2009). Temporally precise *in vivo* control of intracellular signalling. *Nature* 458, 1025–1029. doi: 10.1038/nature07926
- Alexander, G. M., Rogan, S. C., Abbas, A. I., Armbruster, B. N., Pei, Y., Allen, J. A., et al. (2009). Remote control of neuronal activity in transgenic mice expressing evolved G protein-coupled receptors. *Neuron* 63, 27–39. doi: 10.1016/j.neuron.2009.06.014
- Amir, R. E., Van Den Veyver, I. B., Wan, M., Tran, C. Q., Francke, U., and Zoghbi, H. Y. (1999). Rett syndrome is caused by mutations in X-linked MECP2, encoding methyl-CpG-binding protein 2. *Nat. Genet.* 23, 185–188. doi: 10.1038/13810

inducible gene regulatory system, it is likely that this will remain a caveat until we know a great deal more about the cell machinery in astrocytes that target molecules to specific cellular compartments. Third, we currently lack promoters that can be used to drive transgene expression in subtypes of astrocytes. Subtype specific astrocyte promoters will enable important advances with respect to the heterogeneity of astrocytes as well as their different functional roles.

In summary, while genetic manipulation of astrocytes is in its early stages of development, genetic models have already provided important insight into the role of astrocytes in physiology, behavior, and neurological diseases. It seems very likely that future advances in this field will depend largely on genetic approaches currently available as well as those under development.

Acknowledgments

We thank Dr. T. Kendall Harden for his generous help with the preparation of **Figure 1**. The work in McCarthy laboratory is supported by NINDS RO1-NS20212-26 and RO1-MH099564.

- Amitai, Y. (2010). Physiologic role for "inducible" nitric oxide synthase: a new form of astrocytic-neuronal interface. *Glia* 58, 1775–1781. doi: 10.1002/glia. 21057
- Araque, A., Carmignoto, G., Haydon, P. G., Oliet, S. H. R., Robitaille, R., and Volterra, A. (2014). Gliotransmitters travel in time and space. *Neuron* 81, 728–739. doi:10.1016/j.neuron.2014.02.007
- Armbruster, B. N., Li, X., Pausch, M. H., Herlitze, S., and Roth, B. L. (2007). Evolving the lock to fit the key to create a family of G protein-coupled receptors potently activated by an inert ligand. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 104, 5163–5168. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0700293104
- Aschauer, D. F., Kreuz, S., and Rumpel, S. (2013). Analysis of transduction efficiency, tropism and axonal transport of AAV serotypes 1, 2, 5, 6, 8 and 9 in the mouse brain. *PLoS ONE* 8:e76310. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone. 0076310
- Atkinson, P. J., Dellovade, T., Albers, D., Von Schack, D., Saraf, K., Needle, E., et al. (2009). Sonic Hedgehog signaling in astrocytes is dependent on p38 mitogenactivated protein kinase and G-protein receptor kinase 2. J. Neurochem. 108, 1539–1549. doi: 10.1111/j.1471-4159.2009.05900.x
- Ballas, N., Lioy, D. T., Grunseich, C., and Mandel, G. (2009). Non-cell autonomous influence of MeCP2-deficient glia on neuronal dendritic morphology. *Nat. Neurosci.* 12, 311–317. doi: 10.1038/nn.2275
- Balu, D. T., Takagi, S., Puhl, M. D., Benneyworth, M. A., and Coyle, J. T. (2014). D-serine and serine racemase are localized to neurons in the adult mouse and human forebrain. *Cell. Mol. Neurobiol.* 34, 419–435. doi: 10.1007/s10571-014-0027-z
- Basar-Eroglu, C., Struber, D., Schurmann, M., Stadler, M., and Basar, E. (1996). Gamma-band responses in the brain: a short review of psychophysiological correlates and functional significance. *Int. J. Psychophysiol.* 24, 101–112. doi: 10.1016/S0167-8760(96)00051-7
- Bender, D., Holschbach, M., and Stocklin, G. (1994). Synthesis of n.c.a. carbon-11 labelled clozapine and its major metabolite clozapine-N-oxide and comparison of their biodistribution in mice. *Nucl. Med. Biol.* 21, 921–925. doi: 10.1016/0969-8051(94)90080-9
- Benesova, J., Hock, M., Butenko, O., Prajerova, I., Anderova, M., and Chvatal, A. (2009). Quantification of astrocyte volume changes during ischemia *in situ* reveals two populations of astrocytes in the cortex of GFAP/EGFP mice. *J. Neurosci. Res.* 87, 96–111. doi: 10.1002/jnr. 21828

- Benneyworth, M. A., Li, Y., Basu, A. C., Bolshakov, V. Y., and Coyle, J. T. (2012). Cell selective conditional null mutations of serine racemase demonstrate a predominate localization in cortical glutamatergic neurons. *Cell. Mol. Neurobiol.* 32, 613–624. doi: 10.1007/s10571-012-9808-4
- Beppu, K., Sasaki, T., Tanaka, K. F., Yamanaka, A., Fukazawa, Y., Shigemoto, R., et al. (2014). Optogenetic countering of glial acidosis suppresses glial glutamate release and ischemic brain damage. *Neuron* 81, 314–320. doi: 10.1016/j.neuron.2013.11.011
- Billard, J. M. (2008). D-serine signalling as a prominent determinant of neuronalglial dialogue in the healthy and diseased brain. J. Cell. Mol. Med. 12, 1872–1884. doi: 10.1111/j.1582-4934.2008.00315.x
- Bonder, D. E., and McCarthy, K. D. (2014). Astrocytic Gq-GPCR-Linked IP3R-Dependent C_a^{2+} signaling does not mediate neurovascular coupling in mouse visual cortex *in vivo. J. Neurosci.* 34, 13139–13150. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.2591-14.2014
- Broicher, T., Wettschureck, N., Munsch, T., Coulon, P., Meuth, S. G., Kanyshkova, T., et al. (2008). Muscarinic ACh receptor-mediated control of thalamic activity via G(q)/G (11)-family G-proteins. *Pflugers Arch.* 456, 1049–1060. doi: 10.1007/s00424-008-0473-x
- Bruchas, M. R., Macey, T. A., Lowe, J. D., and Chavkin, C. (2006). Kappa opioid receptor activation of p38 MAPK is GRK3- and arrestin-dependent in neurons and astrocytes. *J. Biol. Chem.* 281, 18081–18089. doi: 10.1074/jbc. M513640200
- Bull, C., Freitas, K. C., Zou, S., Poland, R. S., Syed, W. A., Urban, D. J., et al. (2014). Rat nucleus accumbens core astrocytes modulate reward and the motivation to self-administer ethanol after abstinence. *Neuropsychopharmacology* 39, 2835–2845. doi: 10.1038/npp.2014.135
- Burkhardt, U., Wojcik, B., Zimmermann, M., and Klein, J. (2014). Phospholipase D is a target for inhibition of astroglial proliferation by ethanol. *Neuropharmacology* 79, 1–9. doi: 10.1016/j.neuropharm.2013.11.002
- Bushong, E. A., Martone, M. E., Jones, Y. Z., and Ellisman, M. H. (2002). Protoplasmic astrocytes in CA1 stratum radiatum occupy separate anatomical domains. *J. Neurosci.* 22, 183–192.
- Buskila, Y., Abu-Ghanem, Y., Levi, Y., Moran, A., Grauer, E., and Amitai, Y. (2007). Enhanced astrocytic nitric oxide production and neuronal modifications in the neocortex of a NOS2 mutant mouse. *PLoS ONE* 2:e843. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0000843
- Buskila, Y., and Amitai, Y. (2010). Astrocytic iNOS-dependent enhancement of synaptic release in mouse neocortex. J. Neurophysiol. 103, 1322–1328. doi: 10.1152/jn.00676.2009
- Buskila, Y., Farkash, S., Hershfinkel, M., and Amitai, Y. (2005). Rapid and reactive nitric oxide production by astrocytes in mouse neocortical slices. *Glia* 52, 169–176. doi: 10.1002/glia.20217
- Cao, X., Li, L. P., Wang, Q., Wu, Q., Hu, H. H., Zhang, M., et al. (2013). Astrocytederived ATP modulates depressive-like behaviors. *Nat. Med.* 19, 773–777. doi: 10.1038/nm.3162
- Casper, K. B., and McCarthy, K. D. (2006). GFAP-positive progenitor cells produce neurons and oligodendrocytes throughout the CNS. *Mol. Cell. Neurosci.* 31, 676–684. doi: 10.1016/j.mcn.2005.12.006
- Chen, N., Sugihara, H., Sharma, J., Perea, G., Petravicz, J., Le, C., et al. (2012). Nucleus basalis-enabled stimulus-specific plasticity in the visual cortex is mediated by astrocytes. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 109, E2832–E2841. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1206557109
- Chever, O., Djukic, B., McCarthy, K. D., and Amzica, F. (2010). Implication of Kir4.1 channel in excess potassium clearance: an *in vivo* study on anesthetized glial-conditional Kir4.1 knock-out mice. *J. Neurosci.* 30, 15769–15777. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.2078-10.2010
- Danbolt, N. C. (2001). Glutamate uptake. Prog. Neurobiol. 65, 1–105. doi: 10.1016/S0301-0082(00)00067-8
- Danussi, C., Akavia, U. D., Niola, F., Jovic, A., Lasorella, A., Pe'er, D., et al. (2013). RHPN2 drives mesenchymal transformation in malignant glioma by triggering RhoA activation. *Cancer Res.* 73, 5140–5150. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-13-1168-T
- Darlot, F., Artuso, A., Lautredou-Audouy, N., and Casellas, D. (2008). Topology of Schwann cells and sympathetic innervation along preglomerular vessels: a confocal microscopic study in protein S100B/EGFP transgenic mice. Am. J. Physiol. Renal Physiol. 295, F1142–F1148. doi: 10.1152/ajprenal.00599.2007

- Dermietzel, R., Gao, Y., Scemes, E., Vieira, D., Urban, M., Kremer, M., et al. (2000). Connexin43 null mice reveal that astrocytes express multiple connexins. *Brain Res. Brain Res. Rev.* 32, 45–56. doi: 10.1016/S0165-0173(99)00067-3
- Devaraju, P., Sun, M. Y., Myers, T. L., Lauderdale, K., and Fiacco, T. A. (2013). Astrocytic group I mGluR-dependent potentiation of astrocytic glutamate and potassium uptake. J. Neurophysiol. 109, 2404–2414. doi: 10.1152/jn.00517.2012
- Di Castro, M. A., Chuquet, J., Liaudet, N., Bhaukaurally, K., Santello, M., Bouvier, D., et al. (2011). Local Ca²⁺ detection and modulation of synaptic release by astrocytes. *Nat. Neurosci.* 14, 1276–1284. doi: 10.1038/nn.2929
- Ding, X., Ma, N., Nagahama, M., Yamada, K., and Semba, R. (2011). Localization of D-serine and serine racemase in neurons and neuroglias in mouse brain. *Neurol. Sci.* 32, 263–267. doi: 10.1007/s10072-010-0422-2
- DiNuzzo, M., Mangia, S., Maraviglia, B., and Giove, F. (2013). Regulatory mechanisms for glycogenolysis and K+ uptake in brain astrocytes. *Neurochem. Int.* 63, 458–464. doi: 10.1016/j.neuint.2013.08.004
- Djukic, B., Casper, K. B., Philpot, B. D., Chin, L. S., and McCarthy, K. D. (2007). Conditional knock-out of Kir4.1 leads to glial membrane depolarization, inhibition of potassium and glutamate uptake, and enhanced short-term synaptic potentiation. J. Neurosci. 27, 11354–11365. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.0723-07.2007
- Donato, R., Cannon, B. R., Sorci, G., Riuzzi, F., Hsu, K., Weber, D. J., et al. (2013). Functions of \$100 proteins. *Curr. Mol. Med.* 13, 24–57. doi: 10.2174/156652413804486214
- Dong, S., Rogan, S. C., and Roth, B. L. (2010). Directed molecular evolution of DREADDs: a generic approach to creating next-generation RASSLs. *Nat. Protoc.* 5, 561–573. doi: 10.1038/nprot.2009.239
- Dong, X., Han, S., Zylka, M. J., Simon, M. I., and Anderson, D. J. (2001). A diverse family of GPCRs expressed in specific subsets of nociceptive sensory neurons. *Cell* 106, 619–632. doi: 10.1016/S0092-8674(01)00483-4
- Du, T., Li, B., Li, H., Li, M., Hertz, L., and Peng, L. (2010). Signaling pathways of isoproterenol-induced ERK1/2 phosphorylation in primary cultures of astrocytes are concentration-dependent. J. Neurochem. 115, 1007–1023. doi: 10.1111/j.1471-4159.2010.06995.x
- Duffy, H. S., Ashton, A. W., O'Donnell, P., Coombs, W., Taffet, S. M., Delmar, M., et al. (2004). Regulation of connexin43 protein complexes by intracellular acidification. *Circ. Res.* 94, 215–222. doi: 10.1161/01.RES.0000113924. 06926.11
- Dunham, B., Liu, S., Taffet, S., Trabka-Janik, E., Delmar, M., Petryshyn, R., et al. (1992). Immunolocalization and expression of functional and nonfunctional cell-to-cell channels from wild-type and mutant rat heart connexin43 cDNA. *Circ. Res.* 70, 1233–1243. doi: 10.1161/01.RES.70.6.1233
- Ehmsen, J. T., Ma, T. M., Sason, H., Rosenberg, D., Ogo, T., Furuya, S., et al. (2013). D-serine in glia and neurons derives from 3-phosphoglycerate dehydrogenase. *J. Neurosci.* 33, 12464–12469. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.4914-12.2013
- Fellin, T., Halassa, M. M., Terunuma, M., Succol, F., Takano, H., Frank, M., et al. (2009). Endogenous nonneuronal modulators of synaptic transmission control cortical slow oscillations *in vivo*. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 106, 15037–15042. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0906419106
- Fiacco, T. A., Agulhon, C., and McCarthy, K. D. (2009). Sorting out astrocyte physiology from pharmacology. Annu. Rev. Pharmacol. Toxicol. 49, 151–174. doi: 10.1146/annurev.pharmtox.011008.145602
- Fiacco, T. A., Agulhon, C., Taves, S. R., Petravicz, J., Casper, K. B., Dong, X., et al. (2007). Selective stimulation of astrocyte calcium *in situ* does not affect neuronal excitatory synaptic activity. *Neuron* 54, 611–626. doi: 10.1016/j.neuron.2007.04.032
- Figueiredo, M., Lane, S., Stout, R. F. Jr., Liu, B., Parpura, V., Teschemacher, A. G., et al. (2014). Comparative analysis of optogenetic actuators in cultured astrocytes. *Cell Calcium* 56, 208–214. doi: 10.1016/j.ceca.2014.07.007
- Florian, C., Vecsey, C. G., Halassa, M. M., Haydon, P. G., and Abel, T. (2011). Astrocyte-derived adenosine and A1 receptor activity contribute to sleep loss-induced deficits in hippocampal synaptic plasticity and memory in mice. *J. Neurosci.* 31, 6956–6962. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.5761-10.2011
- Foskett, J. K., White, C., Cheung, K. H., and Mak, D. O. (2007). Inositol trisphosphate receptor Ca²⁺ release channels. *Physiol. Rev.* 87, 593–658. doi: 10.1152/physrev.00035.2006

- Fujino, I., Yamada, N., Miyawaki, A., Hasegawa, M., Furuichi, T., and Mikoshiba, K. (1995). Differential expression of type 2 and type 3 inositol 1,4,5trisphosphate receptor mRNAs in various mouse tissues: *in situ* hybridization study. *Cell Tissue Res.* 280, 201–210. doi: 10.1007/s004410050345
- Fujita, T., Chen, M. J., Li, B., Smith, N. A., Peng, W., Sun, W., et al. (2014). Neuronal transgene expression in dominant-negative SNARE mice. J. Neurosci. 34, 16594–16604. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.2585-14.2014
- Galli, T., Chilcote, T., Mundigl, O., Binz, T., Niemann, H., and De Camilli, P. (1994). Tetanus toxin-mediated cleavage of cellubrevin impairs exocytosis of transferrin receptor-containing vesicles in CHO cells. J. Cell Biol. 125, 1015–1024. doi: 10.1083/jcb.125.5.1015
- Garthwaite, J. (2008). Concepts of neural nitric oxide-mediated transmission. *Eur. J. Neurosci.* 27, 2783–2802. doi: 10.1111/j.1460-9568.2008.06285.x
- Gholizadeh, S., Tharmalingam, S., MacAldaz, M. E., and Hampson, D. R. (2013). Transduction of the central nervous system after intracerebroventricular injection of adeno-associated viral vectors in neonatal and juvenile mice. *Hum. Gene Ther. Methods* 24, 205–213. doi: 10.1089/hgtb.2013.076
- Giaume, C., and Theis, M. (2010). Pharmacological and genetic approaches to study connexin-mediated channels in glial cells of the central nervous system. *Brain Res. Rev.* 63, 160–176. doi: 10.1016/j.brainresrev.2009.11.005
- Gourine, A. V., Kasymov, V., Marina, N., Tang, F., Figueiredo, M. F., Lane, S., et al. (2010). Astrocytes control breathing through pH-dependent release of ATP. *Science* 329, 571–575. doi: 10.1126/science.1190721
- Guettier, J. M., Gautam, D., Scarselli, M., Ruiz De Azua, I., Li, J. H., Rosemond, E., et al. (2009). A chemical-genetic approach to study G protein regulation of beta cell function *in vivo. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 106, 19197–19202. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0906593106
- Guy, J., Gan, J., Selfridge, J., Cobb, S., and Bird, A. (2007). Reversal of neurological defects in a mouse model of Rett syndrome. *Science* 315, 1143–1147. doi: 10.1126/science.1138389
- Ha, J. S., Dho, S. H., Youm, T. H., Kwon, K. S., and Park, S. S. (2014). Astrocytic phospholipase A2 contributes to neuronal glutamate toxicity. *Brain Res.* 1590, 97–106. doi: 10.1016/j.brainres.2014.10.015
- Hachem, S., Aguirre, A., Vives, V., Marks, A., Gallo, V., and Legraverend, C. (2005). Spatial and temporal expression of S100B in cells of oligodendrocyte lineage. *Glia* 51, 81–97. doi: 10.1002/glia.20184
- Halassa, M. M., Florian, C., Fellin, T., Munoz, J. R., Lee, S. Y., Abel, T., et al. (2009). Astrocytic modulation of sleep homeostasis and cognitive consequences of sleep loss. *Neuron* 61, 213–219. doi: 10.1016/j.neuron.2008.11.024
- Halassa, M. M., and Haydon, P. G. (2010). Integrated brain circuits: astrocytic networks modulate neuronal activity and behavior. *Annu. Rev. Physiol.* 72, 335–355. doi: 10.1146/annurev-physiol-021909-135843
- Hamilton, N. B., and Attwell, D. (2010). Do astrocytes really exocytose neurotransmitters? *Nat. Rev. Neurosci.* 11, 227–238. doi: 10.1038/nrn2803
- Han, J., Kesner, P., Metna-Laurent, M., Duan, T., Xu, L., Georges, F., et al. (2012). Acute cannabinoids impair working memory through astroglial CB1 receptor modulation of hippocampal LTD. *Cell* 148, 1039–1050. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2012.01.037
- Harada, T., Harada, C., Watanabe, M., Inoue, Y., Sakagawa, T., Nakayama, N., et al. (1998). Functions of the two glutamate transporters GLAST and GLT-1 in the retina. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 95, 4663–4666. doi: 10.1073/pnas.95.8.4663
- Hartfuss, E., Galli, R., Heins, N., and Gotz, M. (2001). Characterization of CNS precursor subtypes and radial glia. *Dev. Biol.* 229, 15–30. doi: 10.1006/dbio.2000.9962
- Hatori, M., and Panda, S. (2010). The emerging roles of melanopsin in behavioral adaptation to light. *Trends Mol. Med.* 16, 435–446. doi: 10.1016/j.molmed.2010.07.005
- Haustein, M. D., Kracun, S., Lu, X. H., Shih, T., Jackson-Weaver, O., Tong, X., et al. (2014). Conditions and constraints for astrocyte calcium signaling in the hippocampal mossy fiber pathway. *Neuron* 82, 413–429. doi: 10.1016/j.neuron.2014.02.041
- Haydon, P. G., and Carmignoto, G. (2006). Astrocyte control of synaptic transmission and neurovascular coupling. *Physiol. Rev.* 86, 1009–1031. doi: 10.1152/physrev.00049.2005
- Hertle, D. N., and Yeckel, M. F. (2007). Distribution of inositol-1,4,5trisphosphate receptor isotypes and ryanodine receptor isotypes during maturation of the rat hippocampus. *Neuroscience* 150, 625–638. doi: 10.1016/j.neuroscience.2007.09.058

- Higashi, K., Fujita, A., Inanobe, A., Tanemoto, M., Doi, K., Kubo, T., et al. (2001). An inwardly rectifying K(+) channel, Kir4.1, expressed in astrocytes surrounds synapses and blood vessels in brain. *Am. J. Physiol. Cell Physiol.* 281, C922–C931.
- Hirrlinger, P. G., Scheller, A., Braun, C., Hirrlinger, J., and Kirchhoff, F. (2006). Temporal control of gene recombination in astrocytes by transgenic expression of the tamoxifen-inducible DNA recombinase variant CreERT2. *Glia* 54, 11–20. doi: 10.1002/glia.20342
- Holtje, M., Hoffmann, A., Hofmann, F., Mucke, C., Grosse, G., Van Rooijen, N., et al. (2005). Role of Rho GTPase in astrocyte morphology and migratory response during *in vitro* wound healing. *J. Neurochem.* 95, 1237–1248. doi: 10.1111/j.1471-4159.2005.03443.x
- Holtzclaw, L. A., Pandhit, S., Bare, D. J., Mignery, G. A., and Russell, J. T. (2002). Astrocytes in adult rat brain express type 2 inositol 1,4,5-trisphosphate receptors. *Glia* 39, 69–84. doi: 10.1002/glia.10085
- Huang, Y. H., and Bergles, D. E. (2004). Glutamate transporters bring competition to the synapse. *Curr. Opin. Neurobiol.* 14, 346–352. doi: 10.1016/j.conb.2004.05.007
- Ikeda, H., and Murase, K. (2004). Glial nitric oxide-mediated long-term presynaptic facilitation revealed by optical imaging in rat spinal dorsal horn. J. Neurosci. 24, 9888–9896. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.2608-04.2004
- Iwasaki, H., Chiba, K., Uchiyama, T., Yoshikawa, F., Suzuki, F., Ikeda, M., et al. (2002). Molecular characterization of the starfish inositol 1,4,5-trisphosphate receptor and its role during oocyte maturation and fertilization. *J. Biol. Chem.* 277, 2763–2772. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M108839200
- Jain, S., Ruiz De Azua, I., Lu, H., White, M. F., Guettier, J. M., and Wess, J. (2013). Chronic activation of a designer G(q)-coupled receptor improves beta cell function. J. Clin. Invest. 123, 1750–1762. doi: 10.1172/JCI66432
- Jessen, K. R., Morgan, L., Stewart, H. J., and Mirsky, R. (1990). Three markers of adult non-myelin-forming Schwann cells, 217c(Ran-1), A5E3 and GFAP: development and regulation by neuron-Schwann cell interactions. *Development* 109, 91–103.
- Jesus, T. T., Bernardino, R. L., Martins, A. D., Sa, R., Sousa, M., Alves, M. G., et al. (2014). Aquaporin-4 as a molecular partner of cystic fibrosis transmembrane conductance regulator in rat Sertoli cells. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.* 446, 1017–1021. doi: 10.1016/j.bbrc.2014.03.046
- Jo, A., Park, H., Lee, S. H., Ahn, S. H., Kim, H. J., Park, E. M., et al. (2014). SHP-2 binds to caveolin-1 and regulates Src activity via competitive inhibition of CSK in response to H2O2 in astrocytes. *PLoS ONE* 9:e91582. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0091582
- Kaasinen, V., Vilkman, H., Hietala, J., Nagren, K., Helenius, H., Olsson, H., et al. (2000). Age-related dopamine D2/D3 receptor loss in extrastriatal regions of the human brain. *Neurobiol. Aging* 21, 683–688. doi: 10.1016/S0197-4580(00)00149-4
- Kalman, M., and Szabo, A. (2001). Immunohistochemical investigation of actinanchoring proteins vinculin, talin and paxillin in rat brain following lesion: a moderate reaction, confined to the astroglia of brain tracts. *Exp. Brain Res.* 139, 426–434. doi: 10.1007/s002210100789
- Kanemaru, K., Sekiya, H., Xu, M., Satoh, K., Kitajima, N., Yoshida, K., et al. (2014). *In vivo* visualization of subtle, transient, and local activity of astrocytes using an ultrasensitive Ca indicator. *Cell Rep.* 8, 311–318. doi: 10.1016/j.celrep.2014.05.056
- Karlsson, R. M., Tanaka, K., Heilig, M., and Holmes, A. (2008). Loss of glial glutamate and aspartate transporter (excitatory amino acid transporter 1) causes locomotor hyperactivity and exaggerated responses to psychotomimetics: rescue by haloperidol and metabotropic glutamate 2/3 agonist. *Biol. Psychiatry* 64, 810–814. doi: 10.1016/j.biopsych.2008.05.001
- Karlsson, R. M., Tanaka, K., Saksida, L. M., Bussey, T. J., Heilig, M., and Holmes, A. (2009). Assessment of glutamate transporter GLAST (EAAT1)deficient mice for phenotypes relevant to the negative and executive/cognitive symptoms of schizophrenia. *Neuropsychopharmacology* 34, 1578–1589. doi: 10.1038/npp.2008.215
- Karunarathne, W. K., Giri, L., Kalyanaraman, V., and Gautam, N. (2013a). Optically triggering spatiotemporally confined GPCR activity in a cell and programming neurite initiation and extension. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 110, E1565–E1574. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1220697110
- Karunarathne, W. K., Giri, L., Patel, A. K., Venkatesh, K. V., and Gautam, N. (2013b). Optical control demonstrates switch-like PIP3 dynamics underlying

the initiation of immune cell migration. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 110, E1575-E1583. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1220755110

- Kato, J., Takai, Y., Hayashi, M. K., Kato, Y., Tanaka, M., Sohma, Y., et al. (2014). Expression and localization of aquaporin-4 in sensory ganglia. Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun. 451, 562-567. doi: 10.1016/j.bbrc.2014.08.026
- Kefas, B., Floyd, D. H., Comeau, L., Frisbee, A., Dominguez, C., Dipierro, C. G., et al. (2013). A miR-297/hypoxia/DGK-alpha axis regulating glioblastoma survival. Neuro-oncology 15, 1652-1663. doi: 10.1093/neuonc/not118
- Khan, Z. U., Koulen, P., Rubinstein, M., Grandy, D. K., and Goldman-Rakic, P. S. (2001). An astroglia-linked dopamine D2-receptor action in prefrontal cortex. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 98, 1964-1969. doi: 10.1073/pnas.98.4.1964
- Kiryk, A., Aida, T., Tanaka, K., Banerjee, P., Wilczynski, G. M., Meyza, K., et al. (2008). Behavioral characterization of GLT1 (+/-) mice as a model of mild glutamatergic hyperfunction. Neurotox. Res. 13, 19-30. doi: 10.1007/BF030 33364
- Kleinlogel, S., Feldbauer, K., Dempski, R. E., Fotis, H., Wood, P. G., Bamann, C., et al. (2011). Ultra light-sensitive and fast neuronal activation with the Ca(2)+-permeable channelrhodopsin CatCh. Nat. Neurosci. 14, 513-518. doi: 10.1038/nn.2776
- Koerber, J. T., Klimczak, R., Jang, J. H., Dalkara, D., Flannery, J. G., and Schaffer, D. V. (2009). Molecular evolution of adeno-associated virus for enhanced glial gene delivery. Mol. Ther. 17, 2088-2095. doi: 10.1038/mt.2009.184
- Koizumi, A., Tanaka, K. F., and Yamanaka, A. (2013). The manipulation of neural and cellular activities by ectopic expression of melanopsin. Neurosci. Res. 75, 3-5. doi: 10.1016/j.neures.2012.07.010
- Kong, M., Munoz, N., Valdivia, A., Alvarez, A., Herrera-Molina, R., Cardenas, A., et al. (2013). Thy-1-mediated cell-cell contact induces astrocyte migration through the engagement of alphaVbeta3 integrin and syndecan-4. Biochim. Biophys. Acta 1833, 1409-1420. doi: 10.1016/j.bbamcr.2013.02.013
- Koyanagi, M., and Terakita, A. (2014). Diversity of animal opsin-based pigments and their optogenetic potential. Biochim. Biophys. Acta 1837, 710-716. doi: 10.1016/j.bbabio.2013.09.003
- Lau, C. L., O'Shea, R. D., Broberg, B. V., Bischof, L., and Beart, P. M. (2011). The Rho kinase inhibitor Fasudil up-regulates astrocytic glutamate transport subsequent to actin remodelling in murine cultured astrocytes. Br. J. Pharmacol. 163, 533-545. doi: 10.1111/j.1476-5381.2011.01259.x
- Lee, H. S., Ghetti, A., Pinto-Duarte, A., Wang, X., Dziewczapolski, G., Galimi, F., et al. (2014). Astrocytes contribute to gamma oscillations and recognition memory. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 111, E3343-E3352. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1410893111
- Lee, S. M., Cho, Y. S., Kim, T. H., Jin, M. U., Ahn, D. K., Noguchi, K., et al. (2012). An ultrastructural evidence for the expression of transient receptor potential ankyrin 1 (TRPA1) in astrocytes in the rat trigeminal caudal nucleus. J. Chem. Neuroanat. 45, 45-49. doi: 10.1016/j.jchemneu.2012.07.003
- Lee, Y., Messing, A., Su, M., and Brenner, M. (2008). GFAP promoter elements required for region-specific and astrocyte-specific expression. Glia 56, 481-493. doi: 10.1002/glia.20622
- Li, D., Herault, K., Isacoff, E. Y., Oheim, M., and Ropert, N. (2012). Optogenetic activation of LiGluR-expressing astrocytes evokes anion channelmediated glutamate release. J. Physiol. 590, 855-873. doi: 10.1113/jphysiol.2011. 219345
- Li, X., Zima, A. V., Sheikh, F., Blatter, L. A., and Chen, J. (2005). Endothelin-1-induced arrhythmogenic Ca²⁺ signaling is abolished in atrial myocytes of inositol-1,4,5-trisphosphate(IP3)-receptor type 2-deficient mice. Circ. Res. 96, 1274-1281. doi: 10.1161/01.RES.0000172556.05576.4c
- Lim, M. C., Maubach, G., and Zhuo, L. (2008). Glial fibrillary acidic protein splice variants in hepatic stellate cells-expression and regulation. Mol. Cells 25, 376-384.
- Lin, J. Y. (2012). Optogenetic excitation of neurons with channelrhodopsins: light instrumentation, expression systems, and channelrhodopsin variants. Prog. Brain Res. 196, 29-47. doi: 10.1016/B978-0-444-59426-6.00002-1
- Lioy, D. T., Garg, S. K., Monaghan, C. E., Raber, J., Foust, K. D., Kaspar, B. K., et al. (2011). A role for glia in the progression of Rett's syndrome. Nature 475, 497-500. doi: 10.1038/nature10214
- Lipfert, J., Odemis, V., and Engele, J. (2013). Grk2 is an essential regulator of CXCR7 signalling in astrocytes. Cell. Mol. Neurobiol. 33, 111-118. doi: 10.1007/s10571-012-9876-5

- Marsicano, G., Goodenough, S., Monory, K., Hermann, H., Eder, M., Cannich, A., et al. (2003). CB1 cannabinoid receptors and on-demand defense against excitotoxicity. Science 302, 84-88. doi: 10.1126/science.1088208
- Martin, C., Houitte, D., Guillermier, M., Petit, F., Bonvento, G., and Gurden, H. (2012). Alteration of sensory-evoked metabolic and oscillatory activities in the olfactory bulb of GLAST-deficient mice. Front. Neural Circuits 6:1. doi: 10.3389/fncir.2012.00001
- Martineau, M. (2013). Gliotransmission: focus on exocytotic release of L-glutamate and D-serine from astrocytes. Biochem. Soc. Trans. 41, 1557-1561. doi: 10.1042/BST20130195
- Masaki, H., Wakayama, Y., Hara, H., Jimi, T., Unaki, A., Iijima, S., et al. (2010). Immunocytochemical studies of aquaporin 4, Kir4.1, and alpha1-syntrophin in the astrocyte endfeet of mouse brain capillaries. Acta Histochem. Cytochem. 43, 99-105. doi: 10.1267/ahc.10016
- Matsumoto, M., and Nagata, E. (1999). Type 1 inositol 1,4,5-trisphosphate receptor knock-out mice: their phenotypes and their meaning in neuroscience and clinical practice. J. Mol. Med. 77, 406-411. doi: 10.1007/s001090 050370
- McLennan, G. P., Kiss, A., Miyatake, M., Belcheva, M. M., Chambers, K. T., Pozek, J. J., et al. (2008). Kappa opioids promote the proliferation of astrocytes via Gbetagamma and beta-arrestin 2-dependent MAPK-mediated pathways. J. Neurochem. 107, 1753-1765. doi: 10.1111/j.1471-4159.2008.05745.x
- Meabon, J. S., Lee, A., Meeker, K. D., Bekris, L. M., Fujimura, R. K., Yu, C. E., et al. (2012). Differential expression of the glutamate transporter GLT-1 in pancreas. I. Histochem. Cvtochem. 60, 139-151, doi: 10.1369/0022155411430095
- Miller, R. L., and Loewy, A. D. (2013). ENaC gamma-expressing astrocytes in the circumventricular organs, white matter, and ventral medullary surface: sites for Na+ regulation by glial cells. J. Chem. Neuroanat. 53, 72-80. doi: 10.1016/j.jchemneu.2013.10.002
- Missale, C., Nash, S. R., Robinson, S. W., Jaber, M., and Caron, M. G. (1998). Dopamine receptors: from structure to function. Physiol. Rev. 78, 189-225.
- Miya, K., Inoue, R., Takata, Y., Abe, M., Natsume, R., Sakimura, K., et al. (2008). Serine racemase is predominantly localized in neurons in mouse brain. J. Comp. Neurol. 510, 641-654. doi: 10.1002/cne.21822
- Miyatake, M., Rubinstein, T. J., McLennan, G. P., Belcheva, M. M., and Coscia, C. J. (2009). Inhibition of EGF-induced ERK/MAP kinase-mediated astrocyte proliferation by mu opioids: integration of G protein and beta-arrestin 2-dependent pathways. J. Neurochem. 110, 662-674. doi: 10.1111/j.1471-4159 2009 06156 x
- Molotkov, D., Zobova, S., Arcas, J. M., and Khiroug, L. (2013). Calcium-induced outgrowth of astrocytic peripheral processes requires actin binding by Profilin-1. Cell Calcium 53, 338-348. doi: 10.1016/j.ceca.2013.03.001
- Mori, T., Tanaka, K., Buffo, A., Wurst, W., Kuhn, R., and Gotz, M. (2006). Inducible gene deletion in astroglia and radial glia-a valuable tool for functional and lineage analysis. Glia 54, 21-34. doi: 10.1002/glia.20350
- Mothet, J. P., Pollegioni, L., Ouanounou, G., Martineau, M., Fossier, P., and Baux, G. (2005). Glutamate receptor activation triggers a calcium-dependent and SNARE protein-dependent release of the gliotransmitter D-serine. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 102, 5606-5611. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0408483102
- Murk, K., Blanco Suarez, E. M., Cockbill, L. M., Banks, P., and Hanley, J. G. (2013). The antagonistic modulation of Arp2/3 activity by N-WASP, WAVE2 and PICK1 defines dynamic changes in astrocyte morphology. J. Cell Sci. 126, 3873-3883. doi: 10.1242/jcs.125146
- Murphy, S. (2000). Production of nitric oxide by glial cells: regulation and potential roles in the CNS. Glia 29, 1-13. doi: 10.1002/(SICI)1098-1136(20000101)29:13.0.CO;2-N
- Nagel, G., Brauner, M., Liewald, J. F., Adeishvili, N., Bamberg, E., and Gottschalk, A. (2005). Light activation of channelrhodopsin-2 in excitable cells of Caenorhabditis elegans triggers rapid behavioral responses. Curr. Biol. 15, 2279-2284. doi: 10.1016/j.cub.2005.11.032
- Nagel, G., Szellas, T., Huhn, W., Kateriya, S., Adeishvili, N., Berthold, P., et al. (2003). Channelrhodopsin-2, a directly light-gated cation-selective membrane channel. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 100, 13940-13945. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1936192100
- Nakajima, K., and Wess, J. (2012). Design and functional characterization of a novel, arrestin-biased designer G protein-coupled receptor. Mol. Pharmacol. 82, 575-582. doi: 10.1124/mol.112.080358

Xie et al.

- Nam, H. W., McIver, S. R., Hinton, D. J., Thakkar, M. M., Sari, Y., Parkinson, F. E., et al. (2012). Adenosine and glutamate signaling in neuron-glial interactions: implications in alcoholism and sleep disorders. *Alcohol. Clin. Exp. Res.* 36, 1117–1125. doi: 10.1111/j.1530-0277.2011.01722.x
- Navarrete, M., Perea, G., Fernandez De Sevilla, D., Gomez-Gonzalo, M., Nunez, A., Martin, E. D., et al. (2012). Astrocytes mediate *in vivo* cholinergic-induced synaptic plasticity. *PLoS Biol.* 10:e1001259. doi: 10.1371/journal.pbio.1001259
- Nichols, C. D., and Roth, B. L. (2009). Engineered G-protein coupled receptors are powerful tools to investigate biological processes and behaviors. *Front. Mol. Neurosci.* 2:16. doi: 10.3389/neuro.02.016.2009
- Nijboer, C. H., Heijnen, C. J., Degos, V., Willemen, H. L., Gressens, P., and Kavelaars, A. (2013). Astrocyte GRK2 as a novel regulator of glutamate transport and brain damage. *Neurobiol. Dis.* 54, 206–215. doi: 10.1016/j.nbd.2012.12.013
- Nizar, K., Uhlirova, H., Tian, P., Saisan, P. A., Cheng, Q., Reznichenko, L., et al. (2013). *In vivo* stimulus-induced vasodilation occurs without IP3 receptor activation and may precede astrocytic calcium increase. *J. Neurosci.* 33, 8411–8422. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.3285-12.2013
- Odemis, V., Lipfert, J., Kraft, R., Hajek, P., Abraham, G., Hattermann, K., et al. (2012). The presumed atypical chemokine receptor CXCR7 signals through G(i/o) proteins in primary rodent astrocytes and human glioma cells. *Glia* 60, 372–381. doi: 10.1002/glia.22271
- Offermanns, S. (1999). New insights into the *in vivo* function of heterotrimeric G-proteins through gene deletion studies. *Naunyn Schmiedebergs. Arch. Pharmacol.* 360, 5–13. doi: 10.1007/s002109900030
- Offermanns, S. (2001). *In vivo* functions of heterotrimeric G-proteins: studies in Galpha-deficient mice. *Oncogene* 20, 1635–1642. doi: 10.1038/sj.onc.1204189
- Oliet, S. H., and Mothet, J. P. (2009). Regulation of N-methyl-D-aspartate receptors by astrocytic D-serine. *Neuroscience* 158, 275–283. doi: 10.1016/j.neuroscience.2008.01.071
- Ono, K., Suzuki, H., Higa, M., Tabata, K., and Sawada, M. (2014). Glutamate release from astrocyte cell-line GL261 via alterations in the intracellular ion environment. J. Neural Transm. 121, 245–257. doi: 10.1007/s00702-013-1096-8
- Orabi, A. I., Luo, Y., Ahmad, M. U., Shah, A. U., Mannan, Z., Wang, D., et al. (2012). IP3 receptor type 2 deficiency is associated with a secretory defect in the pancreatic acinar cell and an accumulation of zymogen granules. *PLoS ONE* 7:e48465. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0048465
- Ortinski, P. I., Dong, J., Mungenast, A., Yue, C., Takano, H., Watson, D. J., et al. (2010). Selective induction of astrocytic gliosis generates deficits in neuronal inhibition. *Nat. Neurosci.* 13, 584–591. doi: 10.1038/nn.2535
- Ousman, S. S., Tomooka, B. H., Van Noort, J. M., Wawrousek, E. F., O'Connor, K. C., Hafler, D. A., et al. (2007). Protective and therapeutic role for alphaB-crystallin in autoimmune demyelination. *Nature* 448, 474–479. doi: 10.1038/nature05935
- Panatier, A., Theodosis, D. T., Mothet, J. P., Touquet, B., Pollegioni, L., Poulain, D. A., et al. (2006). Glia-derived D-serine controls NMDA receptor activity and synaptic memory. *Cell* 125, 775–784. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2006.02.051
- Panatier, A., Vallee, J., Haber, M., Murai, K. K., Lacaille, J. C., and Robitaille, R. (2011). Astrocytes are endogenous regulators of basal transmission at central synapses. *Cell* 146, 785–798. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2011.07.022
- Pannasch, U., and Rouach, N. (2013). Emerging role for astroglial networks in information processing: from synapse to behavior. *Trends Neurosci.* 36, 405–417. doi: 10.1016/j.tins.2013.04.004
- Pascual, O., Casper, K. B., Kubera, C., Zhang, J., Revilla-Sanchez, R., Sul, J. Y., et al. (2005). Astrocytic purinergic signaling coordinates synaptic networks. *Science* 310, 113–116. doi: 10.1126/science.1116916
- Pascual-Lucas, M., Fernandez-Lizarbe, S., Montesinos, J., and Guerri, C. (2014). LPS or ethanol triggers clathrin- and rafts/caveolae-dependent endocytosis of TLR4 in cortical astrocytes. J. Neurochem. 129, 448–462. doi: 10.1111/inc.12639
- Perea, G., Yang, A., Boyden, E. S., and Sur, M. (2014). Optogenetic astrocyte activation modulates response selectivity of visual cortex neurons *in vivo. Nat. Commun.* 5, 3262. doi: 10.1038/ncomms4262
- Perez-Alvarez, A., Navarrete, M., Covelo, A., Martin, E. D., and Araque, A. (2014). Structural and functional plasticity of astrocyte processes and dendritic spine interactions. *J. Neurosci.* 34, 12738–12744. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.2401-14.2014
- Persson, A., Lindwall, C., Curtis, M. A., and Kuhn, H. G. (2010). Expression of ezrin radixin moesin proteins in the adult subventricular zone

and the rostral migratory stream. *Neuroscience* 167, 312–322. doi: 10.1016/j.neuroscience.2010.01.035

- Petravicz, J., Boyt, K. M., and McCarthy, K. D. (2014). Astrocyte IP3R2-dependent Ca(2+) signaling is not a major modulator of neuronal pathways governing behavior. *Front. Behav. Neurosci.* 8:384. doi: 10.3389/fnbeh.2014.00384
- Petravicz, J., Fiacco, T. A., and McCarthy, K. D. (2008). Loss of IP3 receptordependent Ca²⁺ increases in hippocampal astrocytes does not affect baseline CA1 pyramidal neuron synaptic activity. J. Neurosci. 28, 4967–4973. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.5572-07.2008
- Petrosyan, H. A., Alessi, V., Singh, V., Hunanyan, A. S., Levine, J. M., and Arvanian, V. L. (2014). Transduction efficiency of neurons and glial cells by AAV-1, -5, -9, -rh10 and -hu11 serotypes in rat spinal cord following contusion injury. *Gene Ther.* 21, 991–1000. doi: 10.1038/gt.2014.74
- Pfrieger, F. W., and Slezak, M. (2012). Genetic approaches to study glial cells in the rodent brain. *Glia* 60, 681–701. doi: 10.1002/glia.22283
- Pierce, K. L., Premont, R. T., and Lefkowitz, R. J. (2002). Seven-transmembrane receptors. Nat. Rev. Mol. Cell Biol. 3, 639–650. doi: 10.1038/nrm908
- Porter, J. T., and McCarthy, K. D. (1997). Astrocytic neurotransmitter receptors in situ and in vivo. Prog. Neurobiol. 51, 439–455. doi: 10.1016/S0301-0082(96)00068-8
- Rajagopal, S., Rajagopal, K., and Lefkowitz, R. J. (2010). Teaching old receptors new tricks: biasing seven-transmembrane receptors. *Nat. Rev. Drug Discov.* 9, 373–386. doi: 10.1038/nrd3024
- Regan, M. R., Huang, Y. H., Kim, Y. S., Dykes-Hoberg, M. I., Jin, L., Watkins, A. M., et al. (2007). Variations in promoter activity reveal a differential expression and physiology of glutamate transporters by glia in the developing and mature CNS. J. Neurosci. 27, 6607–6619. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.0790-07.2007
- Rinholm, J. E., Slettalokken, G., Marcaggi, P., Skare, O., Storm-Mathisen, J., and Bergersen, L. H. (2007). Subcellular localization of the glutamate transporters GLAST and GLT at the neuromuscular junction in rodents. *Neuroscience* 145, 579–591. doi: 10.1016/j.neuroscience.2006.12.041
- Rogan, S. C., and Roth, B. L. (2011). Remote control of neuronal signaling. *Pharmacol. Rev.* 63, 291–315. doi: 10.1124/pr.110.003020
- Rossello, X. S., Igbavboa, U., Weisman, G. A., Sun, G. Y., and Wood, W. G. (2012). AP-2beta regulates amyloid beta-protein stimulation of apolipoprotein E transcription in astrocytes. *Brain Res.* 1444, 87–95. doi: 10.1016/j.brainres.2012.01.017
- Rutkovskiy, A., Stenslokken, K. O., Mariero, L. H., Skrbic, B., Amiry-Moghaddam, M., Hillestad, V., et al. (2012). Aquaporin-4 in the heart: expression, regulation and functional role in ischemia. *Basic Res. Cardiol.* 107, 280. doi: 10.1007/s00395-012-0280-6
- Sahlender, D. A., Savtchouk, I., and Volterra, A. (2014). What do we know about gliotransmitter release from astrocytes? *Philos. Trans. R. Soc. Lond. B. Biol. Sci.* 369, 20130592. doi: 10.1098/rstb.2013.0592
- Sanchez, J. F., Sniderhan, L. F., Williamson, A. L., Fan, S., Chakraborty-Sett, S., and Maggirwar, S. B. (2003). Glycogen synthase kinase 3beta-mediated apoptosis of primary cortical astrocytes involves inhibition of nuclear factor kappaB signaling. *Mol. Cell. Biol.* 23, 4649–4662. doi: 10.1128/MCB.23.13.4649-4662.2003
- Sanchez-Fernandez, G., Cabezudo, S., Garcia-Hoz, C., Beninca, C., Aragay, A. M., Mayor, F. Jr., et al. (2014). Galphaq signalling: the new and the old. *Cell. Signal.* 26, 833–848. doi: 10.1016/j.cellsig.2014.01.010
- Santama, N., Er, C. P., Ong, L. L., and Yu, H. (2004). Distribution and functions of kinectin isoforms. J. Cell Sci. 117, 4537–4549. doi: 10.1242/jcs.01326
- Schell, M. J., Molliver, M. E., and Snyder, S. H. (1995). D-serine, an endogenous synaptic modulator: localization to astrocytes and glutamate-stimulated release. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 92, 3948–3952. doi: 10.1073/pnas.92.9.3948
- Schoenenberger, P., Scharer, Y. P., and Oertner, T. G. (2011). Channelrhodopsin as a tool to investigate synaptic transmission and plasticity. *Exp. Physiol.* 96, 34–39. doi: 10.1113/expphysiol.2009.051219
- Schraven, S. P., Franz, C., Ruttiger, L., Lowenheim, H., Lysakowski, A., Stoffel, W., et al. (2012). Altered phenotype of the vestibular organ in GLAST-1 null mice. *J. Assoc. Res. Otolaryngol.* 13, 323–333. doi: 10.1007/s10162-011-0311-2
- Seifert, G., Huttmann, K., Binder, D. K., Hartmann, C., Wyczynski, A., Neusch, C., et al. (2009). Analysis of astroglial K+ channel expression in the developing hippocampus reveals a predominant role of the Kir4.1 subunit. *J. Neurosci.* 29, 7474–7488. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.3790-08.2009
- Servitja, J. M., Masgrau, R., Pardo, R., Sarri, E., Von Eichel-Streiber, C., Gutkind, J. S., et al. (2003). Metabotropic glutamate receptors activate phospholipase D in

astrocytes through a protein kinase C-dependent and Rho-independent pathway. *Neuropharmacology* 44, 171–180. doi: 10.1016/S0028-3908(02)00361-1

- Sexton, T., Buhr, E., and Van Gelder, R. N. (2012). Melanopsin and mechanisms of non-visual ocular photoreception. J. Biol. Chem. 287, 1649–1656. doi: 10.1074/jbc.R111.301226
- Shao, W., Zhang, S. Z., Tang, M., Zhang, X. H., Zhou, Z., Yin, Y. Q., et al. (2013). Suppression of neuroinflammation by astrocytic dopamine D2 receptors via alphaB-crystallin. *Nature* 494, 90–94. doi: 10.1038/nature11748
- Sharp, A. H., Nucifora, F. C. Jr., Blondel, O., Sheppard, C. A., Zhang, C., Snyder, S. H., et al. (1999). Differential cellular expression of isoforms of inositol 1,4,5-triphosphate receptors in neurons and glia in brain. *J. Comp. Neurol.* 406, 207–220.
- Shigetomi, E., Bushong, E. A., Haustein, M. D., Tong, X., Jackson-Weaver, O., Kracun, S., et al. (2013a). Imaging calcium microdomains within entire astrocyte territories and endfeet with GCaMPs expressed using adeno-associated viruses. *J. Gen. Physiol.* 141, 633–647. doi: 10.1085/jgp.201210949
- Shigetomi, E., Jackson-Weaver, O., Huckstepp, R. T., O'Dell, T. J., and Khakh, B. S. (2013b). TRPA1 channels are regulators of astrocyte basal calcium levels and long-term potentiation via constitutive D-serine release. *J. Neurosci.* 33, 10143–10153. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.5779-12.2013
- Shinohara, R., Thumkeo, D., Kamijo, H., Kaneko, N., Sawamoto, K., Watanabe, K., et al. (2012). A role for mDia, a Rho-regulated actin nucleator, in tangential migration of interneuron precursors. *Nat. Neurosci.* 15, 373–380, S371–S372. doi: 10.1038/nn.3020
- Shukla, A. K., Xiao, K., and Lefkowitz, R. J. (2011). Emerging paradigms of betaarrestin-dependent seven transmembrane receptor signaling. *Trends Biochem. Sci.* 36, 457–469. doi: 10.1016/j.tibs.2011.06.003
- Sild, M., and Van Horn, M. R. (2013). Astrocytes use a novel transporter to fill gliotransmitter vesicles with D-serine: evidence for vesicular synergy. J. Neurosci. 33, 10193–10194. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.1665-13.2013
- Sorensen, S. D., and Conn, P. J. (2003). G protein-coupled receptor kinases regulate metabotropic glutamate receptor 5 function and expression. *Neuropharmacol*ogy 44, 699–706. doi: 10.1016/S0028-3908(03)00053-4
- Stanislaus, D., Janovick, J. A., Ji, T., Wilkie, T. M., Offermanns, S., and Conn, P. M. (1998). Gonadotropin and gonadal steroid release in response to a gonadotropin-releasing hormone agonist in Gqalpha and G11alpha knockout mice. *Endocrinology* 139, 2710–2717. doi: 10.1210/endo.139.6.5942
- Stehlik, I., Caspersen, J. P., and Barrett, S. C. (2006). Spatial ecology of mating success in a sexually polymorphic plant. *Proc. Biol. Sci.* 273, 387–394. doi: 10.1098/rspb.2005.3317
- Stephan, J., Haack, N., Kafitz, K. W., Durry, S., Koch, D., Hochstrate, P., et al. (2012). Kir4.1 channels mediate a depolarization of hippocampal astrocytes under hyperammonemic conditions *in situ. Glia* 60, 965–978. doi: 10.1002/glia.22328
- Su, M., Hu, H., Lee, Y., D'Azzo, A., Messing, A., and Brenner, M. (2004). Expression specificity of GFAP transgenes. *Neurochem. Res.* 29, 2075–2093. doi: 10.1007/s11064-004-6881-1
- Takata, N., Mishima, T., Hisatsune, C., Nagai, T., Ebisui, E., Mikoshiba, K., et al. (2011). Astrocyte calcium signaling transforms cholinergic modulation to cortical plasticity *in vivo. J. Neurosci.* 31, 18155–18165. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.5289-11.2011
- Takata, N., Nagai, T., Ozawa, K., Oe, Y., Mikoshiba, K., and Hirase, H. (2013). Cerebral blood flow modulation by Basal forebrain or whisker stimulation can occur independently of large cytosolic Ca²⁺ signaling in astrocytes. *PLoS ONE* 8:e66525. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0066525
- Takumi, T., Ishii, T., Horio, Y., Morishige, K., Takahashi, N., Yamada, M., et al. (1995). A novel ATP-dependent inward rectifier potassium channel expressed predominantly in glial cells. J. Biol. Chem. 270, 16339–16346. doi: 10.1074/jbc.270.27.16339
- Tamamushi, S., Nakamura, T., Inoue, T., Ebisui, E., Sugiura, K., Bannai, H., et al. (2012). Type 2 inositol 1,4,5-trisphosphate receptor is predominantly involved in agonist-induced Ca(2+) signaling in Bergmann glia. *Neurosci. Res.* 74, 32–41. doi: 10.1016/j.neures.2012.06.005
- Tanaka, K. F., Ahmari, S. E., Leonardo, E. D., Richardson-Jones, J. W., Budreck, E. C., Scheiffele, P., et al. (2010). Flexible Accelerated STOP Tetracycline operator-knockin (FAST): a versatile and efficient new gene modulating system. *Biol. Psychiatry* 67, 770–773. doi: 10.1016/j.biopsych.2009. 12.020

- Tanaka, K. F., Matsui, K., Sasaki, T., Sano, H., Sugio, S., Fan, K., et al. (2012). Expanding the repertoire of optogenetically targeted cells with an enhanced gene expression system. *Cell Rep.* 2, 397–406. doi: 10.1016/j.celrep.2012. 06.011
- Tanaka, K., Watase, K., Manabe, T., Yamada, K., Watanabe, M., Takahashi, K., et al. (1997). Epilepsy and exacerbation of brain injury in mice lacking the glutamate transporter GLT-1. Science 276, 1699–1702. doi: 10.1126/science.276.5319.1699
- Tanaka, M., Shih, P. Y., Gomi, H., Yoshida, T., Nakai, J., Ando, R., et al. (2013). Astrocytic Ca²⁺ signals are required for the functional integrity of tripartite synapses. *Mol. Brain* 6:6. doi: 10.1186/1756-6606-6-6
- Teubner, B., Michel, V., Pesch, J., Lautermann, J., Cohen-Salmon, M., Sohl, G., et al. (2003). Connexin30 (Gjb6)-deficiency causes severe hearing impairment and lack of endocochlear potential. *Hum. Mol. Genet.* 12, 13–21. doi: 10.1093/hmg/ddg001
- Tovey, S. C., Dedos, S. G., Rahman, T., Taylor, E. J., Pantazaka, E., and Taylor, C.
 W. (2010). Regulation of inositol 1,4,5-trisphosphate receptors by cAMP independent of cAMP-dependent protein kinase. *J. Biol. Chem.* 285, 12979–12989. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M109.096016
- Tovey, S. C., Dedos, S. G., Taylor, E. J., Church, J. E., and Taylor, C. W. (2008). Selective coupling of type 6 adenylyl cyclase with type 2 IP3 receptors mediates direct sensitization of IP3 receptors by cAMP. J. Cell Biol. 183, 297–311. doi: 10.1083/jcb.200803172
- Tsunematsu, T., Tabuchi, S., Tanaka, K. F., Boyden, E. S., Tominaga, M., and Yamanaka, A. (2013). Long-lasting silencing of orexin/hypocretin neurons using archaerhodopsin induces slow-wave sleep in mice. *Behav. Brain Res.* 255, 64–74. doi: 10.1016/j.bbr.2013.05.021
- Tzingounis, A. V., and Wadiche, J. I. (2007). Glutamate transporters: confining runaway excitation by shaping synaptic transmission. *Nat. Rev. Neurosci.* 8, 935–947. doi: 10.1038/nrn2274
- Unichenko, P., Myakhar, O., and Kirischuk, S. (2012). Intracellular Na+ concentration influences short-term plasticity of glutamate transporter-mediated currents in neocortical astrocytes. *Glia* 60, 605–614. doi: 10.1002/glia.22294
- Vedrenne, C., and Hauri, H. P. (2006). Morphogenesis of the endoplasmic reticulum: beyond active membrane expansion. *Traffic* 7, 639–646. doi: 10.1111/j.1600-0854.2006.00419.x
- Verkhratsky, A., Noda, M., Parpura, V., and Kirischuk, S. (2013). Sodium fluxes and astroglial function. Adv. Exp. Med. Biol. 961, 295–305. doi: 10.1007/978-1-4614-4756-6_25
- Vitkovic, L., Aloyo, V. J., Maeda, S., Benzil, D. L., Bressler, J. P., and Hilt, D. C. (2005). Identification of myristoylated alanine-rich C kinase substrate (MARCKS) in astrocytes. *Front. Biosci.* 10:160–165. doi: 10.2741/1517
- Wang, F., Smith, N. A., Xu, Q., Fujita, T., Baba, A., Matsuda, T., et al. (2012). Astrocytes modulate neural network activity by Ca(2)+-dependent uptake of extracellular K+. Sci. Signal. 5, ra26. doi: 10.1126/scisignal.2002334
- Wang, F., Smith, N. A., Xu, Q., Goldman, S., Peng, W., Huang, J. H., et al. (2013). Photolysis of caged Ca²⁺ but not receptor-mediated Ca²⁺ signaling triggers astrocytic glutamate release. *J. Neurosci.* 33, 17404–17412. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.2178-13.2013
- Wang, H., Ubl, J. J., Stricker, R., and Reiser, G. (2002). Thrombin (PAR-1)-induced proliferation in astrocytes via MAPK involves multiple signaling pathways. *Am. J. Physiol. Cell Physiol.* 283, C1351–C1364. doi: 10.1152/ajpcell.00001.2002
- Wess, J., Nakajima, K., and Jain, S. (2013). Novel designer receptors to probe GPCR signaling and physiology. *Trends Pharmacol. Sci.* 34, 385–392. doi: 10.1016/j.tips.2013.04.006
- Wettschureck, N., Moers, A., Hamalainen, T., Lemberger, T., Schutz, G., and Offermanns, S. (2004). Heterotrimeric G proteins of the Gq/11 family are crucial for the induction of maternal behavior in mice. *Mol. Cell. Biol.* 24, 8048–8054. doi: 10.1128/MCB.24.18.8048-8054.2004
- Wettschureck, N., Moers, A., Wallenwein, B., Parlow, A. F., Maser-Gluth, C., and Offermanns, S. (2005). Loss of Gq/11 family G proteins in the nervous system causes pituitary somatotroph hypoplasia and dwarfism in mice. *Mol. Cell. Biol.* 25, 1942–1948. doi: 10.1128/MCB.25.5.1942-1948.2005
- Wettschureck, N., Rutten, H., Zywietz, A., Gehring, D., Wilkie, T. M., Chen, J., et al. (2001). Absence of pressure overload induced myocardial hypertrophy after conditional inactivation of Galphaq/Galpha11 in cardiomyocytes. *Nat. Med.* 7, 1236–1240. doi: 10.1038/nm1101-1236
- Wettschureck, N., Van Der Stelt, M., Tsubokawa, H., Krestel, H., Moers, A., Petrosino, S., et al. (2006). Forebrain-specific inactivation of Gq/G11 family

G proteins results in age-dependent epilepsy and impaired endocannabinoid formation. *Mol. Cell. Biol.* 26, 5888–5894. doi: 10.1128/MCB.00397-06

- Wiencken-Barger, A. E., Djukic, B., Casper, K. B., and McCarthy, K. D. (2007). A role for Connexin43 during neurodevelopment. *Glia* 55, 675–686. doi: 10.1002/glia.20484
- Woerner, B. M., Luo, J., Brown, K. R., Jackson, E., Dahiya, S. M., Mischel, P., et al. (2012). Suppression of G-protein-coupled receptor kinase 3 expression is a feature of classical GBM that is required for maximal growth. *Mol. Cancer Res.* 10, 156–166. doi: 10.1158/1541-7786.MCR-11-0411
- Xie, Y., Wang, T., Sun, G. Y., and Ding, S. (2010). Specific disruption of astrocytic Ca²⁺ signaling pathway *in vivo* by adeno-associated viral transduction. *Neuroscience* 170, 992–1003. doi: 10.1016/j.neuroscience.2010.08.034
- Yamashita, A., Hamada, A., Suhara, Y., Kawabe, R., Yanase, M., Kuzumaki, N., et al. (2014). Astrocytic activation in the anterior cingulate cortex is critical for sleep disorder under neuropathic pain. Synapse 68, 235–247. doi: 10.1002/syn.21733
- Yang, B., Li, S., Wang, H., Guo, Y., Gessler, D. J., Cao, C., et al. (2014). Global CNS transduction of adult mice by intravenously delivered rAAVrh.8 and rAAVrh.10 and nonhuman primates by rAAVrh.10. *Mol. Ther.* 22, 1299–1309. doi: 10.1038/mt.2014.68
- Zeng, W., Mak, D. O., Li, Q., Shin, D. M., Foskett, J. K., and Muallem, S. (2003). A new mode of Ca²⁺ signaling by G protein-coupled receptors: gating of IP3 receptor Ca²⁺ release channels by Gbetagamma. *Curr. Biol.* 13, 872–876. doi: 10.1016/S0960-9822(03)00330-0

- Zhu, Z., and Reiser, G. (2014). PAR-1 activation rescues astrocytes through the PI3K/Akt signaling pathway from chemically induced apoptosis that is exacerbated by gene silencing of beta-arrestin 1. *Neurochem. Int.* 67, 46–56. doi: 10.1016/j.neuint.2013.12.007
- Zhuo, L., Theis, M., Alvarez-Maya, I., Brenner, M., Willecke, K., and Messing, A. (2001). hGFAP-cre transgenic mice for manipulation of glial and neuronal function *in vivo*. *Genesis* 31, 85–94. doi: 10.1002/gene.10008
- Zorec, R., Araque, A., Carmignoto, G., Haydon, P. G., Verkhratsky, A., and Parpura, V. (2012). Astroglial excitability and gliotransmission: an appraisal of Ca²⁺ as a signalling route. ASN Neuro. 4, 103–119. doi: 10.1042/AN201 10061

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2015 Xie, Petravicz and McCarthy. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.


Astrocytes increase the activity of synaptic GluN2B NMDA receptors

Junghyun Hahn, Xianhong Wang and Marta Margeta*

Department of Pathology, University of California San Francisco, San Francisco, CA, USA

Astrocytes regulate excitatory synapse formation and surface expression of glutamate AMPA receptors (AMPARs) during development. Less is known about glial modulation of glutamate NMDA receptors (NMDARs), which mediate synaptic plasticity and regulate neuronal survival in a subunit- and subcellular localization-dependent manner. Using primary hippocampal cultures with mature synapses, we found that the density of NMDA-evoked whole-cell currents was approximately twice as large in neurons cultured in the presence of glia compared to neurons cultured alone. The glial effect was mediated by (an) astrocyte-secreted soluble factor(s), was Mg²⁺ and voltage independent, and could not be explained by a significant change in the synaptic density. Instead, we found that the peak amplitudes of total and NMDAR miniature excitatory postsynaptic currents (mEPSCs), but not AMPAR mEPSCs, were significantly larger in mixed than neuronal cultures, resulting in a decreased synaptic AMPAR/NMDAR ratio. Astrocytic modulation was restricted to synaptic NMDARs that contain the GluN2B subunit, did not involve an increase in the cell surface expression of NMDAR subunits, and was mediated by protein kinase C (PKC). Taken together, our findings indicate that astrocyte-secreted soluble factor(s) can fine-tune synaptic NMDAR activity through the PKC-mediated regulation of GluN2B NMDAR channels already localized at postsynaptic sites, presumably on a rapid time scale. Given that physiologic activation of synaptic NMDARs is neuroprotective and that an increase in the synaptic GluN2B current is associated with improved learning and memory, the astrocyte-induced potentiation of synaptic GluN2B receptor activity is likely to enhance cognitive function while simultaneously strengthening neuroprotective signaling pathways.

Keywords: NMDA receptor, GluN2B subunit, astrocytes, synapses, protein kinase C

Introduction

Glial cells play a critical role in the formation and function of excitatory synapses. In particular, it is well established that during development astrocyte-secreted soluble messengers promote synapse formation and surface expression of glutamate AMPA receptors (AMPARs) in both retinal ganglion cells and hippocampal neurons (Ullian et al., 2001; Christopherson et al., 2005; Xu et al., 2010; Allen et al., 2012). Much less is known about glial regulation of NMDA glutamate receptors (NMDARs), which together with AMPARs mediate excitatory postsynaptic signaling.

NMDARs are crucial for a wide range of brain functions, including synaptic plasticity and neural development (Cull-Candy and Leszkiewicz, 2004; Zito et al., 2009). NMDAR dysfunction

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Vladimir Parpura, University of Alabama, USA

Reviewed by:

Rheinallt Parri, Aston University, UK Takumi Takizawa, Gunma University, Japan

*Correspondence:

Marta Margeta, Department of Pathology, University of California San Francisco, UCSF Pathology, Box 0511, 513 Parnassus Ave., HSW-514, San Francisco, CA 94143, USA Tel: 415-514-0228, Fax: 415-514-3165 Marta.Margeta@ucsf.edu

> Received: 13 January 2015 Accepted: 15 March 2015 Published: 17 April 2015

Citation:

Hahn J, Wang X and Margeta M (2015) Astrocytes increase the activity of synaptic GluN2B NMDA receptors. Front. Cell. Neurosci. 9:117. doi: 10.3389/fncel.2015.00117 is implicated in many neurologic and psychiatric disorders (Cull-Candy et al., 2001; Hardingham and Bading, 2003; Schwartz et al., 2012), highlighting the importance of the precise regulation of NMDAR activity. NMDAR functional diversity is controlled through two distinct mechanisms: subunit composition and subcellular localization (Paoletti et al., 2013; Sanz-Clemente et al., 2013). NMDAR channels consist of two GluN1 and two GluN2 subunits, with GluN2 subunits conferring distinct functional properties on the assembled heterotetrameric channel complexes. Hippocampal neurons primarily express GluN1/GluN2A and GluN1/GluN2B NMDARs; in comparison with GluN1/GluN2A channels, GluN1/GluN2B channels have higher glutamate and glycine sensitivity, lower open probability, and slower deactivation kinetics (Paoletti et al., 2013). In addition, GluN2A and GluN2B subunits differ in their binding affinities for various intracellular scaffolding and signaling proteins (Paoletti et al., 2013). Irrespectively of the subunit composition, NMDAR coupling to intracellular signaling cascades also depends on the receptor subcellular localization. Although non-physiologic (tonic) activation of synaptic NMDARs can lead to excitotoxicity (Parsons and Raymond, 2014), these receptors preferentially couple to neuroprotective signaling pathways when activated by physiologic (phasic) stimuli (Hardingham and Bading, 2010; Martel et al., 2012). In contrast, activation of extrasynaptic NMDARs is generally neurotoxic and has been implicated in the pathogenesis of several neurodegenerative disorders (Parsons and Raymond, 2014).

Astrocytes can activate NMDARs by secreting the NMDAR ligands glutamate and D-serine, thus directly modulating synaptic efficacy and plasticity (Haydon and Carmignoto, 2006; Lee et al., 2007; Perea and Araque, 2010; Han et al., 2013). Astrocytes were also shown to regulate the surface expression of GluN2A and GluN2B NMDARs (Fellin et al., 2009; Deng et al., 2011), but a recent study raised the possibility that these findings were an artifact of the transgenic model system used for experiments (Fujita et al., 2014). Here, we use wild-type hippocampal cultures with mature synapses to show that astrocytes secrete a soluble factor or factors that increase the activity, but not the cell surface expression, of synaptic GluN2B-containing NMDARs through a protein kinase C (PKC)-mediated mechanism. Thus, astrocytes can regulate NMDAR function in both a subunit- and localization-specific manner, without altering the trafficking of NMDAR channel subunits.

Materials and Methods

Cell Cultures

Mixed, neuronal, and astrocytic primary hippocampal cultures were prepared from E18–E19 embryos obtained from Sprague-Dawley rats (Charles River), as described previously (Habas et al., 2013). All procedures involving animals were approved by the UCSF Animal Care and Use Committee. Mixed cell suspension was plated at a density of 600 cells/mm², either in tissue culture dishes coated with 0.1 mg/mL poly-L-lysine or on 12-mm glass cover slips (Bellco) coated with the mixture of

poly-L-lysine and laminin. To obtain predominantly neuronal cultures, a subset of cultures was treated with 1 µM AraC (Sigma) to suppress glial cell growth; mixed cultures were left untreated. Mixed and neuronal cultures were grown in Neurobasal/B27 culture medium for 2-3 weeks before experiments. For astrocytic cultures, hippocampal cell suspension was plated in 75 cm² tissue culture flasks and grown in DMEM/fetal bovine serum culture medium. One week after plating (when the astrocyte layer became confluent), cultures were vigorously shaken (300 rpm at 37°C) overnight to remove microglia and oligodendroglia; astrocytes were then trypsinized, re-plated into 175 cm² tissue culture flasks, and maintained for another 3-4 days before being used for direct or indirect neuron-astrocyte co-cultures (Habas et al., 2013). For direct co-cultures, astrocytes were plated into DIV10 AraC-treated neuronal cultures at a density of ~120 cells/mm²; for indirect co-cultures, astrocytes were plated at the same density on cell culture inserts, which were then placed on top of DIV10 neuronal cultures. (The insert membrane has a pore size of 1 μ m and is separated from the well bottom by 800 μ m; this culture arrangement allows neurons and astrocytes to exchange soluble factors while preventing a direct cell-cell contact.). In both co-culture arrangements, the two cell types were cultured together for 4-7 days prior to experiments.

Electrophysiology

DIV13-17 neurons were used for patch-clamp recordings. NMDA-evoked currents were recorded at -60 mV (except in I/V analysis experiments) in the external solution containing (in mM) 135 NaCl, 5 KCl, 2 CaCl₂, 1.2 MgCl₂, 10 HEPES, and 10 glucose, with 1 μ M glycine, 10 μ M bicuculline, and 1 μ M TTX (\sim 305 mOsm, pH 7.4); for 0 Mg²⁺ external solution, MgCl₂ was replaced with glucose. The pipette solution contained (in mM) 120 CsCl, 20 TEA-Cl, 1 MgCl₂, 1 CaCl₂, 2.25 EGTA, 10 HEPES, 2.5 Mg₂ATP, 1 Na₃GTP (~298 mOsm, pH 7.4; calculated free Ca²⁺ concentration, 70 nM). The liquid junction potential, measured with 3 M KCl, was -8.8 mV and was not adjusted except for I/V and unitary conductance analyses. mEPSC recording solutions were adapted from previously published studies (Watt et al., 2000; Fu et al., 2005; Lee et al., 2007). For total excitatory mEPSC recordings, 0 Mg²⁺ external solution was supplemented with 10 μ M glycine, 1 μ M TTX, and 20 μ M bicuculline; AP5 (100 μ M) was added to isolate AMPAR-mediated mEPSCs, while 1 µM strychnine and 10 µM NBQX were added to isolate NMDAR-mediated mEPSCs. The pipette solution contained (in mM): 125 K-gluconate, 10 KCl, 10 Na-phosphocreatine, 2.25 EGTA, 2.5 Mg₂ATP, 0.5 Na₃GTP, 10 HEPES (~297 mOsm, pH 7.4); this pipette solution was also used for whole-cell recordings in MK-801 experiments. Drugs were purchased from Tocris Bioscience [except for bicuculline (Sigma-Aldrich) and thrombospondin (Haematologic Technologies)] and were applied through an electronically controlled, gravity-fed perfusion system with a response time of 15-20 ms (ALA Scientific); after placing a cell in the center of the visual field under $10 \times$ objective, the perfusion tip with an opening diameter of 500 μ m was placed at the field edge. The pipette electrodes were pulled

from borosilicate glass tubes (Sutter Instruments) and had resistances of $3.5-4.2 \text{ M}\Omega$. Recordings were obtained using a Multiclamp 700B amplifier (Molecular Devices), with signals filtered at 1 kHz and sampled at 10 kHz using a Digidata 1440A analog-to-digital converter (Molecular Devices). All data were recorded and analyzed with pClamp 10 software (Molecular Devices).

mEPSC Analysis

mEPSC data were analyzed using the Mini Analysis Program (Synaptosoft). Total and AMPAR mEPSC amplitudes were calculated by averaging the peak amplitudes of all individual mEPSC events recorded from a single neuron in the absence (total mEPSCs) or presence of AP5 (AMPAR mEPSCs). To obtain the average NMDAR-mediated mEPSC amplitude from the same set of recordings, the average AMPAR mEPSC trace (obtained by aligning and averaging all mEPSC events recorded from one neuron in the presence of AP5) was subtracted from the average total mEPSC trace (obtained by aligning and averaging all events recorded from the same neuron in the absence of AP5). In a separate set of recordings, NMDAR mEPSCs were recorded directly after blocking AMPAR mEPSCs with NBQX; for these experiments, NMDAR mEPSC amplitude was calculated by averaging the peak amplitudes of all individual NMDAR mEPSCs (amplitude threshold, 7 pA) recorded from a single neuron. To perform kinetic separation of AMPAR and NMDAR mEPSC components, we followed the general procedure described by Watt et al. (2000), except that the specific time points used for measurement of AMPAR and NMDAR mEPSC components were determined based on pharmacologic experiments performed in our cultures. Specifically, AMPA mEPSCs recorded in the presence of AP5 peaked close to 1 ms in both neuronal and mixed cultures, while NMDA mEPSCs recorded in the presence of NBQX, bicuculline, and strychnine peaked at 7.2 \pm 0.6 ms in neuronal cultures and at 14.2 \pm 1.0 ms in mixed cultures (n = 50-60). The residual AMPA mEPSCs were less than 1 pA when measured 7 ms after the peak in neuronal cultures or 15 ms after the peak in mixed cultures, indicating that total mEPSCs were not contaminated by AMPAR components around those time points. For kinetic analysis of the NMDAR/AMPAR ratio, we therefore measured the NMDA mEPSC peak (averaged over 1 ms) from total mEPSCs in a window of 6-10 ms after the AMPA mEPSC peak in neuronal cultures and in a window of 13-17 ms after the AMPA mEPSC peak in mixed cultures. To exclude synapses containing only AMPA components, we selected mEPSC events in which the NMDA mEPSC peak was larger than 2 pA.

Immunofluorescence

Cells were fixed for 30 min on ice in 4% paraformaldehyde in PBS, washed three times in ice-cold PBS, and blocked for 30 min in a blocking buffer (2% goat serum and 0.25% Triton X-100 in PBS). Cells were then incubated overnight at 4°C with primary antibodies [guinea pig polyclonal anti-synaptophysin (Synaptic System, 1:1000) and mouse monoclonal anti-PSD-95 (6G6-1C9, Abcam, 1:300)], washed three times with PBS at room temperature (RT), and then incubated for an hour at RT with secondary antibodies [Alexa-594-conjugated goat anti-guinea pig (Molecular Probes, 1:1000) and Alexa-488-conjugated goat anti-mouse (Molecular Probes, 1:1000)]. Following 5 min RT incubation with DAPI nuclear dye, coverslips were washed three times in PBS and mounted in Fluoromount-G (Cell Lab, Beckman Coulter).

Imaging

Images were acquired with a spinning disk confocal microscope (Yokogawa). A healthy-appearing neuron that was about two cell diameters away from its neighbors was placed in the center of the camera field to capture digital images of fluorescence emissions at 488 nm and 594 nm using MetaMorph image capture software. The selected cell was imaged in serial optical sections at 0.33 μ m intervals over a total depth of 5 μ m, for a total of 15 optical sections. Maximum intensity projections (MIPs) were generated from these sections, yielding 5 MIPs representing 1 µm of depth each; fluorescence intensity in each MIP was quantified as described previously (Ippolito and Eroglu, 2010). Synaptic puncta, defined by co-localization of synaptophysin and PSD-95 labeling, were quantified in the selected regions of interest (ROI; 89 \times 89 μ m square) using Puncta Analyzer program written by Bary Wark for ImageJ 1.26.¹ A total of 9 cells from 3 coverslips (each coverslip from a different culture batch) were analyzed for each experimental condition.

Western Blotting

Cells were lysed on ice with modified RIPA buffer (0.5% SOD, 0.1% SDS, 1% Triton X-100, 150 mM NaCl, 50 mM TrisCl, 1 mM EDTA) supplemented with a protease inhibitor cocktail (Roche). Crude lysates were cleared by centrifugation at 6000 rpm for 10 min at 4°C, solubilized with LDS sample buffer (Invitrogen) supplemented with TCEP reducing reagent (Pierce; final concentration 12.5 mM), and heated for 10 min at 70°C prior to loading; given different cellular compositions of the cultures, samples were loaded on an equal volume basis. Samples were electrophoretically resolved with 4-12% Bis-Tris NuPAGE gels (Invitrogen) and electroblotted to nitrocellulose membranes. Membranes were blocked for 1 h at RT in TBS (150 mM NaCl, 20 mM TrisCl; pH = 7.4) containing 3% nonfat dried milk, incubated with primary antibodies for 2-3 h at RT or overnight at 4°C, washed 4 times at RT, incubated with the corresponding secondary antibody for 1 h at RT, and washed for at least 30 min at RT. Following a final wash in TBS with 0.1% Tween for 10 min at RT, protein-antibody complexes were detected using an ECL chemiluminescent kit (Pierce Biotechnology) and CL-XPosure Film (Thermo Scientific) with a Konica SRX-101A film developer. In a subset of experiments (Figure 10), the Odyssey Fc infrared imaging system (LI-COR Biosciences) was used for detection of the protein-antibody complexes. In these experiments, electrophoresis was performed using 3-8%

¹http://rsbweb.nih.gov/ij/

Tris-Acetate NuPAGE gels (Invitrogen). The membranes were dried at RT for at least 1 h and then blocked with Odyssey Blocking Buffer (LI-COR Biosciences) for 1 h at RT. Odyssey Blocking Buffer supplemented with 0.1% Tween 20 was used for dilution of primary and secondary antibodies, while PBS supplemented with 0.1% Tween 20 was used for washing. Membranes were incubated with primary antibodies for 2 h at RT or overnight at 4°C, washed 4 times (5 min/wash) at RT, incubated with secondary antibodies for 1 h at RT, washed 4 times (5 min/wash) at RT, and then imaged using Odyssey Fc (LI-COR Biosciences) at 700 nm and 800 nm; images were analyzed using Image Studio Imaging Software (LI-COR Biosciences). Primary antibodies included: mouse monoclonal anti-NR1 (BD Biosciences, 1:1000), rabbit monoclonal anti-GluN2A (Millipore, 1:1000), mouse monoclonal anti-GluN2B (BD Biosciences, 1:100 [film] or 1:500 [Odyssev Fc]), rabbit polyclonal anti-phospho-GluN2B (Ser1303) (Millipore, 1:1000), mouse monoclonal anti-GluR1-NT (Millipore, 1:500), mouse monoclonal anti-PSD-95 (NeuroMab, 1:1000), rabbit polyclonal anti-synaptophysin (Santa Cruz Biotechnology, 1:1000) and mouse monoclonal anti-actin (Sigma, 1:5000). Secondary antibodies included goat horseradish peroxidase (HRP)conjugated anti-rabbit secondary H + L IgG antibody and goat HRP-conjugated anti-mouse secondary H + L IgG antibody (Jackson ImmunoResearch, 1:5000 for both) or goat IRDye® 800CW-conjugated anti-rabbit secondary H + L IgG antibody and goat IRDye® 680RD-conjugated anti-mouse secondary H + L IgG antibody (LI-COR Biosciences, 1:15000 for both).

Surface Protein Biotinylation

After 2 washes with ice-cold PBS, live cultures were incubated with 1 mg/mL sulfo-NHS-S-S-Biotin (Pierce) for 20 min on ice. Following 2 washes with ice-cold PBS and 2 washes with ice-cold TBS (to remove and quench unbound reagent, respectively), cells were lysed in a modified RIPA buffer. Crude lysates were cleared by centrifugation at 6000 rpm for 10 min at 4°C; 10% of cleared lysate was reserved, while the rest was incubated with 50% NeutraAvidin agarose beads (Pierce) for 2–3 h or overnight at 4°C. After 5 washes with RIPA buffer, bound proteins were eluted with DTT- and TCEP-containing LDS sample buffer by heating for 30 min at 75°C; cleared whole cell lysate (input) and biotinylated protein fractions were then analyzed by Western blotting, as described above.

Data Fitting and Statistical Methods

Using a nonlinear least-squares algorithm, the dose-response data were fitted to Eq. 1 (where Top and Bottom are maximal and minimal current density values respectively, y is the current density obtained in response to a concentration of NMDA x, and EC₅₀ is the concentration of NMDA that yields the half-maximal current density).

$$y = Bottom + \frac{Top - Bottom}{1 + 10^{LogEC_{50} - x}}$$
(1)

The standard slope (Hill slope = 1) was adopted because (i) estimated Hill coefficients obtained from all groups were similar to 1 [0.9-1.4, as reported previously (Verdoorn and

Dingledine, 1988; Patneau and Mayer, 1990; Linsenbardt et al., 2013)]; and (ii) curves were fitted better without a slope parameter.

To determine weighted mean unitary conductance, MATLAB (MathWorks) was used to perform fluctuation analysis on the slowly decaying whole-cell currents evoked by 5 μ M NMDA in the presence of 1 µM glycine. (To achieve the sufficiently slow current decay, the wash in these experiments was performed through a whole bath solution exchange rather than through the fast perfusion system used in other experiments.) The mean current and noise variance were calculated from adjacent 500 ms intervals during the portion of the current decay phase that was well fitted with a single exponential; to minimize the effect of changing current amplitude, the current variance was determined after subtracting this single exponential fit from the raw current trace. The mean current-variance plots showed a linear relationship, indicating that only a small fraction of the available channels were open; the weighted mean unitary current was determined from the slope of the linear fit (Watt et al., 2000). The weighted mean single channel conductance was obtained by dividing the mean unitary current by the driving force (-68.8 mV).

Statistical analyses were performed with GraphPad Prism statistical software; the specific test used for each experiment was chosen based on the experimental design and is specified in the main text and figure legends. The data are shown as mean \pm SEM, unless indicated otherwise; p < 0.05 was considered statistically significant.

Results

In Hippocampal Cultures with Mature Synapses, Astrocytes Increase Postsynaptic NMDAR Current Density Through Secretion of a Soluble Factor (or Factors)

To investigate the effect of glia on neuronal NMDARs, we compared NMDAR activity between mixed and predominantly neuronal primary hippocampal cultures by recording wholecell currents evoked by bath application of NMDA in the presence of glycine, with or without extracellular Mg^{2+} . [In our culture system, the neuron-glia ratio is approximately 50%-50% in mixed cultures and 95%-5% in AraC-treated, neuron-enriched cultures; for images of each culture condition, see Habas et al. (2013)]. NMDA-evoked currents were larger in mixed than in neuronal cultures; representative traces from recordings in 0 mM Mg^{2+} are shown in Figure 1A. To examine NMDA current differences in a systematic way, we constructed dose-response curves (Eq. 1) for steady-state current density (plateau current normalized by cell capacitance; Figures 1B,C). NMDA EC₅₀ values did not significantly differ between the two culture conditions (0 Mg²⁺: 13 μ M in mixed vs. 10 μ M in neuronal cultures; 1.2 mM Mg^{2+} : 44 μM in mixed vs. 39 μ M in neuronal cultures; p > 0.05, F-test) and were comparable to values previously reported in the literature [7-16 μ M in Mg²⁺-free and 25-40 μ M in Mg²⁺-containing



FIGURE 1 | Continued

average obtained from 3–8 neurons. (F) A schematic diagram of the two neuron-astrocyte co-culture arrangements used for experiments. In direct co-cultures (left), astrocytes were plated directly onto AraC-treated neuronal cultures. In indirect co-cultures, astrocytes were plated on culture inserts that were then placed into wells with AraC-treated neuronal cultures; the insert membrane (1 μ m pore size) allowed free exchange of soluble factors but prevented a direct contact between the two cell types. (G) Representative current traces evoked by 100 μ M NMDA in the presence of 1 μ M glycine in neuronal cultures, mixed cultures, direct neuron-astrocyte co-cultures, and indirect neuron-astrocyte co-cultures. (H) The average NMDA-evoked current density was significantly larger in mixed cultures and astrocyte co-cultures compared to neuronal cultures (* ρ < 0.05, ** ρ < 0.01; one-way ANOVA with Dunnett post-test).

recording solutions (Verdoorn and Dingledine, 1988; Patneau and Mayer, 1990; Dildy-Mayfield and Leslie, 1991; Jaekel et al., 2006; Linsenbardt et al., 2013)]. In contrast, the maximal NMDAR current density was two-fold greater in mixed than neuronal cultures regardless of the Mg²⁺ concentration used (0 Mg²⁺: 10.6 \pm 1.2 pA/pF vs. 6.3 \pm 1.4 pA/pF; 1.2 mM Mg²⁺: 4.0 \pm 0.6 pA/pF vs. 2.2 \pm 0.4 pA/pF, p < 0.05, F-test). Since the voltage dependence of Mg²⁺ block shapes the voltage dependence of NMDAR currents (Nowak et al., 1984), this finding suggested that glial modulation of NMDARs was voltage independent; to investigate this further, we directly assessed the current-voltage (I-V) relationship of NMDA-evoked currents (Figures 1D,E). In Mg²⁺-free recording solution (Figure 1D), I-V curves were linear with a reversal potential of ~ 0 mV in both culture conditions, as described previously (Nowak et al., 1984); however, the current amplitudes were significantly greater in mixed than neuronal cultures (p < 0.0001; two-way ANOVA). In the presence of 1.2 mM Mg^{2+} (Figure 1E), I-V curves exhibited a typical block at negative voltages while maintaining the significant amplitude difference between the two culture conditions (p < 0.05; two-way ANOVA).

Mixed hippocampal cultures used in these experiments contain a heterogeneous population of glia. To determine whether the increase in neuronal NMDAR current density was mediated by astrocyte-secreted factor(s), we used two different modes of neuron-astrocyte co-culture, as described previously (Habas et al., 2013): in direct co-cultures, there was a physical contact between neurons and astrocytes, while in indirect co-cultures, the two cell types shared the same medium but were not in a direct contact (Figure 1F). The density of NMDAR currents evoked by 100 μ M NMDA and 1 μ M glycine (in the absence of Mg²⁺) was comparable between mixed cultures (16.0 \pm 1.3 pA/pF), direct neuron-astrocyte co-cultures (14.0 \pm 2.6 pA/pF), and indirect neuron-astrocyte co-cultures (14.8 \pm 1.6 pA/pF) and was approximately twice as large as the density of NMDAR currents in neuronal cultures $(6.1 \pm 1.2 \text{ pA/pF})$ (Figures 1G,H; one-way ANOVA with post hoc Dunnett test, p < 0.01, p < 0.05, and p < 0.01, respectively; n = 8). Taken together, these results demonstrate that astrocytes increase neuronal NMDAR current density in a voltage-independent fashion through a secretion of a soluble factor (or factors).



In the Presence of Astrocytes, there is an Increase in the Size of NMDAR-Mediated Synaptic Currents but No Significant Change in the Overall Synaptic Density

Several studies have shown that astrocyte-secreted factors regulate synapse formation and function during development of retinal ganglion cells (Pfrieger and Barres, 1997; Ullian et al., 2001; Christopherson et al., 2005; Allen et al., 2012), raising the possibility that the astrocyte-induced increase in the whole-cell NMDAR current density was a result of the increase in the overall synapse density. However, glial influence on excitatory synapses varies with neuronal cell type (Steinmetz et al., 2006) and developmental stage (Xu et al., 2010). To directly examine glial effect(s) on excitatory synapses in our hippocampal culture system, we recorded spontaneous synaptic

activity at DIV13–17, when synaptogenesis is known to reach a plateau (Grabrucker et al., 2009; Xu et al., 2010). Total miniature excitatory postsynaptic excitatory currents (mEPSCs), which contain both AMPAR- and NMDAR-mediated components, were recorded in the presence of 1 μ M tetrodotoxin (TTX) to block action potentials and 20 μ M bicuculline to block inhibitory synaptic transmission (**Figures 2A–E**). Cumulative probability plots of the mEPSC inter-event-interval (IEI; **Figure 2B**) and amplitude (**Figure 2D**) showed small but statistically significant changes in the overall event distribution (total mEPSC IEI: p < 0.005, total mEPSC amplitude: p < 0.001, Kolmogorov-Smirnov [KS] test); however, the mean mEPSC frequency did not significantly differ between the two culture conditions (84.3 ± 41.2 min⁻¹ for mixed vs. 67.2 ± 31.6 min⁻¹ for neuronal cultures, n = 7, p = 0.6, *t*-test; **Figure 2C**). In contrast,



FIGURE 3 | Continued

20 µm. (B.C) The number of synaptic puncta per ROI (which included the soma and proximal dendrites of each imaged neuron) was higher in mixed than neuronal cultures (B); however, this increase was proportional to the increase in the neuronal membrane capacitance (a proxy for the neuronal surface area) observed in mixed cultures (C). (B,C: *p < 0.05, ***p < 0.001; t-test) (D,E) 10-day pretreatment of neuronal cultures with 5 µg/ml TSP had no effect on NMDAR current density measured at either peak or plateau time points; for comparison, NMDAR current density in mixed sister cultures was significantly larger than the current density in neuronal cultures after either pretreatment. Control neuronal cultures were pretreated with vehicle (0.07% glycerol); NMDA currents were evoked by application of 200 μ M NMDA in the presence of glycine. (F,G) Acute TSP treatment (5 µg/ml) had no effect on NMDAR current density in neuronal cultures. In these experiments, neuronal cultures were first pretreated with 5 μ g/ml TSP or vehicle, as described for (D,E); TSP or vehicle were then co-applied with NMDA in the presence of glycine. There was no difference in the mean NMDAR current density between TSP- and vehicle-treated cultures at either time point (peak and plateau); as expected, NMDAR current density was significantly larger in mixed sister cultures. (**D-G**: *p < 0.05, **p < 0.01, ***p < 0.001, one-way ANOVA with Bonferroni post-test).

the peak total mEPSC amplitude was 33% larger in mixed than neuronal cultures (24.8 ± 2.5 pA vs. 18.6 ± 1.3 pA respectively, n = 7, p < 0.05, *t*-test; **Figure 2E**). When recordings were performed in the presence of 100 µM AP5 to block the NMDAR mEPSC component (**Figures 2A,F-I**), we again observed very small but statistically significant changes in the distribution of AMPAR mEPSC IEI (**Figure 2F**) and amplitude (**Figure 2H**) (p < 0.001, KS test). However, there was no statistical significance in the mean frequency (76.4 ± 35.6 min⁻¹ in mixed vs. 43.2 ± 22.0 min⁻¹ in neuronal cultures, n = 7, p > 0.05, *t*-test; **Figure 2G**) or the mean peak amplitude of AMPAR mEPSCs between the two culture conditions (16.2 ± 1.3 pA in mixed vs. 15.0 ± 1.2 pA in neuronal cultures; n = 7, p > 0.05, *t*-test; **Figure 2I**).

A subset of glutamatergic synapses contains only NMDARs (Hanse et al., 2013), rendering them AMPAR-silent and thus undetectable in standard mEPSC recordings; therefore, we also compared the overall number of synapses between the two culture conditions. Neurons were immunostained with antibodies against synaptophysin (a presynaptic marker; red) and PSD-95 (a postsynaptic marker; green), as described previously (Ullian et al., 2001; Christopherson et al., 2005; Ippolito and Eroglu, 2010); synapses were detected as yellow puncta, indicating co-localization of the two markers (Figure 3A). The number of synaptic puncta per ROI (which included the soma and proximal dendrites of imaged neurons) was 30% greater in mixed than neuronal cultures, a statistically significant difference (301.1 \pm 27.2 vs. 231.2 \pm 15.4 puncta/ROI; n = 9, p < 0.05, t-test; Figure 3B). However, neuronal surface area (measured as membrane capacitance) was also 30% greater in mixed than neuronal cultures (84.1 \pm 4.2 pF vs. 64.7 \pm 3.3 pF respectively, n = 25, p < 0.001, ttest; Figure 3C). These measurements were performed on different cell populations and thus could not be used for direct calculation of the number of synapses per unit of the membrane capacitance; nonetheless, together they strongly

(Continued)



suggest that synaptic density did not appreciably differ among the two culture conditions. In agreement with this finding, thrombospondin [astrocyte-secreted factor that promotes retinal ganglion cell synaptogenesis (Christopherson et al., 2005)] had no effect on the NMDAR current density in neuronal cultures (**Figures 3D–G**). Collectively, these data indicate that (i) the presence of glial cells does not have a major effect on the density of excitatory synapses in mature hippocampal cultures; and (ii) that the two-fold difference in whole-cell NMDAR current density between mixed and neuronal cultures cannot be explained by the difference in synaptic density between the two culture conditions.

The mean amplitude of total mEPSCs (**Figure 2E**), but not AMPAR mEPSCs (**Figure 2I**), was significantly larger in mixed than neuronal cultures, suggesting an increase in the NMDARmediated mEPSC component. Indeed, the mean amplitude of average NMDAR mEPSCs (obtained by subtraction of the average AMPAR mEPSC trace from the average total mEPSC trace for each neuron; **Figure 4A**) was significantly larger in

mixed than neuronal cultures (6.1 \pm 0.8 vs. 3.9 \pm 0.6 pA, respectively; n = 7, p < 0.05, t-test; Figure 4B), resulting in a decreased AMPAR/NMDAR ratio in mixed cultures (median of 2.1 in mixed vs. 3.1 in neuronal cultures, n = 7, p < 0.05, Mann-Whitney test; Figure 4C). To determine whether this increase in the average NMDAR mEPSC reflects a population of new synapses or an increase in the NMDAR mEPSC component of existing synapses, we examined the AMPAR/NMDAR ratio at individual synapses using kinetics analysis that is based on distinctive inactivation properties of these two types of glutamate receptors, as described previously (Edmonds et al., 1995; Watt et al., 2000). When NMDAR and AMPAR mEPSC amplitudes from each event were plotted against each other, the correlation coefficient became smaller in mixed cultures (0.34) than in neuronal cultures (0.57) (Figure 4D), indicating that AMPAR and NMDAR components of mEPSC were not proportionally scaled at individual synapses. In agreement with this observation and with the results from the average mEPSC analysis (Figures 4A-C),



the AMPAR/NMDAR ratio obtained from individual mEPSCs was significantly smaller in mixed than neuronal cultures (4.6 \pm 0.1 vs. 7.7 \pm 0.3, n = 7; p < 0.001, *t*-test; **Figure 4E**). To directly measure differences in NMDAR mEPSCs between mixed and neuronal cultures, we performed recordings in the presence of the AMPAR blocker NBQX (10 μ M) in addition to TTX, bicuculline, and strychnine (1 μ M) (**Figure 5A**). Cumulative plots of the NMDAR mEPSC IEI and amplitude showed a large and statistically significant change in the

overall event distribution (total mEPSC IEI: p < 0.005, total mEPSC amplitude: p < 0.001, KS test; **Figures 5B,D**). In addition, there was a significant increase in the NMDAR mEPSC frequency and peak amplitude in mixed compared to neuronal cultures (12.9 ± 1.4 vs. 7.9 ± 1.1 min⁻¹ and 23.4 ± 2.6 vs. 14.0 ± 1.4 pA, n = 6-7, p < 0.05, *t*-test; **Figures 5C,E**). Taken together, these results demonstrate that (i) NMDAR-mediated synaptic currents in mature hippocampal neurons are potentiated in the presence of astrocytes and (ii) astrocytes differentially affect NMDARs and AMPARs at individual synapses, resulting in a lower AMPAR/NMDAR ratio in mixed cultures.

Astrocytes Selectively Regulate Synaptic GluN2B NMDARs

Synaptic and extrasynaptic NMDARs have a similar subunit composition, but different cellular functions (Hardingham and Bading, 2010). To determine whether glia differentially modulate these two NMDAR populations, we used the activitydependent open NMDAR channel blocker MK-801 to isolate synaptic from extrasynaptic NMDAR currents, as described previously (Papadia et al., 2008): after synaptic NMDA currents were irreversibly blocked by MK-801 application during a period of spontaneous neuronal activity, residual extrasynaptic NMDAR currents were evoked by bath application of NMDA (Figure 6A; representative recordings from neuronal and mixed cultures are shown in Figures 6B,C). In agreement with the data from our mEPSC experiments, the density of the synaptic (MK-801-sensitive) NMDAR current was significantly greater in mixed cultures at both peak and plateau time points [peak: 18.4 \pm 2.0 vs. 9.8 \pm 1.9 pA/pF, p < 0.01; plateau: 13.5 \pm 1.6 vs. 7.0 \pm 2.0 pA/pF, p < 0.05; n = 12-13, t-test (Figure 6D)]. In contrast, the density of the extrasynaptic (MK-801-insensitive) NMDAR current did not significantly differ between the two culture conditions [peak: 5.2 \pm 1.4 pA/pF in mixed vs. 2.9 \pm 1.0 pA/pF in neuronal cultures, p > 0.05; plateau: 2.1 \pm 0.4 in mixed vs. 1.6 ± 0.3 pA/pF in neuronal cultures, p > 0.05; n = 12-13, *t*-test (Figure 6E)].

A significant fraction of the synaptic NMDAR current is carried by channels that incorporate slowly-inactivating GluN2B subunit, although these channels are found at both subcellular locations (Harris and Pettit, 2007). To examine the subunit specificity of glial NMDAR potentiation, we recorded NMDAevoked currents in the presence of ifenprodil (3 µM), a GluN2Bselective inhibitor (Williams, 1993; Figure 7A). The density of ifenprodil-insensitive, largely GluN2A-mediated NMDAR currents was not significantly different between the two culture conditions [peak: $12.6 \pm 1.8 \text{ pA/pF}$ in mixed vs. $10.0 \pm 0.9 \text{ pA/pF}$ in neuronal cultures, p > 0.05; plateau: 3.5 \pm 1.0 pA/pF in mixed vs. 1.8 \pm 0.7 pA/pF in neuronal cultures, p > 0.05; n = 8-10, t-test (Figure 7B)]. In contrast, ifenprodil-sensitive, GluN2B-mediated currents were significantly larger in mixed cultures when measured at the plateau, but not at the peak time point [peak: 9.6 \pm 3.0 vs. 8.0 \pm 1.5 pA/pF, p > 0.05; plateau: 9.8 ± 1.4 vs. 4.2 ± 1.1 pA/pF, p < 0.001; n = 8-10, t-test



FIGURE 6 | Synaptic, but not extrasynaptic, NMDA-evoked currents are increased in the presence of glia. (A) A schematic diagram of the drug application protocol used to separate synaptic from extrasynaptic NMDAR currents. The total whole-cell NMDAR currents were first recorded in a Mg²⁺-free external solution containing TTX. To block synaptic NMDA currents, neurons were then switched for 5 min to the current-clamp configuration and a TTX-free solution containing Mg^{2+} and 10 μM MK-801; under these conditions, the spontaneous neuronal firing activates synaptic (but not extrasynaptic) NMDAR channels, which are then irreversibly blocked by the activity-dependent, irreversible NMDAR channel blocker MK-801. Finally, neurons were switched back to the regular recording solution and voltage clamp configuration to record the residual extrasynaptic NMDA currents. Between patch-clamp recording configuration switches, neurons were perfused for 2 min. (B,C) Representative current traces evoked by 200 µM NMDA in the presence of glycine in neuronal (B) and mixed cultures (C). Total NMDAR currents (left) were recorded before MK-801 treatment, while residual/extrasynaptic NMDAR currents (right) were recorded after MK-801 treatment, as described in (A). Synaptic NMDA currents (center) were obtained by subtracting MK-801-insensitive from total NMDA currents. (D,E) Mean peak and steady-state (plateau) current densities are plotted for synaptic (D) and extrasynaptic NMDA currents (E). The peak current amplitude (averaged over 5 ms) was determined within 1 s of NMDA application; the plateau current amplitude was obtained by averaging during the last 1 s of 10–15 s NMDA application. Both peak and plateau synaptic NMDAR currents were greater in mixed cultures, but extrasynaptic currents did not significantly differ between the two culture conditions (*p < 0.05, **p < 0.01, t-test).

(Figure 7C)]. Taken together, these data indicate that synaptic GluN2B-containing NMDAR channels are the target of glial modulation.

Astrocytes Regulate NMDAR Channel Activity Through a PKC-Mediated Mechanism

Increased whole-cell current density can be due to an increase in the number of ion channels on the cell surface or to an increase in the activity of ion channels already localized to the plasma membrane. To differentiate between these two possibilities, we examined the total and cell surface expression of the major hippocampal NMDAR subunits, GluN1, GluN2A and GluN2B. In contrast to glial modulation of AMPAR [which involves increased cell surface expression and clustering of AMPAR GluA1 subunits (Allen et al., 2012)], neither total protein level nor cell surface expression of GluN1, GluN2A and GluN2B subunits was significantly higher in mixed compared to neuronal cultures (Figures 8A-D), indicating that the increase in the whole-cell current density was due to a change in the activity of the surface-expressed NMDAR channels. Ion channel activity is a function of two different aspects of single channel behavior: single channel (unitary) conductance and single channel kinetics. While evaluation of single channel kinetics requires patch recordings not suitable for analysis of physically inaccessible synaptic channels (Traynelis and Jaramillo, 1998),



FIGURE 7 | Glia-induced enhancement of NMDA-evoked currents is GluN2B subunit specific. (A) Representative current traces evoked by 200 μ M NMDA in the presence of glycine recorded before and after treatment with the GluN2B-specific antagonist ifenprodil (3 μ M). Ifenprodil-sensitive GluN2B NMDAR currents (blue traces) were obtained by subtracting the ifenprodil-insensitive GluN2A currents (gray traces) from the total NMDAR currents (black traces). (B,C) Mean peak and steady-state (plateau) current densities are plotted for GluN2A (B) and GluN2B currents (C). The plateau, but not peak, GluN2B currents were significantly larger in mixed cultures, while GluN2A currents did not significantly differ between the two culture conditions at either time point (**p < 0.01, *t*-test).



unitary conductance can be determined from fluctuation analysis of macroscopic currents (Sigworth, 1981). To further elucidate the mechanism mediating astrocytic enhancement of NMDAR channel activity, we therefore performed fluctuation analysis of the slowly decaying whole-cell currents evoked by 5 μ M NMDA (Mayer et al., 1988; Watt et al., 2000). Figures 8E,F show representative current traces and mean current-variance plots for one neuron from each culture condition, with the slope of the linear fit yielding the weighted mean unitary conductances of 24.3 pS (neuron without glia) and 21.1 pS (neuron with glia) for the two neurons shown; these values are smaller than the NMDAR conductance values obtained from outside-out patch recordings [40–50 pS (Jahr and Stevens, 1987; Ascher et al., 1988; Robinson et al., 1991)], but are in line with a broad range of NMDAR single channel conductance values obtained from fluctuation analysis [9-41 pS (Ascher et al., 1988; Sah et al., 1989; Watt et al., 2000)]. Importantly, the mean weighted unitary NMDAR channel conductance did not significantly differ between the two culture conditions $(22.2 \pm 1.5 \text{ pS} \text{ in neuronal vs. } 23.3 \pm 1.2 \text{ pS} \text{ in mixed}$ cultures, n = 6-7, p > 0.05, t-test; Figure 8G), suggesting that a change in the single channel kinetics rather than a change in the single channel conductance is the key biophysical mechanism mediating the astrocytic modulation of synaptic GluN2B NMDAR channels.

PKC was previously shown to increase the whole-cell NMDAR current by phosphorylation of Ser1303 and/or Ser1323 in the C-terminus of GluN2B (Liao et al., 2001). To investigate whether PKC is involved in the astrocyte-induced potentiation of NMDAR currents, neuronal and mixed cultures were pretreated with PKC inhibitor GF 109203X (GFX; 5 µM) for 40 min prior to recording (Figures 9A,B). [GFX inhibits PKC with IC50 of ~10 nM (Toullec et al., 1991), but in physiological experiments it is typically used at concentrations between 1-10 µM.] GFX pretreatment significantly attenuated NMDAR current density in mixed cultures (16.1 \pm 1.2 vs. 8.6 \pm 1.1 pA/pF; n = 6-10, p < 0.01, two-way ANOVA with Bonferroni multiple comparison post-test) but had no effect in neuronal cultures (10.1 \pm 0.6 vs. 11.5 \pm 1.4 pA/pF; p > 0.05); as a result, the difference in NMDAR current density between the two culture types, which was significant in vehicle-pretreated cultures (p < 0.01), was completely abolished following GFX

pretreatment (p > 0.05). In agreement with these results, PKC activator phorbol-12-myristate-13-acetate (PMA) had the opposite effect (Figures 9C,D): pretreatment with 100 nM PMA significantly increased NMDAR current density in neuronal cultures (17.4 \pm 2.3 vs. 4.6 \pm 1.1 pA/pF; n = 8-12, p < 0.001, two-way ANOVA with Bonferroni multiple comparison posttest) but had no effect in mixed cultures (15.0 \pm 1.8 vs. 11.0 \pm 2.3 pA/pF; p > 0.05); consequently, the difference in NMDAR current density between the two culture types (which was significant in vehicle-pretreated cultures; p < 0.001) was not significant following PMA pretreatment (p > 0.05). Interestingly, however, there was no significant difference in the phosphorylation status of GluN2B Ser1303 between the two culture conditions in either vehicle- or GFX-treated cultures (Figure 10; phosphorylation of Ser1323 could not be evaluated due to the lack of phospho-specific antibodies targeting that site). Taken together, these data indicate that PKC mediates the astrocyte-induced increase in the synaptic GluN2B channel activity, but that this effect does not involve phosphorylation of GluN2B-Ser1303.



Discussion

Neuronal NMDARs play a critical role in synaptic plasticity, neuroprotection, and neurotoxicity, but relatively little is known about their regulation by glial cells. Our study identified a novel form of astrocytic NMDAR modulation that occurs in a subunitand subcellular localization-dependent manner. The density of NMDA-evoked whole-cell current was approximately doubled in neurons cultured in the presence of a mixed population of glia compared to neurons cultured alone (Figure 1), indicating a change in either expression or function of postsynaptic NMDAR channels. The glial effect was mediated by (an) astrocyte-secreted soluble factor(s) (Figure 1), was Mg^{2+} and voltage independent (Figure 1), and could not be explained by an appreciable change in the synaptic density (Figure 3). Instead, we found that the peak amplitude of total and NMDAR mEPSCs, but not AMPAR mEPSCs, was significantly larger in mixed cultures, resulting in a decreased synaptic AMPAR/NMDAR ratio (Figures 2, 4, 5). Astrocytic modulation was restricted to synaptic NMDARs that contain the GluN2B subunit (Figures 6, 7), did not involve an increase in the cell surface expression of NMDAR subunits (Figure 8), and was mediated by PKC (Figure 9). Collectively, these data show that astrocyte-secreted soluble factor(s) can fine-tune synaptic NMDAR activity through the PKC-mediated regulation of GluN2B NMDAR channels already present at postsynaptic sites, presumably on a rapid time scale (Figure 11).

Based on studies of transgenic mice that express dominant negative SNARE (dnSNARE) construct under the control of a glial fibrillary acidic protein (GFAP) promoter, it was previously suggested that astrocytes regulate the surface expression of GluN2A and GluN2B subunits by increasing the extracellular concentration of adenosine, which activates A1 receptors and leads to tyrosine phosphorylation of Src kinase and the GluN2B subunit (Deng et al., 2011). However, these findings have been called in question by a recent study by Fujita et al., which showed that GFAP-dnSNARE mice (i) express dnSNARE not just in astrocytes but also in a subset of cortical and hippocampal neurons and (ii) do not exhibit increased extracellular concentration of adenosine in vivo (Fujita et al., 2014). We have not directly tested whether adenosine plays a role in the astrocytic modulation of synaptic GluN2B currents; however, using wild-type neurons and astrocytes, we have not observed a significant increase in the normalized surface expression of GluN2A and GluN2B subunits in mixed relative to neuronal cultures (Figures 8, 10). Our findings thus confirm that astrocytes regulate neuronal NMDAR channels, but suggest that the underlying mechanism does not involve changes in NMDAR subunit trafficking.

NMDAR currents are regulated by PKC in a complex manner; PKC-mediated NMDAR potentiation has been observed most often (Xiong et al., 1998; Lu et al., 1999; Zheng et al., 1999; Liao et al., 2001), but PKC-mediated suppression has also been reported (Markram and Segal, 1992). In the best studied form of PKC-mediated NMDAR current regulation, activation of G_q G protein-coupled (i.e., muscarinic M1 and glutamate mGluR5) receptors leads to activation



of the phospholipase C/PKC/Src kinase signaling cascade and enhancement of NMDA-evoked whole-cell currents that is greater at the peak than at the plateau (Lu et al., 1999, 2000). The preferential enhancement of peak NMDAR currents was originally interpreted as PKC regulation of Ca²⁺-dependent inactivation (Lu et al., 1999), but is now understood as selective potentiation of GluN2A-containing NMDARs, which preferentially contribute to the peak NMDAevoked currents (Yang et al., 2014). G_a/PKC/Src-mediated regulation of GluN2A NMDARs is thus distinct from the astrocyte-induced potentiation of GluN2B NMDARs reported in the current study, although both events seem to be mediated by a change in the single channel kinetics rather than a change in the single channel conductance [(Lu et al., 1999) and Figure 8]. It is not entirely clear why the PKC-mediated modulation of GluN2B NMDARs has not been observed in the earlier studies; however, it is worth noting that the previous work was performed in the absence of glia, largely using heterologous expression systems or acutely dissociated neurons. It is possible that astrocyte-secreted factors responsible for GluN2B NMDAR regulation activate PKC through a non-canonical, G_q G protein-independent mechanism that is yet to be elucidated.

What is the molecular target of PKC phosphorylation? Although both GluN1 and GluN2 subunits contain multiple PKC phosphorylation consensus sites (Chen and Roche, 2007), mutation or deletion of these sites does not completely eliminate PKC-mediated NMDAR current enhancement, suggesting that PKC effects are at least partly indirect (i.e., mediated by phosphorylation of other neuronal proteins). The C terminus of the GluN2B subunit contains two adjacent Ser residues (Ser1303 and Ser1323) that can be phosphorylated by PKC (Chen and Roche, 2007); Ser1303 is also phosphorylated by calcium/calmodulin-dependent protein kinase II (CaMKII) (Omkumar et al., 1996). In *Xenopus* oocytes, mutations of



tGluN2B; neither the presence of glia nor the inhibition of PKC affected the phosphorylation status of Ser1303 in the C terminus of GluN2B (n = 6; two-way ANOVA with Sidak post-test). (**C**) Quantification of tGluN2B surface expression normalized to GluR1. In agreement with the data shown in **Figure 8**, neither the culture condition nor the PKC inhibition affected the cell surface expression of GluN2B subunit (n = 6; two-way ANOVA with Sidak post-test).

Ser1303 and Ser1323 strongly attenuate, but do not completely block, the PKC modulation of recombinant GluN1/2B channels (Liao et al., 2001). We have not observed any difference in the phosphorylation status of Ser1303 between the two culture conditions either at baseline or following treatment with the PKC inhibitor GFX (Figure 10), indicating (i) that this residue is not involved in the astrocyte- and PKC-mediated modulation of synaptic GluN2B receptors and (ii) that in the intact neuronal milieu a kinase other than PKC (presumably CaMKII) has a dominant effect on Ser1303 phosphorylation. Additional work will be required to establish whether astrocyte-induced PKC activation leads to phosphorylation of a different residue within the GluN2B subunit or acts through an ancillary protein that is part of the NMDAR signaling complex (Figure 11). Notably, astrocytic regulation is restricted to synaptic GluN2B receptors (Figures 6, 7); given that GluN2B receptors can move between synaptic and extrasynaptic sites (Groc et al., 2006), it is not currently clear how this specificity is achieved. Most likely, kinases, phosphatases, and other signaling proteins that make up the supramolecular NMDA receptor complex differ between synaptic and extrasynaptic sites, and the differences in this subcellular environment play a role in the regulation of NMDAR channel activity.

What is the functional significance of synaptic GluN2B receptor regulation by astrocytes? At the early stages of postnatal development, there is a change in the neuronal NMDAR composition: GluN2B-containing NMDARs, which are the main NMDAR subtype expressed at birth, are partially replaced by GluN2A-containing NMDARs, which have a lower glutamate affinity and exhibit faster inactivation kinetics (Paoletti et al., 2013). This GluN2A-2B switch coincides with synaptic maturation; however, synapses with high GluN2A to GluN2B ratio require stronger stimulation to undergo long term potentiation (LTP; Paoletti et al., 2013). Thus, the GluN2A-2B switch is likely to have a negative effect on learning and



memory. In agreement with this hypothesis, overexpression of the GluN2B subunit in the adult forebrain leads to more robust LTP and enhanced performance on various learning and memory tasks in both mice (Tang et al., 1999) and rats (Wang et al., 2009), even at an old age (Cao et al., 2007). Of greater physiological relevance, transgenic mice with high serum levels of the anti-aging factor klotho show an increase in the GluN2B portion of synaptic NMDAR currents, which is accompanied by enhanced LTP and better performance on tests of learning and memory; in humans, heterozygosity for a lifespan-extending variant of the KLOTHO gene is associated with increased klotho serum levels and better cognition (Dubal et al., 2014). While klotho appears to regulate the number of GluN2B receptors expressed at synapses (Dubal et al., 2014), a similar learning enhancement would be expected to result from an astrocyte-mediated increase in the activity of GluN2B NMDARs that are already present at postsynaptic sites. We therefore propose that astrocytes can dynamically regulate the synaptic GluN2A/2B current ratio and the threshold for LTP induction; identification of the astrocyte-secreted factor(s) that mediate(s) NMDAR regulation will enable the direct testing of this hypothesis.

PKC. Through phosphorylation of either the GluN2B subunit itself (solid green

 Ca^{2+} influx through synaptic NMDARs leads to activation of FOXO, C/EBP β , and AP-1 signaling pathways that together have a neuroprotective effect (Papadia et al., 2008). In contrast, activation of extrasynaptic NMDARs is generally neurotoxic (Hardingham et al., 2002). GluN2A- and GluN2B-containing NMDARs were originally hypothesized to preferentially signal to cell survival and cell death cascades, respectively (Liu et al., 2007); however, later studies have demonstrated that either receptor subtype can activate both neuroprotective and neurotoxic signaling pathways (von Engelhardt et al., 2007; Martel et al., 2009). More recently, it has been shown that the C terminus of GluN2B is more effective than the C terminus of GluN2A in promoting neuronal death; however, this effect was observed when both synaptic and extrasynaptic NMDARs were chronically activated (Martel et al., 2012). In contrast, trans-synaptic (physiologic) activation of GluN2B receptors was shown to be neuroprotective (Papadia et al., 2008; Martel et al., 2009). Interestingly, we have found that astrocyte-secreted factor(s) selectively increase the current flow through synaptic, but not extrasynaptic, GluN2Bcontaining NMDARs. In the setting of physiologic synaptic activity, the astrocyte-mediated increase in the synaptic GluN2B receptor activity would thus be expected to have a net neuroprotective effect.

also affects GluN1/2A/2B heterotrimers (as shown).

In summary, we have shown that astrocyte-secreted soluble factor(s) can fine-tune the activity of synaptic GluN2B NMDAR channels. Through this presumably rapid and reversible PKC-mediated molecular mechanism, astrocytes can regulate synaptic AMPAR/NMDAR and GluN2A/2B ratios without altering the expression or trafficking of NMDAR channel subunits. Elucidating the details of the signal transduction pathway that mediates astrocytic regulation of synaptic GluN2B channels thus has a potential to foster the development of pharmacologic treatments that will enhance cognitive performance while strengthening neuroprotective signaling.

Acknowledgments

This work was supported by National Institutes of Health grants NS054113 and NS073765 to MM. We thank Drs. Eric Ullian, Peter Sargent, Lily Jan, and Raymond Swanson for insightful

References

- Allen, N. J., Bennett, M. L., Foo, L. C., Wang, G. X., Chakraborty, C., Smith, S. J., et al. (2012). Astrocyte glypicans 4 and 6 promote formation of excitatory synapses via GluA1 AMPA receptors. *Nature* 486, 410–414. doi: 10. 1038/nature11059
- Ascher, P., Bregestovski, P., and Nowak, L. (1988). N-methyl-D-aspartateactivated channels of mouse central neurones in magnesium-free solutions. J. Physiol. 399, 207–226.
- Cao, X., Cui, Z., Feng, R., Tang, Y. P., Qin, Z., Mei, B., et al. (2007). Maintenance of superior learning and memory function in NR2B transgenic mice during ageing. *Eur. J. Neurosci.* 25, 1815–1822. doi: 10.1111/j.1460-9568.2007. 05431.x
- Chen, B. S., and Roche, K. W. (2007). Regulation of NMDA receptors by phosphorylation. *Neuropharmacology* 53, 362–368. doi: 10.1016/j.neuropharm. 2007.05.018
- Christopherson, K. S., Ullian, E. M., Stokes, C. C., Mullowney, C. E., Hell, J. W., Agah, A., et al. (2005). Thrombospondins are astrocyte-secreted proteins that promote CNS synaptogenesis. *Cell* 120, 421–433. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2004. 12.020
- Cull-Candy, S., Brickley, S., and Farrant, M. (2001). NMDA receptor subunits: diversity, development and disease. *Curr. Opin. Neurobiol.* 11, 327–335. doi: 10. 1016/s0959-4388(00)00215-4
- Cull-Candy, S. G., and Leszkiewicz, D. N. (2004). Role of distinct NMDA receptor subtypes at central synapses. *Sci. STKE* 2004:re16. doi: 10.1126/stke. 2552004re16
- Deng, Q., Terunuma, M., Fellin, T., Moss, S. J., and Haydon, P. G. (2011). Astrocytic activation of A1 receptors regulates the surface expression of NMDA receptors through a Src kinase dependent pathway. *Glia* 59, 1084–1093. doi: 10. 1002/glia.21181
- Dildy-Mayfield, J. E., and Leslie, S. W. (1991). Mechanism of inhibition of N-methyl-D-aspartate-stimulated increases in free intracellular Ca²⁺ concentration by ethanol. *J. Neurochem.* 56, 1536–1543. doi: 10.1111/j.1471-4159.1991.tb02048.x
- Dubal, D. B., Yokoyama, J. S., Zhu, L., Broestl, L., Worden, K., Wang, D., et al. (2014). Life extension factor klotho enhances cognition. *Cell Rep.* 7, 1065–1076. doi: 10.1016/j.celrep.2014.03.076
- Edmonds, B., Gibb, A. J., and Colquhoun, D. (1995). Mechanisms of activation of glutamate receptors and the time course of excitatory synaptic currents. *Annu. Rev. Physiol.* 57, 495–519. doi: 10.1146/annurev.physiol.57.1.495
- Fellin, T., Halassa, M. M., Terunuma, M., Succol, F., Takano, H., Frank, M., et al. (2009). Endogenous nonneuronal modulators of synaptic transmission control cortical slow oscillations *in vivo*. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U S A* 106, 15037–15042. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0906419106
- Fu, Z., Logan, S. M., and Vicini, S. (2005). Deletion of the NR2A subunit prevents developmental changes of NMDA-mEPSCs in cultured mouse cerebellar granule neurones. *J. Physiol.* 563, 867–881. doi: 10.1113/jphysiol.2004. 079467
- Fujita, T., Chen, M. J., Li, B., Smith, N. A., Peng, W., Sun, W., et al. (2014). Neuronal transgene expression in dominant-negative SNARE mice. J. Neurosci. 34, 16594–16604. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.2585-14.2014
- Grabrucker, A., Vaida, B., Bockmann, J., and Boeckers, T. M. (2009). Synaptogenesis of hippocampal neurons in primary cell culture. *Cell Tissue Res.* 338, 333–341. doi: 10.1007/s00441-009-0881-z
- Groc, L., Heine, M., Cousins, S. L., Stephenson, F. A., Lounis, B., Cognet, L., et al. (2006). NMDA receptor surface mobility depends on NR2A-2B subunits. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U S A* 103, 18769–18774. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0605238103
- Habas, A., Hahn, J., Wang, X., and Margeta, M. (2013). Neuronal activity regulates astrocytic Nrf2 signaling. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U S A* 110, 18291–18296. doi: 10. 1073/pnas.1208764110

discussions at different stages of the project, Dr. Gunsoo Kim for technical help with fluctuation analysis, Dr. Robert Krencik for advice on synapse quantification, Mr. Vien Nguyen for assistance with early experiments, and Ms. Christine Lin for help with figure preparation.

- Han, K. S., Woo, J., Park, H., Yoon, B. J., Choi, S., and Lee, C. J. (2013). Channelmediated astrocytic glutamate release via Bestrophin-1 targets synaptic NMDARs. *Mol. Brain* 6:4. doi: 10.1186/1756-6606-6-4
- Hanse, E., Seth, H., and Riebe, I. (2013). AMPA-silent synapses in brain development and pathology. Nat. Rev. Neurosci. 14, 839–850. doi: 10. 1038/nrn3642
- Hardingham, G. E., and Bading, H. (2003). The Yin and Yang of NMDA receptor signalling. *Trends Neurosci.* 26, 81–89. doi: 10.1016/s0166-2236(02)00040-1
- Hardingham, G. E., and Bading, H. (2010). Synaptic versus extrasynaptic NMDA receptor signalling: implications for neurodegenerative disorders. *Nat. Rev. Neurosci.* 11, 682–696. doi: 10.1038/nrn2911
- Hardingham, G. E., Fukunaga, Y., and Bading, H. (2002). Extrasynaptic NMDARs oppose synaptic NMDARs by triggering CREB shut-off and cell death pathways. *Nat. Neurosci.* 5, 405–414. doi: 10.1038/nn835
- Harris, A. Z., and Pettit, D. L. (2007). Extrasynaptic and synaptic NMDA receptors form stable and uniform pools in rat hippocampal slices. J. Physiol. 584, 509–519. doi: 10.1113/jphysiol.2007.137679
- Haydon, P. G., and Carmignoto, G. (2006). Astrocyte control of synaptic transmission and neurovascular coupling. *Physiol. Rev.* 86, 1009–1031. doi: 10. 1152/physrev.00049.2005
- Ippolito, D. M., and Eroglu, C. (2010). Quantifying synapses: an immunocytochemistry-based assay to quantify synapse number. J. Vis. Exp. 45:e2270. doi: 10.3791/2270
- Jaekel, B., Mühlberg, K., Garcia de Arriba, S., Reichenbach, A., Verdaguer, E., Pallas, M., et al. (2006). Neuroprotection associated with alternative splicing of NMDA receptors in rat cortical neurons. *Br. J. Pharmacol.* 147, 622–633. doi: 10.1038/sj.bjp.0706471
- Jahr, C. E., and Stevens, C. F. (1987). Glutamate activates multiple single channel conductances in hippocampal neurons. *Nature* 325, 522–525. doi: 10. 1038/325522a0
- Lee, C. J., Mannaioni, G., Yuan, H., Woo, D. H., Gingrich, M. B., and Traynelis, S. F. (2007). Astrocytic control of synaptic NMDA receptors. J. Physiol. 581, 1057–1081. doi: 10.1113/jphysiol.2007.130377
- Liao, G. Y., Wagner, D. A., Hsu, M. H., and Leonard, J. P. (2001). Evidence for direct protein kinase-C mediated modulation of N-methyl-D-aspartate receptor current. *Mol. Pharmacol.* 59, 960–964. doi: 10.1124/mol.59.5.960
- Linsenbardt, A. J., Chisari, M., Yu, A., Shu, H. J., Zorumski, C. F., and Mennerick, S. (2013). Noncompetitive, voltage-dependent NMDA receptor antagonism by hydrophobic anions. *Mol. Pharmacol.* 83, 354–366. doi: 10.1124/mol.112. 081794
- Liu, Y., Wong, T. P., Aarts, M., Rooyakkers, A., Liu, L., Lai, T. W., et al. (2007). NMDA receptor subunits have differential roles in mediating excitotoxic neuronal death both *in vitro* and *in vivo*. J. Neurosci. 27, 2846–2857. doi: 10. 1523/jneurosci.0116-07.2007
- Lu, W. Y., Jackson, M. F., Bai, D., Orser, B. A., and MacDonald, J. F. (2000). In CA1 pyramidal neurons of the hippocampus protein kinase C regulates calciumdependent inactivation of NMDA receptors. J. Neurosci. 20, 4452–4461.
- Lu, W. Y., Xiong, Z. G., Lei, S., Orser, B. A., Dudek, E., Browning, M. D., et al. (1999). G-protein-coupled receptors act via protein kinase C and Src to regulate NMDA receptors. *Nat. Neurosci.* 2, 331–338. doi: 10.1038/7243
- Markram, H., and Segal, M. (1992). Activation of protein kinase C suppresses responses to NMDA in rat CA1 hippocampal neurones. J. Physiol. 457, 491–501. doi: 10.1113/jphysiol.1992.sp019389
- Martel, M. A., Ryan, T. J., Bell, K. F., Fowler, J. H., McMahon, A., Al-Mubarak, B., et al. (2012). The subtype of GluN2 C-terminal domain determines the response to excitotoxic insults. *Neuron* 74, 543–556. doi: 10.1016/j.neuron. 2012.03.021
- Martel, M. A., Wyllie, D. J., and Hardingham, G. E. (2009). In developing hippocampal neurons, NR2B-containing N-methyl-D-aspartate receptors (NMDARs) can mediate signaling to neuronal survival and synaptic

potentiation, as well as neuronal death. *Neuroscience* 158, 334–343. doi: 10. 1016/j.neuroscience.2008.01.080

- Mayer, M. L., Westbrook, G. L., and Vyklicky, L. Jr. (1988). Sites of antagonist action on N-methyl-D-aspartic acid receptors studied using fluctuation analysis and a rapid perfusion technique. J. Neurophysiol. 60, 645–663.
- Nowak, L., Bregestovski, P., Ascher, P., Herbet, A., and Prochiantz, A. (1984). Magnesium gates glutamate-activated channels in mouse central neurones. *Nature* 307, 462–465. doi: 10.1038/307462a0
- Omkumar, R. V., Kiely, M. J., Rosenstein, A. J., Min, K. T., and Kennedy, M. B. (1996). Identification of a phosphorylation site for calcium/calmodulindependent protein kinase II in the NR2B subunit of the N-methyl-D-aspartate receptor. J. Biol. Chem. 271, 31670–31678. doi: 10. 1074/jbc.271.49.31670
- Paoletti, P., Bellone, C., and Zhou, Q. (2013). NMDA receptor subunit diversity: impact on receptor properties, synaptic plasticity and disease. *Nat. Rev. Neurosci.* 14, 383–400. doi: 10.1038/nrn3504
- Papadia, S., Soriano, F. X., Léveillé, F., Martel, M. A., Dakin, K. A., Hansen, H. H., et al. (2008). Synaptic NMDA receptor activity boosts intrinsic antioxidant defenses. *Nat. Neurosci.* 11, 476–487. doi: 10.1038/nn2071
- Parsons, M. P., and Raymond, L. A. (2014). Extrasynaptic NMDA receptor involvement in central nervous system disorders. *Neuron* 82, 279–293. doi: 10. 1016/j.neuron.2014.03.030
- Patneau, D. K., and Mayer, M. L. (1990). Structure-activity relationships for amino acid transmitter candidates acting at N-methyl-D-aspartate and quisqualate receptors. J. Neurosci. 10, 2385–2399.
- Perea, G., and Araque, A. (2010). Glia modulates synaptic transmission. Brain Res. Rev. 63, 93–102. doi: 10.1016/j.brainresrev.2009.10.005
- Pfrieger, F. W., and Barres, B. A. (1997). Synaptic efficacy enhanced by glial cells in vitro. Science 277, 1684–1687. doi: 10.1126/science.277.5332.1684
- Robinson, H. P., Sahara, Y., and Kawai, N. (1991). Nonstationary fluctuation analysis and direct resolution of single channel currents at postsynaptic sites. *Biophys. J.* 59, 295–304. doi: 10.1016/s0006-3495(91)82223-8
- Sah, P., Hestrin, S., and Nicoll, R. A. (1989). Tonic activation of NMDA receptors by ambient glutamate enhances excitability of neurons. *Science* 246, 815–818. doi: 10.1126/science.2573153
- Sanz-Clemente, A., Nicoll, R. A., and Roche, K. W. (2013). Diversity in NMDA receptor composition: many regulators, many consequences. *Neuroscientist* 19, 62–75. doi: 10.1177/1073858411435129
- Schwartz, T. L., Sachdeva, S., and Stahl, S. M. (2012). Glutamate neurocircuitry: theoretical underpinnings in schizophrenia. *Front. Pharmacol.* 3:195. doi: 10. 3389/fphar.2012.00195
- Sigworth, F. J. (1981). Covariance of nonstationary sodium current fluctuations at the node of Ranvier. *Biophys. J.* 34, 111–133. doi: 10.1016/s0006-3495(81)84840-0
- Steinmetz, C. C., Buard, I., Claudepierre, T., Nägler, K., and Pfrieger, F. W. (2006). Regional variations in the glial influence on synapse development in the mouse CNS. J. Physiol. 577, 249–261. doi: 10.1113/jphysiol.2006.117358
- Tang, Y. P., Shimizu, E., Dube, G. R., Rampon, C., Kerchner, G. A., Zhuo, M., et al. (1999). Genetic enhancement of learning and memory in mice. *Nature* 401, 63–69. doi: 10.1038/43432
- Toullec, D., Pianetti, P., Coste, H., Bellevergue, P., Grand-Perret, T., Ajakane, M., et al. (1991). The bisindolylmaleimide GF 109203X is a potent and selective inhibitor of protein kinase C. J. Biol. Chem. 266, 15771–15781.

- Traynelis, S. F., and Jaramillo, F. (1998). Getting the most out of noise in the central nervous system. *Trends Neurosci.* 21, 137–145. doi: 10.1016/s0166-2236(98)01238-7
- Ullian, E. M., Sapperstein, S. K., Christopherson, K. S., and Barres, B. A. (2001). Control of synapse number by glia. *Science* 291, 657–661. doi: 10.1126/science. 291.5504.657
- Verdoorn, T. A., and Dingledine, R. (1988). Excitatory amino acid receptors expressed in Xenopus oocytes: agonist pharmacology. *Mol. Pharmacol.* 34, 298–307.
- von Engelhardt, J., Coserea, I., Pawlak, V., Fuchs, E. C., Köhr, G., Seeburg, P. H., et al. (2007). Excitotoxicity *in vitro* by NR2A- and NR2B-containing NMDA receptors. *Neuropharmacology* 53, 10–17. doi: 10.1016/j.neuropharm.2007. 04.015
- Wang, D., Cui, Z., Zeng, Q., Kuang, H., Wang, L. P., Tsien, J. Z., et al. (2009). Genetic enhancement of memory and long-term potentiation but not CA1 long-term depression in NR2B transgenic rats. *PLoS One* 4:e7486. doi: 10. 1371/journal.pone.0007486
- Watt, A. J., van Rossum, M. C., MacLeod, K. M., Nelson, S. B., and Turrigiano, G. G. (2000). Activity coregulates quantal AMPA and NMDA currents at neocortical synapses. *Neuron* 26, 659–670. doi: 10.1016/s0896-6273(00) 81202-7
- Williams, K. (1993). Ifenprodil discriminates subtypes of the N-methyl-Daspartate receptor: selectivity and mechanisms at recombinant heteromeric receptors. *Mol. Pharmacol.* 44, 851–859.
- Xiong, Z. G., Raouf, R., Lu, W. Y., Wang, L. Y., Orser, B. A., Dudek, E. M., et al. (1998). Regulation of N-methyl-D-aspartate receptor function by constitutively active protein kinase C. *Mol. Pharmacol.* 54, 1055–1063.
- Xu, J., Xiao, N., and Xia, J. (2010). Thrombospondin 1 accelerates synaptogenesis in hippocampal neurons through neuroligin 1. Nat. Neurosci. 13, 22–24. doi: 10. 1038/nn.2459
- Yang, K., Jackson, M. F., and MacDonald, J. F. (2014). Recent progress in understanding subtype specific regulation of NMDA receptors by G Protein Coupled Receptors (GPCRs). *Int. J. Mol. Sci.* 15, 3003–3024. doi: 10. 3390/ijms15023003
- Zheng, X., Zhang, L., Wang, A. P., Bennett, M. V., and Zukin, R. S. (1999). Protein kinase C potentiation of N-methyl-D-aspartate receptor activity is not mediated by phosphorylation of N-methyl-D-aspartate receptor subunits. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U S A* 96, 15262–15267. doi: 10.1073/pnas.96. 26.15262
- Zito, K., Scheuss, V., Knott, G., Hill, T., and Svoboda, K. (2009). Rapid functional maturation of nascent dendritic spines. *Neuron* 61, 247–258. doi: 10.1016/j. neuron.2008.10.054

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2015 Hahn, Wang and Margeta. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution and reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

REVIEW ARTICLE published: 06 November 2014 doi: 10.3389/fncel.2014.00378



Neuron-glia networks: integral gear of brain function

Gertrudis Perea¹*, Mriganka Sur² and Alfonso Araque³*

¹ Functional and System Neurobiology, Instituto Cajal, Consejo Superior de Investigaciones Científicas, Madrid, Spain

² Department of Brain and Cognitive Sciences, Picower Institute for Learning and Memory, Massachusetts Institute of Technology, Cambridge, MA, USA

³ Department of Neuroscience, University of Minnesota, Minneapolis, MN, USA

Edited by:

Vladimir Parpura, University of Alabama, USA

Reviewed by:

Dmitri A. Rusakov, University College London, UK Jean-pierre Mothet, CNRS - Aix Marseille University, France

*Correspondence:

Gertrudis Perea, Functional and System Neurobiology, Instituto Cajal, Consejo Superior de Investigaciones Científicas, Av. Doctor Arce, 37, Madrid 28002, Spain

e-mail: gperea@cajal.csic.es; Alfonso Araque, Department Neuroscience, University of Minnesota, 4-110 Wallin Medical Biosciences Building, 2101 6th Street, Minneapolis, 55455 MN, USA e-mail: araque@umn.edu

INTRODUCTION

Brain information processing is conventionally recognized as derived from neuronal activity, with neurons and their dynamic signaling responsible for the transfer and processing of information (Majewska and Sur, 2006). However, the brain also contains other non-neuronal cells, glial cells, which exceed the number of neurons and have been largely ignored as being involved in the processes related with information coding handling by neural networks and underlying brain function. Nonetheless, decisive advances in the characterization of the molecular and physiological properties of astrocytes, a particular type of glial cells have revealed that they may play active roles in neurotransmission and neuronal physiology (Araque et al., 1999; Perea et al., 2009). Accordingly, novel concepts in brain physiology have been coined, such as "tripartite synapse", to highlight the direct involvement of astrocytes in synaptic function, gliotransmitters, to generically name neuroactive substances released by astrocytes, or gliotransmission, to define the active signaling between astrocytes and neurons (Volterra and Bezzi, 2002).

There is common agreement regarding the crucial roles of astrocytes in controlling the homeostasis of surrounding synapses, with a fundamental role in energy metabolite supply (Hassel et al., 1995; Westergaard et al., 1995; Allaman et al., 2011), clearance of extracellular potassium (Sontheimer, 1994; Kressin et al., 1995; Butt and Kalsi, 2006), and glutamate

Astrocytes, the most abundant glial cell in the brain, play critical roles in metabolic and homeostatic functions of the Nervous System; however, their participation in coding information and cognitive processes has been largely ignored. The strategic position of astrocyte processes facing synapses and the astrocyte ability to uptake neurotransmitters and release neuroactive substances, so-called "gliotransmitters", provide the scenario for prolific neuron-astrocyte signaling. From studies at single-cell level to animal behavior, recent advances in technology and genetics have revealed the impact of astrocyte activity in brain function from cellular and synaptic physiology, neuronal circuits to behavior. The present review critically discusses the consequences of astrocyte signaling on synapses and networks, as well as its impact on neuronal information processing, showing that some crucial brain functions arise from the coordinated activity of neuron-glia networks.

Keywords: astrocytes, neuron-glia network, synaptic plasticity, gliotransmission, information coding

(Hansson et al., 1985; Bergles et al., 1997; Coulter and Eid, 2012). Moreover, astrocytes enwrapping synapses also control extracellular space volume, and hence the extracellular levels and diffusion of neuroactive substances (Nagelhus and Ottersen, 2013). Besides these homeostatic functions, astrocytes display dynamic signaling with neurons and synapses. They sense neuronal and synaptic activity through activation of ion channels, neurotransmitter transporters and receptors. Activation of these molecules may results in elaborate Ca²⁺ signals into astrocytes. In turn, astrocytes, via uptake or release of gliotransmitters, such as glutamate, ATP, and D-serine, (Santello et al., 2012), can modulate neighboring pre- and postsynaptic neuronal elements inducing functional as well as morphological changes in synapses. However, whether astrocytes are active elements in neural network function and whether and how they play active roles in brain information processing is an open debate (Agulhon et al., 2008; Hamilton and Attwell, 2010; Araque et al., 2014).

In this review, we will present a brief summary of the currently available data that has challenged the classical idea that brain function results exclusively from neuronal activity, suggesting that astrocytes are integral units of neural circuits playing a role in the coding information by neural networks. We will also discuss the available as well as the still required evidence that suggests brain function actually arises from the coherent coordinated activity of Neuron–Glia networks.

ASTROCYTES PROCESS SYNAPTIC INFORMATION

For a cell to be considered as an active element in the brain coding network, it should be able to: (1) receive incoming information; (2) integrate and code that information; and (3) transfer the information to other cells. Neurons have the ability to perform these actions due to their anatomical characteristics and intrinsic electrical properties. Can astrocytes, which do not display electrical excitability to elicit significant active signals (Sontheimer, 1994), behave as transfer and/or processors of synaptic inputs in a neural network?

While astrocytes lack electrical excitability they show intrinsic cellular excitability based on intracellular Ca²⁺ variations (Charles et al., 1991). More importantly, astrocytes are able to respond to different neurotransmitters that trigger intracellular Ca²⁺ signals (Duffy and MacVicar, 1995; Bezzi et al., 1998; Shelton and Mccarthy, 2000; Araque et al., 2002, 2014). Indeed, astrocytes are able to sense the synaptic activity in different regions induced by several neurotransmitters, such as glutamate, GABA, acetylcholine, ATP or nor-epinephrine (Zorec et al., 2012). A remarkable ability shown by astrocytes is that they sense different neurotransmitters and discriminate between different synaptic inputs. Astrocytes located in stratum oriens of hippocampus differentially sense glutamate released from distinct synapses, i.e., they respond to glutamate released from Schaffer collateral axons of hippocampal CA3 neurons but not to glutamate released from other extrinsic afferences (Perea and Araque, 2005). Likewise, astrocytes located in layer 2/3 barrel cortex selectively respond to the activity of glutamatergic inputs from layer 4 of the same column but not to glutamatergic projections from layer 2/3 of adjacent columns (Schipke et al., 2008), showing preference for sensory incoming inputs rather than lateral cortical signaling. Another example of the response selectivity is provided by astrocytes of the ventrobasal thalamus, which show preferential responsiveness to corticothalamic inputs vs. sensory pathways, in spite that both inputs release the same neurotransmitter glutamate (Parri et al., 2010). Therefore, since astrocytes are able to sense incoming information, and also show selectivity in their responses and discrimination of specific synapse activity, they fulfill the first requirement postulated.

The second requirement postulates that a processor must have the ability to integrate different inputs and elaborate specific responses; that is, perform a nonlinear input-output readout. Do astrocytes display integrative properties of the incoming synaptic information? It has been demonstrated that astrocytes are able to discriminate between the activity of different synaptic inputs releasing different neurotransmitters, i.e., cholinergic and glutamatergic hippocampal synapses belonging to different axon pathways, alveus and Schaffer collaterals pathways, respectively; showing selective Ca²⁺ responses to those inputs (Perea and Araque, 2005). Furthermore, as consequence of simultaneous activity of these synapses astrocyte can integrate these inputs and modulate their Ca²⁺ signal producing a nonlinear inputoutput response. The astrocyte Ca²⁺ signaling is bidirectionally regulated by synaptic activity, showing an enhancement or depression by low and high synaptic activity, respectively (Perea and Araque, 2005). The integration of different signals

also arises in the absence of neural network activity indicating that this modulation is due to cellular intrinsic properties. Thus astrocytes, rather than being simple elements performing a linear readout of synaptic activity are active elements endowed with integrative properties, hence satisfying the second requirement to participate in the information coding by the neuronal networks.

BRAIN INFORMATION PROCESSING BY NEURON-GLIA NETWORKS

The third postulate to consider astrocytes as unit processors in the coding of information by neuronal networks requires that they transfer the information to other elements, i.e., influencing neuronal activity and synaptic transmission. Astrocytes can control the activity of neurons and synapses through the uptake of neuro-transmitters or the release of gliotransmitters, thus contributing to neuronal network function.

The ability of astrocytes to release gliotransmitters in response to neuronal activity has been reported in several brain areas (Zorec et al., 2012). Those gliotransmitters activate receptors located at presynaptic and postsynaptic sites in neuronal membranes leading the regulation of neuronal excitability and synaptic transmission and plasticity (Kang et al., 1998; Fellin et al., 2004; Pascual et al., 2005; Perea and Araque, 2005, 2007; Panatier et al., 2006, 2011; Stellwagen and Malenka, 2006; Henneberger et al., 2010; Navarrete and Araque, 2010; Di Castro et al., 2011; Santello et al., 2011; Fossat et al., 2012). These findings indicate that astrocytes signal to neurons, transferring information to other elements in the network, thus satisfying the third postulated requirement.

Moreover, this astrocyte-to-neuron signaling has been revealed to present interesting and sophisticated properties. For example, a single gliotransmitter may exert multiple effects on the neuronal network depending on the receptor subtype and its subcellular membrane location. Indeed, glutamate released by astrocytes increases neuronal excitability by inducing slow inward currents (SICs) in excitatory neurons through activation of postsynaptic NMDA receptors (Parri et al., 2001; Angulo et al., 2004; Fellin et al., 2004; Perea and Araque, 2005; Navarrete and Araque, 2008; Shigetomi et al., 2008; Chen et al., 2012); but it also enhances synaptic transmission through activation of presynaptic metabotropic glutamate receptors (mGluRs) group I (Fiacco and McCarthy, 2004; Perea and Araque, 2007; Navarrete and Araque, 2010; Bonansco et al., 2011; Perea et al., 2014); and stimulates synaptic transmission by activation of presynaptic NMDA receptors in dentate granule cells (Jourdain et al., 2007). In addition, astrocytes release different gliotransmitters with different neuromodulatory effects. The concurrent or differential weight of these effects at individual neurons may strongly affect the degrees of freedom of the system and hence the neuronal output and circuit function. Indeed, considering that a single hippocampal astrocyte has been estimated to contact ~100.000 synapses (Bushong et al., 2002), and that a single gliotransmitter may have different effects depending on the target neurons and neuronal elements (pre- or postsynaptic), as well as the activated receptor subtypes, the variability and complexity of the potential

impact of a single astrocyte on neural network operations can be significant.

Additionally, evidence from hippocampal slices has shown that gliotransmission is a regulated process controlled by activation of particular membrane receptors, i.e., protease-activated receptor 1 (PAR-1), but not purinergic G protein-coupled receptors (P2Y1) stimulates astrocytic glutamate release that evokes SICs (Shigetomi et al., 2008), which add further complexity to astrocytic output signaling. The physiological and molecular conditions that control the richness of this signaling, such as the precise release of each gliotransmitter, and the co-release of different gliotransmistters by single astrocytes (Bergersen et al., 2012; Martineau et al., 2013) or by defined astrocyte subpopulations are still unresolved.

Thus, the existence of different gliotransmitters, the different mechanisms of action of a single gliotransmitter, and the cellular selectivity of the effects on particular neurons, such as in the olfactory bulb where astrocytes releasing GABA and glutamate lead to cell-specific modulation of neuronal activity (Kozlov et al., 2006), provide an enormous amount of degrees of freedom to the possible network states.

The above discussed evidence indicates that astrocytes can be considered as information processors in neural networks. These findings may expand the possible functional consequences of a single neurotransmitter in the network; thus, the existence of emergent properties in network activity provided by astrocyte signaling has been recently reported in the hippocampus and cortex. The well-known phenomenon observed in hippocampus called heterosynaptic depression of excitatory synaptic transmission (Lynch et al., 1977) results from the coordinated activity of neurons and astrocytes; that is, the glutamate released by Schaffer collaterals, with excitatory effects in the network, excites postsynaptic CA1 is a well known acronym for that specific region of the hippocampus. To simplify the reading I recommend to keep like it is. pyramidal neurons as well as inhibitory interneurons that in turn activate astrocytes through GABA release. Then, GABA-stimulated astrocytes release ATP that after being degraded to adenosine leads to the synaptic depression of adjacent excitatory synapses (Zhang et al., 2003; Serrano et al., 2006). Another example is provided by the effects of endocannabinoid (eCB) signaling to astrocytes. eCBs are known to retrogradely depress synaptic transmission (Chevaleyre et al., 2006), but they can also trigger intracellular calcium signaling in astrocytes (Navarrete and Araque, 2008). eCB-activation of astrocytes stimulates the release of glutamate, which leads to an heterosynaptic enhancement of excitatory synaptic transmission by activation of mGluRs in the hippocampus (Navarrete and Araque, 2010), and the spike timing-dependent depression by activation of NMDA receptors in neocortex (Min and Nevian, 2012).

ASTROCYTE ROLE IN COGNITIVE FUNCTIONS, FROM IN VIVO DATA TO ARTIFICIAL NETWORKS

The current knowledge of the astrocyte neuromodulatory roles in neuronal function mainly derives from studies performed in slices, which have great accessibility to explore the particular properties as well as the cellular and molecular mechanisms of neuron-glia signaling. Hence, the impact of astrocytic function on brain activity and animal behavior are still largely undefined. Novel genetic tools have made possible to specifically manipulate astrocyte signaling in vivo while maintaining neuronal signaling intact. Recent studies have focused on the role of ATP/Adenosine as well D-serine released by astrocytes (Fossat et al., 2012) in the slow oscillations brain waves, which are related to sleep (Fellin et al., 2009; Halassa et al., 2009). Inhibiting gliotransmission attenuates both the slow cortical oscillations and accumulation of sleep pressure, which caused by prolonged wakefulness periods can impair cognitive function (Yoo et al., 2007); thus, mice with downregulated purinergic gliotransmission do not show cognitive deficits associated with sleep loss (Halassa et al., 2009). It has been recently suggested that one important role of sleep would be the removal of waste products from the brain (Xie et al., 2013). Astrocytes control brain microcirculation (Iadecola and Nedergaard, 2007), and through aquaporin four water channels located in the vascular endfeet facilitate convective flow out of the para-arterial space and into the interstitial space, which is related with removal of waste products made during neuronal activity. The exchange rate of fluids between those spaces is more effective during sleep than during awakening periods, suggesting an important role of astrocytes in sleep function (Xie et al., 2013). In addition, a proper astroglial network signaling is essential for precise synaptic information transferring between neurons as it has been shown in the gap junction proteins connexin 30 (Cx30) and connexin 43 (Cx43) knock out mice, where altered rate of extracellular glutamate and potassium removal during synaptic activity induce impairments in short and long-term synaptic plasticity (Pannasch et al., 2011, 2014), as well as deficits in sensorimotor and spatial memory tasks (Theis et al., 2003; Lutz et al., 2009). Another important role of the astrocyte-neuron signaling relies on the metabolic coupling (Magistretti et al., 1999) and the appropriate energy supports for neuronal activity demand. In this context, cognitive processes and their cellular and molecular substrates (i.e., long-term memory formation), that are high metabolically demanding have been shown to be related with an intercellular trafficking of glucose through astroglial networks (Rouach et al., 2008), and astrocytic lactate transporters (monocarboxylate transporter 4 (MCT4) or MCT1) (Suzuki et al., 2011), where dysfunctions of these lactate transporters causes amnesia and long-term potentiation (LTP) impairments (Suzuki et al., 2011).

Astrocytic role in other critical brain functions such as control of breathing and locomotion have also been reported (Baudoux and Parker, 2008; Gourine et al., 2010), showing that astrocyte– neuron interaction occurs *in vivo* and providing insights into the astrocytic influence to the output of complex neuronal networks and behavior.

Besides the contribution of astrocytes to those homeostatic functions, a challenging question refers to their role in higher brain functions, such as coding information in network activity, and in cognitive processes. Astrocytes immersed in local circuits can sense and respond with Ca^{2+} signals to different sensory stimuli and neurotransmitters; i.e., visual stimuli and somatosensory whisker stimulation (Schummers et al., 2008;

Takata et al., 2011; Chen et al., 2012; Navarrete et al., 2012; Perea et al., 2014), indicating that astrocytes are able to perceive incoming sensory inputs. But do they have a role in the coding of sensory information? If they were actively involved in this task, they should locally impact synapses of the sensory system, which would be translated into a modulation of global brain state dynamics. Recent studies focused on the cholinergic system function have revealed the active and crucial roles of astrocytes in information processing by neuronal networks (Takata et al., 2011; Chen et al., 2012; Navarrete et al., 2012). Cholinergic activity is related with changes in brain states, such as during attention and vigilance states (Everitt and Robbins, 1997; Sarter et al., 2005), contributes to hippocampal theta rhythm oscillations (Hasselmo, 2006), and induces synaptic plasticity processes (Picciotto et al., 2012). Thus, these novel studies have shown that astrocytes and gliotransmission are the cellular and molecular mechanisms underlying certain cholinergic effects (Takata et al., 2011; Chen et al., 2012; Navarrete et al., 2012). In the hippocampus, astrocytes respond with Ca²⁺ elevations to cholinergic activity triggered by either sensory stimuli or direct stimulation of cholinergic nuclei and axons (Araque et al., 2002; Perea and Araque, 2005; Navarrete et al., 2012). This astrocyte Ca²⁺ signal is necessary to trigger the synaptic LTP associated with the cholinergic activity through a mechanism that involves the release of the gliotransmitter glutamate and the subsequent activation of mGluRs (Navarrete et al., 2012). In somatosensory and visual cortex, cholinergic activation of astrocytes stimulates the release of Dserine or glutamate, which, in association with whisker (Takata et al., 2011) or visual stimuli (Chen et al., 2012), mediate longterm plasticity changes in cortical sensory responses mediated by NMDA receptors. Notably, the astrocyte-mediated potentiation of visual inputs is indeed stimulus-specific, because only synapses active during cholinergic stimulation display such modulation, indicating that the influence of astrocyte-mediated plasticity is synapse-specific and suggesting the existence of intimate organization of astrocytes and synapses that convey and generate visual-specific responses (Schummers et al., 2008; Chen et al., 2012).

New useful tools have been developed in the last few years to decipher the contribution of specific cellular types to the brain information processing. Specifically, the optical control of cellular activity using optogenetics represents a major technical breakthrough in the field of Neurosciences (Fenno et al., 2011). Exploiting the advantages of optogenetics, astrocytes can be selectively stimulated with light to evaluate their consequences either at the local circuits and global network (Gourine et al., 2010; Sasaki et al., 2012; Chen et al., 2013; Perea et al., 2014; Tang et al., 2014). Astrocytes placed in visual cortex, in addition to sensing visual information, when stimulated with the opsin channelrhodopsin-2 lead to an increase in synaptic transmission by releasing glutamate, which regulates excitatory and inhibitory transmission through activation of presynaptic mGluRs (Perea et al., 2014). Furthermore, astrocytes impact visual responsiveness of both excitatory and inhibitory cortical neurons, showing specific modulation of key neuronal response features (Perea et al., 2014). Thus, astrocytes through the dual control of excitatory

and inhibitory drive, influence neuronal integration critical for sensory information processing. As a consequence of differential astrocytic neuronal subtype modulation, changes in the excitatory-inhibitory balance in the local network might impact the final output of the circuit, indicating that astrocytes would be involved in multiple aspects of information coding by cortical networks.

Other accumulating evidence indicates the active role of astrocytes in brain cognitive functions (Parpura et al., 2012). Indeed, behavioral studies have demonstrated the correlation between astrocyte signaling dysfunction and cognitive deficits associated with neurobiological diseases, such as major depressive disorder (Cao et al., 2013; Lima et al., 2014), and Huntington's disease (Tong et al., 2014). Abnormalities of astrocyte-neuron signaling due to the reduced glial release of ATP in prefrontal cortex, a brain region implicated in attentional processes, decision-making, working memory and processing of emotional stimuli, among others (Goldman-Rakic, 1995), are related with depression-like behaviors (Cao et al., 2013), affecting important functions of this cortical area, such as attentional context, working memory and reversal learning functions (Lima et al., 2014). Furthermore, through glial activation of cannabinoid receptor type 1, astrocytes are shown to be responsible for the impairment in working memory performance induced by marijuana (Han et al., 2012), one of the most common effects of cannabinoid intoxication in humans. Likewise, the dysfunctions in astrocyte-mediated potassium homeostasis in striatal astrocytes (Tong et al., 2014), and AMPA receptors expression Bergmann glial cells (Saab et al., 2012), have strong impact on the fine-tuning control of complex motor behaviors, revealing astrocytes as therapeutic targets for motor phenotype disorders (Tong et al., 2014). Despite these compelling findings, many questions remain open and more effort is still needed to fully understand the molecular mechanisms and the physiological conditions underlying neuron-glia signaling and their relevance for other brain functions.

Taken together, this growing body of evidence illustrates the existence of Neuron-Glia networks in brain circuits, and demonstrates the ability and influence of astrocytes in neuronal network operations. They show that astrocytes are a structurally and functionally indivisible part of such networks (**Figure 1**), and reveal how the coordinated signaling pathways established between neurons and astrocytes enables a wide range of, and perhaps all, brain functions.

Finally, in order to fill the gap between the molecular and cellular mechanisms identified by *in situ* studies and *in vivo* behavioral outcomes, the use of mathematical models that include Artificial Neuron-Glia networks appears as a promising approach to better understand the potential emergent properties provided by astrocytes to neural network operation. A pioneering computational study showed that dynamic interaction between astrocytes and presynaptic terminals optimizes synaptic transmission of information (Nadkarni et al., 2008). A more recent study modeling artificial astrocytes in artificial neuronal networks has demonstrated that the presence of astrocytes enhanced the learning potential efficacy of neural networks, i.e., the performance of artificial neuron-glia networks that include artificial astrocytes is improved when compared with similar purely neuronal networks



lacking astrocytes (Porto-Pazos et al., 2011). Indeed, including astrocytes into a multilayer feed forward artificial neural network model designed to solve different classification tasks improve the network performance. This relative improvement depends on the intrinsic properties of astrocytes and the strength of the neuronglia connections and varies with the complexity of the problem tested. Interestingly, the relative efficacy of artificial neuron-glia networks vs. pure neuronal networks increases as the complexity of the network increases (Porto-Pazos et al., 2011), which is in agreement with the gradual increase of the astrocyte-neuron ratio of cells observed in the phylogeny as the nervous system complexity increases. In addition, astrocytes are able to change the threshold value controlling the transition of synchronous to asynchronous behavior among neurons (Amiri et al., 2013). In this way, changes in the interaction properties of astrocyte-neuron signaling lead to the emergence of synchronous/asynchronous patterns in neural responses, showing how astrocytes play a primary role in neuronal firing synchronicity and synaptic coordination (Amiri et al., 2013). Artificial astrocytes through the activation of SICs in neurons participate directly in synaptic plasticity processes, synchronizing postsynaptic activity in neuron clusters and subsequently allow Spike-Timing-Dependent Plasticity based learning to occur at the associated synapses (Wade et al., 2011).

Therefore, the computational evidence of the impact of astrocyte-neuron interactions in neural networks suggests that the richness of biological interactions and brain cognitive functions might emerge from the coordinated activity of Neuron-Glia Networks. Because these computational studies generate in many cases new questions to the field rather than answers, refined future models of Artificial Neuron-Glia Networks implementing more realistic bioinspired network models are needed, which incorporating more features of this complex bidirectional signaling would help to better understand the emergent properties provided by astroytes to network operations. In conclusion, our current knowledge indicates the existence of a rich and complex array of mechanisms underlying astrocyte-neuron interactions that involve different signaling properties determined by multiple elements, e.g., neurotransmitters, gliotransmitters, membrane channels and receptors, intracellular pathways, structural arrangements, etc., and which exert powerful effects on the synaptic function and network operation that underlie brain states and enable behavior.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

This work was supported by grants from Ministerio de Economia y Competitividad, Spain, MINECO (Consolider, CSD2010-00045; Ramón y Cajal Program, RYC-2012-12014; and BFU2013-47265R) to Gertrudis Perea; grants from the NIH (EY007023), NSF (Award 1010363 and BRAIN EAGER) and the Simons Foundation to Mriganka Sur; and grants from MINECO (BFU2010-15832) and Cajal Blue Brain to Alfonso Araque.

REFERENCES

- Agulhon, C., Petravicz, J., Mcmullen, A. B., Sweger, E. J., Minton, S. K., Taves, S. R., et al. (2008). What is the role of astrocyte calcium in neurophysiology? *Neuron* 59, 932–946. doi: 10.1016/j.neuron.2008.09. 004
- Allaman, I., Bélanger, M., and Magistretti, P. J. (2011). Astrocyte-neuron metabolic relationships: for better and for worse. *Trends Neurosci.* 34, 76–87. doi: 10.1016/j. tins.2010.12.001
- Amiri, M., Hosseinmardi, N., Bahrami, F., and Janahmadi, M. (2013). Astrocyteneuron interaction as a mechanism responsible for generation of neural syn-

chrony: a study based on modeling and experiments. J. Comput. Neurosci. 34, 489-504. doi: 10.1007/s10827-012-0432-6

- Angulo, M. C., Kozlov, A. S., Charpak, S., and Audinat, E. (2004). Glutamate released from glial cells synchronizes neuronal activity in the hippocampus. J. Neurosci. 24, 6920–6927. doi: 10.1523/jneurosci.0473-04.2004
- Araque, A., Carmignoto, G., Haydon, P. G., Oliet, S. H., Robitaille, R., and Volterra, A. (2014). Gliotransmitters travel in time and space. *Neuron* 81, 728–739. doi: 10.1016/j.neuron.2014.02.007
- Araque, A., Martin, E. D., Perea, G., Arellano, J. I., and Buño, W. (2002). Synaptically released acetylcholine evokes Ca2+ elevations in astrocytes in hippocampal slices. J. Neurosci. 22, 2443–2450.
- Araque, A., Parpura, V., Sanzgiri, R. P., and Haydon, P. G. (1999). Tripartite synapses: glia, the unacknowledged partner. *Trends Neurosci.* 22, 208–215. doi: 10.1016/s0166-2236(98)01349-6
- Baudoux, S., and Parker, D. (2008). Glial-toxin-mediated disruption of spinal cord locomotor network function and its modulation by 5-HT. *Neuroscience* 153, 1332–1343. doi: 10.1016/j.neuroscience.2008.03.034
- Bergersen, L. H., Morland, C., Ormel, L., Rinholm, J. E., Larsson, M., Wold, J. F., et al. (2012). Immunogold detection of L-glutamate and D-serine in small synaptic-like microvesicles in adult hippocampal astrocytes. *Cereb. Cortex* 22, 1690–1697. doi: 10.1093/cercor/bhr254
- Bergles, D. E., Dzubay, J. A., and Jahr, C. E. (1997). Glutamate transporter currents in bergmann glial cells follow the time course of extrasynaptic glutamate. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U S A* 94, 14821–14825. doi: 10.1073/pnas.94.26. 14821
- Bezzi, P., Carmignoto, G., Pasti, L., Vesce, S., Rossi, D., Rizzini, B. L., et al. (1998). Prostaglandins stimulate calcium-dependent glutamate release in astrocytes. *Nature* 391, 281–285.
- Bonansco, C., Couve, A., Perea, G., Ferradas, C. A., Roncagliolo, M., and Fuenzalida, M. (2011). Glutamate released spontaneously from astrocytes sets the threshold for synaptic plasticity. *Eur. J. Neurosci.* 33, 1483–1492. doi: 10. 1111/j.1460-9568.2011.07631.x
- Bushong, E. A., Martone, M. E., Jones, Y. Z., and Ellisman, M. H. (2002). Protoplasmic astrocytes in CA1 stratum radiatum occupy separate anatomical domains. *J. Neurosci.* 22, 183–192.
- Butt, A. M., and Kalsi, A. (2006). Inwardly rectifying potassium channels (Kir) in central nervous system glia: a special role for Kir4.1 in glial functions. J. Cell. Mol. Med. 10, 33–44. doi: 10.1111/j.1582-4934.2006.tb00289.x
- Cao, X., Li, L. P., Wang, Q., Wu, Q., Hu, H. H., Zhang, M., et al. (2013). Astrocyte-derived ATP modulates depressive-like behaviors. *Nat. Med.* 19, 773– 777. doi: 10.1038/nm.3162
- Charles, A. C., Merrill, J. E., Dirksen, E. R., and Sanderson, M. J. (1991). Intercellular signaling in glial cells: calcium waves and oscillations in response to mechanical stimulation and glutamate. *Neuron* 6, 983–992. doi: 10.1016/0896-6273(91)90238-u
- Chen, N., Sugihara, H., Sharma, J., Perea, G., Petravicz, J., Le, C., et al. (2012). Nucleus basalis-enabled stimulus-specific plasticity in the visual cortex is mediated by astrocytes. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U S A* 109, E2832–2841. doi: 10. 1073/pnas.1206557109
- Chen, J., Tan, Z., Zeng, L., Zhang, X., He, Y., Gao, W., et al. (2013). Heterosynaptic long-term depression mediated by ATP released from astrocytes. *Glia* 61, 178– 191. doi: 10.1002/glia.22425
- Chevaleyre, V., Takahashi, K. A., and Castillo, P. E. (2006). Endocannabinoidmediated synaptic plasticity in the CNS. Annu. Rev. Neurosci. 29, 37–76. doi: 10. 1146/annurev.neuro.29.051605.112834
- Coulter, D. A., and Eid, T. (2012). Astrocytic regulation of glutamate homeostasis in epilepsy. *Glia* 60, 1215–1226. doi: 10.1002/glia.22341
- Di Castro, M. A., Chuquet, J., Liaudet, N., Bhaukaurally, K., Santello, M., Bouvier, D., et al. (2011). Local Ca2+ detection and modulation of synaptic release by astrocytes. *Nat. Neurosci.* 14, 1276–1284. doi: 10.1038/nn.2929
- Duffy, S., and MacVicar, B. A. (1995). Adrenergic calcium signaling in astrocyte networks within the hippocampal slice. J. Neurosci. 15, 5535–5550.
- Everitt, B. J., and Robbins, T. W. (1997). Central cholinergic systems and cognition. Annu. Rev. Psychol. 48, 649–684. doi: 10.1146/annurev.psych.48. 1.649
- Fellin, T., Halassa, M. M., Terunuma, M., Succol, F., Takano, H., Frank, M., et al. (2009). Endogenous nonneuronal modulators of synaptic transmission control cortical slow oscillations in vivo. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U S A* 106, 15037–15042. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0906419106

- Fellin, T., Pascual, O., Gobbo, S., Pozzan, T., Haydon, P. G., and Carmignoto, G. (2004). Neuronal synchrony mediated by astrocytic glutamate through activation of extrasynaptic NMDA receptors. *Neuron* 43, 729–743. doi: 10.1016/j. neuron.2004.08.011
- Fenno, L., Yizhar, O., and Deisseroth, K. (2011). The development and application of optogenetics. *Annu. Rev. Neurosci.* 34, 389–412. doi: 10.1146/annurev-neuro-061010-113817
- Fiacco, T. A., and McCarthy, K. D. (2004). Intracellular astrocyte calcium waves in situ increase the frequency of spontaneous AMPA receptor currents in CA1 pyramidal neurons. *J. Neurosci.* 24, 722–732. doi: 10.1523/jneurosci.2859-03. 2004
- Fossat, P., Turpin, F. R., Sacchi, S., Dulong, J., Shi, T., Rivet, J. M., et al. (2012). Glial D-serine gates NMDA receptors at excitatory synapses in prefrontal cortex. *Cereb. Cortex* 22, 595–606. doi: 10.1093/cercor/bhr130
- Goldman-Rakic, P. S. (1995). Architecture of the prefrontal cortex and the central executive. *Ann. N Y Acad. Sci.* 769, 71–83. doi: 10.1111/j.1749-6632.1995. tb38132.x
- Gourine, A. V., Kasymov, V., Marina, N., Tang, F., Figueiredo, M. F., Lane, S., et al. (2010). Astrocytes control breathing through pH-dependent release of ATP. *Science* 329, 571–575. doi: 10.1126/science.1190721
- Halassa, M. M., Florian, C., Fellin, T., Munoz, J. R., Lee, S. Y., Abel, T., et al. (2009). Astrocytic modulation of sleep homeostasis and cognitive consequences of sleep loss. *Neuron* 61, 213–219. doi: 10.1016/j.neuron.2008.11.024
- Hamilton, N. B., and Attwell, D. (2010). Do astrocytes really exocytose neurotransmitters? Nat. Rev. Neurosci. 11, 227–238. doi: 10.1038/nrn2803
- Han, J., Kesner, P., Metna-Laurent, M., Duan, T., Xu, L., Georges, F., et al. (2012). Acute cannabinoids impair working memory through astroglial CB1 receptor modulation of hippocampal LTD. *Cell* 148, 1039–1050. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2012. 01.037
- Hansson, E., Eriksson, P., and Nilsson, M. (1985). Amino acid and monoamine transport in primary astroglial cultures from defined brain regions. *Neurochem. Res.* 10, 1335–1341. doi: 10.1007/bf00964976
- Hassel, B., Westergaard, N., Schousboe, A., and Fonnum, F. (1995). Metabolic differences between primary cultures of astrocytes and neurons from cerebellum and cerebral cortex. Effects of fluorocitrate. *Neurochem. Res.* 20, 413–420. doi: 10.1007/bf00973096
- Hasselmo, M. E. (2006). The role of acetylcholine in learning and memory. *Curr. Opin. Neurobiol.* 16, 710–715. doi: 10.1016/j.conb.2006.09.002
- Henneberger, C., Papouin, T., Oliet, S. H., and Rusakov, D. A. (2010). Long-term potentiation depends on release of D-serine from astrocytes. *Nature* 463, 232– 236. doi: 10.1038/nature08673
- Iadecola, C., and Nedergaard, M. (2007). Glial regulation of the cerebral microvasculature. Nat. Neurosci. 10, 1369–1376. doi: 10.1038/nn2003
- Jourdain, P., Bergersen, L. H., Bhaukaurally, K., Bezzi, P., Santello, M., Domercq, M., et al. (2007). Glutamate exocytosis from astrocytes controls synaptic strength. *Nat. Neurosci.* 10, 331–339. doi: 10.1038/nn1849
- Kang, J., Jiang, L., Goldman, S. A., and Nedergaard, M. (1998). Astrocytemediated potentiation of inhibitory synaptic transmission. *Nat. Neurosci.* 1, 683–692.
- Kozlov, A. S., Angulo, M. C., Audinat, E., and Charpak, S. (2006). Target cellspecific modulation of neuronal activity by astrocytes. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U* S A 103, 10058–10063. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0603741103
- Kressin, K., Kuprijanova, E., Jabs, R., Seifert, G., and Steinhäuser, C. (1995). Developmental regulation of Na+ and K+ conductances in glial cells of mouse hippocampal brain slices. *Glia* 15, 173–187. doi: 10.1002/glia.440150210
- Lima, A., Sardinha, V. M., Oliveira, A. F., Reis, M., Mota, C., Silva, M. A., et al. (2014). Astrocyte pathology in the prefrontal cortex impairs the cognitive function of rats. *Mol. Psychiatry* 19, 834–841. doi: 10.1038/mp.20 13.182
- Lutz, S. E., Zhao, Y., Gulinello, M., Lee, S. C., Raine, C. S., and Brosnan, C. F. (2009). Deletion of astrocyte connexins 43 and 30 leads to a dysmyelinating phenotype and hippocampal CA1 vacuolation. *J. Neurosci.* 29, 7743–7752. doi: 10.1523/jneurosci.0341-09.2009
- Lynch, G. S., Dunwiddie, T., and Gribkoff, V. (1977). Heterosynaptic depression: a postsynaptic correlate of long-term potentiation. *Nature* 266, 737–739. doi: 10. 1038/266737a0
- Magistretti, P. J., Pellerin, L., Rothman, D. L., and Shulman, R. G. (1999). Energy on demand. *Science* 283, 496–497. doi: 10.1126/science.283.5401. 496

- Majewska, A. K., and Sur, M. (2006). Plasticity and specificity of cortical processing networks. *Trends Neurosci.* 29, 323–329. doi: 10.1016/j.tins.2006. 04.002
- Martineau, M., Shi, T., Puyal, J., Knolhoff, A. M., Dulong, J., Gasnier, B., et al. (2013). Storage and uptake of D-serine into astrocytic synaptic-like vesicles specify gliotransmission. *J. Neurosci.* 33, 3413–3423. doi: 10.1523/jneurosci. 3497-12.2013
- Min, R., and Nevian, T. (2012). Astrocyte signaling controls spike timingdependent depression at neocortical synapses. *Nat. Neurosci.* 15, 746–753. doi: 10.1038/nn.3075
- Nadkarni, S., Jung, P., and Levine, H. (2008). Astrocytes optimize the synaptic transmission of information. *PLoS Comput. Biol.* 4:e1000088. doi: 10. 1371/journal.pcbi.1000088
- Nagelhus, E. A., and Ottersen, O. P. (2013). Physiological roles of aquaporin-4 in brain. *Physiol. Rev.* 93, 1543–1562. doi: 10.1152/physrev.00011. 2013
- Navarrete, M., and Araque, A. (2008). Endocannabinoids mediate neuronastrocyte communication. *Neuron* 57, 883–893. doi: 10.1016/j.neuron.2008. 01.029
- Navarrete, M., and Araque, A. (2010). Endocannabinoids potentiate synaptic transmission through stimulation of astrocytes. *Neuron* 68, 113–126. doi: 10. 1016/j.neuron.2010.08.043
- Navarrete, M., Perea, G., Fernandez De Sevilla, D., Gómez-Gonzalo, M., Núñez, A., Martin, E. D., et al. (2012). Astrocytes mediate in vivo cholinergic-induced synaptic plasticity. *PLoS Biol.* 10:e1001259. doi: 10.1371/journal.pbio.100 1259
- Panatier, A., Theodosis, D. T., Mothet, J. P., Touquet, B., Pollegioni, L., Poulain, D. A., et al. (2006). Glia-derived D-serine controls NMDA receptor activity and synaptic memory. *Cell* 125, 775–784. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2006. 02.051
- Panatier, A., Vallée, J., Haber, M., Murai, K. K., Lacaille, J. C., and Robitaille, R. (2011). Astrocytes are endogenous regulators of basal transmission at central synapses. *Cell* 146, 785–798. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2011. 07.022
- Pannasch, U., Freche, D., Dallérac, G., Ghézali, G., Escartin, C., Ezan, P., et al. (2014). Connexin 30 sets synaptic strength by controlling astroglial synapse invasion. *Nat. Neurosci.* 17, 549–558. doi: 10.1038/nn.3662
- Pannasch, U., Vargová, L., Reingruber, J., Ezan, P., Holcman, D., Giaume, C., et al. (2011). Astroglial networks scale synaptic activity and plasticity. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U S A* 108, 8467–8472. doi: 10.1073/pnas.101665 0108
- Parpura, V., Heneka, M. T., Montana, V., Oliet, S. H., Schousboe, A., Haydon, P. G., et al. (2012). Glial cells in (patho)physiology. *J. Neurochem.* 121, 4–27. doi: 10. 1111/j.1471-4159.2012.07664.x
- Parri, H. R., Gould, T. M., and Crunelli, V. (2001). Spontaneous astrocytic Ca2+ oscillations in situ drive NMDAR-mediated neuronal excitation. *Nat. Neurosci.* 4, 803–812. doi: 10.1038/90507
- Parri, H. R., Gould, T. M., and Crunelli, V. (2010). Sensory and cortical activation of distinct glial cell subtypes in the somatosensory thalamus of young rats. *Eur. J. Neurosci.* 32, 29–40. doi: 10.1111/j.1460-9568.2010.07281.x
- Pascual, O., Casper, K. B., Kubera, C., Zhang, J., Revilla-Sanchez, R., Sul, J. Y., et al. (2005). Astrocytic purinergic signaling coordinates synaptic networks. *Science* 310, 113–116. doi: 10.1126/science.1116916
- Perea, G., and Araque, A. (2005). Properties of synaptically evoked astrocyte calcium signal reveal synaptic information processing by astrocytes. J. Neurosci. 25, 2192–2203. doi: 10.1523/jneurosci.3965-04.2005
- Perea, G., and Araque, A. (2007). Astrocytes potentiate transmitter release at single hippocampal synapses. *Science* 317, 1083–1086. doi: 10.1126/science.114 4640
- Perea, G., Navarrete, M., and Araque, A. (2009). Tripartite synapses: astrocytes process and control synaptic information. *Trends Neurosci.* 32, 421–431. doi: 10. 1016/j.tins.2009.05.001
- Perea, G., Yang, A., Boyden, E. S., and Sur, M. (2014). Optogenetic astrocyte activation modulates response selectivity of visual cortex neurons in vivo. *Nat. Commun.* 5:3262. doi: 10.1038/ncomms4262
- Picciotto, M. R., Higley, M. J., and Mineur, Y. S. (2012). Acetylcholine as a neuromodulator: cholinergic signaling shapes nervous system function and behavior. *Neuron* 76, 116–129. doi: 10.1016/j.neuron.2012. 08.036

- Porto-Pazos, A. B., Veiguela, N., Mesejo, P., Navarrete, M., Alvarellos, A., Ibáñez, O., et al. (2011). Artificial astrocytes improve neural network performance. *PLoS One* 6:e19109. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0019109
- Rouach, N., Koulakoff, A., Abudara, V., Willecke, K., and Giaume, C. (2008). Astroglial metabolic networks sustain hippocampal synaptic transmission. *Science* 322, 1551–1555. doi: 10.1126/science.1164022
- Saab, A. S., Neumeyer, A., Jahn, H. M., Cupido, A., Šimek, A. A., Boele, H. J., et al. (2012). Bergmann glial AMPA receptors are required for fine motor coordination. *Science* 337, 749–753. doi: 10.1126/science.1221140
- Santello, M., Bezzi, P., and Volterra, A. (2011). TNFalpha controls glutamatergic gliotransmission in the hippocampal dentate gyrus. *Neuron* 69, 988–1001. doi: 10.1016/j.neuron.2011.02.003
- Santello, M., Calì, C., and Bezzi, P. (2012). Gliotransmission and the tripartite synapse. Adv. Exp. Med. Biol. 970, 307–331. doi: 10.1007/978-3-7091-0932-8_14
- Sarter, M., Hasselmo, M. E., Bruno, J. P., and Givens, B. (2005). Unraveling the attentional functions of cortical cholinergic inputs: interactions between signaldriven and cognitive modulation of signal detection. *Brain Res. Brain Res. Rev.* 48, 98–111. doi: 10.1016/j.brainresrev.2004.08.006
- Sasaki, T., Beppu, K., Tanaka, K. F., Fukazawa, Y., Shigemoto, R., and Matsui, K. (2012). Application of an optogenetic byway for perturbing neuronal activity via glial photostimulation. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U S A* 109, 20720–20725. doi: 10. 1073/pnas.1213458109
- Schipke, C. G., Haas, B., and Kettenmann, H. (2008). Astrocytes discriminate and selectively respond to the activity of a subpopulation of neurons within the barrel cortex. *Cereb. Cortex* 18, 2450–2459. doi: 10.1093/cercor/ bhn009
- Schummers, J., Yu, H., and Sur, M. (2008). Tuned responses of astrocytes and their influence on hemodynamic signals in the visual cortex. *Science* 320, 1638–1643. doi: 10.1126/science.1156120
- Serrano, A., Haddjeri, N., Lacaille, J. C., and Robitaille, R. (2006). GABAergic network activation of glial cells underlies hippocampal heterosynaptic depression. *J. Neurosci.* 26, 5370–5382. doi: 10.1523/jneurosci.5255-05.2006
- Shelton, M. K., and Mccarthy, K. D. (2000). Hippocampal astrocytes exhibit Ca2+-elevating muscarinic cholinergic and histaminergic receptors in situ. J. Neurochem. 74, 555–563. doi: 10.1046/j.1471-4159.2000.740555.x
- Shigetomi, E., Bowser, D. N., Sofroniew, M. V., and Khakh, B. S. (2008). Two forms of astrocyte calcium excitability have distinct effects on NMDA receptormediated slow inward currents in pyramidal neurons. *J. Neurosci.* 28, 6659– 6663. doi: 10.1523/jneurosci.1717-08.2008
- Sontheimer, H. (1994). Voltage-dependent ion channels in glial cells. Glia 11, 156– 172. doi: 10.1002/glia.440110210
- Stellwagen, D., and Malenka, R. C. (2006). Synaptic scaling mediated by glial TNFalpha. Nature 440, 1054–1059. doi: 10.1038/nature04671
- Suzuki, A., Stern, S. A., Bozdagi, O., Huntley, G. W., Walker, R. H., Magistretti, P. J., et al. (2011). Astrocyte-neuron lactate transport is required for long-term memory formation. *Cell* 144, 810–823. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2011. 02.018
- Takata, N., Mishima, T., Hisatsune, C., Nagai, T., Ebisui, E., Mikoshiba, K., et al. (2011). Astrocyte calcium signaling transforms cholinergic modulation to cortical plasticity in vivo. *J. Neurosci.* 31, 18155–18165. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI. 5289-11.2011
- Tang, F., Lane, S., Korsak, A., Paton, J. F., Gourine, A. V., Kasparov, S., et al. (2014). Lactate-mediated glia-neuronal signalling in the mammalian brain. *Nat. Commun.* 5:3284. doi: 10.1038/ncomms4284
- Theis, M., Jauch, R., Zhuo, L., Speidel, D., Wallraff, A., Döring, B., et al. (2003). Accelerated hippocampal spreading depression and enhanced locomotory activity in mice with astrocyte-directed inactivation of connexin43. *J. Neurosci.* 23, 766–776.
- Tong, X., Ao, Y., Faas, G. C., Nwaobi, S. E., Xu, J., Haustein, M. D., et al. (2014). Astrocyte Kir4.1 ion channel deficits contribute to neuronal dysfunction in Huntington's disease model mice. *Nat. Neurosci.* 17, 694–703. doi: 10.1038/nn. 3691
- Volterra, A., and Bezzi, P. (2002). "Release of transmitters from glial cells," in *The Tripartite Synapse: Glia in Synaptic Transmission*, eds A. Volterra, P. J. Magistretti and P. G. Haydon (Oxford: Oxford University Press), 164–184.
- Wade, J. J., Mcdaid, L. J., Harkin, J., Crunelli, V., and Kelso, J. A. (2011). Bidirectional coupling between astrocytes and neurons mediates learning and dynamic coordination in the brain: a multiple modeling approach. *PLoS One* 6:e29445. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0029445

- Westergaard, N., Sonnewald, U., and Schousboe, A. (1995). Metabolic trafficking between neurons and astrocytes: the glutamate/glutamine cycle revisited. *Dev. Neurosci.* 17, 203–211. doi: 10.1159/000111288
- Xie, L., Kang, H., Xu, Q., Chen, M. J., Liao, Y., Thiyagarajan, M., et al. (2013). Sleep drives metabolite clearance from the adult brain. *Science* 342, 373–377. doi: 10. 1126/science.1241224
- Yoo, S. S., Hu, P. T., Gujar, N., Jolesz, F. A., and Walker, M. P. (2007). A deficit in the ability to form new human memories without sleep. *Nat. Neurosci.* 10, 385–392. doi: 10.1038/nn1851
- Zhang, J. M., Wang, H. K., Ye, C. Q., Ge, W., Chen, Y., Jiang, Z. L., et al. (2003). ATP released by astrocytes mediates glutamatergic activity-dependent heterosynaptic suppression. *Neuron* 40, 971–982. doi: 10.1016/s0896-6273(03)00717-7
- Zorec, R., Araque, A., Carmignoto, G., Haydon, P. G., Verkhratsky, A., and Parpura, V. (2012). Astroglial excitability and gliotransmission: an appraisal of Ca2+ as a signalling route. ASN Neuro 4, 103–119. doi: 10.1042/an20110061

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Received: 10 September 2014; paper pending published: 28 September 2014; accepted: 22 October 2014; published online: 06 November 2014.

Citation: Perea G, Sur M and Araque A (2014) Neuron-glia networks: integral gear of brain function. Front. Cell. Neurosci. 8:378. doi: 10.3389/fncel.2014.00378 This article was submitted to the journal Frontiers in Cellular Neuroscience.

Copyright © 2014 Perea, Sur and Araque. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution and reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.



Caenorhabditis elegans glia modulate neuronal activity and behavior

Randy F. Stout Jr.1*, Alexei Verkhratsky^{2,3,4} and Vladimir Parpura^{5,6}*

¹ Department of Neuroscience, Albert Einstein College of Medicine, Bronx, NY, USA

- ² Faculty of Life Sciences, The University of Manchester, Manchester, UK
- ³ IKERBASQUE, Basque Foundation for Science, Bilbao, Spain
- ⁴ Department of Neurosciences, University of the Basque Country UPV/EHU, Leioa, Spain
- ⁵ Department of Neurobiology, Center for Glial Biology in Medicine, Civitan International Research Center, Atomic Force Microscopy and Nanotechnology Laboratories, and Evelyn F. McKnight Brain Institute, University of Alabama, Birmingham, AL, USA
- ⁶ Department of Biotechnology, University of Rijeka, Rijeka, Croatia

Edited by:

Tycho M. Hoogland, Netherlands Institute for Neuroscience, Netherlands

Reviewed by:

Bernd Kuhn, Okinawa Institute of Science and Technology Graduate University, Japan Ping Liu, University of Connecticut Health Center, USA

*Correspondence:

Randy F. Stout Jr., The Dominick P. Purpura Department of Neuroscience, Rose F. Kennedy Center, Albert Einstein College of Medicine, 1410 Pelham Parkway South, Room 840, Bronx, NY 10461, USA e-mail: randy.stout@einstein.yu.edu Vladimir Parpura, Department of Neurobiology, University of Alabama, 1719 6th Avenue South, CIRC 429, Birmingham, AL 35242, USA e-mail: vlad@uab.edu Glial cells of *Caenorhabditis elegans* can modulate neuronal activity and behavior, which is the focus of this review. Initially, we provide an overview of neuroglial evolution, making a comparison between *C. elegans* glia and their genealogical counterparts. What follows is a brief discussion on *C. elegans* glia characteristics in terms of their exact numbers, germ layers origin, their necessity for proper development of sensory organs, and lack of their need for neuronal survival. The more specific roles that various glial cells have on neuron-based activity/behavior are succinctly presented. The cephalic sheath glia are important for development, maintenance and activity of central synapses, whereas the amphid glia seem to set the tone of sensory synapses; these glial cell types are ectoderm-derived. Mesoderm-derived Glial-Like cells in the nerve Ring (GLRs) appear to be a part of the circuit for production of motor movement of the worm anterior. Finally, we discuss tools and approaches utilized in studying *C. elegans* glia, which are assets available for this animal, making it an appealing model, not only in neurosciences, but in biology in general.

Keywords: glia, evolution, behavior, invertebrate, Caenorhabditis elegans

INTRODUCTION: A BRIEF ON EVOLUTION OF NEUROGLIA

"Nothing in biology makes sense except in the light of evolution". Theodosius Dobzhansky (1900–1975)

Evolution of the nervous system proceeded through an increase in number and complexity of the nervous elements and through their specialization into electrically excitable neurons connected through defined synaptic contacts and electrically non-excitable neuroglia forming networks through intercellular gap junctions. Intercellular chemical neurotransmission is, however, characteristic for both forms of the neural cells that express appropriate receptors and are capable of secreting neurotransmitters. The evolution of the nervous system was not a straight journey from less complex and accomplished networks to the more refined ones; at the turning point between invertebrates and vertebrates, a fundamental metamorphosis occurred that changed the overall structure of the central nervous system (CNS). This change is associated with an appearance of radial glia, that in the vertebrates, serve as a universal neural precursor and a guide for neural cells to migrate through the thickness of the neural tube

thus creating a layered organization of the CNS (Kriegstein and Alvarez-Buylla, 2009). This layered organization is at odds with the CNS of invertebrates that essentially appears as fused neural ganglia. This major metamorphosis in the CNS organization also coincided with an extinction of the whole class of cells highly elaborated in the invertebrates-the parenchymal neuroglia. Indeed, in hemichordates (that barely have any CNS) glial cells seem to be completely absent, whereas in the primitive vertebrates (such as, for example, zebra fish or certain sharks and rays) the CNS contains essentially one functional layer that could be completely penetrated by radial glial cells, which perform major homeostatic functions. Increase in the thickness and size of the CNS strained the radial glia, and a new wave of evolution of parenchymal neuroglia began in some Elasmobranchi with "elaborated" brain (Reichenbach et al., 1987; Ari and Kálmán, 2008). This evolution rapidly resulted in high diversification of neuroglia, which assumed all major homeostatic and many defensive responsibilities in the mammalian brain. However, the direction of neuroglial evolution in Chordata is rather similar to that in the invertebrates, in which neuroglia similarly underwent remarkable morphological and

function diversification while climbing the phylogenetic ladder from the most primitive bilateralia to the arthropods with their well-developed nervous system (for detailed account on glial evolution and references see Hartline, 2011; Verkhratsky and Butt, 2013).

The early evolutionary history of neuroglia is complex and is far from being characterized in detail. There is a general agreement that supportive neural cells are absent in the diffuse nervous system of Cnidaria and Ctenophora, although there are unconfirmed reports about the existence of glia-like cells in the ganglia of scyphomedusae (Bullock and Horridge, 1965). Supportive neural (glia-like) cells are present in the nervous system of Acoelomorpha that are generally considered as the first bilateralia (Bery et al., 2010). Glial cells are found in Nematoda (Heiman and Shaham, 2007), but are absent in phylogenetically more advanced Bryozoa and Gnathifera/Rotifera, even though the Rorifera have a proper CNS, in which neuronal structures are surrounded by either epithelial or muscle cells (Wallace and Smith, 2013). Nonetheless, in Annelida and Arthropoda the neuroglia are well defined and diversified; glial cells become responsible for homeostasis of the nervous system, they provide the hemolymph-brain barrier, they are capable of mounting astrogliotic response to insult and they create ancestral myelin-like sheath around axons (Deitmer et al., 1999; Edwards and Meinertzhagen, 2010). Here, we focus on recent research on the neuroglia of the nematode, Caenorhabditis elegans, with particular attention to reports of glia modifying neuronal activity and behavior of this round worm, along with discussion of advantages and limitations of studying glia in the worm, particularly for neuron-glial interactions outside of development.

CHARACTERISTICS OF C. ELEGANS GLIA

We provide only a brief overview of the general properties of *C. elegans* glia, as the detailed information can be found in recent reviews in respect to roles in development (Shaham, 2005, 2006; Oikonomou and Shaham, 2011) and evolutionary aspects of worm glia (Heiman and Shaham, 2007).

THE EXACT NUMBER OF GLIA IN THE WORM

Early studies of the nervous system of C. elegans produced extremely detailed and meticulously categorized structural information allowing identification of each neural cell (Ward et al., 1975; White et al., 1986; Hall and Russell, 1991). This makes C. elegans one of the few animals whose full complement of individual cells has been mapped throughout development and the only such animal widely used as a model in neuroscience. The neuroglia of C. elegans were described based on light and electron microscopy, i.e., (ultra)structural characteristics of these cells; they appear to be a part of the nervous system, but did not have morphological characteristics of neurons, i.e., lack pre-synaptic structures (Ward et al., 1975; Thomas, 1994). At that time, a set of 56 cells were classified as glia-like support cells in hermaphrodites (Altun and Hall, 2010). Developmental lineage maps further supported this classification; 50 of the 56 glia-like cells were shown to be of the ectodermal lineage. Of note, the "Handbook of Worm Anatomy" section of the website www.wormatlas.org provides an overview of the anatomic and developmental characteristics of the glia of *C. elegans* in the "support cells" sub-section on the hermaphrodite nervous system.

AN EPHEMERAL COMPARISON OF WORM AND MAMMALIAN GLIA

It is tempting to compare the glia of the worm to those of animals possessing more complex nervous systems. For these comparisons to be accurate, it is important to keep in mind that the nervous system of the worm likely contains fewer cells and connections that are optimal for its ecological niche, and not because it did not have enough evolutionary time or flexibility to attain greater complexity. Worms are not in possession of genes homologous to encoding glial fibrillary acidic protein (GFAP), a marker of astrocytes in mammals (although many other invertebrates express GFAP). Clearly, the functions that mammalian astrocytes perform in controlling blood flow and in contributing to the blood-brain barrier will not be possible for worm glia. Indeed, these functions are not required in the worms due to the small body size and characteristics of the environment in which they live. It is currently unknown if other functions of mammalian glia such as K⁺ clearance, and vesicular release and re-uptake of neurotransmitters are performed by glial cells of the roundworm.

Some genetic pathways for glial specification and development do seem to be shared between glia of mammals and those of C. elegans. The transcription factor LIN-26 was found to be required for glial cell development and ablation of the lin-26 gene may cause cells that would become sheath glia to take on some characteristics of neurons (Labouesse et al., 1994). This was the first in a series of genetic/developmental findings that should be considered when we think about how glia evolved in different species. For example, the hlh-17 gene promoter has been used as a marker for the cephalic (CEP) sensilla sheath (CEPsh) glia (McMiller and Johnson, 2005). The hlh-17 gene seems to be important for development, but not initial specification of the CEPsh glia (Yoshimura et al., 2008). The hlh-17 gene has homology to the mammalian regulator of glial development Olig2. Genes that regulate the dorsal/ventral patterning of OLIGodendrocyte lineage transrctiption factor 2 (OLIG2) expression in mammals share homology to those required for normal HLH-17 expression specifically in the dorsal CEPsh glia of the worm (Yoshimura et al., 2008 and as reviewed in Oikonomou and Shaham, 2011).

WORM GLIA ARE UNNECESSARY FOR NEURONAL SURVIVAL

Based on experiments using gene deletions and/or cell ablations of glial precursors during development, we do know that a major difference between nervous system of *C. elegans* and nervous system of more advanced animals is that glia are mostly not required for survival of neurons within the mature nervous system of the worm and also the worms are able to survive and reproduce without glia. Except for the notable exceptions discussed later in this review, the glia of the worm seem to function mainly in guiding development of sensory structures in the worm and then act as a barrier by ensheathing the sensory structures in the adult worm. We know a great deal about how genes modulate the development and activity of *C. elegans* neurons, and also the neural molecular components that are shared (and not shared) between the neurons of *C. elegans*, *Drosophila*, mice, and human.



FIGURE 1 | The CEPsh glia. (A) A cartoon of an adult worm showing the four CEPsh glial cells (green) positioned in the anterior of the worm (inset). The CEPsh cell bodies with their velate extensions are positioned around the central nerve ring (red) which they envrap along with the proximal section of the ventral nerve cord. Additionally, each CEPsh glial cell possesses a long anterior process, emanating to the anterior sensory tip, which closely interacts with the dendritic extension of a nearby CEP neuron (blue). Arrows indicate the dorsal (red arrows) and ventral (orange arrows) side of the worm. (B) A confocal image showing green fluorescent protein (GFP) expression

driven by the *hlh-17* promoter to visualize the four CEPsh glial cells (worm strain VPR839). The anterior (head) of a juvenile (larval stage 4) worm is shown; the worm is turned ~45° from "upright" such that all four CEP sheath cells are visible. The sheath portion of the cells that form a tube around the dendritic endings of the CEP neurons are seen at the left of the image. The dorsal (red arrows) and ventral (orange arrows) CEPsh cell bodies are seen. The thin sheet-like extensions that surround and invade the nerve ring are seen in the rightmost part of the image. Scale bar, 20 μ m. Image adapted from Stout et al. (2013).

Examining the role of *C. elegans* glia in neural function may help us to understand of how these cells modulate neuronal activity or behavior in order to compare roles that glia of *C. elegans* and mammals play in information processing (see below).

WORM GLIA PLAY A ROLE IN PROPER DEVELOPMENT OF SENSORY ORGANS

Early ablation studies indicated that the sheath and socket glia played a role in the development of the ciliated sensory ending (Bargmann et al., 1990; Vowels and Thomas, 1994). The tractable genetics and other advantages of the worm were used to show that the glia of C. elegans affected sensory activity by controlling the development of cellular compartments surrounding sensory cilia (reviewed in Procko and Shaham, 2010). All of the ectodermderived glial cells of the worm are associated with the endings of these sensory neurons; neuronal dendritic endings together with glia form sensory organs of the worm known as sensilla. These specialized structures are prominent aspects of the nematode nervous system, and they fail to develop correctly without normal neuron-glia interactions. Neuronal development and maintenance of sensory structures require not only a set of genes expressed in the neurons, but also glial specific genes (reviewed in Oikonomou and Shaham, 2012). Attachments for sensory dendrites during migration of neurons during development also require factors released by the glia of C. elegans (Heiman and Shaham, 2009). Furthermore, it was recently suggested that the sensory synapse of the worm could be used as a model to study neuron-glia interactions in the human CNS (Shaham, 2010), albeit the usefulness of this model in this context remains to be seen.

Neuroglia in *C. elegans* perform at least four broad roles in the nervous system: (1) establishment of the location of neuronal structures; (2) regulation of sensory ending size and morphology; (3) a barrier that bundles and separates neuronal elements from other cells; and (4) modulation of neuronal activity. In a certain way this quartet resembles general roles that vertebrate glia are thought to have in the central and peripheral nervous systems.

The latter two roles, interrelated with some worm cells and behaviors, are further discussed below.

THE CEP SHEATH GLIA IN SYNAPSE MAINTENANCE AND DOPAMINE-LINKED BEHAVIOR

As already implicated, there appears to be a special class of cells among worm glia. We start our discussion by describing the four CEPsh glial cells (**Figure 1**). These ensheathing cells form a tubular structure surrounding the anterior tip of the sensory ending of CEP neurons and are therefore categorized into the group of 24 sheath glia found in the anterior of the worm. The CEPsh cells are unique in this glial pack in that they also extend thin sheet-like processes which ensheath the nerve ring, i.e., the worm "brain". Thin CEPsh cell processes also extend into the neuropil (White et al., 1986; Durbin, 1987; Oikonomou and Shaham, 2011).

There is morpho-functional heterogeneity between worm glia as in other animals. The morphology of the four CEPsh glia differs substantially from that of other sheath and socket glia (see below). The two ventral CEPsh cells express netrin (uncoordinated-6) but expression of this neuroligand involved in axon guidance is not detected or required in the dorsal pair of CEPsh glia (Hedgecock et al., 1990; Wadsworth et al., 1996; Yoshimura et al., 2008). Thin velate protrusions of the membrane of the CEPsh cells into the nerve ring appear to have some specificity as they are seen in proximity of the same neuronal synapses across different individual worms examined by electron microscopy (Ward et al., 1975; Durbin, 1987). Indeed, the CEPsh cells regulate synapse location through expression of the worm homolog of mammalian netrin (Colón-Ramos et al., 2007). More generally, the CEPsh glia are required for the maintenance of synaptic connectivity within the nerve ring (Shao et al., 2013, and reviewed in Yates, 2013).

Exciting, although circumstantial, evidence indicates that the CEPsh cells modulate dopamine-dependent behaviors in the worm, including feeding and a form of learning (Felton and Johnson, 2011). The *hlh-17* gene encodes the basic Helix-Loop-Helix transcription factor HLH-17 that is expressed almost



exclusively in the CEPsh cells (McMiller and Johnson, 2005; Yoshimura et al., 2008). Disruption of the hlh-17 gene led to changes in egg-laying behavior, feeding behavior-plasticity deficits, and impaired a form of gustatory associative learning. The four CEPsh glia are closely associated with the four CEP neurons, which help mediate the aforementioned behaviors through release and up-take of dopamine (other neurons and neurotransmitters are mediators as well). Although the hlh-17 gene is not required for development/survival of the CEP neurons and sheath cells, the gene is required for dopamine-dependent behaviors as the loss of *hlh-17* somehow affects dopamine signaling between the CEP neurons. These data represent an exciting hint that CEPsh glia modulate dopamine signaling and future research into this area of worm neurobiology is highly anticipated, especially in light of the role for dopaminergic signaling and dopamine transporters in human neurological diseases.

AMPHID SHEATH AND SOCKET GLIA TUNE SENSORY NEURON ACTIVITY AND SENSORY BEHAVIOR

There is strong evidence that channel activity within other (than CEPsh) sensilla-associated glia modulates neuronal activity, which in turn, affects behavioral responses to environmental stimuli (Wang et al., 2008, 2012; Han et al., 2013). These glia form sheaths around bundles of ciliated sensory dendrites (known collectively as the amphid inner and outer labial sensory organs) at the anterior tip of the worm. Promoter-reporter approaches mapped expression of several DEGenerin/Epithelial Na⁺ Channels (DEG/ENaC) class channels to the sheath and socket glia. Through glial specific re-expression of DEG/ENaC channels ACid-sensitive Degenerin (ACD)-1 and DEgenerin Linked to Mechanosensation (DELM)-1,2 it was shown that expression of these channels in sheath and/or socket glia modulates the activity of sensory neurons (Wang et al., 2008, 2012; Han et al., 2013). The ACD-1 channel is required in the amphid sheath glia (depicted in **Figure 2A**), while the DELM-1 and 2 channels act in the inner and outer labial socket glia (depicted in **Figure 2B**). The DELM-1 and -2 are required in the glia but not in neurons in order for the worm to perform a set of foraging related behaviors. In the cells expressing the DELM-1 and 2 channels only re-expression under a glial socket cell promoter rescued sensory behavior and neuronal calcium signaling deficits (**Figures 2C, D**). Similarly the effects of *acd-1* knockout were only rescued by re-expressing the gene in the amphid sheath glia.

So, how could expression of an ion channel in glia modulate sensory neuron activity and mechanosensory behavioral responses? It has been postulated that activity of glial DEG/ ENaC channels leads to an increase in extracellular K⁺ and thereby to an increase in excitability of the nearby neuronal processes. There is some semblance of this mechanism to specialized regulation of K⁺ concentration at sensory endings of vertebrates (Pacinian corpuscle), which modulates sensory neuron activity (Hyinsky et al., 1976). In another study, calcium responses of chemosensory neurons (Amphid Wing Cell (AWC) neurons) to chemical (isoamyl alcohol) stimulations near the detection threshold were used to show that loss of the glial specific ACD-1 channel is required for normal AWC neuron calcium response, but that ACD-1 is not directly affected by such stimulation. Artificial manipulation of the baseline activity of the AWC neurons by expressing a human capsaicin-sensitive TRPV1 channel in the worm's AWC neurons masked the effect of the loss of glial ACD-1. Finally, it was demonstrated that the ACD-1 channels were localized to the anterior end of the worm where the AWC sensory dendrites interacted with chemical stimulant. While all aspects of this neuron-glia interaction are not clear, available evidence supports the idea that the glia



left-right, A-P, anterior-posterior. Arrowheads indicate some of the unidentified head neurons that express the *afp* transgene. (B) Worms carrying a mutation

rescues the behavioral phenotype, indicating that glia or neurons are responsible for the behavior. Adapted from Ringstad et al. (2009).

modulate the threshold for neuronal excitability. Furthermore, it seems that two different sets of glial cells modulate the activity of sensory synapses using different ion channels and that this action is specific to a subset of synapses within the same glial "cradle" structure, this latter being a concept put forward to characterize the role of astrocytes at the vertebrate synapse (Nedergaard and Verkhratsky, 2012). In conclusion, the CEPsh glia are important for development, maintenance and activity of central synapses, whereas the amphid glia seem to set the tone of sensory synapses.

THE GLRS: AN UNORTHODOX GLIAL TYPE

We next discuss the evidence for a signaling pathway between neurons to muscle cells that may pass through an unusual type of C. elegans glial cells. Namely, the six Glial-Like cells in the nerve Ring (GLRs) were named based on their morphology and location; however, unlike other worm glia the GLRs are of mesodermal origin (reviewed in www.wormatlas.org (Altun and Hall, 2009)). It is somewhat surprising that a cell type of different origin can so closely morphologically resemble all other glial cells of the worm. Because of the lineage, a comparison to mammalian microglia is tempting, especially in light of a GLR cell having been observed (by electron microscopy) apparently engulfing a dying CEP neuron (Nass et al., 2002). The GLRs are integrated into the nervous system of the worm and contribute to the development of the nerve ring and pharynx (muscle-based feeding organ of the worm). GLRs are connected to both neurons and muscle cells in the head by gap junctions and may be part of the circuit for producing specialized fine motor movements of anterior of the worm during foraging that are analogous to neck movements of vertebrates (White et al., 1986; Ringstad et al., 2009). Two reports examining the role of Ligand-Gated ion Channel (LGC)-55, a tyramine receptor, pointed to its expression in the GLRs. One report indicates that LGC-55 could function in GLRs or neurons to suppress foraging activity during backward movement

(Ringstad et al., 2009; Figure 3). Another report points to the function of the LGC-55 in muscle and to a lesser extent in neurons (Pirri et al., 2009).

Potential involvement of GLRs in a circuit relevant for behavior is intriguing and warrants further research. This research, into the function of GLRs, however, has been hampered by the lack of a cell specific promoter. This challenge could potentially be circumvented with combinatorial-conditional promoter systems to limit genetically based markers, activity indicators, or functional modulators to the GLRs (Voutev and Hubbard, 2008). The finding that there are gap junctions between the GLRs and neurons is intriguing especially in light of recent discoveries that gap junctions seem to connect the neurons to glia of the sensory ganglia (Suadicani et al., 2010) and as reviewed by Hanani (2012) and Huang et al. (2013) and in the developing CNS (Pakhotin and Verkhratsky, 2005) of mice. The protein subunits that make up the gap junction channels of invertebrates (innexins) and vertebrates (connexins) share no protein sequence homology, but form similar macromolecular structures that connect the cytoplasm of adjacent cells, as reviewed in Scemes et al. (2007) and Simonsen et al. (2014). Additionally, the GLRs of the worm have taken on morphological characteristics of glia although they follow different developmental path, and express a different set of genes than other C. elegans glia. This may represent a case of compound convergent evolution and points to a role of gap junction based neuron-glia interaction as a rare but fundamental process, since it seems to have arisen independently in highly divergent nervous systems. Therefore, this may be a particularly important area for future study. The genome of C. elegans contains 25 genes for innexins (Starich et al., 2001); a promoter-reporter based survey indicated that the sheath and socket glia also express several innexin genes (Altun et al., 2009). This is another common feature shared between the CEPsh glia and vertebrate astrocytesprominent expression of gap junctions. However, gap junctions



connecting CEPsh glia to other cells have not been investigated and this is currently a woefully understudied aspect of worm glia.

The recently discovered/renamed cell type known as telocytes may be the mammalian equivalent of the worm GLRs (Gherghiceanu and Popescu, 2011; Cretoiu et al., 2012; Smythies and Edelstein, 2014). If the set of genes expressed by the GLRs turns out to share similarity to the set expressed in telocytes, perhaps the GLR-type should be reclassified from glia to ancestral telocytes. Although this is currently purely speculative, such classification would establish the GLRs as a model to study the biology of this exciting new vertebrate cell type.

Finally, it is worth mentioning that the GLRs are connected by gap junctions to ring motor neurons which themselves receive synaptic input from cells that make up a gap junction-mediated circuit with coincidence detection features (Rabinowitch et al., 2013). It will be important to test if the activity of the GLRs influence this or associated circuits and if gap junctions are involved in GLR physiology.

APPROACHES IN STUDYING GLIA IN C. ELEGANS

Several themes emerge in the approaches used in the research highlighted above. Rescue of genetic ablation-induced changes to neuronal function or behavior through use of glia-specific promoters is widely used in both invertebrates and vertebrates. This approach is particularly powerful for *C. elegans* since an enormous number of mutant strains are available. The determined cell lineage and ease of specific cell identification is an advantage. Additionally, *C. elegans* is probably the easiest and cheapest animal model organism in which to produce and maintain transgenic animal lines. Cell-type specific promoters are available and, in combination with the phenomenon of transgene

mosaicism, genetic rescue or other manipulations can be targeted to individual glial cells (Colón-Ramos et al., 2007; Yoshimura et al., 2008). Transgenes can affect neuronal and behavioral phenotypes in unexpected ways, but if such effects are detected they can be controlled for by using alternative strategies for transgene introduction (Kage-Nakadai et al., 2012; Stout et al., 2013). For example, worms carrying many (more than ~ 200) copies of the transgenic hlh-17 promoter display a ventral coiling behavior during backward locomotion (Figure 4); coiling occurrences correlated to the transgene promoter copy number (Stout et al., 2013). This behavior is variable across different transgenic worm strains and can range from subtle to near complete inability for worms to crawl in the backward direction. If worm strains used in studies on worm behavior exhibit even a very mild form of the ventral coiling behavior it would be expected to have a major impact on sensitive behavioral tests such as salt-food associative learning and measures of reversal frequency or on measures of shape of body-bending during locomotion. Future studies where behavioral alterations are attributed to glia will need to control for the possibility that promoters used to target glial cells may cause (in)direct behavioral effects (Stout et al., 2013).

Optical methods for recording neuronal activity are currently more widely used than electrophysiological methods due to difficulty in accessing neurons with patch electrodes which is hampered by the worm cuticle and internal pressure (Kerr et al., 2000; Kerr and Schafer, 2006). Thus far, glial cell activity has only been assessed by genetically encoded optical indicators (Stout and Parpura, 2011; Wang et al., 2012). The ability to culture embryonic and adult stage C. elegans cells (Christensen et al., 2002; Frøkjaer-Jensen et al., 2006; Strange et al., 2007), including glia (Stout and Parpura, 2012; Sangaletti and Bianchi, 2013), should ease electrophysiological access to glial cells and has allowed acute application of pharmacological manipulations (Stout and Parpura, 2011; Figure 5). For instance, the combination of genetically encoded indicators, mutant strains carrying deletions of voltage-gated Ca²⁺ channels (VGCCs), and pharmacological treatments showed that cultured CEPsh glia respond to membrane depolarization with increases in intracellular Ca²⁺ mediated by various types of VGCCs (e.g., the role of L-type is shown in Figure 5). Optogenetic manipulations, i.e., use of channelrhodopsin, have been very useful in the study of C. elegans neurons (Nagel et al., 2005), but behavioral effects of lightactivated channels have not been hitherto reported for C. elegans glia.

It may seem surprising that no reports of laser or genetic ablation of *all* CEPsh glia in *adult* worms have been published, particularly since post-embryonic, larval-stage ablation of a subset of the CEPsh cells led to interesting phenotypes. Briefly, when the precursor cells of the CEPsh glia are ablated during embryonic development the CEP neuron dendrites are shortened, axons in the nerve ring are disrupted, and the entire nerve ring is disrupted in some animals that lack the CEPsh glia. Some worms even failed to develop past the larval L1 stage when CEPsh glia were ablated (Yoshimura et al., 2008). Heat shock-inducible expression of a cell-killing caspase (Chelur and Chalfie, 2007) in adult CEPsh cells led to defects in synapse maintenance in the Amphid



Interneuron Y (AIY), but incomplete ablation of all CEPsh glia across individual worms may have occurred (Shao et al., 2013). These data highlight the need for future research to further assess the effect of acute loss of CEPsh glia in adulthood. The present lack of experiments ablating the all CEPsh glia in adult worms, however, may be due to the unusual nature of the CEPsh glia in that they have a large cellular surface area that is spread over a large portion of the anterior nervous system.

In general, many of the methods that worked so well for the study of worm neurons have been harder to implement for glial biology. The development of new optogenetic probes and channels along with our rapidly increasing knowledge of gene expression in worm glia (Spencer et al., 2011) can be expected to make the discoveries we described in this review a start to an exciting time in research on glia-neuron interactions in the adult worm.

ENVOI

The intent of this focus review was to summarize current evidence indicating that the glia of *C. elegans* have an important role in modulation of neuronal activity and behavior. Indeed, future studies are needed to understand details of glial roles in the nervous system of this nematode. Meanwhile, *C. elegans* has proven enormously helpful in unveiling mysteries surrounding the operation of not only the nervous system, but also of many other basic biological functions. Consequently, it shall not come as a surprise that the National Institutes of Health list *C. elegans* as one of the model organisms for biomedical research.¹ This "feather in the cap" has been earned as a consequence of *C. elegans* being one of the animals whose full complement of individual cells has been mapped throughout development and

¹http://www.nih.gov/science/models/

due to the ease of genetic manipulations, with rapid outcomes, which this nematode offers. Moreover, there are publicly available information resources (e.g., WormAtlas, WormBase and Worm-Book; http://www.wormatlas.org, http://www.wormbase.org, and http://www.wormbook.org, respectively), and consortia providing various mutation/knockout/transgenic strains (e.g., Caenorhabditis budget on а thrifty Genetics Center at University of Minnesota, Minneapolis, MN; http://www.cbs.umn.edu/research/resources/cgc), making С. elegans an appealing model in neurosciences and biomedicine.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

Randy F. Stout's research is supported by the National Institutes of Health (NIH) institutional training grant (5T32NS007439-14) to the Dominick P. Purpura Department of Neuroscience. Other authors' research is supported by the Alzheimer's Research Trust (UK) Programme Grant (ART/PG2004A/1) to Alexei Verkhratsky; by the NIH (The Eunice Kennedy Shriver National Institute of Child Health and Human Development award HD078678) to Vladimir Parpura.

REFERENCES

- Altun, Z. F., Chen, B., Wang, Z. W., and Hall, D. H. (2009). High resolution map of Caenorhabditis elegans gap junction proteins. *Dev. Dyn.* 238, 1936–1950. doi: 10.1002/dvdy.22025
- Altun, Z. F., and Hall, D. H. (2009). "Muscle system, GLR cells," in Worm Atlas. doi: 10.3908/wormatlas.1.9
- Altun, Z. F., and Hall, D. H. (2010). "Nervous system, neuronal support cells," in Worm Atlas. doi: 10.3908/wormatlas.1.19
- Ari, C., and Kálmán, M. (2008). Evolutionary changes of astroglia in Elasmobranchii comparing to amniotes: a study based on three immunohistochemical markers (GFAP, S-100, and glutamine synthetase). *Brain Behav. Evol.* 71, 305– 324. doi: 10.1159/000129654
- Bargmann, C. I., Thomas, J. H., and Horvitz, H. R. (1990). Chemosensory cell function in the behavior and development of Caenorhabditis elegans. *Cold Spring Harb. Symp. Quant. Biol.* 55, 529–538. doi: 10.1101/sqb.1990.055.01.051
- Bery, A., Cardona, A., Martinez, P., and Hartenstein, V. (2010). Structure of the central nervous system of a juvenile acoel, Symsagittifera roscoffensis. *Dev. Genes Evol.* 220, 61–76. doi: 10.1007/s00427-010-0328-2
- Bullock, T. H., and Horridge, G. A. (1965). Structure and Function in the Nervous System of Invertebrates. (Vol. 2), San Francisco and London : W. H. Freeman a. Comp. Ltd., XXVIII + 1722.
- Chelur, D. S., and Chalfie, M. (2007). Targeted cell killing by reconstituted caspases. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U S A* 104, 2283–2288. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0610877104
- Christensen, M., Estevez, A., Yin, X., Fox, R., Morrison, R., McDonnell, M., et al. (2002). A primary culture system for functional analysis of C. elegans neurons and muscle cells. *Neuron* 33, 503–514. doi: 10.1016/s0896-6273(02)00591-3
- Colón-Ramos, D. A., Margeta, M. A., and Shen, K. (2007). Glia promote local synaptogenesis through UNC-6 (netrin) signaling in C. elegans. *Science* 318, 103–106. doi: 10.1126/science.1143762
- Cretoiu, D., Cretoiu, S. M., Simionescu, A. A., and Popescu, L. M. (2012). Telocytes, a distinct type of cell among the stromal cells present in the lamina propria of jejunum. *Histol. Histopathol.* 27, 1067–1078.
- Deitmer, J. W., Rose, C. R., Munsch, T., Schmidt, J., Nett, W., Schneider, H.-P., et al. (1999). Leech giant glial cell: functional role. *Glia* 28, 175–182. doi: 10. 1002/(sici)1098-1136(199912)28:3<175::aid-glia1>3.0.co;2-7

Durbin, R. M. (1987). Studies on the Development and Organisation of the Nervous System of Caenorhabditis Elegans. Ph.D thesis. UK: University of Cambridge.

- Edwards, T. N., and Meinertzhagen, I. A. (2010). The functional organisation of glia in the adult brain of *Drosophila* and other insects. *Prog. Neurobiol.* 90, 471–497. doi: 10.1016/j.pneurobio.2010.01.001
- Felton, C. M., and Johnson, C. M. (2011). Modulation of dopamine-dependent behaviors by the Caenorhabditis elegans Olig homolog HLH-17. J. Neurosci. Res. 89, 1627–1636. doi: 10.1002/jnr.22694

- Frøkjaer-Jensen, C., Kindt, K. S., Kerr, R. A., Suzuki, H., Melnik-Martinez, K., Gerstbreih, B., et al. (2006). Effects of voltage-gated calcium channel subunit genes on calcium influx in cultured C. elegans mechanosensory neurons. J. Neurobiol. 66, 1125–1139. doi: 10.1002/neu.20261
- Gherghiceanu, M., and Popescu, L. M. (2011). Heterocellular communication in the heart: electron tomography of telocyte-myocyte junctions. J. Cell. Mol. Med. 15, 1005–1011. doi: 10.1111/j.1582-4934.2011.01299.x
- Hall, D. H., and Russell, R. L. (1991). The posterior nervous system of the nematode Caenorhabditis elegans: serial reconstruction of identified neurons and complete pattern of synaptic interactions. J. Neurosci. 11, 1–22.
- Han, L., Wang, Y., Sangaletti, R., D'Urso, G., Lu, Y., Shaham, S., et al. (2013). Two novel DEG/ENaC channel subunits expressed in glia are needed for nosetouch sensitivity in Caenorhabditis elegans. *J. Neurosci.* 33, 936–949. doi: 10. 1523/jneurosci.2749-12.2013
- Hanani, M. (2012). Intercellular communication in sensory ganglia by purinergic receptors and gap junctions: implications for chronic pain. *Brain Res.* 1487, 183– 191. doi: 10.1016/j.brainres.2012.03.070
- Hartline, D. K. (2011). The evolutionary origins of glia. *Glia* 59, 1215–1236. doi: 10. 1002/glia.21149
- Hedgecock, E. M., Culotti, J. G., and Hall, D. H. (1990). The unc-5, unc-6 and unc-40 genes guide circumferential migrations of pioneer axons and mesodermal cells on the epidermis in C. elegans. *Neuron* 4, 61–85. doi: 10.1016/0896-6273(90)90444-k
- Heiman, M. G., and Shaham, S. (2007). Ancestral roles of glia suggested by the nervous system of Caenorhabditis elegans. *Neuron Glia Biol.* 3, 55–61. doi: 10. 1017/s1740925x07000609
- Heiman, M. G., and Shaham, S. (2009). DEX-1 and DYF-7 establish sensory dendrite length by anchoring dendritic tips during cell migration. *Cell* 137, 344– 355. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2009.01.057
- Huang, L. Y. M., Gu, Y., and Chen, Y. (2013). Communication between neuronal somata and satellite glial cells in sensory ganglia. *Glia* 61, 1571–1581. doi: 10. 1002/glia.22541
- Hyinsky, O., Akoev, G., Krasnikova, T., and Elman, S. (1976). K and Na ion content in the Pacinian corpuscle fluid and its role in the activity of receptors. *Pflugers Arch.* 361, 279–285. doi: 10.1007/bf00587293
- Kage-Nakadai, E., Kobuna, H., Funatsu, O., Otori, M., Gengyo-Ando, K., Yoshina, S., et al. (2012). Single/low-copy integration of transgenes in Caenorhabditis elegans using an ultraviolet trimethylpsoralen method. *BMC Biotechnol.* 12:1. doi: 10.1186/1472-6750-12-1
- Kerr, R., Lev-Ram, V., Baird, G., Vincent, P., Tsien, R. Y., and Schafer, W. R. (2000). Optical imaging of calcium transients in neurons and pharyngeal muscle of C. elegans. *Neuron* 26, 583–594. doi: 10.1016/s0896-6273(00)8 1196-4
- Kerr, R. A., and Schafer, W. R. (2006). Intracellular Ca2+ imaging in C. elegans. Methods Mol. Biol. 351, 253–264. doi: 10.1385/1-59745-151-7:253
- Kriegstein, A., and Alvarez-Buylla, A. (2009). The glial nature of embryonic and adult neural stem cells. Annu. Rev. Neurosci. 32, 149–184. doi: 10.1146/annurev. neuro.051508.135600
- Labouesse, M., Sookhareea, S., and Horvitz, H. R. (1994). The Caenorhabditis elegans gene lin-26 is required to specify the fates of hypodermal cells and encodes a presumptive zinc-finger transcription factor. *Development* 120, 2359–2368.
- McMiller, T. L., and Johnson, C. M. (2005). Molecular characterization of HLH-17, a C. elegans bHLH protein required for normal larval development. *Gene* 356, 1–10. doi: 10.1016/j.gene.2005.05.003
- Nagel, G., Brauner, M., Liewald, J. F., Adeishvili, N., Bamberg, E., and Gottschalk, A. (2005). Light activation of channelrhodopsin-2 in excitable cells of Caenorhabditis elegans triggers rapid behavioral responses. *Curr. Biol.* 15, 2279–2284. doi: 10.1016/j.cub.2005.11.032
- Nass, R., Hall, D. H., Miller, D. M. 3rd., and Blakely, R. D. (2002). Neurotoxininduced degeneration of dopamine neurons in Caenorhabditis elegans. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U S A* 99, 3264–3269. doi: 10.1073/pnas.042497999
- Nedergaard, M., and Verkhratsky, A. (2012). Artifact versus reality-how astrocytes contribute to synaptic events. *Glia* 60, 1013–1023. doi: 10.1002/glia.22288
- Oikonomou, G., and Shaham, S. (2011). The glia of Caenorhabditis elegans. *Glia* 59, 1253–1263. doi: 10.1002/glia.21084
- Oikonomou, G., and Shaham, S. (2012). On the morphogenesis of glial compartments in the sensory organs of Caenorhabditis elegans. *Worm* 1, 51–55. doi: 10. 4161/worm.19343

- Pakhotin, P., and Verkhratsky, A. (2005). Electrical synapses between Bergmann glial cells and Purkinje neurones in rat cerebellar slices. *Mol. Cell. Neurosci.* 28, 79–84. doi: 10.1016/j.mcn.2004.08.014
- Pirri, J. K., McPherson, A. D., Donnelly, J. L., Francis, M. M., and Alkema, M. J. (2009). A tyramine-gated chloride channel coordinates distinct motor programs of a Caenorhabditis elegans escape response. *Neuron* 62, 526–538. doi: 10.1016/j. neuron.2009.04.013
- Procko, C., and Shaham, S. (2010). Assisted morphogenesis: glial control of dendrite shapes. *Curr. Opin. Cell Biol.* 22, 560–565. doi: 10.1016/j.ceb.2010. 07.005
- Rabinowitch, I., Chatzigeorgiou, M., and Schafer, W. R. (2013). A gap junction circuit enhances processing of coincident mechanosensory inputs. *Curr. Biol.* 23, 963–967. doi: 10.1016/j.cub.2013.04.030
- Reichenbach, A., Neumann, M., and Bruckner, G. (1987). Cell length to diameter relation of rat fetal radial glia–does impaired K+ transport capacity of long thin cells cause their perinatal transformation into multipolar astrocytes? *Neurosci. Lett.* 73, 95–100. doi: 10.1016/0304-3940(87)90038-3
- Ringstad, N., Abe, N., and Horvitz, H. R. (2009). Ligand-gated chloride channels are receptors for biogenic amines in C. elegans. *Science* 325, 96–100. doi: 10. 1126/science.1169243
- Sangaletti, R., and Bianchi, L. (2013). A method for culturing embryonic C. elegans cells. *J. Vis. Exp.* 79:e50649. doi: 10.3791/50649
- Scemes, E., Suadicani, S. O., Dahl, G., and Spray, D. C. (2007). Connexin and pannexin mediated cell-cell communication. *Neuron Glia Biol.* 3, 199–208. doi: 10.1017/s1740925x08000069
- Shaham, S. (2005). Glia-neuron interactions in nervous system function and development. *Curr. Top. Dev. Biol.* 69, 39–66. doi: 10.1016/s0070-2153(05) 69003-5
- Shaham, S. (2006). Glia-neuron interactions in the nervous system of Caenorhabditis elegans. *Curr. Opin. Neurobiol.* 16, 522–528. doi: 10.1016/j.conb.2006. 08.001
- Shaham, S. (2010). Chemosensory organs as models of neuronal synapses. Nat. Rev. Neurosci. 11, 212–217. doi: 10.1038/nrn2740
- Shao, Z., Watanabe, S., Christensen, R., Jorgensen, E. M., and Colon-Ramos, D. A. (2013). Synapse location during growth depends on glia location. *Cell* 154, 337– 350. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2013.06.028
- Simonsen, K., Moerman, D., and Naus, C. C. (2014). Gap junctions in C. elegans. *Front. Physiol.* 5:40. doi: 10.3389/fphys.2014.00040
- Smythies, J., and Edelstein, L. (2014). Telocytes, exosomes, gap junctions and the cytoskeleton: the makings of a primitive nervous system? *Front. Cell. Neurosci.* 7:278. doi: 10.3389/fncel.2013.00278
- Spencer, W. C., Zeller, G., Watson, J. D., Henz, S. R., Watkins, K. L., McWhirter, R. D., et al. (2011). A spatial and temporal map of C. elegans gene expression. *Genome Res.* 21, 325–341. doi: 10.1101/gr.114595.110
- Starich, T., Sheehan, M., Jadrich, J., and Shaw, J. (2001). Innexins in C. elegans. Cell Commun. Adhes. 8, 311–314. doi: 10.3109/15419060109080744
- Stout, R. F. Jr., Grubisic, V., and Parpura, V. (2013). A Caenorhabditis elegans locomotion phenotype caused by transgenic repeats of the hlh-17 promoter sequence. *PLoS One* 8:e81771. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0081771
- Stout, R. F. Jr., and Parpura, V. (2011). Voltage-gated calcium channel types in cultured C. elegans CEPsh glial cells. *Cell Calcium* 50, 98–108. doi: 10.1016/j. ceca.2011.05.016
- Stout, R. F. Jr., and Parpura, V. (2012). Cell culturing of Caenorhabditis elegans glial cells for the assessment of cytosolic Ca2(+) dynamics. *Methods Mol. Biol.* 814, 153–174. doi: 10.1007/978-1-61779-452-0_12
- Strange, K., Christensen, M., and Morrison, R. (2007). Primary culture of Caenorhabditis elegans developing embryo cells for electrophysiological, cell biological and molecular studies. *Nat. Protoc.* 2, 1003–1012. doi: 10.1038/nprot. 2007.143

- Suadicani, S. O., Cherkas, P. S., Zuckerman, J., Smith, D. N., Spray, D. C., and Hanani, M. (2010). Bidirectional calcium signaling between satellite glial cells and neurons in cultured mouse trigeminal ganglia. *Neuron Glia Biol.* 6, 43–51. doi: 10.1017/s1740925x09990408
- Thomas, J. H. (1994). The mind of a worm. *Science* 264, 1698–1699. doi: 10. 1126/science.7911601
- Verkhratsky, A., and Butt, A. M. (2013). Glial Physiology and Pathophysiology. Chichester, UK: John Wiley and Sons.
- Voutev, R., and Hubbard, E. J. (2008). A "FLP-Out" system for controlled gene expression in Caenorhabditis elegans. *Genetics* 180, 103–119. doi: 10. 1534/genetics.108.090274
- Vowels, J. J., and Thomas, J. H. (1994). Multiple chemosensory defects in daf-11 and daf-21 mutants of Caenorhabditis elegans. *Genetics* 138, 303 -316.
- Wadsworth, W. G., Bhatt, H., and Hedgecock, E. M. (1996). Neuroglia and pioneer neurons express UNC-6 to provide global and local netrin cues for guiding migrations in C. elegans. *Neuron* 16, 35–46. doi: 10.1016/s0896-6273(00) 80021-5
- Wallace, R. L., and Smith, H. A. (2013). "Rotifera," in *eLS*. Chichester, UK: John Wiley and Sons, Ltd.
- Wang, Y., Apicella, A. Jr., Lee, S. K., Ezcurra, M., Slone, R. D., Goldmit, M., et al. (2008). A glial DEG/ENaC channel functions with neuronal channel DEG-1 to mediate specific sensory functions in C. elegans. *EMBO J.* 27, 2388–2399. doi: 10.1038/emboj.2008.161
- Wang, Y., D'Urso, G., and Bianchi, L. (2012). Knockout of glial channel ACD-1 exacerbates sensory deficits in a C. elegans mutant by regulating calcium levels of sensory neurons. *J. Neurophysiol.* 107, 148–158. doi: 10.1152/jn.00299. 2011
- Ward, S., Thomson, N., White, J. G., and Brenner, S. (1975). Electron microscopical reconstruction of the anterior sensory anatomy of the nematode Caenorhabditis elegans.?2UU. J. Comp. Neurol. 160, 313–337. doi: 10.1002/cne.90160 0305
- White, J. G., Southgate, E., Thomson, J. N., and Brenner, S. (1986). The structure of the nervous system of the nematode Caenorhabditis elegans. *Philos. Trans. R. Soc. Lond. B Biol. Sci.* 314, 1–340. doi: 10.1098/rstb.1986. 0056
- Yates, D. (2013). Neuronal circuits: staying connected during growth. Nat. Rev. Neurosci. 14, 588–589. doi: 10.1038/nrn3571
- Yoshimura, S., Murray, J. I., Lu, Y., Waterston, R. H., and Shaham, S. (2008). mls-2 and vab-3 control glia development, hlh-17/Olig expression and glia-dependent neurite extension in C. elegans. *Development* 135, 2263–2275. doi: 10.1242/dev. 019547

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Received: 13 January 2014; accepted: 15 February 2014; published online: 14 March 2014.

Citation: Stout RF Jr, Verkhratsky A and Parpura V (2014) Caenorhabditis elegans glia modulate neuronal activity and behavior. Front. Cell. Neurosci. 8:67. doi: 10.3389/fncel.2014.00067

This article was submitted to the journal Frontiers in Cellular Neuroscience.

Copyright © 2014 Stout, Verkhratsky and Parpura. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

ADVANTAGES OF PUBLISHING IN FRONTIERS



FAST PUBLICATION Average 90 days from submission to publication



COLLABORATIVE PEER-REVIEW

Designed to be rigorous – yet also collaborative, fair and constructive



RESEARCH NETWORK Our network increases readership for your article



OPEN ACCESS

Articles are free to read, for greatest visibility



TRANSPARENT

Editors and reviewers acknowledged by name on published articles



GLOBAL SPREAD Six million monthly page views worldwide



COPYRIGHT TO AUTHORS

No limit to article distribution and re-use



IMPACT METRICS Advanced metrics track your article's impact



SUPPORT By our Swiss-based editorial team



EPFL Innovation Park · Building I · 1015 Lausanne · Switzerland T +41 21 510 17 00 · info@frontiersin.org · frontiersin.org